

UNIVERSITY OF STUDIES OF PADOVA

Physics and Astronomy Department "Galileo Galilei"

Master's Degree in Physics

Master Thesis

Explaining the Structure of Quark and Lepton Mass Matrices via Flavour non-Universal Gauge Groups

Supervisor Prof. Paride Paradisi

Co-Supervisor Prof. Gino Isidori Candidate Andrea Sainaghi

Academic Year 2023/2024

My biggest and most special thanks go to my main supervisor, prof. Gino Isidori. You have supported my stay in Zurich throughout the last several months from the very beginning. You also decided to follow my thesis project personally and I cannot count how many long and useful discussions we had together. You have always been available every time I needed and this to me was extremely non-trivial and very much appreciated. I learnt so much from this experience. It has been a pleasure to work with you and I hope this collaboration will continue for a long time in the future.

My second biggest thanks go to my internal supervisor, prof. Paride Paradisi. You have always been there to help me at every need with my thesis, especially during the last period in the progress of the last Chapter. More importantly, I cannot forget that, believing in me, you put me in contact with Gino making all this project possible.

Then I would like to thank all the PhD students and PostDocs of Isidori's group at University of Zurich. I felt welcome since the beginning in the group and you made me enjoy my stay in Zurich. It has been a pleasure to meet you all.

Finally I thank Scuola Galileiana di Studi Superiori to have financially supported my stay in Zurich together with Gino Isidori.

A special thank goes to my best friend, Lupo, to have morally supported all my monologues about my thesis without taking much interest in the topic.

Table of Contents

| 1 | Mo | del Building 1 | | | | | |
|----------|------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 1.1 | UV Theory | | | | | |
| | 1.2 | Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking Mechanisms | | | | | |
| | 1.3 | Model A | | | | | |
| | 14 | Model B 5 | | | | | |
| | 1.5 | Model C 6 | | | | | |
| | 1.0 | Model D | | | | | |
| | 1.0 1.7 | Model E 0 | | | | | |
| | 1.1 | Model E | | | | | |
| | 1.0 | Model F | | | | | |
| | 1.9 | Gauge Spectrum in the Broken Phase | | | | | |
| 2 | Yuk | xawa Matrices 16 | | | | | |
| | 2.1 | General Structure of the Yukawa Matrices | | | | | |
| | 2.2 | Yukawa Matrices as EFT | | | | | |
| | 2.3 | UV Completion for Model I | | | | | |
| | 2.4 | UV Completion for Model II | | | | | |
| | 2.5 | Yukawa Matrices in Model I | | | | | |
| | 2.6 | Yukawa Matrices in Model II | | | | | |
| | 2.7 | Complete Mass-Matrix Diagonalization | | | | | |
| | 2.8 | UV Parameter Space | | | | | |
| 3 | Nei | Neutrino Masses | | | | | |
| Ŭ | 3.1 | The See-Saw Mechanism 29 | | | | | |
| | 3.2 | Direct See-Saw 30 | | | | | |
| | 0.2 3.3 | Inverse See Saw 31 | | | | | |
| | 3.J | Mixed See Saw | | | | | |
| | 0.4 9 5 | Non Uniterity of the DMNG Metric | | | | | |
| | ວ.ວ າ ເ | Non-Unitarity of the FMINS Matrix | | | | | |
| | 3.0 | See-Saw Mass-Terms as EF1 | | | | | |
| | 3.7 | UV Completion and Parameter Space | | | | | |
| 4 | Nat | ural Model for Neutrinos40 | | | | | |
| | 4.1 | Hierarchical Mass-Matrix | | | | | |
| | 4.2 | Mass-Matrix Diagonalization | | | | | |
| | 4.3 | Heavy Mass-Eigenstates | | | | | |
| | 4.4 | New Symmetry for the Sterile Fermions | | | | | |
| | 4.5 | Mass-Mixing Terms as EFT | | | | | |
| | 4.6 | UV Completion | | | | | |
| | 4.7 | Final Results 49 | | | | | |
| 5 | Phe | enomenology of Exotic Neutrinos 51 | | | | | |
| | 5.1 | Neutrino Mass-Basis | | | | | |
| | 5.2 | Interactions of the Exotic Neutrinos | | | | | |
| | 5.2 | Lifetime of Heavy Exotic Neutrinos | | | | | |
| | 5.0 5.4 | Lifetime of Light Evotic Neutrinos | | | | | |
| | 5.4 5.5 | Lepton Flavour Violation in $\mu \rightarrow \rho \gamma$ | | | | | |
| | 5.5 5.6 | Deputit rayour violation in $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ | | | | | |
| | 0.0 5 7 | Other Lepton-riavour-violating Observables 07 Dounds on Light Neutral Leptons 70 | | | | | |
| | ə.7 | bounds on Light Neutral Leptons | | | | | |

 \mathbf{iv}

| | 5.8 | Summary of Bounds and Future Prospects | 60 | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|---------------|---|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Co | Conclusion 61 | | | | | | | | | | |
| A | ppen | dix | 63 | | | | | | | | |
| \mathbf{A} | Spo | ntaneous Symmetry Breaking - Calculations | 63 | | | | | | | | |
| | A.1 | 431 into 31 Model | 63 | | | | | | | | |
| | A.2 | 21 into 1 Model | 65 | | | | | | | | |
| | A.3 | 42 into 31 Model | 66 | | | | | | | | |
| | A.4 | 41 into 31 Model | 68 | | | | | | | | |
| | A.5 | 3311 into 31 Model | 70 | | | | | | | | |
| | A.6 | 2 into 1 Model | 71 | | | | | | | | |
| | A.7 | 11 into 1 Model | 72 | | | | | | | | |
| в | Scat | ttering - Calculations | 74 | | | | | | | | |
| | B.1 | Top-like Decay | 74 | | | | | | | | |
| | B.2 | Muon-like Decay | 75 | | | | | | | | |
| | B.3 | Invisible Z and Higgs Decay Widths | 77 | | | | | | | | |
| | B.4 | Charged Hadronic Decay | 79 | | | | | | | | |
| | B.5 | Neutral Hadronic Decay | 80 | | | | | | | | |
| | B.6 | Decay Rate of $\mu \to e\gamma$ | 81 | | | | | | | | |
| | B.7 | 1-Loop Form-Factor of $\mu \to e\gamma$ | 82 | | | | | | | | |
| \mathbf{C} | Add | litional and Technical Analysis | 85 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.1 | Yukawa Diagonalization | 85 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.2 | Non-Equivalently Weighted Higgs Field | 86 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.3 | Mass Splitting via Fermion Mixing | 87 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.4 | Single-Flavour Inverse See-Saw | 88 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.5 | Heavy States in Single-Flavour Inverse See-Saw | 90 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.6 | Mixing Matrices of the Heavy-Neutrino States | 91 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.7 | Majorana Mass for the Charged RH Neutrino | 93 | | | | | | | | |
| | C.8 | Gauge Spectrum induced by Δ | 95 | | | | | | | | |
| D | Mat | trix Diagonalization in Perturbation Theory | 97 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.1 | Perturbative Diagonalization | 97 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.2 | Singular-Valued Decomposition | 99 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.3 | Diagonalization of a Symmetric Mass-Matrix | 100 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.4 | Block-Diagonalization of a Symmetric Mass-Matrix | 100 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.5 | Block-Diagonalization of a Hierarchical Mass-Matrix | 101 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.6 | Inverse of a Block-Matrix | 103 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.7 | Diagonalization of a 2×2 Matrix | 104 | | | | | | | | |
| | D.8 | Diagonalization of a 3×3 Matrix | 105 | | | | | | | | |
| \mathbf{E} | Scat | ttering Tools | 106 | | | | | | | | |
| | E.1 | Majorana Field | 106 | | | | | | | | |
| | E.2 | Hadronic Scattering | 107 | | | | | | | | |
| | E.3 | Phase Space of a $1 \rightarrow 2$ Decay Process | 108 | | | | | | | | |
| | E.4 | 3-Body Phase Space | 109 | | | | | | | | |

| \mathbf{F} | Standard Model Lagrangian 1 | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|--|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | F.1 Unbroken Electro-Weak Phase | . 112 | | | | | | | |
| | F.2 Broken Electro-Weak Phase | . 113 | | | | | | | |
| | F.3 Gauge Fixing | . 114 | | | | | | | |
| | F.4 Feynman Rules | . 115 | | | | | | | |
| \mathbf{G} | G Notation and Conventions 11 | | | | | | | | |
| | G.1 Mathematical Notation and Conventions | . 117 | | | | | | | |
| | G.2 Dirac Algebra | . 118 | | | | | | | |
| | G.3 Scattering Quantities | . 119 | | | | | | | |
| | G.4 SU(N) Group $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | . 121 | | | | | | | |
| Re | References 123 | | | | | | | | |

Introduction

The Standard Model (SM) is so far the best theory we have to describe the Universe. Three out of four of the fundamental interactions that govern Nature have been well explained and tested at very high precision. Nevertheless, we know that SM is not the final theory. Even neglecting gravitational interactions, there exist some questions that SM is not able to answer. One of them is about the observed fermion masses. In the SM these masses are strictly linked to the strength of the couplings between the fermions and the Higgs field. These couplings are called Yukawa couplings. In total there are 12 different fermions, divided into four categories of three generations each: the up- and down-type quarks and the charged and neutral leptons. So far the SM predicts universality among the three generations: namely, the three different fermions of the same type share the same quantum numbers and interaction strengths with all the SM particles, but the Higgs field. What we know is that the three generations of each of the four types of fermions have very different masses. The first generation is very light while the third one could be even 10^5 times bigger. This leads to a very hierarchical structure in the Yukawa couplings or, better saying, in the Yukawa matrices. In addition, the values of those couplings are just set *ad hoc* to explain the observed different fermion masses. This leads to one of the open questions in Particle Physics, usually referred to as the *flavour puzzle* (or *flavour problem*): why do the Yukawa matrices have such a hierarchical structure?

Since the interaction strength between Higgs field and SM fermions is not universal, maybe this is true also for the other interactions. In fact there is not really a fundamental reason that implies the universality of the three generations. Throughout the past decades a lot of effort has been made to detect some flavour universality violation, but nothing has been detected yet. This leads to the possibility that flavour non-universality effects could be a feature that manifests at an energy scale higher than the one we have already probed, namely at the TeV scale. An interesting attempt to address the flavour problem is offered by the hypothesis of flavour non-universal Gauge Groups. More precisely, we could think that the ultraviolet (UV) completion of the SM features a deconstruction in flavour space of the flavour universal Gauge Symmetries observed up to the Electro-Weak (EW) scale. The idea of addressing the origin of the flavour puzzle via flavour non-universal Gauge Groups is not new, see for instance [1, 2]. A common feature is that this flavour non-universality couples most strongly to the third generation. This is due to the *a posteriori* justification of an approximate $U(2)^5$ flavour Symmetry acting on the light fermion generations, which is known to provide a good description of the SM spectrum plus an efficient suppression of flavour-violating effects for low-scale new physics (NP) [3, 4]. By invoking flavour non-universal Gauge interactions, the $U(2)^5$ Symmetry emerges as an accidental Symmetry of the Gauge sector.

Another open question that has not been answered yet by the SM is the Charge quantization. It is commonly known that the electric charge seems to be quantized from what we observe. Namely, the electron has a charge e and all the other possible charges are multiple of that quantity. In the SM this is closely related to the Hypercharge of the SM particles, which is the generator of a U(1) abelian Gauge Group. In fact we know that the Charge associated to non-abelian Gauge Groups must be quantized, but there is no such condition for the abelian ones (see for instance [5]). This means that, if the SM Gauge Group is the final one, there is no reason whatsoever that the SM Hypercharges are rational numbers. A possible explanation to the Charge quantization could be assuming that the UV embedding of the SM is provided by a semisimple Gauge Group, which means that there are no abelian U(1) components. Probably the most famous example is provided by the SU(5) UV completion of the SM, firstly introduced by Georgi and Glashow in 1974 [6]. However, the issue of such kind of models is that they all predict proton decay. Hence, by looking at the constraints we have on proton lifetime, the energy scale at which the SM is embedded in such kind of models is pushed above 10^{16} GeV.

A very interesting possibility is offered by the SU(4) UV completion of the SM, firstly introduced by Pati and Salam in 1974 [7]. The main idea is that leptons in the UV are not something different from quarks, but rather the three coloured quarks and the lepton form the same fermion which is a vector charged under SU(4). In such kind of models the B - L component of the Hypercharge (where *B* and *L* are the Baryon and Lepton Number respectively) together with SU(3)-Colour Gauge Group of the SM are embedded in SU(4). This also means that B - L is gauged, which is an exact global Symmetry of the SM. This is possible since the 15th generator of SU(4) is a 4 × 4 matrix proportional to a diagonal one with eigenvalues (1/3, 1/3, 1/3, -1). This resembles very much the Baryon Number of the quarks and the Lepton Number of the leptons. In such kind of models Baryon and Lepton Numbers are conserved classically. This means that, like in the SM, proton decay is kept under control since it is generated only by anomalies, which are very suppressed. For this reason they are very appealing if one is looking for NP at the TeV scale.

Recently has been done a classification of the possible flavour non-universal deconstruction of the SM Gauge Group with a Pati-Salam-like UV embedding [8]. In particular, the authors studied possible models where the flavour non-universality of the third generation of fermions already happens at the TeV scale. In addition, under the assumptions that the Higgs field is an elementary particle, they assumed that it couples mainly with the third-generation fermions while the rest of the Yukawa couplings are generated by some higher dimensional or, better saying, Effective Field Theory (EFT) operators. This offers a possible explanation for the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices. In particular the authors found a very interesting class of models that have not been studied yet in the literature. The peculiarity is that the flavour non-universality happens only in the SU(3) \times U(1) Gauge sector of the SM Gauge Group, while the SU(2)-Left sector is kept universal. This leads *naturally* to a hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices such that they are almost superior-triangular matrices. Thus, when one goes from the flavour- to the mass-basis, the mixing matrices of the right-handed fermions are very close to the identity, showing very little mixing. Phenomenologically, this is a highly desirable feature for flavoured NP near the TeV scale.

In this work we try to give an explanation to the flavour puzzle focusing on models where the non-universality of the third generation is manifest in the $SU(3) \times U(1)$ Gauge sector of the SM. Also we are going to assume that it finds a Pati-Salam-like UV embedding that occurs already at the TeV scale. The fact that we want to analyse models where new degrees of freedom are close to that energy scales is not only *pragmatic*. Clearly, if new particles appear at higher energy scales there is no chance to probe these models in the next years. Nevertheless, there is a strong motivation to assume the existence of NP at that scale which is linked to the *hierarchy problem*. It arises from the fact that the Higgs mass, since it is a relevant coupling, is very sensible to quantum corrections. Hence, if NP happens well above the TeV scale, it would imply strong fine tuning between the bare quantity and its quantum corrections to explain the observed Higgs mass which is approximately 125 GeV.

Another important problem of the SM is that it predicts massless neutrinos. However neutrino oscillations have been observed. This brings as direct consequence that (at least) two of the neutrino species are massive since two different mass splittings have been measured. In addition, we know from such observations that the three generations of neutrinos have comparable masses of $\mathcal{O}(10^{-1})$ eV. Possible minimal extensions of the SM to solve this problem assume the existence of sterile right-handed neutrinos, either with a very suppressed neutrino Yukawa coupling or with a very high Majorana mass. In the latter case, the observed very small neutrino masses are explained by a Direct See-Saw mechanism (for a review see for instance [9]).

Such Pati-Salam-like models predict the existence of right-handed neutrinos and a neutrino Yukawa matrix comparable (if not equal) to the one of the up-type quarks. Thus, the most efficient way to explain the observed neutrino masses is by means of an Inverse See-Saw mechanism [2, 10]. This implies the existence of three generations of sterile fermions with small Majorana masses. Such low value is well explained by the fact that it is the only explicit source of Lepton Number violation. Nevertheless, there is an issue concerning such models: in order to reproduce the anarchic small neutrino mass-spectrum, the Majorana masses of these sterile fermions must be extremely hierarchical to compensate the hierarchy present in the neutrino Yukawa matrix. In addition, See-Saw realizations usually predict the existence of some heavy neutral leptons with Dirac or Majorana masses. Phenomenologically this implies enhanced lepton flavour violation (LFV) effects with respect to SM predictions. Such kind of

processes are common features in beyond SM (BSM) theories and in the past decades there has been a big effort in the detection of such effects, both from a theoretical and experimental point of view. For instance look [11, 12, 13] and references therein.

In this work we try to face all the theoretical issues listed above which currently represent an obstruction to the desired *naturalness* that such kind of models are expected to manifest. We anticipate here that we will be able to provide a natural explanation to the neutral-fermion masses. Furthermore, this model will predict the existence of three neutral (almost) Dirac-type (almost) sterile fermions with hierarchical masses. This is a very peculiar feature and it is worth to study its phenomenological implications. Thus, we are going to study in detail the phenomenology induced by such neutral fermions with focus on LFV observables and related constraints.

To summarize, the model we are going to study will be able to solve the flavour puzzle, to explain the Charge quantization, to reproduce the observed small neutrino masses assuming NP at TeV scale, hence providing a possible solution to the hierarchy problem. All this while keeping the model very *natural*, without the requirement of any strong assumption or fine tuning among the parameters of the UV theory.

This work in organized as follows. In Chapter 1 we study in detail the SM UV embedding of the model considered, explaining the particles in the UV theory and the Symmetry breaking mechanism to go down to the SM Gauge Group. In Chapter 2 we derive the Yukawa matrices that our model is able to reproduce from an EFT description, together with a possible UV origin for such higher-dimensional operators. In Chapter 3 we describe different possibilities to provide the observed small neutrino masses by means of See-Saw realizations, reproducing the results already present in the literature. In Chapter 4 we provide a new way to explain the observed neutrino masses solving all the issues that concern *naturalness* that are present in all the models studied in the literature so far. In Chapter 5 we focus on all the phenomenological implications of the heavy neutral leptons that arise from the model we built.

The Appendix contains all the relevant calculations as well as further in-depth analysis or modelbuilding options not discussed in the main Chapters because less relevant or too technical. In addition, there are listed many mathematical results that have been used as well as the notation and conventions adopted throughout this work.

1 Model Building

In this Chapter we are going to study a possible UV embedding of the SM with a flavour nonuniversal deconstruction in the Colour and Hypercharge sectors. Then we are going to provide several possible spontaneous Symmetry breaking (SSB) mechanisms to go down from the UV to the SM, comparing the common and different features for each of them.

1.1 UV Theory

Consider the SM Gauge Group

$$H_{\rm SM} = \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(3)_C \times \mathrm{U}(1)_Y \tag{1.1.1}$$

where the Gauge couplings and fields¹ associated are (with the SU(N) indices a = 1, ..., 8, i = 1, 2, 3)

$$(g_L, g_s, g_Y)$$
, $\left(W_L^i, G^a, B\right)$. (1.1.2)

We want to study the following UV embedding that breaks the universality of the third generation

$$H_{\rm UV} = {\rm SU}(2)_L \times {\rm SU}(4)^{[3]} \times {\rm SU}(3)^{[12]} \times {\rm SU}(2)_R^{[3]} \times {\rm U}(1)_X^{[12]}$$
(1.1.3)

where the Gauge couplings and fields associated are (with the SU(N) indices a = 1, ..., 15, b = 1, ..., 8, i, j = 1, 2, 3)

$$(g_L, g_4, g_3, g_R, g_X)$$
, $(W_L^i, H^a, C^b, W_R^j, B_{12})$. (1.1.4)

Such a UV completion has been firstly introduced by [8] where the authors pointed out the promising features of such a UV theory in explaining the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices. The importance of keeping $SU(2)_L$ universal will be clear in the next Chapter. The choice to embed the Gauge sector associated to the third generation in a semisimple Gauge Group arises from the aim to give an explanation to Charge quantization. Finally, we have chosen a Pati-Salam-like UV embedding [7] because it ensures proton stability, allowing to have a NP scale already at the TeV.

The fermionic particle content in the UV theory is listed in Table 1 with corresponding Charges under the UV Gauge Group $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3). In our notation, quark and lepton doublets are represented respectively as follows

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ d \end{pmatrix}, \qquad L = \begin{pmatrix} \nu \\ e \end{pmatrix}. \tag{1.1.5}$$

The fermions charged under SU(4) are represented as 4-vectors with a lepton in the last entry while the quarks with their red, blue and green colours are placed in the first three. Explicitly they read as follows

$$\chi = \begin{pmatrix} Q^r & Q^b & Q^g & L \end{pmatrix}^T .$$
 (1.1.6)

Since the Yukawa couplings of the first and second generations of fermions are suppressed with respect to the third one, it is sensible to assume that the Higgs field in the UV theory is charged only under the third-generation Gauge sector. Thus we define the Higgs field in the UV theory as follows with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\mathcal{H} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} H^c & H \end{pmatrix} \sim (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{2}}, 0)$$
(1.1.7)

where H is the SM Higgs field while $H^c \equiv i\sigma_L^2 H^*$ is its Charge-Conjugate with σ_L^2 being the second Pauli matrix (G.1.12) that acts in the SU(2)_L space.

¹To avoid using too heavy notation we omit the Lorentz index in all the Gauge fields when unnecessary.

| ψ | $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ | $SU(4)^{[3]}$ | $SU(3)^{[12]}$ | $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$ | ${\rm U}(1)_X^{[12]}$ |
|-------------------------|--------------------|---------------|----------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|
| χ^3_L | 2 | 4 | 1 | 1 | 0 |
| Q_L^i | 2 | 1 | 3 | 1 | 1/6 |
| L_L^i | 2 | 1 | 1 | 1 | -1/2 |
| $\chi_R^{\overline{3}}$ | 1 | 4 | 1 | 2 | 0 |
| u_R^i | 1 | 1 | 3 | 1 | 2/3 |
| d_R^i | 1 | 1 | 3 | 1 | -1/3 |
| e_R^i | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | -1 |
| $ u_R^i $ | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0 |

Table 1: Fermionic particle content in the UV theory. The index i = 1, 2 labels the first and second generations of fermions.

1.2 Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking Mechanisms

To go from the UV theory down to the SM, we have to break the UV Gauge Symmetry. This is made through a SSB mechanism and it requires the introduction of some scalar fields that have to eventually acquire a vacuum expectation value (VEV).

We could assume that the SSB mechanism of $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3) down to the SM Gauge Group (1.1.1) happens in two consecutive steps. There are in total three possible ways to do this²:

Model A
$$\begin{array}{ccc} 1^{\text{st}} & \text{Step:} & \text{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \text{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \text{U}(1)^{[12]}_X \to \text{SU}(3)_C \times \text{U}(1)_{X'} \\ 2^{\text{nd}} & \text{Step:} & \text{SU}(2)^{[3]}_R \times \text{U}(1)_{X'} \to \text{U}(1)_Y \end{array}$$
(1.2.1a)

Model B
$$\begin{array}{ccc} 1^{\text{st}} & \text{Step:} & \text{SU}(2)_R^{[3]} \times \text{U}(1)_X^{[12]} \to \text{U}(1)_{X'} \\ 2^{\text{nd}} & \text{Step:} & \text{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \text{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \text{U}(1)_{X'} \to \text{SU}(3)_C \times \text{U}(1)_Y \end{array}$$
(1.2.1b)

Model C
$$\begin{array}{c} 1^{\text{st}} \text{ Step:} & \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]} \to \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[3]} \\ 2^{\text{nd}} \text{ Step:} & \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[12]} \to \mathrm{SU}(3)_C \times \mathrm{U}(1)_Y \end{array}$$
(1.2.1c)

We can even write them in a more schematic, yet clearer, way as follows:

Model A:
$$4321 \rightarrow 321 \rightarrow 31$$
 (1.2.2a)

Model B:
$$4321 \to 431 \to 31$$
 (1.2.2b)

Model C:
$$4321 \rightarrow 3311 \rightarrow 31$$
 (1.2.2c)

Another possibility is to consider a slightly modified version of them which consists in doing a SSB in three steps, where the first one is always the same and it is given by the breaking of

$$SU(2)_R^{[3]} \to U(1)_R^{[3]}$$
. (1.2.3)

This is important to get a little generalization of the models above producing more *naturally* the structure of the Yukawa matrices. Specifically the new models have the following SSB steps:

Model D
$$\begin{array}{l}
2^{\text{nd}} \text{ Step:} \quad SU(4)^{[3]} \times SU(3)^{[12]} \times U(1)^{[12]}_X \to SU(3)_C \times U(1)_{X'} \\
3^{\text{rd}} \text{ Step:} \quad U(1)^{[3]}_R \times U(1)_{X'} \to U(1)_Y
\end{array} (1.2.4a)$$

Model E
$$\begin{array}{ll}
2^{\text{nd}} & \text{Step:} & \mathrm{U}(1)_{R}^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_{X} \to \mathrm{U}(1)_{X'} \\
3^{\text{rd}} & \text{Step:} & \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_{X'} \to \mathrm{SU}(3)_{C} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_{Y}
\end{array}$$
(1.2.4b)

Model F
$$\begin{array}{ll}
2^{\text{nd}} & \text{Step:} & \text{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \text{U}(1)_R^{[3]} \to \text{SU}(3)^{[3]} \times \text{U}(1)_X^{[3]} \\
3^{\text{rd}} & \text{Step:} & \text{SU}(3)^{[3]} \times \text{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \text{U}(1)_X^{[3]} \times \text{U}(1)_X^{[12]} \to \text{SU}(3)_C \times \text{U}(1)_Y
\end{array} (1.2.4c)$$

²Since $SU(2)_L$ must be kept unbroken, it is just a spectator in the SSB mechanisms and is omitted.

and schematically they read as follows:

Model D:
$$4321 \to 4311 \to 311 \to 31$$
 (1.2.5a)

Model E:
$$4321 \rightarrow 4311 \rightarrow 431 \rightarrow 31$$
 (1.2.5b)

Model F:
$$4321 \rightarrow 4311 \rightarrow 3311 \rightarrow 31$$
 (1.2.5c)

What are left to be defined are the scalar fields responsible to trigger such SSB mechanisms. We define the following ones with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\begin{array}{ll} \text{Model A,B,D,E} & \Omega_1 \sim ({\bf 1}, \overline{{\bf 4}}, {\bf 1}, {\bf 1}, -1/2) \,, & \Omega_3 \sim ({\bf 1}, \overline{{\bf 4}}, {\bf 3}, {\bf 1}, 1/6) \,, & \Sigma_R \sim ({\bf 1}, {\bf 1}, {\bf 2}, 1/2) \,, \ (1.2.6a) \\ \text{Model C,F} & \Omega_1 \sim ({\bf 1}, \overline{{\bf 4}}, {\bf 1}, {\bf 1}, -1/2) \,, & \Omega_3 \sim ({\bf 1}, \overline{{\bf 4}}, {\bf 3}, {\bf 1}, 1/6) \,, & \Delta_3 \sim ({\bf 1}, \overline{{\bf 4}}, {\bf 1}, {\bf 2}, 0) \,. \ (1.2.6b) \end{array}$$

As it will be clear in the following Sections, the $U(1)_X^{[12]}$ Charges are chosen in such a way that in the broken phase are reproduced exactly the SM Hypercharges of all the fields³. Then, for Models D, E and F, we need a further scalar field to trigger the SSB step (1.2.3). This must be done only by a field that transforms under the adjoint representation of $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$. Hence we define the following scalar field with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\Sigma_3 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, 0).$$
 (1.2.7)

To conclude, we also define the $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ Charge-Conjugate fields of Σ_R and Δ_3 as follows

$$\Sigma_R^c \equiv i\sigma_R^2 \Sigma_R^* \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, -1/2), \qquad \Delta_3^c \equiv i\sigma_R^2 \Delta_3^* \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, 0)$$
(1.2.8)

with σ_R^2 being the second Pauli matrix (G.1.12) that acts in the $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ space. In the following Sections we go through all the SSB steps for each of the models considered. At last, in Section 1.9 we list all the resulting Gauge boson fields in the broken phase together with their masses and the expression of the covariant derivative.

1.3Model A

The first step is triggered by Ω_1 and Ω_3 and we choose their VEVs to be

$$\langle \Omega_1 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \omega_1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.3.1)

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.1 in the Appendix and we find that the residual Gauge Group is

$$H_A = SU(2)_L \times SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_R^{[3]} \times U(1)_{X'}$$
(1.3.2)

with Gauge couplings and fields denoted by

$$(g_L, g_s, g_R, g_{X'}) , \qquad \left(W_L^i, G^a, W_R^j, B'\right)$$

$$(1.3.3)$$

where a = 1, ..., 8 and i, j = 1, 2, 3 and (where $\hat{g}_4 = \sqrt{6} g_4/2$)

$$g_s = \frac{g_4 g_3}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}}, \qquad g_{X'} = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_X}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_X^2}}.$$
(1.3.4)

³Actually, in full generality for Models C and F we could assume more general $U(1)_X^{[12]}$ Charges, namely for $\Omega_3 \sim \eta/6$ while for $\Omega_1 \sim -\eta/2$ where η is a free parameter. To get the SM Hypercharges we just need to rescale all the Charges of the particle content as $X^{[12]} \rightarrow \eta X^{[12]}$. However this seems to be a minor and not well justified generalization.

The $U(1)_{X'}$ generator is given by

$$X' = X^{[12]} + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} \tag{1.3.5}$$

and the diagonalized Gauge boson basis reads (where a = 1, ..., 8)

$$G^a = s_{43}H^a + c_{43}C^a \qquad m_G^2 = 0,$$
 (1.3.6a)

$$G^{\prime a} = c_{43}H^a - s_{43}C^a \qquad m_{G^{\prime}}^2 = \omega_3^2 \left(g_3^2 + g_4^2\right) , \qquad (1.3.6b)$$

$$U_r^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^9 \mp i H^{10} \right)$$

$$U_b^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{11} \mp i H^{12} \right) \qquad m_U^2 = \frac{g_4^2}{2} \left(\omega_1^2 + \omega_3^2 \right) , \qquad (1.3.6c)$$

$$U_g^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{13} \mp i H^{14} \right)$$

$$B' = s_{4X} H^{15} + c_{4X} B_{12} \qquad m_{B'}^2 = 0,$$
(1.3.6d)

$$Z' = c_{4X}H^{15} - s_{4X}B_{12} \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}\left(\omega_1^2 + \frac{\omega_3^2}{3}\right)\left(\hat{g}_4^2 + g_X^2\right)$$
(1.3.6e)

where we have defined

$$c_{43} = \frac{g_4}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}}, \quad s_{43} = \frac{g_3}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}}, \quad c_{4X} = \frac{\hat{g}_4}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_X^2}}, \quad s_{4X} = \frac{g_X}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_X^2}}.$$
 (1.3.7)

The massive boson fields have Charges $U_c^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 2/3)$ (where c = r, b, g), $G'^a \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{8}, \mathbf{1}, 0)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0)$ under H_A . The covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_s T^a G^a - ig_R T_R^j W_R^j - ig_{X'} X' B' - ig_4 \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_c^+ U_c^+ + \hat{T}_c^- U_c^- \right) - i \frac{g_4}{2c_{43}} \left(c_{43}^2 - s_{43}^2 \right) T^a G'^a - i \frac{\hat{g}_4}{c_{4X}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} \hat{T}^{15} - s_{4X}^2 X' \right] Z'$$
(1.3.8)

where we have defined

$$\hat{T}_r^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^9 \pm i \hat{T}^{10} \right) , \quad \hat{T}_b^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{11} \pm i \hat{T}^{12} \right) , \quad \hat{T}_g^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{13} \pm i \hat{T}^{14} \right) . \tag{1.3.9}$$

The second step is triggered by $\Sigma_R \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, 1/2)$ (whose Charges are referred to H_A) and its VEV is chosen to be

$$\langle \Sigma_R \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ v_R \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{1.3.10}$$

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.2 in the Appendix and we find $H_{\rm SM}$ as residual Gauge Group with Hypercharge

$$Y = T_R^3 + X' = T_R^3 + X^{[12]} + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15}$$
(1.3.11)

and coupling

$$g_Y = \frac{g_R g_{X'}}{\sqrt{g_R^2 + g_{X'}^2}}.$$
 (1.3.12)

To find the diagonalized Gauge boson basis we need to notice that we have an interaction between Σ_R and Z' which changes slightly the mixing evaluated in Section A.2. In particular the covariant derivative gets the following contribution

$$D_{\mu}\Sigma_R \supset -\frac{i}{2} \frac{g_X^2}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + \hat{g}_4^2}} Z' \Sigma_R \,. \tag{1.3.13}$$

When Σ_R acquires its VEV, it modifies the mass-matrix as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_M \supset \frac{1}{4} \left(\omega_1^2 + \frac{\omega_3^2}{3} \right) \left(\hat{g}_4 H^{15} - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{4} v_R^2 \left(g_R W_R^3 - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 \,. \tag{1.3.14}$$

1.4 Model B

The first step is triggered by Σ_R and we choose its VEV to be

$$\langle \Sigma_R \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ v_R \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{1.4.1}$$

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.2 in the Appendix and we find that the residual Gauge Group is

$$H_B = \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_{X'}$$
(1.4.2)

with Gauge couplings and fields denoted by

$$(g_L, g_4, g_3, g_{X'}), \qquad \left(W_L^i, H^a, C^b, B'\right)$$
 (1.4.3)

where a = 1, ..., 15, b = 1, ..., 8 and i = 1, 2, 3 and

$$g_{X'} = \frac{g_X g_R}{\sqrt{g_R^2 + 4X_R^2 g_X^2}} \,. \tag{1.4.4}$$

The $U(1)_{X'}$ generator is given by

$$X' = T_R^3 + X^{[12]} \tag{1.4.5}$$

and the diagonalized Gauge boson basis reads

$$W_R^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W_R^1 \mp i W_R^2 \right) \qquad m_{W_R}^2 = \frac{g_R^2}{2} v_R^2 \,, \tag{1.4.6a}$$

$$B' = c_{RX}B_{12} + s_{RX}W_R^3 \qquad m_{B'}^2 = 0, \qquad (1.4.6b)$$

$$Z' = -s_{RX}B_{12} + c_{RX}W_R^3 \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{g_R^2}{2}v_R^2 \left(1 + 4\frac{g_X^2}{g_R^2}X_R^2\right)$$
(1.4.6c)

where we have defined

$$c_{RX} = \frac{g_R}{\sqrt{g_R^2 + 4g_X^2 X_R^2}}, \quad s_{RX} = \frac{2g_X X_R}{\sqrt{g_R^2 + 4g_X^2 X_R^2}}.$$
 (1.4.7)

The massive boson fields have Charges $W_R^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 1)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0)$ under H_B (1.4.2). The covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_4 \hat{T}^a H^a - ig_3 T^b C^b - ig_{X'} X' B' - ig_R \left(T_R^+ W_R^+ + T_R^- W_R^- \right) - i \frac{g_R}{c_{RX}} \left[T_R^3 - s_{RX}^2 X' \right] Z'$$
(1.4.8)

where we have defined

$$T_R^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(T_R^1 \pm i T_R^2 \right) \,. \tag{1.4.9}$$

The second step is triggered by $\Omega_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{4}}, \mathbf{1}, -1/2)$ and $\Omega_3 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{4}}, \mathbf{3}, 1/6)$ (whose Charges are referred to H_B) and their VEVs are chosen to be

$$\langle \Omega_1 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \omega_1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.4.10)

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.1 in the Appendix and we find $H_{\rm SM}$ as residual Gauge Group with Hypercharge

$$Y = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} + X' = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} + X^{[12]} + T_R^3$$
(1.4.11)

and couplings

$$g_s = \frac{g_4 g_3}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}}, \qquad g_Y = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_{X'}}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + 4 g_{X'}^2 X_\Omega^2}}.$$
 (1.4.12)

To find the diagonalized Gauge boson basis we need to notice that we have an interaction between Ω_1 , Ω_3 and Z' which changes slightly the mixing evaluated in Section A.1. In particular the covariant derivatives get the contributions

$$D_{\mu}\Omega_{1} \supset \frac{i}{2} \frac{g_{X}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{R}^{2} + g_{X}^{2}}} Z' \Omega_{1}, \qquad D_{\mu}\Omega_{3} \supset -\frac{i}{6} \frac{g_{X}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{R}^{2} + g_{X}^{2}}} Z' \Omega_{3}.$$
(1.4.13)

When Ω_1 and Ω_3 acquire their VEVs, it modifies the mass-matrix as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_M \supset \frac{1}{4} v_R^2 \left(g_R W_R^3 - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{4} \left(\omega_1^2 + \frac{\omega_3^2}{3} \right) \left(\hat{g}_4 H^{15} - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 \,. \tag{1.4.14}$$

1.5 Model C

The first step is triggered by Δ_3 and we choose its VEV to be

 $B_3 = c_{4R} W_R^3$

$$\langle \Delta \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & w \end{pmatrix} . \tag{1.5.1}$$

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.3 in the Appendix and we find that the residual Gauge Group is

$$H_C = \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[12]}$$
(1.5.2)

with Gauge couplings and fields denoted by

$$(g_L, g_s^h, g_s^\ell, g_X^h, g_X^\ell)$$
, $(W_L^i, H^a, C^b, B_3, B_{12})$ (1.5.3)

where a, b = 1, ..., 8 and i = 1, 2, 3 and

$$g_s^h = g_4, \qquad g_s^\ell = g_3, \qquad g_X^h = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_R}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2}}, \qquad g_X^\ell = g_X.$$
 (1.5.4)

The $U(1)_X^{[3]}$ generator is given by

$$X^{[3]} = T_R^3 + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} \tag{1.5.5}$$

and the diagonalized Gauge boson basis reads (we omit H^a for a = 1, ..., 8 that are still present)

$$U_{r}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{9} \mp i H^{10} \right)$$

$$U_{b}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{11} \mp i H^{12} \right) \qquad m_{U}^{2} = \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{2} w^{2} , \qquad (1.5.6a)$$

$$U_{g}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{13} \mp i H^{14} \right)$$

$$W_R^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W_R^1 \mp i W_R^2 \right) \qquad m_{W_R}^2 = \frac{g_R^2}{2} w^2 \,, \tag{1.5.6b}$$

$$+ s_{4R} H^{15}$$
 $m_{B_3}^2 = 0$, (1.5.6c)

$$Z' = -s_{4R}W_R^3 + c_{4R}H^{15} \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}w^2\left(\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2\right)$$
(1.5.6d)

where we have defined

$$c_{4R} = \frac{\hat{g}_4}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2}}, \quad s_{4R} = \frac{g_R}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2}}.$$
(1.5.7)

The massive boson fields have Charges $U_c^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 2/3, 0)$ (where c = r, b, g), $W_R^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 1, 0)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0)$ under H_C . The covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_s^h T^a H^a - ig_s^\ell T^b C^b - ig_X^h X^{[3]} B_3 - ig_X^\ell X^{[12]} B_{12} - ig_R \left(T_R^+ W_R^+ + T_R^- W_R^- \right) - ig_4 \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_c^+ U_c^+ + \hat{T}_c^- U_c^- \right) - i\frac{\hat{g}_4}{c_{4R}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} \hat{T}^{15} - s_{4R}^2 X^{[3]} \right] Z'.$$

$$(1.5.8)$$

The second step is triggered by Ω_1 and Ω_3 which at this stage each one is split into two fields, one of which will acquire a VEV. Namely, under $H_{\rm UV}$ they can be written in the following forms

$$\Omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \Omega_1' & \tilde{\Omega}_1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \Omega_3 = \begin{pmatrix} \Omega_3' & \tilde{\Omega}_3 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.5.9)

and under H_C each of them have Charges

$$\Omega'_{1} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{3}}, \mathbf{1}, -1/6, -1/2), \qquad \Omega'_{3}(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, 1/2, 1/6),
\tilde{\Omega}_{1} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 1/2, -1/2), \qquad \tilde{\Omega}_{3} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{\overline{3}}, \mathbf{3}, -1/6, 1/6).$$
(1.5.10)

We make only the last two to acquire a VEV that we choose to be

$$\langle \tilde{\Omega}_1 \rangle = \omega_1 , \qquad \langle \tilde{\Omega}_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega_3 \end{pmatrix} . \tag{1.5.11}$$

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.5 in the Appendix and we find $H_{\rm SM}$ as residual Gauge Group with Hypercharge

$$Y = X^{[3]} + X^{[12]} = T_R^3 + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} + X^{[12]}$$
(1.5.12)

and couplings

$$g_s = \frac{g_s^h g_s^\ell}{\sqrt{(g_s^h)^2 + (g_s^\ell)^2}}, \qquad g_Y = \frac{g_X^h g_X^\ell}{\sqrt{(g_X^h)^2 + (g_X^\ell)^2}}.$$
 (1.5.13)

To find the diagonalized Gauge boson basis we need to notice that we have an interaction between Ω_1 , Ω_3 and Z', U_c^{\pm} which changes slightly the mixing evaluated in Section A.5. In particular the covariant derivatives get the contributions

$$D_{\mu}\Omega_{1} \supset ig_{4} \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\Omega_{1}\hat{T}_{c}^{-}U_{c}^{-}\right) + \frac{i}{2} \frac{g_{R}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{R}^{2} + \hat{g}_{4}^{2}}} Z' \,\Omega_{1} \,, \tag{1.5.14a}$$

$$D_{\mu}\Omega_{3} \supset ig_{4} \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\Omega_{3}\hat{T}_{c}^{+}U_{c}^{+}\right) - \frac{i}{6} \frac{g_{R}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{R}^{2} + \hat{g}_{4}^{2}}} Z' \Omega_{3}.$$
(1.5.14b)

When Ω_1 and Ω_3 acquire their VEVs, it modifies the mass-matrix as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_M \supset \frac{g_4^2}{2} (\omega_1^2 + \omega_3^2) \sum_{c=r,b,g} U_c^+ U_c^- + \frac{1}{4} w^2 \left(g_R W_R^3 - \hat{g}_4 H^{15} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{4} \left(\omega_1^2 + \frac{\omega_3^2}{3} \right) \left(\hat{g}_4 H^{15} - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 .$$
(1.5.15)

1.6 Model D

The first step is triggered by Σ_3 and we choose its VEV to be

$$\langle \Sigma_3 \rangle = \frac{v_3}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = v_3 T_R^3.$$
 (1.6.1)

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.6 in the Appendix and we find that the residual Gauge Group is

$$H_D = \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_R^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[12]}$$
(1.6.2)

with Gauge fields and couplings denoted by

$$(g_L, g_4, g_3, g_R, g_X)$$
, $(W_L^i, H^a, C^b, B_3, B_{12})$ (1.6.3)

where a = 1, ..., 15, b = 1, ..., 8 and i = 1, 2, 3. The U(1)^[3]_R generator is given by

$$X_R^{[3]} = T_R^3 \tag{1.6.4}$$

and the diagonalized Gauge boson basis (regarding the broken sector) is given by

$$W_R^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W_R^1 \mp i W_R^2 \right) \qquad m_{W_R}^2 = g_R^2 v_3^2 \,, \tag{1.6.5a}$$

$$B_3 = W_R^3$$
 $m_{B_3}^2 = 0.$ (1.6.5b)

The new massive Gauge bosons have Charges $W_R^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 1, 0)$ under H_D . The covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_4 \hat{T}^a H^a - ig_3 T^b C^b - ig_X X^{[12]} B_{12} - ig_R X_R^{[3]} B_3 - ig_R \left(T_R^+ W_R^+ + T_R^- W_R^- \right) .$$
(1.6.6)

The second step is triggered by $\Omega_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{1}, 0, -1/2)$ and $\Omega_3 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{3}, 0, 1/6)$ (whose Charges are referred to H_D) and their VEVs are chosen to be

$$\langle \Omega_1 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \omega_1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.6.7)

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.1 in the Appendix and we find that the residual Gauge Group is

$$H'_D = SU(2)_L \times SU(3)_C \times U(1)_R^{[3]} \times U(1)_{X'}$$
(1.6.8)

with Gauge couplings and fields denoted by

$$(g_L, g_s, g_R, g_{X'}), \qquad \left(W_L^i, G^a, B_3, B'\right)$$
 (1.6.9)

where a = 1, ..., 8 and i = 1, 2, 3 and

$$g_s = \frac{g_4 g_3}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}}, \qquad g_{X'} = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_X}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_X^2}}.$$
 (1.6.10)

The $U(1)_{X'}$ generator is given by

$$X' = X^{[12]} + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} \tag{1.6.11}$$

and the diagonalized Gauge boson basis reads the same found in (1.3.6) (with even same notation) and the new massive boson fields have Charges $U_c^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, 0, \pm 2/3)$ (where c = r, b, g), $G'^a \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{8}, 0, 0)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0, 0)$ under H'_D . The covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_s T^a G^a - ig_R X_R^{[3]} B_3 - ig_{X'} X' B' - ig_R \left(T_R^+ W_R^+ + T_R^- W_R^- \right) - ig_4 \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_c^+ U_c^+ + \hat{T}_c^- U_c^- \right) - i \frac{g_4}{2c_{43}} \left(c_{43}^2 - s_{43}^2 \right) T^a G'^a - i \frac{\hat{g}_4}{c_{4X}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} \hat{T}^{15} - s_{4X}^2 X' \right] Z'.$$
(1.6.12)

The third step is triggered by Σ_R which at this stage is split into two fields, one of which will acquire a VEV. Namely under $H_{\rm UV}$ it can be written in the following form

$$\Sigma_R = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_R^+ \\ \Sigma_R^0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.6.13}$$

and under H'_D each of them have Charges

 $\Sigma_R^0 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, -1/2, 1/2), \qquad \Sigma_R^+ \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 1/2, 1/2).$ (1.6.14)

We make only the first one to acquire a VEV that we choose to be

$$\langle \Sigma_R^0 \rangle = v_R \,. \tag{1.6.15}$$

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.7 in the Appendix and we find $H_{\rm SM}$ as residual Gauge Group with Hypercharge

$$Y = X_R^{[3]} + X' = X^{[12]} + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} + T_R^3$$
(1.6.16)

and coupling

$$g_Y = \frac{g_R g_{X'}}{\sqrt{g_R^2 + g_{X'}^2}} \,. \tag{1.6.17}$$

To find the diagonalized Gauge boson basis we need to notice that we have an interaction between Σ_R^0 and Z', W_R^{\pm} which changes slightly the mixing evaluated in Section A.7. In particular the covariant derivative gets the contributions

$$D_{\mu}\Sigma_{R}^{0} \supset -\frac{i}{2} \frac{g_{X}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{X}^{2} + \hat{g}_{4}^{2}}} Z'\Sigma_{R}^{0} - ig_{R}T_{R}^{+}W_{R}^{+}\Sigma_{R}^{0}.$$
(1.6.18)

When Σ_R^0 acquires its VEV, it modifies the mass-matrix as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} \supset \frac{1}{4} \left(\omega_{1}^{2} + \frac{\omega_{3}^{2}}{3} \right) \left(\hat{g}_{4} H^{15} - g_{X} B_{12} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{4} v_{R}^{2} \left(g_{R} W_{R}^{3} - g_{X} B_{12} \right)^{2} + g_{R}^{2} v_{3}^{2} \left(1 + \frac{v_{R}^{2}}{2v_{3}^{2}} \right) W_{R}^{+} W_{R}^{-} .$$

$$(1.6.19)$$

1.7 Model E

The first step is completely equivalent to the one of Model D. The second step is triggered by Σ_R which is a doublet of two scalar fields as in (1.6.13) with Charges under $H_E = H_D$ (1.6.2)

$$\Sigma_R^0 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, -1/2, 1/2), \qquad \Sigma_R^+ \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 1/2, 1/2).$$
 (1.7.1)

We make only the first one to acquire a VEV that we choose to be

$$\langle \Sigma_R^0 \rangle = v_R \,. \tag{1.7.2}$$

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.7 in the Appendix and we find that the residual Gauge Group is

$$H'_E = \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_{X'}$$
(1.7.3)

with Gauge couplings and fields denoted by

$$(g_L, g_4, g_3, g_{X'})$$
, (W_L^i, H^a, C^b, B') (1.7.4)

where a = 1, ..., 15, b = 1, ..., 8 and i = 1, 2, 3 and

$$g_{X'} = \frac{g_X g_R}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + g_R^2}} \,. \tag{1.7.5}$$

The $U(1)_{X'}$ generator is given by

$$X' = X^{[12]} + T_R^3. (1.7.6)$$

Since Σ_R is a $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ doublet, we have an interaction between Σ_R^0 and W_R^{\pm} in the covariant derivative which changes slightly the masses of W_R^{\pm} . In particular the covariant derivative gets the contribution

$$D_{\mu}\Sigma_R^0 \supset -ig_R T_R^+ W_R^+ \Sigma_R^0 \,. \tag{1.7.7}$$

When Σ_R^0 acquires its VEV, it modifies the mass-matrix as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_M \supset g_R^2 v_3^2 \left(1 + \frac{v_R^2}{2v_3^2} \right) W_R^+ W_R^- = m_{W_R}^2 W_R^+ W_R^- \,. \tag{1.7.8}$$

The diagonalized Gauge boson basis reads

$$B' = s_{XR}B_{12} + c_{XR}B_3 \qquad m_{B'}^2 = 0, \qquad (1.7.9a)$$

$$Z' = c_{XR}B_{12} - s_{XR}B_3 \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}v_R^2 \left(g_X^2 + g_R^2\right)$$
(1.7.9b)

where we have defined

$$c_{XR} = \frac{g_X}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + g_R^2}}, \quad s_{XR} = \frac{g_R}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + g_R^2}}.$$
 (1.7.10)

The massive boson field has Charges $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0)$ under H'_E . The covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_4 \hat{T}^a H^a - ig_3 T^b C^b - ig_{X'} X' B' - ig_R \left(T_R^+ W_R^+ + T_R^- W_R^- \right) - i \frac{g_X}{c_{XR}} \left(X^{[12]} - s_{XR}^2 X' \right) Z'.$$
(1.7.11)

The third step is triggered by $\Omega_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{1}, -1/2)$ and $\Omega_3 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{3}, 1/6)$ (whose Charges are referred to H'_E) and their VEVs are chosen to be

$$\langle \Omega_1 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \omega_1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.7.12)

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.1 in the Appendix and we find $H_{\rm SM}$ as residual Gauge Group with Hypercharge

$$Y = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} + X' = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} + X^{[12]} + T_R^3$$
(1.7.13)

and coupling

$$g_Y = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_{X'}}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4} + g_{X'}^2} \,. \tag{1.7.14}$$

To find the diagonalized Gauge boson basis we need to notice that we have an interaction between Ω_1 , Ω_3 and Z' which changes slightly the mixing evaluated in Section A.1. In particular the covariant derivatives get the contributions

$$D_{\mu}\Omega_{1} \supset \frac{i}{2} \frac{g_{X}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{R}^{2} + g_{X}^{2}}} Z' \Omega_{1}, \qquad D_{\mu}\Omega_{3} \supset -\frac{i}{6} \frac{g_{X}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{R}^{2} + g_{X}^{2}}} Z' \Omega_{3}.$$
(1.7.15)

When Ω_1 and Ω_3 acquire their VEVs, it modifies the mass-matrix as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_M \supset \frac{1}{4} v_R^2 \left(g_R W_R^3 - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{4} \left(\omega_1^2 + \frac{\omega_3^2}{3} \right) \left(\hat{g}_4 H^{15} - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 \,. \tag{1.7.16}$$

1.8 Model F

The first step is completely equivalent to the one of Model D. The second step is triggered by Δ_3 which at this stage is split into two fields, one of which will acquire a VEV. Namely it can be written in the following form

$$\Delta_3 = \begin{pmatrix} \Delta_3^+ \\ \Delta_3^0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.8.1}$$

and under $H_F = H_D$ (1.6.2) each of them have Charges

$$\Delta_3^0 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{1}, -1/2, 0), \qquad \Delta_3^+ \sim (\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{1}, 1/2, 0).$$
 (1.8.2)

We make only the first one to acquire a VEV that we choose to be

$$\langle \Delta_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & w \end{pmatrix} . \tag{1.8.3}$$

The SSB is evaluated in Section A.4 in the Appendix and we find that the residual Gauge Group is

$$H'_F = \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[12]}$$
(1.8.4)

with Gauge couplings and fields denoted by

$$(g_L, g_s^h, g_s^\ell, g_X^h, g_X^\ell)$$
, $(W_L^i, H^a, C^b, B_3, B_{12})$ (1.8.5)

where a, b = 1, ..., 8 and i = 1, 2, 3 and

$$g_s^h = g_4, \qquad g_s^\ell = g_3, \qquad g_X^h = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_R}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2}}, \qquad g_X^\ell = g_X.$$
 (1.8.6)

The $\mathrm{U}(1)_X^{[3]}$ generator is given by

$$X^{[3]} = T_R^3 + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15}.$$
(1.8.7)

Since Δ_3 is a SU(2)^[3]_R doublet, we have an interaction between Δ_3^0 and W_R^{\pm} in the covariant derivative which changes slightly the masses of W_R^{\pm} . In particular the covariant derivative gets the contribution

$$D_{\mu}\Delta_{3}^{0} \supset -ig_{R}T_{R}^{+}W_{R}^{+}\Delta_{3}^{0}.$$
(1.8.8)

When Σ_R^0 acquires its VEV, it modifies the mass-matrix as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_M \supset g_R^2 v_3^2 \left(1 + \frac{w^2}{2v_3^2} \right) W_R^+ W_R^- = m_{W_R}^2 W_R^+ W_R^- \,. \tag{1.8.9}$$

The diagonalized Gauge boson basis reads (we omit H^a for a = 1, ..., 8 that are still present)

$$U_{r}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{9} \mp i H^{10} \right)$$

$$U_{b}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{11} \mp i H^{12} \right) \qquad m_{U}^{2} = \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{2} w^{2} , \qquad (1.8.10a)$$

$$U_{g}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{13} \mp i H^{14} \right)$$

$$B_3 = c_{4R} W_R^3 + s_{4R} H^{15} \qquad m_{B_3}^2 = 0, \qquad (1.8.10b)$$

$$Z' = -s_{4R}W_R^3 + c_{4R}H^{15} \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}w^2\left(\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2\right)$$
(1.8.10c)

where we have defined

$$c_{4R} = \frac{\hat{g}_4}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2}}, \quad s_{4R} = \frac{g_R}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2}}.$$
 (1.8.11)

The massive boson fields have Charges $U_c^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 2/3, 0)$ (where c = r, b, g), $W_R^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 1, 0)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0)$ under H'_F . The covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_s^h T^a H^a - ig_s^\ell T^b C^b - ig_X^h X^{[3]} B_3 - ig_X^\ell X^{[12]} B_{12} - ig_R \left(T_R^+ W_R^+ + T_R^- W_R^- \right) - ig_4 \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_c^+ U_c^+ + \hat{T}_c^- U_c^- \right) - i \frac{\hat{g}_4}{c_{4R}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} \hat{T}^{15} - s_{4R}^2 X^{[3]} \right] Z'.$$
(1.8.12)

The third step is completely equivalent to the second step of Model C with even same notation.

1.9 Gauge Spectrum in the Broken Phase

In this Section we list and compare the Gauge mass-spectrum in the UV broken phase (thus at the SM Symmetry Group) for each of the different SSB mechanisms considered.

From the breaking of $\mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \to \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[3]}$ we have six massive leptoquarks U_c^{\pm} (where c = r, b, g). From the breaking of $\mathrm{SU}(3)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(3)^{[12]} \to \mathrm{SU}(3)_C$ we have eight massive Gluons G'^a (where a = 1, ..., 8). From the breaking of $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]} \to \mathrm{U}(1)_R^{[3]}$ we have two massive W-type bosons W_R^{\pm} . At last, from the breaking of the diagonal subgroups of $\mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]}$ and $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$, we have two neutral massive Z-type bosons Z' and Z''. Explicitly we have that in all the models the massive gluons, leptoquarks and W-type vector bosons read as follows with corresponding Charges under H_{SM} (1.1.1)

$$G^{\prime a} = \frac{g_4}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}} H^a - \frac{g_3}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}} C^a \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{8}, 0), \qquad (1.9.1a)$$

$$\begin{aligned}
 U_r^{\pm} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^9 \mp i H^{10} \right) \\
 U_b^{\pm} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{11} \mp i H^{12} \right) \\
 U_g^{\pm} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{13} \mp i H^{14} \right)
 \end{aligned}$$
(1.9.1b)

$$W_R^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W_R^1 \mp i W_R^2 \right) \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \pm 1) \,. \tag{1.9.1c}$$

Their masses depend on the model considered and explicitly they read as follows

Model A,B
$$m_{G'}^2 = \omega_3^2 \left(g_3^2 + g_4^2 \right), \quad m_U^2 = \frac{1}{2} g_4^2 \left(\omega_1^2 + \omega_3^2 \right), \quad m_{W_R}^2 = \frac{1}{2} g_R^2 v_R^2, \quad (1.9.2a)$$

Model C
$$m_{G'}^2 = \omega_3^2 \left(g_3^2 + g_4^2 \right), \quad m_U^2 = \frac{1}{2} g_4^2 w^2 \left(1 + \frac{\omega_1^2 + \omega_3^2}{w^2} \right), \quad m_{W_R}^2 = \frac{1}{2} g_R^2 w^2, \quad (1.9.2b)$$

$$\begin{array}{ll} \text{Model D,E} & m_{G'}^2 = \omega_3^2 \left(g_3^2 + g_4^2 \right) \,, \quad m_U^2 = \frac{1}{2} g_4^2 \left(\omega_1^2 + \omega_3^2 \right) \,, \quad m_{W_R}^2 = g_R^2 v_3^2 \left(1 + \frac{v_R^2}{2v_3^2} \right) \,, \quad (1.9.2\text{c}) \\ \text{Model F} & m_{G'}^2 = \omega_3^2 \left(g_3^2 + g_4^2 \right) \,, \quad m_U^2 = \frac{1}{2} g_4^2 w^2 \left(1 + \frac{\omega_1^2 + \omega_3^2}{w^2} \right) \,, \quad m_{W_R}^2 = g_R^2 v_3^2 \left(1 + \frac{w^2}{2v_3^2} \right) \,. \end{array}$$

For all the models the eight massless gluons (Gauge bosons associated to $SU(3)_C$) are given by (where a = 1, ..., 8)

$$G^{a} = \frac{g_{3}}{\sqrt{g_{4}^{2} + g_{3}^{2}}} H^{a} + \frac{g_{4}}{\sqrt{g_{4}^{2} + g_{3}^{2}}} C^{a} .$$
(1.9.3)

(1.9.2d)

The Hypercharge (generator of $U(1)_Y$) is given by

$$Y = T_R^3 + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} + X^{[12]}.$$
(1.9.4)

Also the couplings associated to $H_{\rm SM}$ are the same for all the models (as expected) and explicitly they are given by

$$g_s = \frac{g_3 g_4}{\sqrt{g_3^2 + g_4^2}} = \left(\frac{1}{g_3^2} + \frac{1}{g_4^2}\right)^{-1/2}, \quad g_Y = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_R g_X}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 g_R^2 + \hat{g}_4^2 g_X^2 + g_R^2 g_X^2}} = \left(\frac{1}{\hat{g}_4^2} + \frac{1}{g_R^2} + \frac{1}{g_X^2}\right)^{-1/2}$$
(1.9.5)

where $\hat{g}_4 = \sqrt{6} g_4/2$.

The main differences among the models are given by the three neutral vector bosons. They are always given by two neutral massive vector bosons with Charges $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0), Z'' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 0)$ under $H_{\rm SM}$ (1.1.1) and one massless which is identified with B (the Gauge boson associated to $U(1)_Y$). In terms of UV-theory quantities, they are generated by a linear combination of the vector bosons associated with the diagonal subgroups of the UV Gauge Group. The mixing matrices are found by diagonalizing the neutral mass-Lagrangian provided by the models. Also, to get somehow nicer expressions, we have worked up to first order in ε which, after having defined

$$\Omega^2 \equiv \omega_1^2 + \frac{\omega_3^2}{3} \,, \tag{1.9.6}$$

it is given by $\varepsilon = v_R^2/\Omega^2$ for Models A and D, $\varepsilon = \Omega^2/v_R^2$ for Models B and E while $\varepsilon = \Omega^2/w^2$ for Models C and F. We assume ε to be small thanks to the present hierarchy between the VEVs of the scalar fields which are acquired at different energy scales. The mixing matrices read as follows

Model A,D

$$\begin{pmatrix} B\\ Z''\\ Z' \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} g_R g_X & \hat{g}_4 g_X & \hat{g}_4 g_R \\ -\hat{g}_4 g_X^2 \rho_{4X} \left(1 + \frac{v_R^2}{\Omega^2} \rho_{4X}^4 \sigma^2 \right) & g_R \rho_{4X}^{-1} & -\hat{g}_4^2 g_X \rho_{4X} \left(1 - \frac{v_R^2}{\Omega^2} \frac{g_X^2}{\hat{g}_4^2} \rho_{4X}^4 \sigma^2 \right) \\ \hat{g}_4 \rho_{4X} \sigma \left(1 - \frac{v_R^2}{\Omega^2} g_X^4 \rho_{4X}^4 \right) & g_R g_X^2 \rho_{4X}^3 \sigma \frac{v_R^2}{\Omega^2} & -g_X \rho_{4X} \sigma \left(1 + \frac{v_R^2}{\Omega^2} \hat{g}_4^2 g_X^2 \rho_{4X}^4 \right) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H^{15} \\ W_R^3 \\ B_{12} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(1.9.7a)$$

Model B,E

$$\begin{pmatrix} B \\ Z'' \\ Z' \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} g_R g_X & \hat{g}_4 g_X & \hat{g}_4 g_R \\ \hat{g}_4 \rho_{RX}^{-1} & -g_R g_X^2 \rho_{RX} \left(1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{v_R^2} \rho_{RX}^4 \sigma^2 \right) & -g_R^2 g_X \rho_{RX} \left(1 - \frac{\Omega^2}{v_R^2} \frac{g_X^2}{g_R^2} \rho_{RX}^4 \sigma^2 \right) \\ \hat{g}_4 g_X^2 \rho_{RX}^3 \sigma \frac{\Omega^2}{v_R^2} & g_R \rho_{RX} \sigma \left(1 - \frac{\Omega^2}{v_R^2} g_X^4 \rho_{RX}^4 \right) & -g_X \rho_{RX} \sigma \left(1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{v_R^2} g_R^2 g_X^2 \rho_{RX}^4 \right) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H^{15} \\ W_R^3 \\ B_{12} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(1.9.7b)$$

Model C,F

$$\begin{pmatrix} B\\ Z''\\ Z' \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} g_R g_X & \hat{g}_4 g_X & \hat{g}_4 g_R \\ -\hat{g}_4 g_R^2 \rho_{4R} \left(1 - \frac{\Omega^2}{w^2} \frac{\hat{g}_4^2}{g_R^2} \rho_{4R}^4 \sigma^2 \right) & -\hat{g}_4^2 g_R \rho_{4R} \left(1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{w^2} \rho_{4R}^4 \sigma^2 \right) & g_X \rho_{4R}^{-1} \\ -\hat{g}_4 \rho_{4R} \sigma \left(1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{w^2} \hat{g}_4^2 g_R^2 \rho_{4R}^4 \right) & g_R \rho_{4R} \sigma \left(1 - \frac{\Omega^2}{w^2} \hat{g}_4^4 \rho_{4R}^4 \right) & g_X \hat{g}_4^2 \rho_{4R}^3 \sigma \frac{\Omega^2}{w^2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H^{15} \\ W_R^3 \\ B_{12} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(1.9.7c)$$

where we have defined

$$\rho_{4X}^{-1} = \sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_X^2}, \quad \rho_{4R}^{-1} = \sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_R^2}, \quad \rho_{RX}^{-1} = \sqrt{g_R^2 + g_X^2}, \quad \sigma = \sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 g_R^2 + \hat{g}_4^2 g_X^2 + g_R^2 g_X^2}. \quad (1.9.8)$$

Notice that the massless vector boson B is the same in all the models as expected. Also we can check that all the mixing matrices are an element of SO(3). The masses of the neutral vector bosons depend on the model considered and explicitly they read as follows

Model A,D
$$m_B^2 = 0$$
, $m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{\Omega^2}{2} \rho_{4X}^{-2} \left(1 + \frac{v_R^2}{\Omega^2} g_X^4 \rho_{4X}^4 \right)$, $m_{Z''}^2 = \frac{v_R^2}{2} \sigma^2 \rho_{4X}^2$, (1.9.9a)

Model B,E
$$m_B^2 = 0$$
, $m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{v_R^2}{2}\rho_{RX}^{-2} \left(1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{v_R^2}g_X^4\rho_{RX}^4\right)$, $m_{Z''}^2 = \frac{\Omega^2}{2}\sigma^2\rho_{RX}^2$, (1.9.9b)

Model C,F
$$m_B^2 = 0$$
, $m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{w^2}{2}\rho_{4R}^{-2}\left(1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{w^2}\hat{g}_4^4\rho_{4R}^4\right)$, $m_{Z''}^2 = \frac{\Omega^2}{2}\sigma^2\rho_{4R}^2$. (1.9.9c)

The last quantity to write down is the covariant derivative in terms of the broken vector bosons. In particular the SM Gauge contributions are common to all the models as expected. The contributions provided by the massive gluons, leptoquarks and W-type vector bosons seem to be independent on the SSB mechanisms exploited. The only differences are in the contributions provided by the neutral Z-type vector bosons. Explicitly we find that

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_L T_L^i W_L^i - ig_s T^a G^a - ig_Y Y B$$

$$-ig_R \left(T_R^+ W_R^+ + T_R^- W_R^- \right) - ig_4 \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_c^+ U_c^+ + \hat{T}_c^- U_c^- \right) - \frac{i}{2} \frac{g_4^2 - g_3^2}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}} T^a G'^a + D_{\mu}^Z$$
(1.9.10)

where we have defined

$$T_R^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(T^1 \pm i T^2 \right) \,, \tag{1.9.11a}$$

$$\hat{T}_{r}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{9} \pm i \hat{T}^{10} \right) , \quad \hat{T}_{b}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{11} \pm i \hat{T}^{12} \right) , \quad \hat{T}_{g}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{13} \pm i \hat{T}^{14} \right) . \tag{1.9.11b}$$

The Z-type contribution to the covariant derivative D^Z_μ for each of the models considered reads as follows

where we have defined

$$(B-L)^{[3]} \equiv \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} \hat{T}^{15}, \qquad T_R^{[3]} \equiv T_R^3, \qquad Y^{[12]} \equiv X^{[12]}.$$
 (1.9.13)

At last, we observe that in some models are present some scalar fields which did not acquired a VEV and are remnants of the scalar bosons that triggered the SSB. In particular for Models A and B we do not have any. For Model C we have that Ω_1 and Ω_3 split when Δ_3 acquires its VEV, and one of those components each is still present and are given by (notice that one is the antiparticle of the other)

$$\Omega'_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \overline{\mathbf{3}}, -2/3), \qquad \Omega'_3 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, 2/3).$$
 (1.9.14)

For Models D and E we have that Σ_R splits when Σ_3 acquires its VEV and one of those components is still present and it is given by

$$\Sigma_B^+ \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 1).$$
 (1.9.15)

For Model F we have that are present the two components of Ω_1 and Ω_3 in (1.9.14) and two components of Δ_3 (plus their antiparticles) which are given by

$$\Delta_1^+ \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, 1), \qquad \Delta_3^- \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, -1/3).$$
 (1.9.16)

Clearly we expect all of them to be heavy enough to not have been detected yet. Their masses will depend on the details of the potentials of the scalar fields, which is something we have not taken into consideration.

2 Yukawa Matrices

In this Chapter we are going to study in detail the structure of the Yukawa matrices that are generated by the models we considered in this work. In particular our aim is to explain the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices of the SM. To do so, we are going to assume that the suppressed Yukawa couplings are such because they are generated from some EFT operators which are *naturally* suppressed with respect to the non-suppressed ones. Then we are going to provide a possible UV origin for such higher-dimensional operators.

2.1 General Structure of the Yukawa Matrices

In the SM Yukawa matrices represent the couplings between the Higgs field and the SM fermions. They are four in total, one for the up-type quarks Y^U , one for the down-type quarks Y^D , one for the neutral leptons Y^N and one for the charged leptons Y^E . All of them are 3×3 completely general complex matrices. Not all their entries are physical, but there are some constraints that are fixed by experimental observations. The most prominent ones are given by the observed fermion masses. They are intimately related to their eigenvalues. In fact, once they have been diagonalized with a singular-valued decomposition (for more information see Section D.2 in the Appendix), we have that the three eigenvalues y_i are related to the fermion masses m_i of a given fermion type as follows

$$m_i = \frac{y_i}{\sqrt{2}}v\tag{2.1.1}$$

where $v \approx 246 \text{ GeV}$ is the Higgs' VEV. We know the masses of all the quarks and charged leptons. For Y^U , Y^D and Y^E the eigenvalues (at the $M_Z \approx 91 \text{ GeV}$ scale) that we would like to explain are respectively [14]

$$y_t \approx 0.99$$
, $y_c \approx 3.6 \cdot 10^{-3}$, $y_u \approx 7.3 \cdot 10^{-6}$; (2.1.2a)

$$y_b \approx 1.7 \cdot 10^{-2}, \qquad y_s \approx 3.2 \cdot 10^{-4}, \qquad y_d \approx 1.7 \cdot 10^{-5};$$
 (2.1.2b)

$$y_{\tau} \approx 1.0 \cdot 10^{-2}, \qquad y_{\mu} \approx 5.9 \cdot 10^{-4}, \qquad y_e \approx 2.8 \cdot 10^{-6}.$$
 (2.1.2c)

One can appreciate the clear hierarchy between the three generations. In this Chapter we are going to explain the hierarchy between the third and second generations, assuming that the one between the second and first will be described by a further UV embedding of the model we considered at an energy scale well above the TeV. The masses of the neutral leptons (the neutrinos) are not known yet, but we expect them to be all comparable and of $\mathcal{O}(10^{-1})$ eV. For this reason we postpone the explanation of neutrino masses in the next Chapter.

Regarding the Yukawa matrices of the quarks, there are further constraints that we need to satisfy. Phenomenologically, a highly desirable feature for flavoured NP at the TeV scale is provided by suppressed right-handed mixing between light and heavy fields [8]. This condition reads generically as follows

$$|Y_{3i}^F| \ll |Y_{i3}^F|$$
 where $F = U, D$ (2.1.3)

and it is *naturally* reproduced by our model thanks to the choice of leaving $SU(2)_L$ universal. In addition, the way we diagonalize the Yukawa matrices is linked to the CKM matrix that plays an important role in Charged-Current Weak Interactions. In particular, we can perturbatively diagonalize the Yukawa matrices with such a hierarchical structure to find the mixing matrices and hence the CKM matrix. This has been done in Section C.1 in the Appendix, finding that

$$V_{cb} \approx Y_{23}^D / Y_{33}^D - Y_{23}^U / Y_{33}^U .$$
(2.1.4)

To find this result we assumed that $Y_{i3} \ll Y_{33}$, but this turns out to be a necessary condition since we have that $|V_{cb}| \approx 0.04$ (unless we allow fine tuning between the two subtracted quantities). This condition puts other constraints on the Yukawa matrices that we want to reproduce, namely

$$|Y_{i3}^U| \le |V_{cb}| \, y_t \sim 10^{-2} \,, \qquad |Y_{i3}^D| \le |V_{cb}| \, y_b \sim 10^{-3} \,. \tag{2.1.5}$$

Then, if we also require (2.1.3), we need the further constraints

$$|Y_{3i}^U| \lesssim 10^{-3}, \qquad |Y_{3i}^D| \lesssim 10^{-4}.$$
 (2.1.6)

Another result that have been derived in Section C.1 is that the third- and second-generation eigenvalues of the Yukawa matrices are (not surprisingly) given by (with F = U, D, N, E)

$$y_2^F \approx |Y_{22}^F|, \qquad y_3^F \approx |Y_{33}^F|.$$
 (2.1.7)

2.2 Yukawa Matrices as EFT

In this Section we list all the possible EFT operators that could be used to generate the Yukawa matrices. To do so, the only possibility is to use some scalar fields that will eventually acquire a VEV at low energies. The suppression behaviors that we want to reproduce in the Yukawa matrices are ensured by the fact that higher-dimensional operators are suppressed with respect to the 4-dimensional ones.

Since the Higgs field is assumed to be charged only under the third-generation sector of the UV Gauge Group, we can explain this hierarchical structure by assuming that the Higgs field couples only with the third-generation fermions and the other couplings are generated by some EFT operators. By construction we can easily see that the Yukawa coupling between the Higgs and the third generation is given by

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \mathcal{L}_{Y,33} = -c_{33} \,\overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \chi_R^3 + h.c. \tag{2.2.1}$$

All the other Yukawa couplings can only be generated by some EFT operators. Notice that those operators are independent on the precise way it happens the SSB from the UV theory down to the SM. The only thing that matters are the scalar fields that we assume to be present in the theory. Hence we can divide the models studied in the previous Chapter in two categories⁴: Models A, B, D and E are Type I Models, while C and F are Type II.

The easiest to write down are the couplings of type c_{i3} (with i = 1, 2) and they are given by the following 5-dimensional operators (common for both of the Models)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \mathcal{L}_{Y,i3} \sim \frac{c_{i3}}{\Lambda} \left(\overline{Q}_L^i \mathcal{H} \Omega_3 \chi_R^3 + \overline{L}_L^i \mathcal{H} \Omega_1 \chi_R^3 \right)$$
(2.2.2)

where Λ is the scale at which these operators get a UV completion. The next ones are the couplings of type c_{ij} (with i, j = 1, 2). For Model I a possibility is given by the following 5-dimensional operators

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \mathcal{L}_{Y,ij} \sim \frac{c_{ij}}{\Lambda} \left[\overline{Q}_L^i \mathcal{H} \left(\Sigma_R d_R^j + \Sigma_R^c u_R^j \right) + \overline{L}_L^i \mathcal{H} \left(\Sigma_R e_R^j + \Sigma_R^c \nu_R^j \right) \right]$$
(2.2.3)

while for Model II we can use the following 6-dimensional operators

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \mathcal{L}_{Y,ij} \sim \frac{c_{ij}}{\Lambda^2} \left[\overline{Q}_L^i \mathcal{H} \left(\Delta_3 \Omega_1^{\dagger} d_R^j + \Omega_1 \Delta_3^c u_R^j \right) + \overline{L}_L^i \mathcal{H} \left(\Delta_3 \Omega_1^{\dagger} e_R^j + \Omega_1 \Delta_3^c \nu_R^j \right) \right].$$
(2.2.4)

For the couplings of type c_{3i} (with i = 1, 2) we must exploit higher-dimensional operators than the previous ones. For Model I a possibility is given by the following 6-dimensional operators

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \mathcal{L}_{Y,3i} \sim \frac{c_{3i}}{\Lambda^2} \left[\overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \Omega_3^\dagger \left(\Sigma_R d_R^j + \Sigma_R^c u_R^j \right) + \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \Omega_1^\dagger \left(\Sigma_R e_R^j + \Sigma_R^c \nu_R^j \right) \right]$$
(2.2.5)

⁴The presence or absence of the scalar field Σ_3 is just a minor difference in the classification of EFT operators as it will be clear in the following.

while for Model II we can use the following 7-dimensional operators

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \mathcal{L}_{Y,3i} \sim \frac{c_{3i}}{\Lambda^3} \left[\overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \Omega_3^\dagger \left(\Delta_3 \Omega_1^\dagger d_R^j + \Omega_1 \Delta_3^c u_R^j \right) + \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \Omega_1^\dagger \left(\Delta_3 \Omega_1^\dagger e_R^j + \Omega_1 \Delta_3^c \nu_R^j \right) \right].$$
(2.2.6)

Notice that up to now we are not able to explain the mass splittings between the different thirdgeneration fermions. In particular the ones between bottom-tau and top-bottom. The mass splitting between b and τ can be achieved by exploiting the fields that break SU(4)^[3]. This can be done by using one of the following 6-dimensional operators

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{b\tau}}{\Lambda^2} \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \left(\Omega_3^{\dagger} \Omega_3 \right) \chi_R^3, \quad \mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{b\tau}}{\Lambda^2} \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \left(\Omega_1^{\dagger} \Omega_1 \right) \chi_R^3, \quad \mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{b\tau}}{\Lambda^2} \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \left(\Delta_3^{\dagger} \Delta_3 \right) \chi_R^3$$
(2.2.7)

where the last one is at work only in Model II, while the others in both of the Models. The mass splitting between t and b (or more generically between the up and down components of an $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$ -doublet) can be achieved by exploiting the fields that break $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$. Namely we can write down the following 6-dimensional operators

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{tb}}{\Lambda^2} \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \left(\Sigma_R \Sigma_R^\dagger \right) \chi_R^3, \qquad \mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{tb}}{\Lambda^2} \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \left(\Delta_3 \Delta_3^\dagger \right) \chi_R^3$$
(2.2.8)

where the first one is at work in Model I while the second one in Model II. Furthermore, if Σ_3 is present, we can write down the following 5-dimensional operator

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{tb}}{\Lambda} \overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H} \Sigma_3 \chi_R^3 \,. \tag{2.2.9}$$

Notice that we could even add a Σ_3 insertion in all the EFT operators written so far (at the price of increase by 1 their dimensions), and this could provide a further way to reproduce the desirable Yukawa structure.

In fact there is another possibility to provide different masses between the up and down components of an $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ -doublet that does not involve an EFT description. This is given by assuming that the Higgs field in the UV theory weights differently H and H^c . Namely we could define the Higgs field as follows

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\xi^2}} \begin{pmatrix} H^c & \xi H \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.2.10)

where ξ is a generic real parameter and when $\xi = 1$ we recover the definition made in Section 1.1. This possibility has been discussed in Section C.2 in the Appendix and we will come back to the consequences of such a choice at the end of this Chapter.

2.3 UV Completion for Model I

Once we have listed all the possible EFT operators that could be utilize to generate the Yukawa matrices, we can provide a possible UV origin to them. In this Section we focus on Model I while in the next one on Model II.

For Model I we notice that the operators of type c_{i3} and c_{ij} are both 5-dimensional, which means that their UV completion can be done by using a single VLF. The most efficient way to do this is to use the following VLF with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\rho = \rho_3 \oplus \rho_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}, \mathbf{2}, 1/6) \oplus (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, -1/2).$$
(2.3.1)

It allows the following UV completion

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\rho} = M_{\rho} \left(\overline{\rho}_{1} \rho_{1} + \overline{\rho}_{3} \rho_{3} \right) - c_{\rho}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Sigma_{3} \rho_{3} - c_{\rho}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Sigma_{3} \rho_{1} + \left(-c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3} \overline{Q}_{L}^{i} \mathcal{H} \rho_{3} - c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1} \overline{L}_{L}^{i} \mathcal{H} \rho_{1} \right. \\ \left. + c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Omega_{3} \chi_{R}^{3} + c_{\rho\Omega}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Omega_{1} \chi_{R}^{3} + c_{\rhoR}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Sigma_{R} d_{R}^{j} + \overline{c}_{\rho R}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Sigma_{R}^{c} u_{R}^{j} + c_{\rho R}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Sigma_{R} e_{R}^{j} + \overline{c}_{\rho R}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Sigma_{R}^{c} \nu_{R}^{j} + h.c. \right).$$

$$(2.3.2)$$

We also assumed that ρ_3 and ρ_1 find an embedding in a unique VLF ρ and that they share the same mass. For this reason we expect the following coefficients to be similar

$$c^{3}_{\rho\mathcal{H}} \approx c^{1}_{\rho\mathcal{H}}, \qquad c^{3}_{\rho\Omega} \approx c^{1}_{\rho\Omega}, \qquad c^{3}_{\rho R} \approx \overline{c}^{3}_{\rho R} \approx c^{1}_{\rho R} \approx \overline{c}^{1}_{\rho R}, \qquad c^{3}_{\rho} \approx c^{1}_{\rho}.$$
(2.3.3)

Regarding the operators to type c_{i3} , a further possibility could be using the following VLF with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\lambda \sim (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{0}).$$
 (2.3.4)

It allows the following UV completion

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\lambda} = M_{\lambda}\overline{\lambda}\lambda + \left(-c_{\lambda\mathcal{H}}\overline{\lambda}\mathcal{H}\chi_{R}^{3} + c_{\lambda\Omega}^{3}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\Omega_{3}\lambda + c_{\lambda\Omega}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\Omega_{1}\lambda + m\,\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\lambda + h.c.\right)\,.$$
(2.3.5)

Notice that the last term accounts for possible mass-mixing terms between χ_L^3 and λ since they share the same quantum numbers.

For the operators of type c_{3i} we could either add an additional VLF to provide a UV origin at tree-level, or assume that they are generated directly at loop-level in the EFT. The same holds also for the operators needed to generate the mass splittings.

In case Σ_3 is present, we still have to generate the 5-dimensional operator (2.2.9). To generate it we need to use the following VLF with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\eta \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, 0).$$
 (2.3.6)

It allows the following UV completion

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\eta} = M_{\eta}\overline{\eta}\eta - c_{\eta}\overline{\eta}\Sigma_{3}\eta + \left(-c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\eta + c_{\eta\Sigma}\overline{\eta}\Sigma_{3}\chi_{R}^{3} + m\,\overline{\eta}\chi_{R}^{3} + h.c.\right)\,.$$
(2.3.7)

As before, notice the last term accounts for possible mass-mixing terms between χ_R^3 and η since they share the same quantum numbers.

Furthermore, the addition of η allows by free a possible UV origin for the EFT operators of type c_{3i} and the $b\tau$ mass-splitting operators (2.2.7) just by adding to the renormalizable Lagrangian the following terms

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho\eta} = c_{\eta\rho}^3 \overline{\eta} \Omega_3^{\dagger} \rho_3 + c_{\eta\rho}^1 \overline{\eta} \Omega_1^{\dagger} \rho_1 + h.c.$$
(2.3.8)

Again we would like to assume that

$$c_{\eta\rho}^3 \approx c_{\eta\rho}^1 \,. \tag{2.3.9}$$

Finally, in case Σ_3 is not present, we need to generate the *tb* mass-splitting operators (2.2.8). To do so we can introduce the following VLF with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\eta' \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, -1/2).$$
 (2.3.10)

It allows the following UV completion

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\eta'} = M_{\eta'}\overline{\eta}'\eta' + \left(-c_{\eta R}\,\overline{\eta}\Sigma_R\eta' + \overline{c}_{\eta R}\,\overline{\eta}'\Sigma_R^{\dagger}\chi_R^3 + h.c.\right)\,. \tag{2.3.11}$$

Notice that we need in any case the introduction of the VLF η to generate $b\tau$ of tb mass splittings. Thus unavoidably we generate at tree-level the operators of type c_{3i} .

An important remark to make follows from the fact that VLFs λ and η share the same quantum numbers of χ_L^3 and χ_R^3 respectively. This allows a possible mixing between the two which could be used as a source of mass splittings between the fermions of the third generation. This possibility is discussed in Section C.3 in the Appendix. Nevertheless it seems that it could generate only small splittings. Thus we will not consider this possibility in the following.

2.4 UV Completion for Model II

For Model II we notice that the operators of type c_{i3} are the same of Model I. Thus we can provide a UV origin in the same way we did in the previous Section by using the single VLF ρ (2.3.1). It allows the following UV completion

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\rho} = M_{\rho} \left(\overline{\rho}_{1} \rho_{1} + \overline{\rho}_{3} \rho_{3} \right) - c_{\rho}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Sigma_{3} \rho_{3} - c_{\rho}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Sigma_{3} \rho_{1} \\ + \left(-c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3} \overline{Q}_{L}^{i} \mathcal{H} \rho_{3} - c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1} \overline{L}_{L}^{i} \mathcal{H} \rho_{1} + c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Omega_{3} \chi_{R}^{3} + c_{\rho\Omega}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Omega_{1} \chi_{R}^{3} + h.c. \right) .$$

$$(2.4.1)$$

The operators of type c_{ij} are 6-dimensional. Thus we need at least a further VLF to find their UV completion. In fact, due to the complexity of the operators needed, we need the following two VLFs with corresponding Charges under $H_{\rm UV}$ (1.1.3)

$$\eta_3 \oplus \eta_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{3}, \mathbf{1}, 1/6) \oplus (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, -1/2),$$
 (2.4.2a)

$$\eta'_3 \oplus \eta'_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{3}, \mathbf{2}, 2/3) \oplus (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, 0).$$
 (2.4.2b)

The drawback is that we need η'_3 which is heavily charged under the Gauge Group⁵. In addition we get for free a UV origin at tree-level of the Yukawa operators of type c_{3i} , the $b\tau$ mass splitting and (if Σ_3 is present) the 5-dimensional operator (2.2.9) which generates the tb mass splitting. They allow the following UV completion

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\eta} = M_{\eta} \left(\overline{\eta}_{1} \eta_{1} + \overline{\eta}_{3} \eta_{3} \right) + \left(-c_{\eta\Delta}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Delta_{3} \eta_{3} - c_{\eta\Delta}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Delta_{3} \eta_{1} + c_{\eta\Omega}^{3} \overline{\eta}_{3} \Omega_{1}^{\dagger} d_{R}^{j} + c_{\eta\Omega}^{1} \overline{\eta}_{1} \Omega_{1}^{\dagger} e_{R}^{j} + h.c. \right) \\ + M_{\eta'} \left(\overline{\eta}_{1}' \eta_{1}' + \overline{\eta}_{3}' \eta_{3}' \right) + \left(-\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{3} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Omega_{1} \eta_{3}' - \overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1} \overline{\rho}_{1} \Omega_{1} \eta_{1}' + \overline{c}_{\eta\Delta}^{3} \overline{\eta}_{3}' \Delta_{3}^{c} u_{R}^{j} + \overline{c}_{\eta\Delta}^{1} \overline{\eta}_{1}' \Delta_{3}^{c} \nu_{R}^{j} + h.c. \right) \\ + \left(-c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} \overline{\chi}_{L}^{3} \mathcal{H} \eta_{1}' + c_{\eta\Sigma} \overline{\eta}_{1}' \Sigma_{3} \chi_{R}^{3} + m \overline{\eta}_{1}' \chi_{R}^{3} - \overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{13} \overline{\rho}_{3} \Omega_{3} \eta_{1}' + h.c. \right) - c_{\eta}^{3} \overline{\eta}_{3}' \Sigma_{3} \eta_{3}' - c_{\eta}^{1} \overline{\eta}_{1}' \Sigma_{3} \eta_{1}'$$

$$(2.4.3)$$

where the first two lines generate the Yukawa operators of type c_{ij} while the last one the Yukawa operator of type c_{3i} and the mass splittings. As we did for ρ , we assume that η_1 and η_3 will find an embedding in a unique VLF and that they share the same mass. The same is assumed for η'_1 and η'_3 . Thus we expect the following coefficients to be similar

$$c^3_{\eta\Delta} \approx c^1_{\eta\Delta} , \quad c^3_{\eta\Omega} \approx c^1_{\eta\Omega} , \quad \overline{c}^3_{\eta\Delta} \approx \overline{c}^1_{\eta\Delta} , \quad \overline{c}^3_{\eta\Omega} \approx \overline{c}^1_{\eta\Omega} \approx \overline{c}^{13}_{\eta\Omega} .$$
 (2.4.4)

At last, to generate the mass-splitting operators with Δ_3 in (2.2.7) and (2.2.8), we need to add further VLFs since we have that

$$\Delta_3^{\dagger} \chi_R^3 \sim (\mathbf{4} \times \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}) \in \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}, \qquad \Delta_3 \chi_R^3 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2} \times \mathbf{2}) \in \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}. \tag{2.4.5}$$

In particular this means that a tb mass splitting is at work only if Σ_3 is present if we do not add new VLFs to the theory (or we do not make other assumptions like (2.2.10)).

2.5 Yukawa Matrices in Model I

We have provided a UV origin to the Yukawa matrices, seen from an EFT description. The next step is to integrate out in the UV theory the heavy degrees of freedom (DOFs) to find the explicit realization of the Yukawa matrices. Also, to make this calculation as systematic as possible, we use the Matchete package for Wolfram Mathematica developed by [15]. In this Section we focus on Model I while in the next one on Model II.

⁵If we do not want to employ VLFs that transform heavily under the Gauge Group like η'_3 , we could modify Model II to allow the presence of the scalar field Σ_R in the theory. In this way we can generate the Yukawa operators in the same way as done for Model I. This has the only consequence to partially change the final Gauge mass-spectrum of the theory.

For Model I we assume to work with just ρ and η VLFs which entail the heavy DOFs that we want to integrate out. The UV-completed Lagrangian reads as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\text{UV}} = -\left(c_{33}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\chi_{R}^{3} + h.c.\right) + \mathcal{L}_{\rho} + \mathcal{L}_{\eta} + \mathcal{L}_{\rho\eta}$$
(2.5.1)

where the \mathcal{L}_{ρ} , \mathcal{L}_{η} and $\mathcal{L}_{\rho\eta}$ are reported in (2.3.2), (2.3.7) and (2.3.8). By integrating out ρ and η , working in the static limit and doing tree-level matching up to 6-dimensional operators, we find the following effective Lagrangian⁶

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathrm{IR}} = c_{33}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\chi_{R}^{3} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}J_{\rho}^{3} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}J_{\rho}^{1} + \frac{1}{M_{\eta}}c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\eta}J_{\eta} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta}}c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\eta}\left(c_{\eta\rho}^{3}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}\Omega_{3}^{\dagger}J_{\rho}^{3} + c_{\eta\rho}^{1}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\Omega_{1}^{\dagger}J_{\rho}^{1}\right) + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}(c_{\eta\rho}^{3})^{*}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}\sigma_{\eta}\Omega_{3}J_{\eta} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}(c_{\eta\rho}^{1})^{*}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\sigma_{\eta}\Omega_{1}J_{\eta} + h.c.$$

$$(2.5.2)$$

where we have defined

$$\sigma_{\rho}^{3} = \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{3} \frac{\Sigma_{3}}{M_{\rho}}\right)^{-1}, \quad \sigma_{\rho}^{1} = \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{1} \frac{\Sigma_{3}}{M_{\rho}}\right)^{-1}, \quad \sigma_{\eta} = \left(1 - c_{\eta} \frac{\Sigma_{3}}{M_{\eta}}\right)^{-1}, \quad (2.5.3a)$$

$$J^{3}_{\rho} = c^{3}_{\rho\Omega}\Omega_{3}\chi^{3}_{R} + c^{3}_{\rho R}\Sigma_{R}d^{j}_{R} + \bar{c}^{3}_{\rho R}\Sigma^{c}_{R}u^{j}_{R}, \qquad (2.5.3b)$$

$$J^{1}_{\rho} = c^{1}_{\rho\Omega}\Omega_{1}\chi^{3}_{R} + c^{1}_{\rho R}\Sigma_{R}d^{j}_{R} + \overline{c}^{1}_{\rho R}\Sigma^{c}_{R}\nu^{j}_{R}, \qquad (2.5.3c)$$

$$J_{\eta} = c_{\eta\Sigma} \Sigma_3 \chi_R^3 + m \chi_R^3 \,. \tag{2.5.3d}$$

When all the fields (but the Higgs) acquire their VEVs, we find that (where just for this equation i, j = 1, 2, 3)

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathrm{IR}} \supset \overline{Q}_{L}^{i} H^{c} Y_{ij}^{U} u_{R}^{j} + \overline{Q}_{L}^{i} H Y_{ij}^{D} d_{R}^{j} + \overline{L}_{L}^{i} H^{c} Y_{ij}^{N} \nu_{R}^{j} + \overline{L}_{L}^{i} H Y_{ij}^{E} e_{R}^{j} + h.c.$$
(2.5.4)

Explicitly the Yukawa matrix of the up-type quarks reads as follows

$$Y_{33}^{U} = \frac{c_{33}}{\sqrt{2}} + \frac{c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{m}{M_{\eta}} \left(1 - c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} \right)^{-1} + \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} \frac{c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} c_{\eta\Sigma} \left(1 - c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} \right)^{-1} + \frac{\omega_{3}^{2}}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta}} \frac{c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} c_{\eta\rho\Omega}^{3} \left(1 - c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} \right)^{-1} \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{3} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\rho}} \right)^{-1} , \qquad (2.5.5a)$$

$$Y_{i3}^{U} = \frac{\omega_{3}}{M_{\rho}} \frac{c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}}{\sqrt{2}} c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{3} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\rho}} \right)^{-1} \qquad (2.5.5b)$$

$$+\frac{\omega_{3}v_{3}}{2M_{\rho}M_{\eta}}\frac{c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}}{\sqrt{2}}(c_{\eta\rho}^{3})^{*}\left(c_{\eta\Sigma}+\frac{2m}{v_{3}}\right)\left(1-c_{\eta}\frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}}\right)^{-1}\left(1-c_{\rho}^{3}\frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\rho}}\right)^{-1},$$

$$(2.5.5b)$$

$$Y_{ij}^{U} = \frac{v_R}{M_{\rho}} \frac{c_{\rho \mathcal{H}}^{\circ}}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{c}_{\rho R}^{3} \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{3} \frac{v_3}{2M_{\rho}} \right) \quad , \qquad (2.5.5c)$$

$$Y_{3j}^{U} = \frac{v_R \omega_3}{M_\rho M_\eta} \frac{c_{\eta \mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} c_{\rho \Omega}^3 \overline{c}_{\rho R}^3 \left(1 - c_\eta \frac{v_3}{2M_\eta} \right)^{-1} \left(1 - c_\rho^3 \frac{v_3}{2M_\rho} \right)^{-1} .$$
(2.5.5d)

The Yukawa matrix for the down-type quarks is given by Y_{ij}^U but replacing $v_3 \to -v_3$ and $\bar{c}_{\rho R}^3 \to c_{\rho R}^3$. The Yukawa matrices for the neutral and charged leptons are given by Y_{ij}^U and Y_{ij}^D but replacing $\omega_3 \to \omega_1, c_{\eta\rho}^3 \to c_{\eta\rho}^1, c_{\rho\Omega}^3 \to c_{\rho\Omega}^1, c_{\rhoR}^3 \to c_{\rho R}^1, \bar{c}_{\rho R}^3 \to \bar{c}_{\rho R}^1$ and $c_{\rho}^3 \to c_{\rho}^1$ respectively.

⁶In case Σ_3 is absent one must set $c_{\rho}^3 = c_{\rho}^1 = c_{\eta} = 0$.

Notice that in the evaluation of the EFT we have integrated out Σ_3 exactly (yet at tree-level and in the static limit approximation) assuming that it has a VEV comparable to the heavy DOFs. This could have been done easily since it is a scalar field. Then, when Σ_3 acquires its VEV, we have that the terms containing this scalar field in the denominator must be interpreted as a series. Thus, to provide the final expression of the Yukawa matrices we have exploited the following fact: given a matrix M = diag(a, -a), we have that

$$(1-M)^{-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a^n}{n!} \begin{pmatrix} 1^n & 0\\ 0 & (-1)^n \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (1-a)^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & (1+a)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.5.6)

2.6 Yukawa Matrices in Model II

For Model II we assume to work with ρ , η and η' VLFs which entail the heavy DOFs that we want to integrate out. The UV-completed Lagrangian reads as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_Y^{\rm UV} = -\left(c_{33}\overline{\chi}_L^3 \mathcal{H}\chi_R^3 + h.c.\right) + \mathcal{L}_\rho + \mathcal{L}_\eta \tag{2.6.1}$$

where the \mathcal{L}_{ρ} and \mathcal{L}_{η} are reported in (2.4.1) and (2.4.3). By integrating out ρ , η and η' , working in the static limit and doing tree-level matching up to 6-dimensional operators, we find the following effective Lagrangian⁷

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathrm{IR}} = c_{33}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\chi_{R}^{3} + \frac{1}{M_{\eta'}}c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\eta}^{1}\left(c_{\eta\Sigma}\Sigma_{3}\chi_{R}^{3} + m\chi_{R}^{3} + \overline{c}_{\eta\Delta}^{1}\Delta_{3}^{c}\nu_{R}^{j}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}c_{\rho\Omega}^{3}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}\Omega_{3}\chi_{R}^{3} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}c_{\rho\Omega}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\Omega_{1}\chi_{R}^{3} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1}\overline{c}_{L}^{13}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}\sigma_{\eta}^{1}\Omega_{3}\Delta_{3}^{c}\nu_{R}^{j} \\ + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}\overline{\chi}_{L}^{3}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\eta}^{1}\left(\sigma_{\rho}^{3}(\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{13})^{*}c_{\rho\Omega}^{3}\Omega_{3}^{1}\Omega_{3} + \sigma_{\rho}^{1}(\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1})^{*}c_{\rho\Omega}^{1}\Omega_{1}^{1}\Omega_{1}\right)\chi_{R}^{3} \\ + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}\left(c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}\Omega_{3} + c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\Omega_{1}\right)\sigma_{\eta}^{1}\left(c_{\eta\Sigma}\Sigma_{3}\chi_{R}^{3} + m\chi_{R}^{3}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}\left(c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}\Delta_{3}\Omega_{1}^{1}d_{R}^{j} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{3}\overline{C}_{\eta}^{3}\overline{Q}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{3}\sigma_{\eta}^{3}\Omega_{1}\Delta_{3}^{c}u_{R}^{j} \\ + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}c_{\eta\Omega}^{1}c_{\eta\Delta}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\Delta_{3}\Omega_{1}^{1}d_{R}^{j} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{3}\overline{c}_{\eta\Delta}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\sigma_{\eta}\Omega_{1}\Delta_{3}^{c}u_{R}^{j} \\ + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}c_{\eta\Omega}^{1}c_{\eta\Delta}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\Delta_{3}\Omega_{1}^{1}d_{R}^{j} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}\overline{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{1}\overline{c}_{\eta\Delta}^{1}\overline{L}_{L}^{i}\mathcal{H}\sigma_{\rho}^{1}\sigma_{\eta}\Omega_{1}\Delta_{3}^{c}u_{R}^{j} + h.c.$$

$$(2.6.2)$$

where we have defined

$$\sigma_{\rho}^{3} = \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{3} \frac{\Sigma_{3}}{M_{\rho}}\right)^{-1}, \quad \sigma_{\rho}^{1} = \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{1} \frac{\Sigma_{3}}{M_{\rho}}\right)^{-1}, \quad \sigma_{\eta}^{3} = \left(1 - c_{\eta}^{3} \frac{\Sigma_{3}}{M_{\eta'}}\right)^{-1}, \quad \sigma_{\eta}^{1} = \left(1 - c_{\eta}^{1} \frac{\Sigma_{3}}{M_{\eta'}}\right)^{-1}.$$
(2.6.3)

When all the fields (but the Higgs) acquire their VEVs, we find that (where just for this equation i, j = 1, 2, 3)

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathrm{IR}} \supset \overline{Q}_{L}^{i} H^{c} Y_{ij}^{U} u_{R}^{j} + \overline{Q}_{L}^{i} H Y_{ij}^{D} d_{R}^{j} + \overline{L}_{L}^{i} H^{c} Y_{ij}^{N} \nu_{R}^{j} + \overline{L}_{L}^{i} H Y_{ij}^{E} e_{R}^{j} + h.c.$$
(2.6.4)

Explicitly the Yukawa matrix for the up-type quarks reads as follows

$$Y_{33}^{U} = \frac{c_{33}}{\sqrt{2}} + \frac{c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{m}{M_{\eta'}} \left(1 - c_{\eta}^{1} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta'}} \right)^{-1} + \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta'}} \frac{c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} c_{\eta\Sigma} \left(1 - c_{\eta}^{1} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta'}} \right)^{-1} + \frac{\omega_{3}^{2}}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}} \frac{c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} (\bar{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{13})^{*} c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \left(1 - c_{\eta}^{1} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta'}} \right)^{-1} \left(1 - c_{\rho}^{3} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\rho}} \right)^{-1},$$

$$(2.6.5a)$$

⁷In case Σ_3 is absent one must set $c_{\rho}^3 = c_{\rho}^1 = c_{\eta}^1 = c_{\eta}^3 = 0$.

$$Y_{i3}^{U} = \frac{\omega_3}{M_{\rho}} \frac{c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^3}{\sqrt{2}} c_{\rho\Omega}^3 \left(1 - c_{\rho}^3 \frac{v_3}{2M_{\rho}}\right)^{-1}$$
(2.6.5b)

$$+\frac{v_{3}\omega_{3}}{2M_{\rho}M_{\eta'}}\frac{c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{13}\left(c_{\eta\Sigma}+\frac{2m}{v_{3}}\right)\left(1-c_{\eta}^{1}\frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta'}}\right)\left(1-c_{\rho}^{3}\frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\rho}}\right) ,$$

$$Y_{ij}^{U} = \frac{w \,\omega_1}{M_\rho M_{\eta'}} \frac{c_{\rho \mathcal{H}}^2}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{c}_{\eta \Omega}^3 \bar{c}_{\eta \Delta}^3 \left(1 - c_{\eta}^3 \frac{v_3}{2M_{\eta'}} \right) \quad \left(1 - c_{\rho}^3 \frac{v_3}{2M_{\rho}} \right) \quad , \tag{2.6.5c}$$

$$Y_{3j}^{U} = \mathcal{O}(M^{-3}).$$
 (2.6.5d)

Instead the Yukawa matrix for the down-type quarks is given by

$$Y_{ij}^{N} = \frac{w\,\omega_1}{M_{\rho}M_{\eta}} \frac{c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^3}{\sqrt{2}} c_{\eta\Delta}^3 c_{\eta\Omega}^3 \left(1 + c_{\rho}^3 \frac{v_3}{2M_{\rho}}\right)^{-1}, \qquad Y_{3i}^{U} = \mathcal{O}(M^{-3})$$
(2.6.6)

while components Y_{33}^D and Y_{i3}^D are given by Y_{33}^U and Y_{i3}^U but replacing $v_3 \to -v_3$. The Yukawa matrices for the neutral and charged leptons are given by Y_{ij}^U and Y_{ij}^D but replacing $\omega_3 \to \omega_1$, $c_{\rho\Omega}^3 \to c_{\rho\Omega}^1$, $\bar{c}_{\eta\Omega}^{13} \to \bar{c}_{\eta\Omega}^1$, $c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^3 \to c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^1$, $c_{\eta\Omega}^3 \to c_{\eta\Omega}^1$, $\bar{c}_{\eta\Omega}^3 \to c_{\eta\Omega}^1$, $c_{\eta\Delta}^3 \to c_{\eta\Delta}^1$, $\bar{c}_{\eta\Delta}^3 \to \bar{c}_{\eta\Delta}^1$, $c_{\eta}^3 \to c_{\eta}^1$ and $c_{\rho}^3 \to c_{\rho}^1$ respectively⁸. Also for Y_{ij}^N only the Y_{3j}^N component is not that much suppressed, and its leading contribution reads as follows

$$Y_{3j}^{N} = \frac{w}{M_{\eta'}} \frac{c_{\eta \mathcal{H}}}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{c}_{\eta \Delta}^{1} \left(1 - c_{\eta}^{3} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta'}} \right)^{-1} .$$
(2.6.7)

Notice that also in this case in the evaluation of the EFT we have integrated out Σ_3 exactly (yet at tree-level and in the static limit approximation) assuming that it has a VEV comparable to the heavy DOFs.

2.7 Complete Mass-Matrix Diagonalization

What we did in the last two Sections was to reproduce the Yukawa matrices from an EFT description. Nevertheless, once we have written the UV-completed Lagrangian, there is no need to integrate out the heavy DOFs to find the Yukawa matrices that, after they have been diagonalized, provide the predictions for the fermion masses. This method is useful to clearly see the whole Yukawa structure predicted by the model, but brings some errors due to the truncation that is done at a given order in the EFT description. In addition, if the scalar field's VEVs are comparable to the VLFs' masses, the EFT approximation could be not so precised. For this reason it is worth to try to diagonalize directly with a singular-valued decomposition the total mass-matrices generated by the model, comprehensive of the SM fermions as well as the NP VLFs, once all the fields have acquired their VEVs (Higgs field included). This is what we do in this Section in the framework of Model I. For Model II we are not going to provide such an analysis since, as discussed with great detail in next Chapters, it is not very appealing once we try to explain also the neutrino masses.

For Model I the sector of the UV-completed Lagrangian that generates the fermion masses is reported in (2.5.1). When we make all the scalar fields to acquire their VEVs we go from the Gauge Group of the UV theory down to the broken phase where the residual Gauge Group is just $U(1)_Q$. In this phase the mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L}_M = \overline{U}_L \,\mathbb{M}^U U_R + \overline{D}_L \,\mathbb{M}^D D_R + \overline{N}_L \,\mathbb{M}^N N_R + \overline{E}_L \,\mathbb{M}^E E_R + h.c.$$
(2.7.1)

⁸Notice that this is just a replacement, not an exchange: it does not work backwards. This because of the asymmetry between η'_1 and η'_3 .

where (recall that i, j = 1, 2, but for simplicity here we work as if they are equivalent)

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} u^{i} \\ u^{3} \\ u^{\rho} \\ u^{\eta} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad D = \begin{pmatrix} d^{i} \\ d^{3} \\ d^{\rho} \\ d^{\eta} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad N = \begin{pmatrix} \nu^{i} \\ \nu^{3} \\ \nu^{\rho} \\ \nu^{\eta} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad E = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i} \\ e^{3} \\ e^{\rho} \\ e^{\eta} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7.2)

and the mass-matrix for the up-type quarks reads as follows

$$\mathbb{M}^{U} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}v/2 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & c_{33}v/2 & 0 & -c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}v/2\\ \overline{c}_{\rho R}^{3}v_{R} & c_{\rho\Omega}^{3}\omega_{3} & \overline{M}_{\rho} & -(c_{\eta\rho}^{3})^{*}\omega_{3}\\ 0 & \overline{m} & -c_{\eta\rho}^{3}\omega_{3} & \overline{M}_{\eta} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7.3)

where we have defined

$$\overline{M}_{\rho} \equiv M_{\rho} - c_{\rho}^{3} \frac{v_{3}}{2}, \qquad \overline{m} \equiv m + c_{\eta \Sigma} \frac{v_{3}}{2}, \qquad \overline{M}_{\eta} \equiv M_{\eta} - c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2}.$$
(2.7.4)

For the other mass-matrices we have that they are given by \mathbb{M}^U but applying the same prescriptions For the other mass-matrices we have that they are given by \mathbb{M}^{Γ} but applying the same prescriptions applied for the Yukawa matrices. Thus \mathbb{M}^{D} is given by \mathbb{M}^{U} but replacing $v_{3} \to -v_{3}$ and $\overline{c}_{\rho R}^{3} \to c_{\rho R}^{3}$. $\mathbb{M}^{\mathbb{N}}$ and \mathbb{M}^{E} are given by \mathbb{M}^{U} and \mathbb{M}^{D} but replacing $\omega_{3} \to \omega_{1}, c_{\eta\rho}^{3} \to c_{\eta\rho}^{1}, c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \to c_{\rho\Omega}^{1}, c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3} \to c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}, c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3} \to c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1} \to c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{1}$ leaving as understood that to get the others one may need to apply the same prescriptions. We need to diagonalize \mathbb{M}^{U} with a singular-valued decomposition (for more information look at

Section D.2 in the Appendix). In particular we need to find two unitary matrices L_U and R_U such that

$$L_U^{\dagger} \mathbb{M}^U R_U = \hat{\mathbb{M}}^U \tag{2.7.5}$$

where $\hat{\mathbb{M}}^U$ is diagonal and positive-definite. Unfortunately the calculation is very demanding computationally. Nevertheless, since the Higgs' VEV is assumed to be much lighter than all the others mass-scales in \mathbb{M}^U , we notice that the mass-matrix can be written in the following form

$$\mathbb{M}^U = \begin{pmatrix} m^U \\ M^U \end{pmatrix} \tag{2.7.6}$$

where m^U and M^U are the sub-matrices of the first and last two rows respectively and we have the hierarchy $m^U \ll M^U$. Hence we can perturbatively block-diagonalize this matrix using the results derived in Section D.5 in the Appendix. In particular we can find a unitary matrix \mathbb{L}^U such that

$$\mathbb{L}_{U}^{\dagger}\mathbb{M}^{U}(\mathbb{M}^{U})^{\dagger}\mathbb{L}_{U} = \begin{pmatrix} (m_{\ell}^{U})^{2} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & (M_{h}^{U})^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7.7)

where $(m_{\ell}^U)^2$ and $(M_h^U)^2$ are 2×2^9 positive-definite matrices and

$$\mathbb{L}_U = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{2}FF^{\dagger} & F \\ -F^{\dagger} & \mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{2}F^{\dagger}F \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(F^3) \,. \tag{2.7.8}$$

We find that

$$F \approx \frac{v/2}{|\overline{M}_{\rho}\overline{m}|^2 + |\overline{M}_{\rho}\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2} \begin{pmatrix} F_{2\rho} & F_{2\eta} \\ F_{3\rho} & F_{3\eta} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7.9)

⁹In principle $(m_{\ell}^U)^2$ is a 3 × 3, but explicitly it is treated as a 2 × 2 because we do not distinguish between the first and second generations of SM fermions.

where

$$F_{2\rho} = c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^3 \omega_3 \overline{M}_{\rho}^* \left(c_{\rho\Omega}^3 \overline{m}^* - (c_{\eta\rho}^3)^* \overline{M}_{\eta}^* \right) , \qquad (2.7.10a)$$

$$F_{2\eta} = c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^3 \overline{M}_{\rho}^* \left(|\overline{m}|^2 + |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2 \right) , \qquad (2.7.10b)$$

$$F_{3\rho} = |\overline{M}_{\rho}|^2 \left(c_{33} \overline{m}^* - c_{\eta \mathcal{H}} \overline{M}_{\eta}^* \right) , \qquad (2.7.10c)$$

$$F_{3\eta} = c_{\eta\rho}^3 \omega_3 \overline{M}_{\rho}^* \left(c_{33} \overline{m}^* - c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} \overline{M}_{\eta}^* \right) + \omega_3 \left(c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} \overline{m} + c_{33} \overline{M}_{\eta} \right) \left(c_{\eta\rho}^3 \overline{m}^* + (c_{\rho\Omega}^3)^* \overline{M}_{\eta}^* \right) \,. \tag{2.7.10d}$$

The heavy mass-matrix reads as follows

$$(M_{h}^{U})^{2} \approx \begin{pmatrix} |\overline{m}|^{2} + |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^{2} + |c_{\eta\rho}^{3}|^{2}\omega_{3}^{2} & (c_{\rho\Omega}^{3})^{*}\omega_{3}\overline{m} - c_{\eta\rho}^{3}\omega_{3}\left(\overline{M}_{\eta} + \overline{M}_{\rho}^{*}\right) \\ c_{\rho\Omega}^{3}\omega_{3}\overline{m}^{*} - (c_{\eta\rho}^{3})^{*}\omega_{3}\left(\overline{M}_{\eta}^{*} + \overline{M}_{\rho}\right) & |\overline{M}_{\rho}|^{2} + \left(|c_{\eta\rho}^{3}|^{2} + |c_{\rho\Omega}^{3}|^{2}\right)\omega_{3}^{2} + |\overline{c}_{\rhoR}^{3}|^{2}v_{R}^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7.11)

and in first approximation the two heavy states have masses

$$M_1^2 \sim |\overline{m}|^2 + |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2, \qquad M_2^2 \sim |\overline{M}_{\rho}|^2.$$
 (2.7.12)

The light mass-matrix is given by

$$(m_{\ell}^{U})^{2} \approx \frac{v^{2}}{4N} \begin{pmatrix} (m_{\ell}^{2})_{22} & (m_{\ell}^{2})_{23} \\ (m_{\ell}^{2})_{32} & (m_{\ell}^{2})_{33} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7.13)

where

$$(m_{\ell}^{2})_{22} = |c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3}|^{2} \left[\omega_{3}^{2} \left| c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \overline{M}_{\eta} + (c_{\eta\rho}^{3})^{*} \overline{m} \right|^{2} + |\overline{c}_{\rho R}^{3}|^{2} v_{R}^{2} \left(|\overline{m}|^{2} + |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^{2} \right) \right], \qquad (2.7.14a)$$

$$(m_{\ell}^{2})_{32} = (c_{\rho\mathcal{H}}^{3})^{*} \omega_{3} \left[c_{\eta\rho}^{3} |\overline{c}_{\rho R}^{3}|^{2} v_{R}^{2} \left(c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} \overline{M}_{\eta}^{*} - c_{33} \overline{m}^{*} \right) + \left(c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} \overline{m} \overline{M}_{\rho} + c_{33} \overline{M}_{\eta} \overline{M}_{\rho} + c_{\eta\rho}^{3} c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \omega_{3}^{2} - c_{33} |c_{\eta\rho}^{3}|^{2} \omega_{3}^{2} \right) \left(c_{\eta\rho}^{3} \overline{m}^{*} + (c_{\rho\Omega}^{3})^{*} \overline{M}_{\eta}^{*} \right) \right],$$

$$(2.7.14b)$$

$$(m_{\ell}^2)_{23} = (m_{\ell}^2)_{3j}^*,$$
 (2.7.14c)

$$(m_{\ell}^{2})_{33} = \left| c_{33} \overline{M}_{\eta} \overline{M}_{\rho} + c_{\eta \mathcal{H}} \overline{m} \overline{M}_{\rho} + c_{\eta \mathcal{H}} c_{\rho \Omega}^{3} c_{\eta \rho}^{3} \omega_{3}^{2} - c_{33} |c_{\eta \rho}^{3}|^{2} \omega_{3}^{2} \right|^{2} + \left| \overline{c}_{\rho R}^{3} |^{2} v_{R}^{2} \left[\left| c_{\eta \mathcal{H}} \overline{m} + c_{33} \overline{M}_{\eta} \right|^{2} - |c_{33}|^{2} |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^{2} + |c_{\eta \rho}^{3}|^{2} \omega_{3}^{2} \left(|c_{\eta \mathcal{H}}|^{2} + |c_{33}|^{2} \right) \right],$$

$$(2.7.14d)$$

$$N = \omega_3^2 \left| (c_{\eta\rho}^3)^* \overline{m} + c_{\rho\Omega}^3 \overline{M}_{\eta} \right|^2 + \left| \omega_3^2 |c_{\eta\rho}^3|^2 - \overline{M}_{\eta} \overline{M}_{\rho} \right|^2 + \left| c_{\rho\Omega}^3 c_{\eta\rho}^3 \omega_3^2 + \overline{m} \overline{M}_{\rho} \right|^2 + |\overline{c}_{\rho R}^3|^2 v_R^2 \left(|\overline{m}|^2 + |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2 + |c_{\eta\rho}^3|^2 \omega_3^2 \right).$$
(2.7.14e)

We can find the squared-masses of the second and third generations of SM fermions by diagonalizing $(m_{\ell}^U)^2$. In particular, under the assumptions that the scale of the VLF masses is greater than the ones of the scalar field's VEVs, we have that the mass of the third-generation fermion of a given type F (with F = U, D, E) is given by

$$(m_3^F)^2 \approx \left((m_\ell^F)^2 \right)_{33}.$$
 (2.7.15)

2.8 UV Parameter Space

What is left to understand is where all the UV parameters introduced lie in the parameter space to reproduce the desired Yukawa matrices. In particular the aim is to see if the couplings could be all of $\mathcal{O}(1)$ and if some fine tuning is needed.

The major constraint to satisfy is the tb mass splitting which at the M_Z scale is given by

$$m_t/m_b \approx 58. \tag{2.8.1}$$

Such large splitting is difficult to reproduce when it is generated by an EFT description. This implies unavoidably some fine tuning among the UV parameters. Because of that the scalar field Σ_3 plays a crucial role to avoid very large fine tuning since the mass splitting provided by this field comes from a 5-dimensional operator (otherwise it would have been 6-dimensional). Not only, but we do not need that the mass scale of the VEV of Σ_3 is below the mass scale of the VLFs. This because the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices is already ensured by a hierarchy among the mass scales of the VEVs of Ω_1 , Ω_3 , Σ_R and the masses of the VLFs. To study this fine tuning it is worth to use the results derived in Section 2.7. If we assume that the leading terms are given by the mass scales \overline{M}_{ρ} , \overline{M}_{η} , \overline{m} and v_3 , we have that

$$m_t \approx \frac{v}{2} \left(|\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2 + |\overline{m}|^2 \right)^{-1/2} \left| c_{33} M_{\eta} + c_{\eta \mathcal{H}} m + \frac{v_3}{2} \left(c_{\eta \mathcal{H}} c_{\eta \Sigma} - c_{\eta} c_{33} \right) \right|, \qquad m_b \approx m_t |_{v_3 \to -v_3} . \quad (2.8.2)$$

Thus we need the following fine tuning among the parameters to reproduce the observed tb mass splitting

$$\left(1 + c_{\eta} \frac{v_3}{2M_{\eta}}\right) \frac{c_{33}}{c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}} - \left(c_{\eta\Sigma} - \frac{2m}{v_3}\right) \frac{v_3}{2M_{\eta}} \sim 10^{-2} \div 10^{-1} \,. \tag{2.8.3}$$

In addition, the tb mass splitting brings other consequences due to the constraints imposed on V_{cb} . In fact this is given by (2.1.4) and it implies that Y_{23}^D must be suppressed with respect to Y_{33}^D , which on its own is suppressed by fine tuning among the UV parameters. Hence we suspect that there could be some further fine tuning to suppress Y_{23}^D with respect to Y_{23}^U . In fact this is the case. Explicitly we have that using the results of Section 2.5

$$Y_{23}^{U} = \frac{\omega_3}{M_{\rho}} c_{\rho \mathcal{H}}^3 \left(1 - c_{\rho}^3 \frac{v_3}{2M_{\rho}} \right)^{-1} \left[c_{\rho \Omega}^3 + \frac{v_3}{2M_{\eta}} (c_{\eta \rho}^3)^* \left(c_{\eta \Sigma} + \frac{2m}{v_3} \right) \left(1 - c_{\eta} \frac{v_3}{2M_{\eta}} \right)^{-1} \right], \qquad (2.8.4a)$$

$$Y_{23}^D = Y_{23}^U \Big|_{v_3 \to -v_3} \,. \tag{2.8.4b}$$

The leading part provides the suppression factor with respect to Y_{33} under the assumption that there is a hierarchy between ω_3 and M_{ρ} . Then, because Y_{33}^D is suppressed, we need the further following fine tuning among the parameters to reproduce the observed CKM component V_{cb}

$$\left(1 + c_{\eta} \frac{v_3}{2M_{\eta}}\right) \frac{c_{\rho\Omega}^3}{(c_{\eta\rho}^3)^*} - \left(c_{\eta\Sigma} - \frac{2m}{v_3}\right) \frac{v_3}{2M_{\eta}} \sim 10^{-2} \div 10^{-1} \,. \tag{2.8.5}$$

Interestingly, notice that this second fine tuning is directly satisfied assuming the first one and the condition among the UV couplings

$$c_{33}/c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} \approx c_{\rho\Omega}^3/(c_{\eta\rho}^3)^*$$
. (2.8.6)

A possible explanation to this could be that η and χ_R^3 share the same quantum numbers, so the couplings to operators with same field content but χ_R^3 or η should be very similar. If this is true, the latter condition follows immediately.

Once we have pointed out all the possible sources of fine tuning among the UV parameters, it is worth to identify which UV parameters are related to the other constraints that we would like to impose.

The first one is given by the $b\tau$ mass splitting. However, since the masses of b and τ are both suppressed by some fine tuning among the UV parameters, it is not so easy to provide the leading contribution to them. Nevertheless, by using the results of Section 2.7 and the fine tuning condition

$$\left|c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}\overline{m} + c_{33}\overline{M}_{\eta}\right| \ll \omega_{3}, \omega_{1}, v_{R} \tag{2.8.7}$$
which comes from the tb mass splitting, we find that

$$m_b^2 \approx \frac{v^2}{4} \frac{\omega_3^4 |c_{\eta\rho}^3|^2 \left| c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} c_{\rho\Omega}^3 - c_{33} (c_{\eta\rho}^3)^* \right|^2 + |c_{\rho R}^3|^2 v_R^2 \left(|c_{\eta\rho}^3|^2 \omega_3^2 \left(|c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}|^2 + |c_{33}|^2 \right) - |c_{33}|^2 |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2 \right)}{|\overline{M}_{\rho}|^2 \left(|\overline{m}|^2 + |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2 \right)}$$
(2.8.8)

while m_{τ}^2 is given by m_b^2 after having done the proper substitutions. If we further assume condition (2.8.6), we can provide the following leading contribution that generates $b\tau$ mass splitting

$$\frac{m_b^2}{m_\tau^2} \approx \left| \frac{c_{\eta R}^3}{c_{\eta R}^1} \right|^2 \left[\frac{|c_{\eta \rho}^3|^2 \omega_3^2 \left(|c_{\eta \mathcal{H}}|^2 + |c_{33}|^2 \right) - |c_{33}|^2 |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2}{|c_{\eta \rho}^1|^2 \omega_1^2 \left(|c_{\eta \mathcal{H}}|^2 + |c_{33}|^2 \right) - |c_{33}|^2 |\overline{M}_{\eta}|^2} \right]$$
(2.8.9)

and it can easily reproduce the observed $b\tau$ mass splitting in some regions of the UV parameters space.

Last condition that must be satisfied is the one reported in (2.1.3). Explicitly we have that using the results of Section 2.5

$$\frac{Y_{3j}^{U}}{Y_{i3}^{U}} \approx \frac{v_{R}}{M_{\eta}} c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} \overline{c}_{\rhoR}^{3} \left(1 - c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}}\right)^{-1} \left[c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} + \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} (c_{\eta\rho}^{3})^{*} \left(c_{\eta\Sigma} + \frac{2m}{v_{3}} \right) \left(1 - c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} \right)^{-1} \right]^{-1},$$

$$(2.8.10a)$$

$$\frac{Y_{3j}^{D}}{Y_{i3}^{D}} \approx \frac{v_{R}}{M_{\eta}} c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} c_{\rhoR}^{3} \left(1 + c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} \right)^{-1} \left[c_{\rho\Omega}^{3} - \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} (c_{\eta\rho}^{3})^{*} \left(c_{\eta\Sigma} - \frac{2m}{v_{3}} \right) \left(1 + c_{\eta} \frac{v_{3}}{2M_{\eta}} \right)^{-1} \right]^{-1}.$$

$$(2.8.10b)$$

In particular we have that for the down-type quarks the expression in the parenthesis is suppressed because of the fine tuning imposed by the constraints on V_{cb} . Thus we need that

$$\frac{v_R}{M_\eta} c_{\rho R}^3 \lesssim 10^{-2} \,. \tag{2.8.11}$$

This is achievable without any fine tuning, but just with a suitable choice of the UV parameters and mass scales. Notice that in this region of the UV parameter space we have that

$$Y_{3j}^D \sim Y_{ij}^D \sim 10^{-4} \tag{2.8.12}$$

and such value corresponds to the correct order of magnitude for y_s . Nevertheless, it is not important to tune precisely the Yukawa couplings of the second generations. This because we could think of a possible further UV embedding in which is violated the universality of the first and second generations. This should be the correct framework where to study precisely the structure of the Y_{ij} sector in the Yukawa matrices. However this is not going to be analysed in this work.

Keeping in mind all the constraints that limit the region of the UV parameter space, we are able to reproduce all the Yukawa matrices by assuming $\mathcal{O}(1)$ couplings (more precisely from the interval [0.1, 1]), $\mathcal{O}(5)$ TeV VEVs (expect for the VEV of Σ_3 which we allow to be even higher, of $\mathcal{O}(20)$ TeV) and $\mathcal{O}(20)$ TeV VLF masses. Also this happens in both of the models, although we have studied in detail the constraints on the UV parameter space only for Model I. We recall that this choice will be clarified in the following, more precisely at the end of Chapter 4. We want also to enlighten the fact that this model appears to be very robust in the sense that, under a small change of the UV parameters, also the Yukawa matrices change slightly (apart from the constraints imposed by the little fine tuning already discussed). In addition, thanks to Σ_3 , we have been able to explain the structure of the all Yukawa matrices in a very *natural* way where the only fine tuning is exploited to reproduce the observed *tb* mass splitting and it requires just an $\mathcal{O}(10)$ cancellation among the UV parameters. A possible choice for the values of the UV parameters with corresponding Yukawa matrices will be provided in Section 4.7, together with the predictions on neutrino masses.

As last remark, we have already pointed out from the beginning of this Chapter that we could avoid such fine tuning among the UV parameters or even the need of Σ_3 to generate the *tb* mass splittings at the price of assuming an Higgs field where the $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ -doublet components are weights differently as shown in (2.2.10). The issue with this approach is that, as discussed in Section C.2 in the Appendix, we need $\xi = \mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$ to explain the *tb* mass splitting. Thus we should explain why there are such different weights between the two components of the $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ doublet, which is again a fine tuning problem.

3 Neutrino Masses

In the previous Chapter we have shown that the models we considered in this work are able to reproduce the desired Yukawa matrices for the up- and down-type quarks as well as for the charged leptons. What must still be understood is how to explain the observed neutrino masses. In this Chapter we are going to study this issue in great detail with focus on how to implement the See-Saw mechanism in the framework of the models considered. In the first part we are going to study several possible See-Saw mechanisms that could be utilize to explain the observed active-neutrino masses. In the second part we are going to study which of the parameters entering in the See-Saw mechanisms could be generated in the models we considered, together with the hierarchies among them.

3.1 The See-Saw Mechanism

An unavoidable feature of Pati-Salam-like models is a degeneracy of the up-type quarks and neutral leptons interactions since they are grouped together in a fermionic SU(4)-vector. Even though we have introduced sources of splittings among the different types of fermions, the up-type quark and neutral lepton Yukawa matrices are unavoidably comparable. The issue with neutrino masses arises from neutrino oscillation measurements. We know that the neutrino masses are anarchic and in the range $10^{-2} \text{ eV} \lesssim m_{\nu} \lesssim 10^{-1} \text{ eV}$ (unless you allow fine tuning) with well-measured squared-mass splittings

$$\Delta m_{32}^2 = 2.56 \cdot 10^{-3} \,\mathrm{eV}^2 \,, \qquad \Delta m_{21}^2 = 7.36 \cdot 10^{-5} \,\mathrm{eV}^2 \,. \tag{3.1.1}$$

Thus we need to introduce a mechanism to suppress the latter masses with respect to the ones of the up-type quarks.

The See-Saw mechanism is probably the most efficient way to explain the tiny neutrino masses giving Yukawa couplings of $\mathcal{O}(1)$. The only constraint is that it requires the existence of Majorana fermions. A proper definition of a Majorana field is provided in Section E.1 in the Appendix. There exist two different kinds of See-Saw mechanisms: the Direct (DSS) and Inverse (ISS). For a review see for instance [9]. DSS works assuming the existence of (at least) one sterile right-handed (RH) neutrino with a Majorana mass. Working in a single-flavour model with only one left-handed (LH) neutrino ν_L and one RH ν_R , the mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} M_R \overline{\nu}_R^c \nu_R + m_D \overline{\nu}_L \nu_R + h.c.$$
(3.1.2)

where m_D is the so-called Dirac mass for the LH neutrino. Using the fact that

$$\overline{\nu}_L \nu_R = \frac{1}{2} \left(\overline{\nu}_L \nu_R + \overline{\nu}_R^c \nu_L^c \right) \tag{3.1.3}$$

we can rewrite the Lagrangian as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. \tag{3.1.4}$$

where $N_L = (\nu_L, \nu_R^c)^T$ and the neutrino mass-matrix reads

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m_D \\ m_D & M_R \end{pmatrix} . \tag{3.1.5}$$

To find the mass-eigenstates we have to do a unitary transformation of N_L to diagonalize M. In addition, working in the limit $m_D \ll M_R$, we can do this perturbatively as shown in Section D.4 in the Appendix. We find one active (or better saying very light) neutrino mass-eigenstate and one very heavy. Their masses read as follows respectively

$$m_{\nu} \approx \frac{m_D^2}{M_R}, \qquad M_h \approx M_R.$$
 (3.1.6)

The eigenstates are almost given by ν_L and ν_R^c their-selves since the mixing angle between the two species is of $\mathcal{O}(m_D/M_R)$ and it is extremely suppressed.

ISS works assuming the existence of (at least) three neutrino species with (at least) one with a small Majorana mass. Working in a single-flavour model with two LH neutrinos ν_L and s_L and one RH ν_R , the Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. \tag{3.1.7}$$

where $N_L = (\nu_L, \nu_R^c, s_L)^T$ and the neutrino mass-matrix reads

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D & 0 \\ D & m & N \\ 0 & N & \mu \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (3.1.8)

As before, we need to do a unitary transformation of N_L to diagonalize M. This time we assume the hierarchy $m, \mu \ll D, N$. Thus M is made of a leading part plus a perturbation

$$M = M_0 + \Delta M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D & 0 \\ D & 0 & N \\ 0 & N & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.1.9)

Such kind of matrix has been perturbatively diagonalized in Section C.4 in the Appendix. We find that there are one active and two heavy neutrino mass-eigenstates. Their squared-masses read as follows respectively

$$m_{\nu}^2 \approx \frac{|\mu|^2 |D|^4}{(|D|^2 + |N|^2)^2}, \qquad M_R^2 \approx |D|^2 + |N|^2.$$
 (3.1.10)

The mixing matrix between the three neutrinos is given by the eigenvectors. In particular, the active eigenstate is a mixing (almost) between ν_L and s_L with mixing angle given by $\tan \theta \sim D/N$.

In the following Sections we apply those mechanisms in the framework of the models we are considering in this work to see which could be utilize to explain the observed neutrino masses.

3.2 Direct See-Saw

Up to now in the models considered we have the following neutrinos¹⁰: ν_L^3 , ν_L^i , ν_R^3 and ν_R^j . The most general Lagrangian allows Yukawa couplings among ν_L and ν_R neutrinos; then we can have a Majorana mass-matrix for ν_R^j and ν_R^3 . Therefore the most general mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. \tag{3.2.1}$$

where $N_L = (\nu_L^i, \nu_L^3, (\nu_R^j)^c, (\nu_R^3)^c)^T$ and

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D \\ D^T & \mu_R \end{pmatrix} . \tag{3.2.2}$$

D and μ_R are two 3 × 3 matrices and explicitly¹¹

$$D = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} Y^N = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} Y_{ij}^N & Y_{i3}^N \\ Y_{3j}^N & Y_{33}^N \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.2.3)

¹⁰In principle i = 1, 2, but we treat them as they are just one generation to simplify the computations. Conceptually it does not change anything.

¹¹We write in compact notation the entries associated to the first and second generations.

We assume the hierarchy $D \ll \mu_R$. Thus we can block-diagonalize M using a unitary matrix W as done in Section D.3 in the Appendix to get

$$W^T M W = \begin{pmatrix} m_\nu & 0\\ 0 & M_h \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2.4)

The mixing angle between LH and RH is of $\mathcal{O}(v/M_R)$ where

$$M_R \equiv \left[\det\left(\mu_R^{\dagger}\mu_R\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{4}} \tag{3.2.5}$$

and it is assumed to be very little. Thus the eigen-subspaces are given by one active-neutrino subspace generated almost only by ν_L^i and ν_L^3 and one heavy-neutrino subspace generated almost only by $(\nu_R^i)^c$ and $(\nu_R^3)^c$. Explicitly their mass-matrices read respectively as follows

$$m_{\nu} \approx -\frac{v^2}{2} Y^N R^{-1} (Y^N)^T, \qquad M_h \approx \mu_R.$$
 (3.2.6)

This is equivalent to a DSS and we have that the leading contribution to m_{ν} parametrically goes like

$$m_{\nu} \sim \frac{v^2}{M_R} Y^2 \,.$$
 (3.2.7)

With suitable choices of the parameters we can have active-neutrino masses of the same order of magnitude. However keep in mind that the mass scale of M_R should be around 10¹⁴ GeV like happens in any DSS scenarios. We will come back to this point later in this Chapter.

3.3 Inverse See-Saw

In this Section we study in detail the ISS mechanism in the framework of the models considered. Before starting with the explicit realization, let us make an observation: the sterile fermions that we have to add in the ISS must be LH. Otherwise it would be like adding new sterile RH neutrinos, which means it would be like increasing the maximum value of the index j that accounts for the generations of ν_R^j . In addition, there is no constraint that implies the existence of the first and second generations of RH neutrinos which are sterile particles in our model. Hence we are going to be completely general in accounting the neutrino species that contributes to the ISS mechanism. Thus we have in full generality that the particle content is made of at least three LH neutrinos ν_L^3 and ν_L^i with i = 1, 2 and one third-generation RH neutrino ν_R^3 . Then we add $n_R - 1$ species of RH sterile neutrinos ν_R^j with $j = 1, ..., n_R - 1$ and n_s species of sterile LH fermions s_L^k with $k = 1, ..., n_s$. Here n_R and n_s are completely general positive integer numbers.

We assume interactions between LH and RH fermions and we provide small Majorana mass-matrices for the RH neutrinos and the LH sterile fermions s_L^k . In addition we assume that ν_L^i and s_L^k do not interact at tree-level in any way and we do not assign Majorana masses to ν_L^i . The most general mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. \tag{3.3.1}$$

where $N_L = (\nu_L^i, \nu_L^3, (\nu_R^j)^c, (\nu_R^3)^c, s_L^k)^T$ and

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D & 0 \\ D^T & \mu_R & N^T \\ 0 & N & \mu \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (3.3.2)

D is a $n_L \times n_R$ complex matrix (calling $n_L = 3$ the number of LH neutrinos), *N* is a $n_s \times n_R$ complex matrix, μ_R is a $n_R \times n_R$ symmetric complex matrix and μ is a $n_s \times n_s$ symmetric complex matrix. We

assume the hierarchy $\mu_R, \mu \ll D, N$. Thus we can perturbatively diagonalize this matrix which has the following form

$$M = M_0 + \Delta M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D & 0 \\ D^T & 0 & N \\ 0 & N^T & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mu_R & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.3.3)

From the rank of M_0 we can see that at zero-th order in perturbation theory we have $n_L + n_s - n_R$ massless eigenstates, while the others have masses of $\mathcal{O}(N, D)$. This is very important because, since we observe (at least) three active-neutrino mass-eigenstates, we must satisfy the condition $n_s \ge n_R$. The minimal realization would be in the case of three active mass-eigenstates. Hence in the following we will always assume to work with

$$n_s = n_R \,. \tag{3.3.4}$$

Notice that this result was already present in the literature, for instance see [9].

To summarize, to make an ISS we need (apart from the three LH neutrino generations) $n_s \geq 1$ sterile LH fermions s_L^k with $k = 1, ..., n_s$, then $n_s - 1$ sterile RH neutrinos ν_R^j with $j = 1, ..., n_s - 1$ and finally the third-generation RH neutrino ν_R^3 . In this framework the most general mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. \tag{3.3.5}$$

where $N_L = (\nu_L^i, \nu_L^3, (\nu_R^j)^c, (\nu_R^3)^c, s_L^k)^T$ and

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D \\ D^T & R \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.3.6)

D and R are two matrices of dimension $3 \times 2n_s$ and $2n_s \times 2n_s$ respectively and explicitly

$$D = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} Y_{1j}^N & Y_{13}^N \\ Y_{2j}^N & Y_{23}^N \\ Y_{3j}^N & Y_{33}^N \end{pmatrix}, \qquad R = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_R & m_R^T \\ m_R & \mu \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.3.7)

where m_R , μ_R and μ are $n_s \times n_s$ matrices. We also assume the hierarchy $\mu, \mu_R \ll m_R$ and $D \ll R^{12}$.

Thus we can block-diagonalize this matrix as shown in Section D.3 in the Appendix in a similar way as done in the DSS scenario. We find that the mixing angle between LH active neutrinos and the other states is of $\mathcal{O}(v/M_R)$ where

$$M_R \equiv \left[\det \left(m_R^{\dagger} m_R \right) \right]^{1/2n_s} \tag{3.3.8}$$

and it is assumed to be little. Thus the eigen-subspaces are given by one active-neutrino subspace generated almost only by ν_L^i and ν_L^3 and one heavy-neutrino subspace generated almost only by $(\nu_R^j)^c$, $(\nu_R^3)^c$ and s_L^k . The heavy mass-matrix is given by $M_h \approx R$ which means that the heavy mass-eigenstates have masses of order

$$M_h \sim M_R \tag{3.3.9}$$

plus small corrections of $\mathcal{O}(\mu, \mu_R)$. The light mass-matrix instead is given by

$$m_{\nu} \approx -DR^{-1}D^T \,. \tag{3.3.10}$$

To invert R we use the results shown in Section D.6 in the Appendix finding that

$$m_{\nu} \approx \frac{v^2}{2} Y^N \left(m_R^T \mu^{-1} m_R \right)^{-1} (Y^N)^T \,. \tag{3.3.11}$$

¹²In principle this assumption is needed just to provide a rather easy approximated solution and it is not necessary to get the final mass hierarchy among the active-neutrino masses. Nevertheless it will be important to not spoil the unitarity constraints on the PMNS matrix as we are going to discuss in the following.

Notice that as long as $\mu_R \ll m_R^T \mu^{-1} m_R$ (as we assume to be), a possible Majorana mass-matrix for the RH neutrinos is completely irrelevant. Also, as expected, we have that the active-neutrino mass-matrix goes parametrically like an usual ISS.

Regarding the number of sterile LH fermions n_s , if $n_s \leq 2$ we have that det $[m_{\nu}] = 0$ which implies that there is at least one exactly massless eigenstate. In particular for $n_s = 2$ there is only one while for $n_s = 1$ they are two and this is not compatible with what we observe¹³. If $n_s = 3$ we have three massive eigenstates. In any case it is possible to tune the parameters to reproduce the observed neutrino mass-spectrum. Nevertheless, it seems very *natural* to expect that the first- and second-generation fermions will embed in a Gauge Group of type $SU(4) \times SU(2)_R$ as we did for the third generation at a higher energy scale. Thus the case $n_s = 2$ seems quite *unnatural* and we assume in the following to work with $n_s = 3$ in the ISS scenario.

3.4 Mixed See Saw

There is one last possibility that we have not studied yet. We can do a mixed See-Saw (MSS) mechanism using very heavy Majorana masses for the light-generation RH neutrinos and one new sterile LH fermion with a little Majorana mass. Thus we assume to have (apart from the three LH neutrinos) two generations of sterile RH neutrinos ν_R^j with j = 1, 2, the usual third-generation RH neutrino ν_R^3 and one sterile LH fermions s_L . The most general mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. \tag{3.4.1}$$

where $N_L = (\nu_L^i, \nu_L^3, (\nu_R^j)^c, (\nu_R^3)^c, s_L)^T$ and

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D \\ D^T & R \end{pmatrix} . \tag{3.4.2}$$

D and R are two matrices of dimension 3×4 and 4×4 respectively and explicitly

$$D = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} Y^N & 0\\ & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad R = \begin{pmatrix} M_R^j & (m_R^{j3})^T & (m_R^j)^T\\ m_R^{j3} & \mu_R^3 & M_R^3\\ m_R^j & M_R^3 & \mu \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.3)

where M_R^j is a 2 × 2 matrix while m_R^{j3} and m_R^j are 2-dimensional row-vectors. We also assume the hierarchy $D \ll R$ required by the DSS, but also the hierarchies $\mu, m_R^{j3}, \mu_R^3 \ll M_R^j$ and $m_R^j, \mu_R^3 \ll M_R^3$ required by the ISS.

This allows us to block-diagonalize M as we did before and we find that the mixing angle between LH neutrinos and the other states is of $\mathcal{O}(v/M_R)$ where

$$M_R \equiv \left[\det \left(R^{\dagger} R \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{8}} \sim \left(M_R^j M_R^3 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(3.4.4)

and it is assumed to be little. Thus the eigen-subspaces are given by one active-neutrino mass-subspace generated almost only by ν_L^i and ν_L^3 and one heavy-neutrino mass-subspace generated almost only by $(\nu_R^j)^c$, $(\nu_R^3)^c$ and s_L . The heavy mass-matrix is given by

$$M_h \approx R \approx \begin{pmatrix} M_R^j & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & M_R^3\\ 0 & M_R^3 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\mu, \mu_R^3, m_R^j, m_R^{j3})$$
(3.4.5)

 $^{^{13}}$ In fact we do observe two different mass splittings among the active neutrinos in the SM. Hence at least two of them must be massive.

which means that the heavy mass-eigenstates have masses of order

$$M_h \sim M_R \tag{3.4.6}$$

plus small corrections. The active-neutrino mass-matrix is given by

$$m_{\nu} \approx -DR^{-1}D^T \,. \tag{3.4.7}$$

We can now invert R as shown in Section D.6 in the Appendix finding that (in the approximations $(m_R^j)^T \mu^{-1} m_R^j \ll M_R^j, m_R^{j3} \ll M_R^3 \mu^{-1} m_R^j$ and $\mu_R^3 \ll M_R^3 \mu^{-1} M_R^3$)

$$m_{\nu} \approx -\frac{v^2}{2} Y^N \begin{pmatrix} M_R^j & (m_R^j)^T \mu^{-1} M_R^3 \\ M_R^3 \mu^{-1} m_R^j & M_R^3 \mu^{-1} M_R^3 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} (Y^N)^T .$$
(3.4.8)

We observe that parametrically the active-neutrino masses are given by

$$m_{\nu}^{j} \sim \frac{v^{2}}{M_{R}^{j}} Y^{2}, \qquad m_{\nu}^{3} \sim \mu \frac{v^{2}}{(M_{R}^{3})^{2}} Y^{2}.$$
 (3.4.9)

Thus they are a mixture between DSS and ISS as expected. Also we can tune the parameters to find the observed neutrino mass-spectrum. Nevertheless, the MSS requires somehow a fine tuning between the high Majorana masses of the first- and second-generation RH neutrinos and the mass scales involved with s_L to produce anarchic active-neutrino masses. This seems very *unnatural* and hence we discard this option.

3.5 Non-Unitarity of the PMNS Matrix

Like there is the CKM matrix in the SM for the quarks, there is also its leptonic counterpart which is called the PMNS matrix. It is defined as follows

$$N \equiv U_{\ell}^{\dagger} U_{\nu} \tag{3.5.1}$$

where U_{ℓ} and U_{ν} are two unitary matrices that rotate the LH charged and neutral leptons respectively from the flavour-basis to the mass-basis. By construction it is different from the identity once nonvanishing masses for the neutrinos are assumed. In addition, as it happens for the CKM matrix, the PMNS matrix is predicted to be unitary in the SM. We can parameterize its non-unitarity by defining the following matrix

$$|\eta| \equiv |\mathbb{I} - NN^{\dagger}|. \tag{3.5.2}$$

A possible detection of non-unitarity of N would imply BSM physics. Furthermore, there exist some experimental upper bounds on this parameter which puts some constraints on the possible PMNS unitarity violation induced by some NP models, like the one we are considering. Currently those bounds are given by [16]

$$|\eta| < \begin{pmatrix} 2.1 \cdot 10^{-3} & 1.0 \cdot 10^{-5} & 2.1 \cdot 10^{-3} \\ 1.0 \cdot 10^{-5} & 4.0 \cdot 10^{-4} & 8.0 \cdot 10^{-4} \\ 2.1 \cdot 10^{-3} & 8.0 \cdot 10^{-4} & 5.3 \cdot 10^{-3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.5.3)

A possible source of non-unitarity is provided by the addition of new sterile fermionic states that mix together with the LH SM neutrinos. This is the case at work in the models we considered. In particular PMNS unitarity gets broken because the matrix that rotates the neutrinos into their mass-eigenstates is given by

$$\overline{U}_{\nu} \approx \left(\mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{2} B B^{\dagger} \right) U_{\nu} \tag{3.5.4}$$

where U_{ν} is the unitary matrix that diagonalizes the active-neutrino mass-matrix m_{ν} and (in the notation used in the previous Sections¹⁴)

$$B^{\dagger} \approx R^{-1} D^T \,. \tag{3.5.5}$$

In particular the non-unitarity part of the mixing matrix comes from the upper-left block of the unitary matrix W which block-diagonalizes the neutrino mass-matrix isolating the active-neutrino mass-eigenstates in (3.2.4) (and it is a feature present in all the See-Saw mechanisms considered). Thus the PMNS matrix in this framework reads as follows

$$N \equiv U_{\ell}^{\dagger} \overline{U}_{\nu} \approx U_{\ell}^{\dagger} \left(\mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{2} B B^{\dagger} \right) U_{\nu}$$
(3.5.6)

and it is not unitary anymore. Explicitly the non-unitarity parameter reads as follows

$$|\eta| \approx |BB^{\dagger}| \approx |D^*(R^{-1})^{\dagger} R^{-1} D^T|$$
 (3.5.7)

and parametrically it goes like

$$|\eta| \sim \frac{v^2}{M_R^2} Y^2$$
. (3.5.8)

For the DSS scenario this parameter is very low and well below the current bounds by several orders of magnitude¹⁵. In the ISS this should be taken into account. In our case we have that using (D.6.4) and under the assumption that $\mu_R \ll m_R^T \mu^{-1} m_R$

$$B^{\dagger} \approx \frac{v^2}{2} \begin{pmatrix} (m_R^T \mu^{-1} m_R)^{-1} (Y^N)^T \\ \mu^{-1} m_R (m_R^T \mu^{-1} m_R)^{-1} (Y^N)^T \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.5.9)

which implies that

$$|\eta| = \frac{v^2}{2} \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right)^* \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right)^T + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^4}{M_R^4} \right) \,. \tag{3.5.10}$$

3.6 See-Saw Mass-Terms as EFT

In this Section we provide a list of all the possible mass-terms that enter in the See-Saw mechanisms described before and that could be generated in the framework of the models we considered in this work. We start from generating the Majorana mass-matrix for RH neutrinos and we continue generating all the mass-terms where the LH sterile fermions s_L^k are involved.

We want to generate in the framework of the models considered in this work a Majorana mass-matrix for the RH neutrinos. Explicitly we want to generate the following Lagrangian (where only for the equation below i, j = 1, 2, 3)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2} (\mu_R)_{ij} (\nu_R^i)^T \mathcal{C} \, \nu_R^j + h.c.$$
(3.6.1)

where μ_R is a symmetric matrix. Notice that this can be done because under the SM Gauge Group (1.1.1) those are all sterile fermions. Instead for the LH neutrinos this is not possible since they are still charged. The first- and second-generation RH neutrinos are sterile. Hence we can safely write the following Majorana mass-matrix (where i, j = 1, 2)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2} (\mu_R)_{ij} (\nu_R^i)^T \mathcal{C} \, \nu_R^j + h.c.$$
(3.6.2)

¹⁴In the case of DSS $R = \mu_R$.

¹⁵In general in a DSS scenario is required a Majorana mass $M_R = \mathcal{O}(10^{14})$ GeV and our case is not an exception.

Instead the third-generation RH neutrino is charged under the Gauge Group (1.1.3). Thus it is more complicated to generate a Majorana mass-term for it. In particular we have that

$$(\chi_R^3)_{\alpha}(\chi_R^3)_{\beta} \sim (\mathbf{4} \times \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{2} \times \mathbf{2}) \in \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$$
(3.6.3)

where α, β represent the spinor (or Lorentz) indices of the fermionic fields. To generate a Majorana mass-term, those indices has to be contracted in the following way

$$(\chi_R^3)_{\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{\alpha\beta}(\chi_R^3)_{\beta} \,. \tag{3.6.4}$$

This means that this term must be symmetric in all its Gauge indices. Namely it has to transform under the $\mathbf{10}_S$ representation of $\mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]}$ and the $\mathbf{3}_S$ representation of $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$. This because we have that from Group Theory (for a reference see for instance [17])

$$4 \times 4 = \mathbf{10}_S + \mathbf{6}_A, \qquad \mathbf{2} \times \mathbf{2} = \mathbf{3}_S + \mathbf{1}_A.$$
 (3.6.5)

Without adding new fields to the models, we could get a Majorana mass for the third-generation neutrino by means of some EFT operators built using some of the scalar fields that will eventually acquire a VEV. For Model I we can write the following 7-dimensional operator

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2} \frac{c_7}{\Lambda^3} \left((\Sigma_R^c)^{\dagger} \Omega_1 \chi_R^3 \right)^T \mathcal{C} \left((\Sigma_R^c)^{\dagger} \Omega_1 \chi_R^3 \right) + h.c.$$
(3.6.6)

where Λ is the energy scale at which this operator finds its UV completion. For Model II we can write the following 5-dimensional operator

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2} \frac{c_5}{2\Lambda} \left((\Delta_3^c)^{\dagger} \chi_R^3 \right)^T \mathcal{C} \left((\Delta_3^c)^{\dagger} \chi_R^3 \right) + h.c.$$
(3.6.7)

When those fields acquire their VEVs, we can generate the following Majorana mass-terms for RH neutrinos

Model I:
$$(\mu_R)_{33} = \frac{c_7}{\Lambda^3} v_R^2 \omega_1^2$$
, Model II: $(\mu_R)_{33} = \frac{c_5}{\Lambda} w^2$. (3.6.8)

Since both are EFT operators, we expect those masses to be suppressed, or in any case not above the TeV scale. In fact the only way to get a renormalizable Majorana mass-term for ν_R^3 (and hence a mass-term which *theoretically* could be very large) is to assume the existence of a scalar boson

$$X \sim (\overline{\mathbf{10}}_S, \overline{\mathbf{3}}_S) \in \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$$
(3.6.9)

which will eventually acquire a VEV. This possibility is studied in detail in Section C.7 in the Appendix.

Lastly we need to generate the mass-mixing terms between first-, second- and third-generation RH neutrinos. Again, without adding new fields to the models, for Model I the only possibility is to use some EFT operators built using the scalar fields that will eventually acquire a VEV. In particular we can use the following 5-dimensional operator

$$-\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{3j}}{\Lambda} \overline{\chi}_R^3 \Omega_1^{\dagger} \Sigma_R^c (\nu_R^j)^c + h.c.$$
(3.6.10)

For Model II instead we can write the following renormalizable operator

$$-\mathcal{L} \supset c_{3j}\overline{\chi}_R^3 \Delta_3^c (\nu_R^j)^c + h.c.$$
(3.6.11)

When those fields acquire their VEVs, we can generate the following Majorana mass-terms for RH neutrinos (where j = 1, 2)

Model I:
$$(\mu_R)_{3j} = \frac{c_{3j}}{\Lambda} v_R \omega_1$$
, Model II: $(\mu_R)_{3j} = c_{3j} w$. (3.6.12)

In the ISS we have to assume the existence of a certain number n_s (which we assume to be $n_s = 3$) of sterile fermions s_L^k (where $k = 1, ..., n_s$). Now we want to generate in the framework of the models considered in this work all the mass-terms in which they are involved. Since they are sterile, we can safely generate for s_L^k the following Majorana mass-matrix

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2}\overline{s}_L^k \,\mu_{k\ell} (s_L^\ell)^c + h.c. \tag{3.6.13}$$

Then we need to generate the mass-mixing terms between those sterile fermions and the RH neutrinos. Namely we want to generate the mass-terms (where only for the equation below j = 1, 2, 3)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\overline{s}_L^k(m_R)_{kj} \nu_R^j + h.c. \tag{3.6.14}$$

The term with the first- and second-generation RH neutrinos can be always generated since all the fields are sterile and it reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} \supset c_{kj}\Lambda' \,\overline{s}_L^k \nu_R^j + h.c. \tag{3.6.15}$$

 Λ' is a completely general energy scale which in principle could be very high (and different from the scale Λ at which all the other operators find their UV origin), even well above the TeV scale. Thus we have that (where j = 1, 2)

$$(m_R)_{kj} = c_{kj}\Lambda'.$$
 (3.6.16)

The mass-mixing terms between the sterile fermions and the third-generation RH neutrino are less trivial to generate. Without adding new fields to the models, for Model I the only possibility is to use some EFT operators built using the scalar fields that will eventually acquire a VEV. In particular we can use the following 5-dimensional operator

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{c_{k3}}{\Lambda} \overline{s}_L^k (\Sigma_R^c)^{\dagger} \Omega_1 \chi_R^3 + h.c.$$
(3.6.17)

For Model II instead we can write the following renormalizable operator

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -c_{k3}\overline{s}_L^k (\Delta_3^c)^{\dagger} \chi_R^3 + h.c.$$
(3.6.18)

When those fields acquire their VEVs, we can generate the following mass-mixing terms between sterile fermions and third-generation RH neutrino

Model I:
$$(m_R)_{k3} = \frac{c_{k3}}{\Lambda} v_R \omega_1$$
, Model II: $(m_R)_{k3} = c_{k3} w$. (3.6.19)

3.7 UV Completion and Parameter Space

In this Section we provide a possible UV origin to the mass-terms that are required to do the See-Saw mechanism and are generated only from an EFT description. Then we analyse where the possible values lie in the UV parameter space to reproduce the observed active-neutrino masses.

In the DSS scenario, to get active-neutrino masses of $\mathcal{O}(10^{-1})$ eV with $Y^N = \mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$ and the Higgs' VEV $v \sim 10^2$ GeV, we need a Majorana mass-matrix for the RH neutrinos

$$\mu_R = \mathcal{O}(10^{12}) \,\text{TeV} \,. \tag{3.7.1}$$

This is a very high scale, too high to be testable at colliders. In addition, even though it is in principle *natural* to have a very heavy Majorana mass-matrix for the first- and second-generation RH neutrinos, the same is not true for the third-generation one. From Section 3.6, it is clear that we can *naturally* assume $(\mu_R)_{3j}$ and $(\mu_R)_{33}$ up to the order of few TeV. We cannot go far above this scale if we want to

keep the assumption that the UV embedding of the SM happens at the TeV scale. Even in case of the existence of the X boson (3.6.9), although theoretically possible, it is not very sensible to assign a VEV of $\mathcal{O}(10^{12})$ TeV for the same reasons. Therefore DSS seems *unnatural* in the framework of the models considered in this work.

Regarding the ISS scenario, we could safely assume that the RH neutrinos have no Majorana mass-matrix at all. What we still have to do is to provide a UV origin to the mass-terms in which the sterile fermions s_L^k are involved, listed in Section 3.6. In particular in Model I, without adding any new further VLF to the theory, we could use ρ_1 (2.3.1) to write down the following term in the UV Lagrangian (where k = 1, 2, 3)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rho} \supset c_{s\rho} \overline{s}_{L}^{k} (\Sigma_{R}^{c})^{\dagger} \rho_{1} + h.c.$$
(3.7.2)

This adds the following EFT operators to (2.5.2)

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathrm{IR}} \supset \frac{1}{M_{\rho}} c_{s\rho} \overline{s}_{L}^{k} (\Sigma_{R}^{c})^{\dagger} \sigma_{\rho}^{1} \left(c_{\rho\Omega}^{1} \Omega_{1} \chi_{R}^{3} + c_{\rho R}^{1} \Sigma_{R} e_{R}^{j} + \overline{c}_{\rho R}^{1} \Sigma_{R}^{c} \nu_{R}^{j} \right) + h.c.$$

$$(3.7.3)$$

When all the fields acquire their VEVs, we find that (with k = 1, 2, 3 and only for this equation j = 1, 2, 3)

$$-\mathcal{L}_Y^{\mathrm{IR}} \supset \overline{s}_L^k(m_R)_{kj} \nu_R^j + h.c.$$
(3.7.4)

 ${\rm where}^{16}$

$$(m_R)_{kj} = c_{kj}\Lambda' + \frac{v_R^2}{M_\rho} \bar{c}^1_{\rho R} c_{s\rho}, \qquad (m_R)_{k3} = \frac{\omega_1 v_R}{M_\rho} c^1_{\rho\Omega} c_{s\rho}.$$
 (3.7.5)

In Model II we have that the mass-mixing terms are generated using renormalizable operators and for completeness we find that (with k = 1, 2, 3 and just for this equation j = 1, 2, 3)

$$-\mathcal{L}_Y^{\mathrm{IR}} \supset \overline{s}_L^k(m_R)_{kj} \nu_R^j + h.c.$$
(3.7.6)

where

$$(m_R)_{kj} = c_{kj}\Lambda', \qquad (m_R)_{k3} = c_{k3}w.$$
 (3.7.7)

What is left to do is to identify the allowed region in the UV parameter space to reproduce the observed active-neutrino masses while respecting all the constraints imposed, which usually are given only by the bounds on PMNS non-unitarity. If we keep the UV parameters used to generate the Yukawa matrices in the region of the UV parameter space discussed in Section 2.8, we see that we can explain the observed active-neutrino mass-spectrum keeping $\mathcal{O}(1)$ couplings between s_L^k and the RH neutrinos. Nevertheless to do so we need to assume a very hierarchical structure for the Majorana mass-matrix μ of the sterile fermions s_L^k . In fact we need the eigenvalues of μ to be

$$\mu_1 = \mathcal{O}(10^{10}) \,\mathrm{eV}\,, \quad \mu_2 = \mathcal{O}(10^5) \,\mathrm{eV}\,, \quad \mu_1 = \mathcal{O}(1) \,\mathrm{eV}\,.$$
 (3.7.8)

This is due to the fact that the neutral lepton Yukawa matrix has a hierarchical structure that must be compensate by an even more pronounced hierarchical structure in μ . Recall that this happens under the assumption to keep all the couplings to be of $\mathcal{O}(1)$. We are going to discuss better this point in the following Chapter. In addition, we would like to emphasize that if we allow Λ' to be much above the TeV scale, then this hierarchical structure of μ is even more pronounced. This because we have to compensate the hierarchical structures present in both Y^N and m_R . As last check, the PMNS unitarity constraints are in general satisfied. The only care must be put to ensure that the 33-component of $|\eta|$ (3.5.10) lies inside the current bounds, and this could be achieved if

$$(m_R)_{k3} \gtrsim 3 \,\mathrm{TeV} \,.$$
 (3.7.9)

¹⁶Recall that the mass-mixing term $(m_R)_{kj}$ is already present at the renormalizable level and gets just a small (maybe negligible) correction from the EFT description.

The other entries are usually ensured to be inside the bounds thanks to the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices.

To conclude this Chapter, let us observe that these results are not new in Pati-Salam-like models, for instance see [2, 10]. The issue is that such a strong hierarchy among the sterile fermion masses seems quite *unnatural*, or at least not really well justified. Therefore this explanation to the observed active-neutrino masses spoils the *naturalness* assumption that these models aim (and have the potential) to manifest.

4 Natural Model for Neutrinos

We saw that be best mechanism to explain the observed anarchic active-neutrino masses is provided by the ISS. However we need a very hierarchical structure in the Majorana mass-matrix of the NP sterile fermions. This somehow ruins the *naturalness* of the model we are considering. In this Chapter we are going to propose a solution to this issue which is new in the literature as far as we know. The main idea is to assume a suitable hierarchical structure in the mass-mixing terms between RH neutrinos and NP sterile fermions. In the first part we are going to study in detail this hypothesis in a model-independent way, then we provide an explicit realization in the framework of the models we are considering in this work.

4.1 Hierarchical Mass-Matrix

The main conclusion of the last Chapter was that, to explain the observed active-neutrino masses, we need a very hierarchical structure for the Majorana mass-matrix of the three generations of sterile fermions s_L^k . This is due to the fact that parametrically

$$m_{\nu}^{i} \sim \mu_{i} \frac{y_{i}^{2} v^{2}}{(m_{R}^{i})^{2}}.$$
 (4.1.1)

So, considering the eigenvalues of the matrices entering in the ISS realization, if $y_2/y_3 \sim 10^{-2}$ and $m_R^2 \sim m_R^3$, we need that $\mu_2/\mu_3 \sim 10^{-4}$. Nevertheless, if we assume a suitable hierarchical structure in m_R such that $m_R^2/m_R^3 \sim y_2/y_3$, maybe we are able to generate anarchic m_{ν}^i with anarchic μ_i .

In analogy with what we did in Section 3.3, recall that in an ISS scenario we have the following mass-matrix in the space $\{\nu_L^i, (\nu_R^j)^c, s_L^k\}$ (where i, j, k = 1, 2, 3)

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}Y^N & 0\\ \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}(Y^N)^T & 0 & m_R^T\\ 0 & m_R & \mu \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1.2)

where Y^N , m_R are 3×3 complex matrices and μ is a 3×3 symmetric complex matrix. Nevertheless, to simplify the calculations at least in the first attempt, let us put in a restricted framework where we have only two flavours. Hence i, j, k = 2, 3 and all the matrices are 2×2 . As we will see, this simplification will not spoil conceptually the main results and the extension to the 3-flavour case will be straightforward. As stated above, the idea is to assume a hierarchical structure in Y^N and m_R such that parametrically they go as follows

$$Y^N \sim \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & \varepsilon \\ \varepsilon^2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad m_R \sim m_R^3 \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & 1 \\ \varepsilon & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (4.1.3)

where ε is assumed to be a small parameter (typically $\varepsilon \sim y_2/y_3 \sim 10^{-2}$) and m_R^3 is the biggest eigenvalue of m_R . In particular we want that the mass-mixing terms between s_L^k and ν_R^2 are suppressed with respect to the ones between s_L^k and ν_R^3 .

The problems with this scenario comes out when we try to diagonalize M. In fact, in this framework it is not obvious anymore that the block-diagonalization approximation used previously works, so we should proceed with care. To further simplify the calculation we observe that we have the freedom to diagonalize Y^N with a singular-valued decomposition as shown in Section D.2 in the Appendix. In particular we have that there exist two unitary matrices U_L and U_R such that, under the unitary transformations

$$\nu_L^i \quad \to \quad (U_L)_{i\ell} \, \nu_L^\ell \,, \qquad \nu_R^j \quad \to \quad (U_R)_{j\ell} \, \nu_R^\ell \,, \tag{4.1.4}$$

the Yukawa matrix gets diagonalized as follows

$$Y^N \to U_L^{\dagger} Y^N U_R = \hat{Y}^N = \begin{pmatrix} y_2 & 0\\ 0 & y_3 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1.5)

where y_2 and y_3 are positive real numbers. Those unitary matrices are evaluated in Section C.1 in the Appendix in terms of Yukawa entries and explicitly we have that

$$U_L \approx \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \varepsilon_L \\ -\varepsilon_L^* & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad U_R \approx \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \varepsilon_R \\ -\varepsilon_R^* & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (4.1.6)

where $\varepsilon_L \sim \varepsilon$ and $\varepsilon_R \sim \varepsilon^2$ (which means that $U_R \approx \mathbb{I}$). Also we do not change the hierarchy $y_2/y_3 \sim \varepsilon$. Then, as shown in Section D.3 in the Appendix, since μ is symmetric there always exists a unitary matrix U_S such that, under the unitary transformation

$$s_L^k \to (U_S)_{k\ell} s_L^\ell,$$
 (4.1.7)

the Majorana mass-matrix gets diagonalized as follows

$$\mu \quad \rightarrow \quad U_S^{\dagger} \, \mu \, U_S^* = \hat{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_2 & 0\\ 0 & \mu_3 \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.1.8}$$

where μ_2 and μ_3 are positive real numbers.

Now we can check how m_R gets modified by those transformations. In particular we observe that

$$m_R \rightarrow U_S^{\dagger} m_R U_R$$
 (4.1.9)

and parametrically it goes as follows

$$U_S^{\dagger} m_R U_R \sim m_R^3 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & 1 \\ \varepsilon & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \varepsilon^2 \\ \varepsilon^2 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \sim m_R^3 \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & 1 \\ \varepsilon & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1.10)

so those transformations do not change its hierarchical structure¹⁷. After all those simplifications the mass-matrix reads as follows

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & y_2 v/\sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & y_3 v/\sqrt{2} & 0 & 0\\ y_2 v/\sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & m_R^{22} & m_R^{32}\\ 0 & y_3 v/\sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 & m_R^{23} & m_R^{33}\\ 0 & 0 & m_R^{22} & m_R^{23} & \mu_1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & m_R^{32} & m_R^{33} & 0 & \mu_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1.11)

where y_2, y_3, μ_2, μ_3 are real and positive. Also we have the hierarchies $m_R^{k_2} \ll m_R^{k_3}$ and $y_2 \ll y_3$.

Notice that this discussion can be trivially generalized to the 3-flavour case. In this framework the mass-matrix reads as follows

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{Y}^{N} & 0\\ \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{Y}^{N} & 0 & m_{R}^{T}\\ 0 & m_{R} & \hat{\mu} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1.12)

where

$$\hat{Y}^N = \operatorname{diag}(y_1, y_2, y_3), \qquad \hat{\mu} = \operatorname{diag}(\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3).$$
 (4.1.13)

Also are assumed the following hierarchies between the parameters

$$\underline{m_R^{k_1} \ll m_R^{k_2}} \ll m_R^{k_3}, \qquad y_1 \ll y_2 \ll y_3.$$
(4.1.14)

¹⁷In fact in the following we will be sloppy in stressing the difference between m_R and $U_S^{\dagger}m_R U_R$. We will use the same symbol m_R neglecting the fact that it has been rotated. Nevertheless this will not change the final results as we will see in the following.

4.2 Mass-Matrix Diagonalization

Once we have simplified the mass-matrix M, we have to diagonalize it. However, even in the 2-flavour case it remains very hard to do analytically. Nevertheless there is something we can observe from the single-flavour ISS scenario studied in Section C.4 in the Appendix: we see that when D and N are comparable, we have a non-trivial mixing between ν_L and s_L . Thus we could expect that $v \hat{Y}^N$ and m_R cannot be much comparable, otherwise we would violate the non-unitarity constraints on the PMNS matrix. In addition, this mixing can be evaluated in the limit where $\hat{\mu} \to 0$. Hence we can try to evaluate the eigen-subspace associated to the null eigenvalue of the matrix $M^{\dagger}M$ and try to see how large m_R must be compared to $v \hat{Y}^N$.

For the moment we work in the 2-flavour case to make the calculation easier. We want to find the null eigen-subspace of the matrix $M^{\dagger}M$. This is easy to compute and we find that it is generated by the following two vectors

$$v_1 = \left(\sqrt{2}m_R^{22}/y_2 v \quad \sqrt{2}m_R^{23}/y_3 v \quad 0 \quad 0 \quad -1 \quad 0\right)^T, \tag{4.2.1a}$$

$$v_2 = \left(\sqrt{2}m_R^{32}/y_2 v \quad \sqrt{2}m_R^{33}/y_3 v \quad 0 \quad 0 \quad 0 \quad -1\right)^T .$$
(4.2.1b)

Then, to find a basis, we have to orthonormalize them, but already at this stage it is clear that, if $m_R^{kj} \approx y_j v$, there is a comparable mixing between ν_L^i and s_L^k . In fact, if we go to the orthonormal basis $\{v_1, v_2\} \rightarrow \{w_1, w_2\}$, we have that the unitary matrix that diagonalizes M is given by

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} w_1 & w_2 & \dots \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\mu}) \tag{4.2.2}$$

and observe that we need to compute explicitly just the first and second columns since are the ones that enter in the PMNS matrix. The unitary rotation that brings ν_L^i into their mass-basis is given by

$$\overline{U}_{\nu} = U_L \mathcal{W} \tag{4.2.3}$$

where \mathcal{W} is the upper left 2×2 block of U and its entries are given by the first two components of w_1 and w_2 . Then, since U_L is unitary, the non-unitarity of the PMNS matrix is well approximated by

$$|\eta| \approx |\mathcal{W}^{\dagger}\mathcal{W}| \,. \tag{4.2.4}$$

The explicit form of this matrix is rather long and useless. The only important feature is that it depends only on the ratios m_R^{kj}/y_j with j = 2, 3. Thus, if we have that those two ratios are comparable, $|\eta|$ turns out to be an anarchic matrix whose entries parametrically go as follows

$$|\eta| \sim \frac{y_3^2 v^2}{(m_B^3)^2} \,. \tag{4.2.5}$$

Thus the upper bounds on $|\eta|$ (3.5.3) put a lower bound on m_R^3 which turns out to be

$$m_R^3 \gtrsim 10 \,\text{TeV}$$
. (4.2.6)

At this point we could try to block-diagonalize M perturbatively using the technique shown in Section D.4 in the Appendix. Keeping the same notation used in that Section, we need to require that the sub-matrix B is *small*. From that computation we see that at leading order

$$B \approx D^* (R^{-1})^{\dagger} = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{Y}^N (m_R^*)^{-1} \quad \mathcal{O}(\hat{\mu}) \right)$$
(4.2.7)

and parametrically

$$v \hat{Y}^N (m_R^*)^{-1} \sim \frac{v}{m_R^3} \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon^{-1} & \varepsilon^{-1}\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \sim \frac{v}{m_R^3} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.2.8)

Thus we have that B is an anarchic matrix and it is suppressed by the ratio v/m_R^3 . Therefore the assumption of having B small works and the block-diagonalization can be safely done perturbatively in powers of v/m_R^3 . In addition we find that numerically this block-diagonalization technique works with an error of less then 5% if $m_R^3 \approx 10$ TeV. This could be seen as an empirical validation of our claim, also considering that $v/m_R^3 \approx 2\%$. Therefore we can use the block-diagonalization method to get the analytic behaviour of the active-neutrino masses.

After block-diagonalizing M in (4.1.11) we find that the active-neutrino mass-matrix reads as follows

$$m_{\nu} \approx \frac{y_2^2 y_3^2 v^4}{2 \left(m_R^{23} m_R^{32} - m_R^{22} m_R^{33}\right)^2} \begin{pmatrix} \mu_2 \frac{(m_R^{33})^2}{y_3^2 v^2} + \mu_3 \frac{(m_R^{23})^2}{y_3^2 v^2} & -\mu_2 \frac{m_R^{32} m_R^{33}}{y_2 y_3 v^2} - \mu_3 \frac{m_R^{22} m_R^{23}}{y_2 y_3 v^2} \\ -\mu_2 \frac{m_R^{32} m_R^{33}}{y_2 y_3 v^2} - \mu_3 \frac{m_R^{22} m_R^{23}}{y_2 y_3 v^2} & \mu_2 \frac{(m_R^{32})^2}{y_2^2 v^2} + \mu_3 \frac{(m_R^{22})^2}{y_2^2 v^2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.2.9)

From m_{ν} it is very clear that to get anarchic active-neutrino masses while keeping $\hat{\mu}$ anarchic we need that

$$\frac{m_R^{k_2}}{y_2} \sim \frac{m_R^{k_3}}{y_3} \,. \tag{4.2.10}$$

The PMNS non-unitarity parameter $|\eta|$ is given by (3.5.10) and explicitly it reads as follows

$$|\eta| \approx \frac{y_2^2 y_3^2 v^4}{2 |m_R^{23} m_R^{32} - m_R^{22} m_R^{33}|^2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{|m_R^{33}|^2}{y_3^2 v^2} + \frac{|m_R^{23}|^2}{y_3^2 v^2} & -\frac{m_R^{32} (m_R^{33})^*}{y_2 y_3 v^2} - \frac{m_R^{22} (m_R^{23})^*}{y_2 y_3 v^2} \\ -\frac{(m_R^{32})^* m_R^{33}}{y_2 y_3 v^2} - \frac{(m_R^{22})^* m_R^{23}}{y_2 y_3 v^2} & -\frac{|m_R^{32}|^2}{y_2^2 v^2} + \frac{|m_R^{22}|^2}{y_2^2 v^2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.2.11)

and if the condition (4.2.10) holds, it is anarchic as well and to respect the unitarity bounds (3.5.3) we need that $m_R^3 \gtrsim 10$ TeV. Notice that this agrees with the results of the discussion made above.

These discussions and results regarding the 2-flavour case can be trivially extended to the 3-flavour case. The block-diagonalization approximation works under the same conditions. However this time m_{ν} is much more complicated and we do not report the explicit expression here, but we just recall its matrix form which reads as follows

$$m_{\nu} \approx \frac{v^2}{2} \left(\hat{Y}^N m_R^{-1} \right) \hat{\mu} \left(\hat{Y}^N m_R^{-1} \right)^T .$$
 (4.2.12)

What is important to mention is that it is anarchic if

$$\frac{m_R^{k_1}}{y_1} \sim \frac{m_R^{k_2}}{y_2} \sim \frac{m_R^{k_3}}{y_3} \,. \tag{4.2.13}$$

Under this condition we also have an anarchic structure of $|\eta|$ and the PMNS unitarity bounds are satisfied as long as $m_R^3 \gtrsim 10$ TeV.

4.3 Heavy Mass-Eigenstates

So far we have discussed only about the light states of the ISS mechanism. In this Section we study in detail the heavy states. As we discussed in the previous Section, we can block-diagonalize the mass-matrix M (4.1.12) by means of a unitary matrix W such that

$$W^T M W = \begin{pmatrix} m_\nu & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & M_h \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.1)

where m_{ν} and M_h are 3×3 and 6×6 matrices respectively (in the 3-flavour case). In good approximation we have that

$$W \approx \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{2}BB^{\dagger} & B\\ -B^{\dagger} & \mathbb{I} - \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.2)

where

$$B^{\dagger} \approx \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} m_R^{-1} \hat{\mu}(m_R^T)^{-1} \hat{Y}^N \\ (m_R^T)^{-1} \hat{Y}^N \end{pmatrix} = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{O} \\ (m_R^T)^{-1} \hat{Y}^N \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\mu}) \,. \tag{4.3.3}$$

Notice that, regarding the mixing matrix, all the $\mathcal{O}(\hat{\mu})$ corrections can be safely neglected since the first non-trivial corrections are of $\mathcal{O}((v/m_R^3)^3)$. Thus we find that explicitly

$$W \approx \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I} - \frac{v^2}{4} \hat{Y}^N \left(m_R^T m_R^* \right)^{-1} \hat{Y}^N & \mathbb{O} & \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{Y}^N (m_R^*)^{-1} \\ \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{I} & \mathbb{O} \\ -\frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} (m_R^T)^{-1} \hat{Y}^N & \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{I} - \frac{v^2}{4} (m_R^T)^{-1} (\hat{Y}^N)^2 (m_R^*)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.3.4)

The Heavy mass-matrix is given by (as shown in Section D.4 in the Appendix)

$$M_h \approx \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{O} & m_R^T \\ m_R & \mathbb{O} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.3.5}$$

Thus, as long as we neglect all the $\mathcal{O}(\hat{\mu})$ corrections, we have that the mass-Lagrangian of the heavy mass-eigenstates reads as follows (with k, j = 1, 2, 3)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\overline{s}_L^{\prime k} \, m_R^{kj} \, \nu_R^j + h.c. \tag{4.3.6}$$

and $s_L^{\prime k}$ is a linear combination of ν_L^i and s_L^k that comes out after a W transformation¹⁸.

Now we need to diagonalize this mass-matrix with a singular-valued decomposition to find the heavy mass-eigenstates. As shown in Section D.2 in the Appendix, there exist two unitary matrices V_S and V_R such that, under the unitary transformations

$$s_L^{\prime k} \rightarrow (V_S)_{k\ell} s_L^{\prime \ell}, \qquad \nu_R^j \rightarrow (V_R)_{j\ell} \nu_R^{\ell}, \qquad (4.3.7)$$

the mass-matrix gets diagonalized as follows

$$m_R \quad \rightarrow \quad V_S^{\dagger} m_R V_R = \hat{M} = \operatorname{diag}(M_1, M_2, M_3) \tag{4.3.8}$$

where M_1 , M_2 and M_3 are positive real numbers. The diagonalization has been explicitly done in Section C.6 in the Appendix finding that the masses are given by

$$M_3 = \sqrt{|m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2}, \qquad (4.3.9a)$$

$$M_{2} = M_{3}^{-1} \sqrt{|m_{R}^{13}m_{R}^{22} - m_{R}^{23}m_{R}^{12}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{13}m_{R}^{32} - m_{R}^{33}m_{R}^{12}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{23}m_{R}^{32} - m_{R}^{33}m_{R}^{22}|^{2}}, \qquad (4.3.9b)$$

$$M_{1} = (M_{2}M_{3})^{-1} \left| m_{R}^{11} m_{R}^{22} m_{R}^{33} - m_{R}^{11} m_{R}^{23} m_{R}^{32} + m_{R}^{12} m_{R}^{23} m_{R}^{31} - m_{R}^{12} m_{R}^{21} m_{R}^{32} + m_{R}^{13} m_{R}^{21} m_{R}^{32} - m_{R}^{13} m_{R}^{22} m_{R}^{31} \right|$$

$$(4.3.9c)$$

while the mixing matrices are given by up to corrections of $\mathcal{O}(m_R^2/m_R^3)$ (where m_R^2 is the second biggest eigenvalue of m_R)

$$V_{S} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{1}^{S} & v_{2}^{S} & v_{3}^{S} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad V_{R} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{1}^{R} & v_{2}^{R} & v_{3}^{R} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.10)

 $^{^{18}\}mathrm{The}$ explicit form of these linear combinations are provided in Section 5.1.

where v_j^S and v_j^R (where j = 1, 2, 3) are reported in (C.6.15) and (C.6.7) respectively. Also notice that we have $V_R \approx \mathbb{I}$, which means that there is little mixing among the RH neutrinos.

As a side comment, notice that, as showed in Section C.5 in the Appendix, the three mass-eigenstates correspond to three Dirac-type fermions. If one considers the $\mathcal{O}(\hat{\mu})$ contributions, each of the Dirac fermion splits into two Weyl fermions with Majorana masses. However, this goes well above the level of precision we are considering.

4.4 New Symmetry for the Sterile Fermions

In the first part of this Chapter we have shown that it is possible to generate an anarchic activeneutrino mass-matrix with an anarchic structure among the three generations of the sterile fermions s_L^k . The only requirement is that it must be satisfied the condition (4.2.13). However there is a problem with this condition in the framework of the models we are considering in this work. Namely, since ν_R^j (with j = 1, 2) and s_L^k are both sterile, the mass-mixing terms between them m_R^{kj} are not suppressed in any way with respect to m_R^{k3} . Not only, but it is also enhanced in principle. Nevertheless a possible solution can be to introduce a Symmetry which makes such terms not allowed anymore at the renormalizable level, so that they have to be generated as some EFT higher-dimensional operators. For this reason we assume that there exists a further Symmetry such that all the fields already introduced are singlets under it but the sterile fermions s_L^k . In principle there is no need to specify anything more about this Symmetry, it could be either continue or discrete, global or local. Just for the sake to be quantitative, we will assume for the rest of this work that this is a U(1)_F Symmetry under which the sterile fermions have Charge

$$s_L^k \sim 1 \in \mathrm{U}(1)_F$$
. (4.4.1)

Then we assume that there is a scalar field

$$\Phi_{k\ell} \sim -2 \in \mathrm{U}(1)_F \tag{4.4.2}$$

and it is a singlet under everything else. Also $k, \ell = 1, 2, 3$ and represent its flavour indices in the flavour space of the sterile fermions. We assume that it will eventually acquire a VEV at an arbitrary high energy scale generating the Majorana mass-matrix of s_L^k . Namely we have that

$$\langle \Phi \rangle = \mu \,. \tag{4.4.3}$$

Since μ is a very small mass scale, the slight breaking of this new Symmetry we have introduced is responsible for the Fermion Number violation (this is why we choose F as subscript of this new Symmetry Group). In this framework the mass-Lagrangian of the sterile fermions before the SSB of this new Symmetry reads as follows

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2} \Phi_{k\ell} (s_L^k)^T \mathcal{C} \, s_L^\ell + h.c. \tag{4.4.4}$$

The next step is to generate the mass-mixing terms between the sterile fermions and the RH neutrinos which recall that they read as follows (with k = 1, 2, 3 and only for the equation below j = 1, 2, 3)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\overline{s}_L^k \, m_R^{kj} \, \nu_R^j + h.c. \tag{4.4.5}$$

In particular we need to generate a non-suppressed (hence renormalizable) operator that couples s_L^k with ν_R^3 . Because of this new Symmetry, we must add to the model a new scalar field with suitable charges under the whole Symmetry Group. In addition this new field must eventually acquire a suitable VEV to give a mass-mixing term only with ν_R^3 . The only possibility is provided by the following scalar field

$$\Delta \sim (\mathbf{4}, \mathbf{2}, -1) \in \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_F$$
(4.4.6)

with the following VEV

$$\langle \Delta_{aj} \rangle = v_F \, \delta_{a4} \delta_{j1} \tag{4.4.7}$$

where a = 1, ..., 4 and i = 1, 2 are the SU(4)^[3] and SU(2)^[3]_R indices respectively. Notice that this VEV defines the mass scale governing the ISS realization discussed above. Namely we have that m_R^3 (which we recall it is the biggest eigenvalue of m_R) is identified with v_F (apart from $\mathcal{O}(1)$ numbers). As a side comment, the addition of a new scalar field charged under the UV Gauge Group (1.1.3) and that acquires a VEV implies a modification in the final mass-spectrum of the broken Gauge bosons. This modification has been computed in Section C.8 in the Appendix.

Now the mass-mixing terms m_R^{kj} with j = 1, 2 cannot be anymore generate through some renormalizable operators. Thus they must be generated through some EFT operators and hence are suppressed with respect to m_R^{k3} . In addition we must impose that these suppression factors are such that condition (4.2.13) holds. In the following Section we are going to discuss this in detail.

4.5 Mass-Mixing Terms as EFT

In this Section we write down all the possible mass-mixing terms that are allowed in the framework of the models we are considering. Namely we want to generate the mass-terms (where only for the equation below j = 1, 2, 3)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\overline{s}_L^k(m_R)_{kj} \nu_R^j + h.c. \tag{4.5.1}$$

Keep in mind that, in contrast to Section 3.6, this time we have a new Symmetry that changes the operators allowed.

For Model I we can write down the following EFT operators

$$\mathcal{L}_{sR} \sim c_{k3} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^\dagger \chi_R^3 + \frac{c_{kj}}{\Lambda^2} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^\dagger \Omega_1^\dagger \Sigma_R^c \nu_R^j \,. \tag{4.5.2}$$

Thus we have that

$$m_R^{k3} \sim v_F, \qquad m_R^{kj} \sim \frac{\omega_1 v_R}{\Lambda^2} v_F.$$
 (4.5.3)

We can make a parametric comparison between these terms and the Yukawa eigenvalues (which are given by (2.1.7) using the results of Section 2.5) focusing on the suppression behaviours. We have that parametrically

$$\frac{y_2}{y_3} \sim \frac{v_R}{\Lambda}, \qquad \frac{m_R^2}{m_R^3} \sim \frac{\omega_1 v_R}{\Lambda^2}.$$

$$(4.5.4)$$

Unfortunately they do not show the same suppression factors. Nevertheless, if $\omega_1 \sim \Lambda$, they could be made comparable as we would like. Also this requirement does not spoil the *naturalness* of the Model¹⁹.

For Model II we can write the following EFT operators

$$\mathcal{L}_{sR} \sim c_{k3} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^{\dagger} \chi_R^3 + \frac{c_{kj}}{\Lambda} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^{\dagger} \Delta_3^c \nu_R^j \,. \tag{4.5.5}$$

Thus we have that

$$m_R^{k3} \sim v_F, \qquad m_R^{kj} \sim \frac{w}{\Lambda} v_F.$$
 (4.5.6)

As before, we can compare these terms and the Yukawa eigenvalues (which are given by (2.1.7) using the results of Section 2.6). We have that parametrically

$$\frac{y_2}{y_3} \sim \frac{\omega_1 w}{\Lambda^2}, \qquad \frac{m_R^2}{m_R^3} \sim \frac{w}{\Lambda}.$$
 (4.5.7)

¹⁹Actually one should explain why these two scales are comparable, but this could be just seen as *accidental*.

Again, we cannot reproduce exactly the same parametric suppression unless we require that $\omega_1 \sim \Lambda$. However notice that for Model I m_R^2/m_R^3 is too suppressed with respect to y_2/y_3 , instead for Model II it is not as much suppressed as we would like it to be.

To summarize, we have seen that (in the 2-flavour scenario) condition (4.2.13) can be achieved if we require that $\omega_1 \sim \Lambda$ in both the models. Nevertheless we have to be careful since this requirement could spoil the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices. In fact we saw that we need (at least) two VLFs to UV-complete the Yukawa matrices and they can have in principle different masses. Hence there are actually two energy scales Λ and Λ' which, for instance, could differ by one order of magnitude. Thus we must be careful in evaluating the energy scales that suppress the EFT operators. The details of the UV origin will be discussed in the following Section, but here we anticipate just some results to better refine the discussion made above.

For Model I we could use the VLF η (2.3.6) with the following UV Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} \supset c_{s\eta} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^{\dagger} \eta + c_{\eta\rho}^1 \overline{\eta} \Omega_1^{\dagger} \rho_1 - \overline{c}_{\rho R}^1 \overline{\rho}_1 \Sigma_R^c \nu_R^j + h.c.$$
(4.5.8)

to generate a mass-mixing term with the following suppression factor

$$\frac{m_R^{kj}}{v_F} \sim \frac{\omega_1 v_R}{M_n M_\rho}.$$
(4.5.9)

This has to be compared with the following Yukawa parameters which have been derived in Section 2.5

$$Y_{ij}^N \sim \frac{v_R}{M_{\rho}}, \qquad Y_{i3}^N \sim \frac{\omega_1}{M_{\rho}}, \qquad Y_{3i}^N \sim \frac{\omega_1 v_R}{M_{\rho} M_{\eta}}.$$
 (4.5.10)

Thus to satisfy condition (4.2.13) we need

$$\frac{v_R}{M_{\rho}} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-2}), \qquad \frac{\omega_1}{M_{\rho}} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-1}), \qquad \frac{\omega_1}{M_{\eta}} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$$

$$(4.5.11)$$

and this is something that actually can be achieved. In this way we can get a Yukawa matrix where $Y_{ij}^N \sim Y_{3i}^N \lesssim Y_{i3}^N$ without requiring any fine tuning, but just masses of different orders of magnitude for the VLFs η and ρ .

For Model II we could use the VLF η' (2.4.2) with the following UV Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} \supset c_{s\eta} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^{\dagger} \eta_1' - \overline{c}_{\eta\Delta}^1 \overline{\eta}_1' \Delta_3^c \nu_R^j + h.c.$$
(4.5.12)

to generate a mass-mixing term with the following suppression factor

$$\frac{m_R^{kj}}{v_F} \sim \frac{w}{M_{\eta'}}$$
. (4.5.13)

This has to be compared to the following Yukawa parameters which have been derived in Section 2.6

$$Y_{ij}^N \sim \frac{\omega_1 w}{M_\rho M_{\eta'}}, \qquad Y_{i3}^N \sim \frac{\omega_1}{M_\rho}.$$
 (4.5.14)

Thus to satisfy condition (4.2.13) we need

$$\frac{\omega_1}{M_{\rho}} \sim \mathcal{O}(1) \,. \tag{4.5.15}$$

However this implies that $Y_{i3}^N \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$. Thus this Model is incompatible with all the conditions we would like to impose²⁰. Therefore in the following we are going to consider only Model I.

²⁰In principle we could think that the coupling $\bar{c}^1_{\eta\Delta}$ is suppressed in a suitable way to explain condition (4.2.13). However this would spoil the *naturalness* of the model.

Actually there could be another possibility to satisfy condition (4.2.13). This requires the addition of a further scalar field

$$\Sigma \sim (\mathbf{2}, -1/2, -1) \in \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)^{[12]} \times \mathrm{U}(1)_F$$
(4.5.16)

that acquires a VEV such that

$$\langle \Sigma \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} v'_F \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} . \tag{4.5.17}$$

In this way we have that the mass-mixing terms can be generated by the following EFT operators in Model I

$$\mathcal{L}_{sR} \sim c_{k3} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^\dagger \chi_R^3 + \frac{c_{kj}}{\Lambda} \overline{s}_L^k \Sigma^\dagger \Sigma_R^c \nu_R^j \,. \tag{4.5.18}$$

This implies that

$$m_R^{k3} \sim v_F, \qquad m_R^{kj} \sim \frac{v_R}{\Lambda} v'_F$$

$$(4.5.19)$$

which means that $m_R^2/m_R^3 \sim y_2/y_3$ if $v_F \sim v'_F$. In fact this could be achieved, but it assumes a fine tuning between the two VEVs to be both at the TeV scale. Thus we will not consider this hypothesis any further. Also notice that this possibility does not work in Model II since the ratio m_R^2/m_R^3 is less suppressed with respect to y_2/y_3 , but we cannot reduce the suppression of y_2/y_3 .

4.6 UV Completion

As we have seen in the last Section, there is room to have a theory that reproduces *naturally* condition (4.2.13) while keeping the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices. In addition, Model I reveals to be more appealing than Model II. In this Section we provide a possible UV origin to the mass-mixing terms generated by an EFT description in the framework of Model I.

It is possible to provide a UV origin to the EFT operators generating m_R^{kj} without the addition of any new further VLF. In particular we can use the VLF η (2.3.6) and write down the following terms in the UV Lagrangian (where k = 1, 2, 3)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\eta} \supset c_{s\eta} \overline{s}_L^k \Delta^{\dagger} \eta + h.c. \tag{4.6.1}$$

This adds the following EFT operators to (2.5.2) (where k = 1, 2, 3 and j = 1, 2)

$$-\mathcal{L}_{Y}^{\mathrm{IR}} \supset \frac{1}{M_{\eta}} c_{s\eta} \overline{s}_{L}^{k} \Delta^{\dagger} \sigma_{\eta} J_{\eta} + \frac{1}{M_{\rho} M_{\eta}} c_{s\eta} \overline{s}_{L}^{k} \Delta^{\dagger} \sigma_{\eta} \left(c_{\eta\rho}^{3} \sigma_{\rho}^{3} \Omega_{3}^{\dagger} J_{\rho}^{3} + c_{\eta\rho}^{1} \sigma_{\rho}^{1} \Omega_{1}^{\dagger} J_{\rho}^{1} \right) + h.c.$$

$$(4.6.2)$$

When all the fields acquire their VEVs, we find that (with k = 1, 2, 3 and only for this equation j = 1, 2, 3)

$$-\mathcal{L}_Y^{\mathrm{IR}} \supset \overline{s}_L^k \, m_R^{kj} \nu_R^j + h.c. \tag{4.6.3}$$

where

$$\frac{m_R^{k3}}{v_F} = c_{k3} + c_{s\eta} \frac{m}{M_\eta} \left(1 - c_\eta \frac{v_3}{2M_\eta} \right)^{-1} + \frac{v_3}{2M_\eta} c_{s\eta} c_{\eta\Sigma} \left(1 - c_\eta \frac{v_3}{2M_\eta} \right)^{-1} + \frac{\omega_1^2}{M_\rho M_\eta} c_{s\eta} c_{\eta\rho}^1 c_{\rho\Omega}^1 \left(1 - c_\eta \frac{v_3}{2M_\eta} \right)^{-1} \left(1 - c_\rho^1 \frac{v_3}{2M_\rho} \right)^{-1} ,$$

$$\frac{m_R^{kj}}{v_F} = \frac{v_R \omega_1}{M_\rho M_\eta} c_{s\eta} c_{\rho\Omega}^1 \overline{c}_{\rho R}^1 \left(1 - c_\eta \frac{v_3}{2M_\eta} \right)^{-1} \left(1 - c_\rho^1 \frac{v_3}{2M_\rho} \right)^{-1} .$$
(4.6.4a)
$$\frac{(4.6.4b)}{(4.6.4b)} = \frac{(4.6.4b)}{(4.6.4b)} = \frac{(4.$$

Not surprisingly, we can observe from (2.5.5) that, if $c_{k3}/c_{s\eta} \approx c_{33}/c_{\eta\mathcal{H}}$, we have that

$$\frac{m_R^{kj}}{m_R^{k3}} \approx \frac{Y_{3j}^N}{Y_{33}^N} \,. \tag{4.6.5}$$

This is almost what we would like to reproduce. In fact if we assume values for the mass scales in the region of the UV parameter space space identified in (4.5.11), we have that $Y_{ij}^N \approx Y_{3j}^N$ and hence we can reproduce condition (4.2.13) without any fine tuning while keeping $\mathcal{O}(1)$ couplings. Thus we can explain *naturally* the structure of Yukawa matrices and the observed active-neutrino masses.

As last remark, observe that conditions (4.2.13) and (2.1.3) together imply the following constraints among UV couplings

$$c_{33}/c_{\eta\mathcal{H}} \approx c_{\rho\Omega}^3/(c_{\eta\rho}^3)^* \approx c_{k3}/c_{s\eta}$$
. (4.6.6)

This is not surprising if we recall the observation made in Section 2.8. In fact this constraint follows directly if one assumes that η and χ_R^3 (which share the same quantum numbers) are coupled with very similar couplings to the rest of the particle content in the UV theory.

4.7 Final Results

At this point we can argue that the model is complete. We have been able to generate the observed hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices and the observed active-neutrino masses with a UV theory with $\mathcal{O}(1)$ couplings among its UV particle content. Furthermore, the only source of fine tuning is required to explain the observed mass splitting between the top and bottom masses, but it is just an $\mathcal{O}(10)$ cancellation among the UV parameters as shown in (2.8.3). In this Section we provide a possible choice for the values of the UV parameters and the corresponding numerical values of the Yukawa matrices and active-neutrino masses (in the 2-flavour case). We also declare since the beginning that such values are not the precised ones in agreement with the current measurements. Our purpose is just to show that this model is able to reproduce what we observe, not to provide the exact values predicted by the theory. We recall that the analytic expressions of the relevant quantities can be found in the following Sections: vector-boson masses in Section 1.9, Yukawa matrices in Section 2.5, activeand heavy-neutrino matrices in Sections 4.2 and 4.3.

We assume the following values for the UV couplings, masses of VLFs and VEVs of scalar fields

$$c_{33} \approx 0.56, \quad c_{\eta \mathcal{H}} \approx 1.4, \quad c_{\rho \mathcal{H}} \approx 0.7, \quad c_{\eta \Sigma} \approx 0.36, \quad c_{s\eta} \approx 2.5, \quad c_{k3} \approx 1.0,$$
(4.7.1a)

$$c_{\eta} \approx 0.1$$
, $c_{\rho} \approx 0.5$, $c_{\eta\rho} \approx 0.5$, $c_{\rho\Omega} \approx 0.2$, $c_{\rho R} \approx 0.1$,

$$M_{\eta} \approx 5 \text{ TeV}, \qquad M_{\rho} \approx 30 \text{ TeV}, \qquad m \approx 0.6 \text{ TeV}, \qquad (4.7.1b)$$

$$\omega_1 \approx 2.0 \text{ TeV}, \quad \omega_3 \approx 4.0 \text{ TeV}, \quad v_3 \approx 15 \text{ TeV}, \quad v_R \approx 1 \text{ TeV}, \quad v_F \approx 10 \text{ TeV}.$$
 (4.7.1c)

We find the following numerical values for SM couplings, vector-boson masses and Yukawa matrices

$$g_Y \approx 0.37, \qquad g_s \approx 1.00,$$
 (4.7.2a)

$$m_{G'} \approx 9.2 \,\text{TeV}, \quad m_U \approx 15.5 \,\text{TeV}, \quad m_{W_R} \approx 6.6 \,\text{TeV}, \quad m_{Z'} \approx 18.3 \,\text{TeV}, \quad m_{Z''} \approx 2.5 \,\text{TeV}, \quad (4.7.2 \text{b})$$

$$Y^{U} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0.0019 & 0.0111 \\ 0.0007 & 1.1788 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Y^{D} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0.0015 & 0.0016 \\ 0.0004 & 0.0426 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$Y^{N} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0.0019 & 0.0222 \\ 0.0004 & 1.1682 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad Y^{E} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0.0015 & 0.0005 \\ 0.0002 & 0.0365 \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(4.7.2c)$$

In particular, using (2.1.7) one can see that we can reproduce the observed values of the Yukawa couplings (2.1.2). In addition, there are clear top-bottom and bottom-tau mass splittings and CKM entry $|V_{cb}| \approx 0.014$. Therefore all the observational constraints are satisfied upon a suitable choice of the UV parameter values. Instead the Yukawa couplings of the second generations are very general since we expect that the structure that defines their values involves $\mathcal{O}(1)$ contributions from some UV fields that break explicitly the universality among the first and second generations.

Let us make some comments on these results. The vector-boson masses are all of the order of few TeV, allowing to a possible detection in the near future. The heaviest ones are the leptoquarks and one of the neutral Z-type boson since their masses depend on the VEV of Δ . Also be aware that those

results are quite sensible to the choices of the numerical values of the UV couplings. Furthermore it is important to stress that in this numerical analysis we assume the same values for some UV couplings that in principle could differ by some $\mathcal{O}(1)$ factors, helping to reproduce better the desired Yukawa matrices. To be precised, we are referring to the expected similarities between the couplings shown in (2.3.3) and (2.3.9). Finally, it is worth to mention that, with such UV parameters, the mixing matrix between heavy VLFs and SM fermions F, defined in (2.7.9), is sufficiently little, namely $F \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$. This is important since it is related to non-unitarity of the CKM matrix which is given by $FF^{\dagger} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-4})$ and it is below the constraints we have from the observations. This was expected, but important to check.

Regarding the neutral leptons, we assume a Majorana mass-matrix for the sterile fermions μ with eigenvalues

$$\mu_3 \approx 0.5 \,\text{eV}, \qquad \mu_2 \approx 0.5 \,\text{eV}.$$
(4.7.3)

We find the following active-neutrino mass-matrix and PMNS non-unitarity parameter

$$m_{\nu} \approx 10^{-2} \,\mathrm{eV} \begin{pmatrix} 9.27 & -1.40 \\ -1.40 & 4.01 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad |\eta| \approx 10^{-4} \begin{pmatrix} 1.85 & 0.27 \\ 0.27 & 0.80 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.7.4)

In particular m_{ν} is anarchic and $|\eta|$ is within the experimental constraints (3.5.3). The active-neutrino masses are therefore anarchic and of $\mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$ eV. For our specific choice of UV parameters we find

$$m_{\nu}^3 \approx 9.62 \cdot 10^{-2} \,\mathrm{eV}\,, \qquad m_{\nu}^2 \approx 3.66 \cdot 10^{-2} \,\mathrm{eV}\,.$$
 (4.7.5)

The precised values of the masses of the three Dirac-type heavy neutrinos are not important since there is no constraint to impose on them. We just state that we expect them to be of the following order

$$M_3 \sim y_t v_F$$
, $M_2 \sim y_c v_F$, $M_1 \sim y_u v_F$. (4.7.6)

In particular they are hierarchical with ratios similar to the ones among the up-type quarks since the neutral lepton Yukawa matrix is similar to the one of the up-type quarks. With the chosen value of v_F we expect the following masses

$$M_3 \sim 10 \text{ TeV}, \qquad M_2 \sim 50 \text{ GeV}, \qquad M_1 \sim 100 \text{ MeV}.$$
 (4.7.7)

Nevertheless we can safely change those numbers by factors of even $\mathcal{O}(10)$ by assuming some splittings between Y^N and Y^U , especially for the lightest mass-eigenstate which is the most constrained one by experimental bounds, as we will see in the next Chapter.

As final remark we want to make a comment about how *natural* is to assume such (different) energy scales among the VLFs and scalar fields' VEVs. In particular we would not like to push v_F too high since Δ breaks the SU(4)^[3] Gauge Group. Instead v_3 can be pushed very high since we like that SU(2)^[3]_R breaks at a relative higher scale. Moreover having a mass-mixing term m between η and χ^3_R not very high could be sensible, but actually it turns out that even larger values do not spoil the results. Instead could seem *unnatural* having $M_{\eta}/M_{\rho} \sim 10$. Nevertheless η is charged only under the third-generation Gauge Group, while ρ is charged under SU(3)^[12]. Thus it seems sensible if we assume that the first- and second-generation non-universality happens at higher energy scales. Therefore we believe that such ranges for the energy scales in the theory are *natural*.

5 Phenomenology of Exotic Neutrinos

In this Chapter we are going to study in detail some phenomenological implications of the model we have built in this work. In particular the phenomenology associated to the NP massive vector bosons have been already studied in the recent literature. Therefore we are going to focus on the Dirac-type neutral fermions that are predicted by the model, which we call *exotic neutrinos*. They represent the peculiar new feature introduced in this work. As we are going to discuss, the experimental bounds on LFV observables will put some constraints on the masses and couplings of those NP fermions, but they will not spoil the *naturalness* of the model. Instead they provide some NP effects beyond the SM that could hopefully be detected in the near future²¹.

5.1 Neutrino Mass-Basis

The model predicts the existence of three generations of sterile Dirac-type fermions n^i (where i = 1, 2, 3). In this Section we make explicit the unitary rotation that enable us to pass from flavour-to mass-basis in the neutrino sector to find the couplings between n^i and SM fields.

In Chapter 4, to diagonalize the neutrino mass-matrix M (4.1.2) in the space $\{\nu_L^i, (\nu_R^j)^c, s_L^k\}$ (where i, j, k = 1, 2, 3), we exploited several rotations to find the mass-eigenstates of the theory. Also, to simplify the notation, we define

$$N_L \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \nu_L & \nu_R^c & s_L \end{pmatrix}^T \tag{5.1.1}$$

where ν_L , ν_R^c and s_L are 3-dimensional vectors. At first we diagonalized Y^N and μ . This was something not really necessary, but rather a way to simplify all the further calculations. In fact the results can be written (and we are going to do it) in terms of the *original* (hence non-diagonalized) matrices. Then we block-diagonalized M using a unitary matrix W as shown in (4.3.1). This means that²²

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L' \begin{pmatrix} U_L^{\dagger} m_{\nu} U_L^* & \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{O} & U_R^T m_R^T U_S^* \\ \mathbb{O} & U_S^{\dagger} m_R U_R & \mathbb{O} \end{pmatrix} N_L'^c + h.c.$$
(5.1.2)

where

$$N'_{L} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \nu'_{L} \\ \nu'_{R} \\ s'_{L} \end{pmatrix} = W^{T} \begin{pmatrix} U_{L}^{\dagger} \nu_{L} \\ U_{R}^{T} \nu_{R}^{c} \\ U_{S}^{\dagger} s_{L} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.1.3)

and the active-neutrino mass-matrix m_{ν} reads

$$m_{\nu} = \frac{v^2}{2} \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right) \mu \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right)^T \,. \tag{5.1.4}$$

Then, we diagonalized m_{ν} and the heavy-neutrino mass-matrix m_R as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{\nu}_{L}^{\prime}U_{L}^{\dagger}m_{\nu}U_{L}^{*}\nu_{L}^{\prime c} + \overline{s}_{L}^{\prime}U_{S}^{\dagger}m_{R}U_{R}\nu_{R}^{\prime} + h.c. = \frac{1}{2}\overline{\nu}_{L}^{\prime}U_{L}^{\dagger}V_{L}\hat{m}_{\nu}V_{L}^{T}U_{L}^{*}\nu_{L}^{\prime c} + \overline{s}_{L}^{\prime}U_{S}^{\dagger}V_{S}\hat{M}V_{R}^{\dagger}U_{R}\nu_{R}^{\prime} + h.c.$$
(5.1.5)

where

$$\hat{m}_{\nu} = \text{diag}\left(m_{\nu}^{1}, m_{\nu}^{2}, m_{\nu}^{3}\right), \qquad \hat{M} = \text{diag}\left(M_{1}, M_{2}, M_{3}\right)$$
(5.1.6)

are the diagonal active- and heavy-neutrino mass-matrices respectively, while M_i , V_S and V_R are explicitly derived²³ in (4.3.9) and (4.3.10).

 $^{^{21}}$ For the notation of this Chapter we refer to Appendix F. Notice that this is slightly different from the one used in Chapter 1.

²²Notice that we do not have m_{ν} and m_R , but rather $U_L^{\dagger}m_{\nu}U_L^*$ and $U_S^{\dagger}m_R U_R$ because we have to take into account the rotation that we did at the beginning. In fact this time we are writing all the results in terms of the *original* matrices.

²³Be careful that those results where derived considering purely m_R and not $U_S^{\dagger}m_R V_R$. However parametrically it does not change anything and those results can be taken without any change.

By taking into account all these transformations and using the explicit form of W (4.3.4), we find that the neutrino states rotate as follows²⁴

$$\nu_L \rightarrow \mathcal{U}\,\nu_L + \mathcal{V}\,s_L$$
 (5.1.7a)

$$s_L \rightarrow -\mathcal{V}'\nu_L + \mathcal{U}'s_L$$
 (5.1.7b)

$$\nu_R \rightarrow V_R \nu_R$$
(5.1.7c)

where

$$\mathcal{U} = \left[\mathbb{I} - \frac{v^2}{4} \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right) \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right)^{\dagger} \right] V_L, \qquad \mathcal{V} = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right) V_S, \qquad (5.1.8a)$$

$$\mathcal{U}' = \left[\mathbb{I} - \frac{v^2}{4} \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right)^\dagger \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right) \right] V_S , \qquad \mathcal{V}' = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \left(Y^N m_R^{-1} \right)^\dagger V_L . \tag{5.1.8b}$$

In this equation we have written all the matrices in their *original* form (hence the ones generated directly from the EFT operators and not diagonalized). Notice that, as expected, the dependence on the matrices that diagonalized Y^N and μ (which are U_L , U_R and U_S) completely disappeared. Thanks to the negligible mixing with ν_R , ν_L and s_L mix through an almost unitary matrix since

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{U} & \mathcal{V} \\ -\mathcal{V}' & \mathcal{U}' \end{pmatrix}^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{U} & \mathcal{V} \\ -\mathcal{V}' & \mathcal{U}' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{I} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v^4}{v_F^4} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.1.9)

In fact this is not surprising since it is the non-trivial part of W, modulo a change of phase.

Finally recall that actually s_L and ν_R are just the chiral components of a Dirac-type sterile fermion

$$n \equiv s_L + \nu_R \,. \tag{5.1.10}$$

Consistently to our notation, this is a 3-dimensional vector that represents all the three generations of sterile Dirac-type fermions which are our NP exotic neutrinos. Recall also that they have three hierarchical masses M_i (where i = 1, 2, 3).

5.2 Interactions of the Exotic Neutrinos

In this Section we study how the rotation of neutrino states from flavour- to mass-basis affects the SM Lagrangian and, in turn, the interactions between the exotic neutrinos n and SM particles.

In the unbroken EW phase neutrinos appear in the following terms of the SM Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} \supset \overline{L}_L i \not\!\!\!D L_L + \overline{\nu}_R i \not\!\!\!D \nu_R + \overline{s}_L i \not\!\!\!D s_L - \left(\overline{L}_L H Y^E e_R + \overline{L}_L H^c Y^N \nu_R + \overline{s}_L m_R \nu_R + h.c.\right)$$
(5.2.1)

where the covariant derivative reads

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - igT^i W^i_{\mu} - ig'Y B_{\mu}. \qquad (5.2.2)$$

In the broken EW phase, instead, they are given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} \supset \overline{N}_L i \partial \!\!\!/ N_L - \left(\frac{1}{2} \overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c.\right) + \frac{g}{2c_W} \overline{\nu}_L \not\!\!/ \nu_L + \left(\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{e}_L \not\!\!/ V^- \nu_L + h.c.\right) + \left(\overline{e}_L Y^N \nu_R \phi^- - \overline{\nu}_L Y^E e_R \phi^+ - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{\nu}_L Y^N \nu_R h + \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{\nu}_L Y^N \nu_R \phi^0 + h.c.\right).$$
(5.2.3)

²⁴Notice that the matrix that rotates ν_R is almost diagonal.

When we go to the mass-basis, we find that they read

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} \supset \overline{\nu}_L i \partial \!\!\!/ \nu_L - \left(\frac{1}{2} \overline{\nu}_L \hat{m}_\nu \nu_L^c + h.c.\right) + \overline{n} \left(i \partial \!\!\!/ - \hat{M}\right) n \\ + \left(\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{e}_L W^- U \nu_L + \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \overline{e}_L W^- V n_L + h.c.\right) \\ + \frac{g}{2c_W} \overline{\nu}_L Z \left(U^{\dagger}U\right) \nu_L + \frac{g}{2c_W} \overline{n}_L Z \left(V^{\dagger}V\right) n_L + \left(\frac{g}{2c_W} \overline{\nu}_L Z \left(U^{\dagger}V\right) n_L + h.c.\right) \\ + \left[\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \phi^- \left(\overline{e}_L V \frac{\hat{M}}{M_W} n_R - \overline{e}_R \frac{\hat{m}_e}{M_W} V n_L\right) - \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \phi^- \overline{e}_R \frac{\hat{m}_e}{M_W} U \nu_L + h.c.\right] \\ - \left[\frac{g}{2} \left(\overline{\nu}_L (U^{\dagger}V) \frac{\hat{M}}{M_W} n_R + \overline{n}_L (V^{\dagger}V) \frac{\hat{M}}{M_W} n_R\right) (h - i\phi^0) + h.c.\right]$$
(5.2.4)

where $n = s_L + \nu_R$ and we have defined

$$U_{\alpha i} \equiv \left(L_E^{\dagger} \mathcal{U} \right)_{\alpha i}, \qquad V_{\alpha i} \equiv \left(L_E^{\dagger} \mathcal{V} \right)_{\alpha i}. \tag{5.2.5}$$

 L_e is the unitary matrix that diagonalizes the charged lepton Yukawa matrix Y^E such that

$$\frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} L_E^{\dagger} Y^E R_E = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \hat{Y}^E \equiv \hat{m}_e = \text{diag}(m_e, m_\mu, m_\tau) \,. \tag{5.2.6}$$

In the mixing matrices U and V we have labelled with Greek and Latin indices $\alpha = e, \mu, \tau$ (or $\alpha = 1, 2, 3$) and i = 1, 2, 3 the charged- and neutral-lepton components respectively, and we will continue to use this notation for the rest of this Chapter²⁵. Neutral Current (NC) and Charged Current (CC) Weak Interactions of the SM are modified by NP interactions with exotic neutrinos and they are suppressed by a factor of $\mathcal{O}(v/v_F)$. In addition, there are interesting interactions between the Higgs field and the neutrino states.

The rest of this Chapter is devoted to the analysis of the phenomenological implications of the above NP interactions. In particular, the first thing to consider is the lifetime of these new exotic neutrinos n to see whether they are long-lived or not. To do so, we need to compute their decay rates. In addition we are going to divide them into two categories. If $M_n > M_Z$, they are called *heavy*, otherwise they are called *light*. This classification is important since, as we are going to discuss in the following, their most relevant decay modes will be completely different. From (4.7.7), we can argue that the lightest and heaviest states are expected to be respectively light and heavy, while the one in the middle could be both.

5.3 Lifetime of Heavy Exotic Neutrinos

In this Section we want to compute the lifetimes of the exotic neutrinos with masses $M_n > M_h, M_Z, M_W$. In this framework the dominating processes accounting for their decay rates are $n \to h\nu$, $n \to Z\nu$ and $n \to W\ell$.

If we neglect the lepton masses, the decay rates of n^3 and (if kinematically allowed) n^2 read

$$\Gamma\left(n^{i} \to W \ell^{\alpha}\right) = \frac{G_{F} |V_{\alpha i}|^{2} M_{i}^{3}}{8\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_{W}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(1 + 2\frac{M_{W}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right), \qquad (5.3.1a)$$

$$\Gamma\left(n^{i} \to Z \,\nu^{j}\right) = \frac{G_{F} |(U^{\dagger}V)_{ji}|^{2} M_{i}^{3}}{16\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_{Z}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(1 + 2\frac{M_{Z}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right), \qquad (5.3.1b)$$

$$\Gamma\left(n^{i} \to h \nu^{j}\right) = \frac{G_{F}|(U^{\dagger}V)_{ji}|^{2}M_{i}^{3}}{16\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_{h}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right)^{2}$$
(5.3.1c)

²⁵Notice that the CKM matrix is indicated with V as well. Thus, to not confuse it with the mixing matrix between charged leptons and exotic neutrinos, in the following we are going to indicate the first as $V_{qq'}$ where q = u, c, t and q' = d, s, b.

where i = 2, 3 and their explicit expressions have been computed in Section B.1 in the Appendix. Thus, if we sum over $j, \alpha = 1, 2, 3$ and use the fact that $UU^{\dagger} \approx \mathbb{I}$, we get that the total decay width reads²⁶

$$\Gamma_{n^{i}} \approx \frac{G_F M_i^3}{4\pi\sqrt{2}} (V^{\dagger}V)_{ii} \,. \tag{5.3.2}$$

This result is worth to be compared with the decay rate of the top quark since it is mediated by a very similar decay channel. In particular, as evaluated in Section B.1 in the Appendix, the top decay width reads as follows

$$\Gamma_t = \frac{G_F |V_{tb}|^2 m_t^3}{8\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_W^2}{m_t^2}\right)^2 \left(1 + 2\frac{M_W^2}{m_t^2}\right) \,. \tag{5.3.3}$$

By using the parametric behaviour of the exotic neutrino masses (4.7.6) together with the fact that $V_{\alpha j} \sim v/v_F$, $|V_{tb}| \approx 1$ and $m_t \sim v$, we find that parametrically

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^2}}{\Gamma_t} \sim \frac{v_F}{v} \left(\frac{m_c}{m_t}\right)^3 \sim 10^{-3}, \qquad \frac{\Gamma_{n^3}}{\Gamma_t} \sim \frac{v_F}{v} \sim 10^2.$$
(5.3.4)

Therefore, as expected, n^2 and n^3 are very short-lived particles. In such a case there is an important check to make to ensure that perturbative unitarity is not violated. Namely, as shown in [18, 13], we need to satisfy the following constraint

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^i}}{M_i} < \frac{1}{2} \,. \tag{5.3.5}$$

After recalling that $\sqrt{2}G_F = v^{-2}$, for n^2 we find that

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^2}}{M_2} \sim \left(\frac{m_c}{v}\right)^2 \ll 1 \tag{5.3.6}$$

where the dependence on v/v_F disappears. For n^3 instead we should do this with care since $m_t/v \sim 1$. We have that

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^3}}{M_3} \approx \frac{M_3^2}{4\pi v^2} (V^{\dagger}V)_{ii} \sim \frac{1}{4\pi} < \frac{1}{2} \,. \tag{5.3.7}$$

Therefore perturbative unitarity holds. Another way to verify this is given by the following fact. We could argue that

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^3}}{M_3} \approx \frac{\Gamma_t}{m_t} \tag{5.3.8}$$

since the decay channels are very similar. Therefore, if the top quark does not break perturbative unitarity (as he does), also n^3 will not.

5.4 Lifetime of Light Exotic Neutrinos

In this Section we compute the lifetimes of the exotic neutrinos with masses $M_n < M_h, M_Z, M_W$. In this framework, we can rely on an energy regime where Fermi Theory holds²⁷ and the dominating decay channel is given by $n \to \ell \ell' \nu$. Then, if kinematically allowed, there can be also contributions from hadronic decays.

For n^1 we have the following leptonic decay rate

$$\Gamma\left(n^1 \to \ell^{\alpha} \overline{\ell}^{\beta} \nu^i\right) = \frac{G_F^2 |V_{\alpha 1} U_{\beta i}^*|^2 M_1^5}{192\pi^3} \Phi$$
(5.4.1)

²⁶We neglect the decay channels $n^i \to n^j Z(h)$ since they are suppressed by a further factor of $V^{\dagger} V \sim v^2 / v_F^2$.

²⁷This is a good approximation for n^1 while, for n^2 , this is not guaranteed. However, as we will see, even if $M_2 < M_Z$, its lifetime will be too short. Thus it is not very interesting and we do not need to compute it carefully.

which has been computed explicitly in Section B.2 in the Appendix and the factor Φ is an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ number (and it is $\Phi = 1$ in the limit where the lepton masses are negligible with respect to M_1). One can appreciate that this is pretty similar to the muon decay rate which is given by

$$\Gamma_{\mu} = \frac{G_F^2 m_{\mu}^5}{192\pi^3} \,. \tag{5.4.2}$$

In addition, if $M_1 \gtrsim m_{\pi}$, there are a lot of hadronic decay processes that start to be allowed. For instance

$$\Gamma\left(n^{1} \to \ell^{\alpha} h_{P}^{+}\right) = \frac{G_{F}^{2}}{16\pi} f_{h}^{2} |V_{ud}|^{2} |V_{\alpha 1}|^{2} M_{1}^{3} \left[\left(1 - \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right)^{2} - \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right) \right] \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(1, \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}, \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right),$$
(5.4.3a)

$$\Gamma\left(n^{1} \to \nu^{j} h_{P}^{0}\right) = \frac{G_{F}^{2}}{64\pi} f_{h}^{2} |(U^{\dagger}V)_{j1}|^{2} M_{1}^{3} \left(1 - \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right)^{2}$$
(5.4.3b)

where h_P is a pseudoscalar meson with mass m_h and hadronic structure constant f_h . The above decay rates have been computed explicitly in Sections B.4 and B.5 in the Appendix.

In general, we can appreciate that those decay rates are very similar to the hadronic decay channels of the tau lepton. In particular, in Section B.4, we have computed some hadronic decay rates of τ and the results are similar to the hadronic decay rates of n^1 , but without the suppression factor $|V_{j1}|^2$. In addition, the τ hadronic decay channels are comparable to its purely leptonic ones. Because of this analogy, which is at work if $M_1 \gtrsim m_{\tau}$, we can argue that the total decay width of n^1 is given by its leptonic decay rate multiplied by the factor k_n where

$$k_n \equiv 1 + \Gamma\left(n^1 \to \text{hadrons}\right) / \Gamma\left(n^1 \to \text{leptons}\right) = \mathcal{O}(1).$$
 (5.4.4)

To give a rather easy expression for the total decay width of n^1 , we can use the following fact

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta,i=1}^{3} |V_{\alpha 1} U_{\beta i}^{*}|^{2} = \operatorname{Tr} \left[U^{\dagger} U \right] (V^{\dagger} V)_{11} \approx 3 (V^{\dagger} V)_{11} .$$
 (5.4.5)

Thus we have that

$$\Gamma_{n^1} \approx k_n \frac{G_F^2 (V^{\dagger} V)_{11} M_1^5}{64\pi^3} \tag{5.4.6}$$

where to compute the total leptonic decay width we have summed over all the possible leptonic configurations in the final state with $\Phi = 1$ (this is a good approximation up to $\mathcal{O}(1)$ numbers, even if some configurations are not kinematically allowed).

We can compare now this decay rate to that of the muon. Parametrically, using (4.7.6), we find

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^1}}{\Gamma_{\mu}} \sim k_n \left(\frac{v}{v_F}\right)^2 \left(\frac{M_1}{m_{\mu}}\right)^5 \sim k_n \left(\frac{v_F}{v}\right)^3 \left(\frac{m_u}{m_{\mu}}\right)^5 \,. \tag{5.4.7}$$

This ratio is very sensible to M_1 , so it is not clear the relation between the two decay rates. Nevertheless, there is space to n^1 to be long-lived. We anticipate that, at the end of this Chapter, we are going to be more quantitative, once we put some bounds on the involved quantities. In this case, condition (5.3.5) is easily satisfied since n^1 will turn out to be a long-lived particle. For completeness we can explicitly check that, even if $v_F/v \sim 10^5$, we have that

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^1}}{M_1} \sim 10^{-3} \left(\frac{m_u}{v}\right)^4 \left(\frac{v_F}{v}\right)^2 \ll 1.$$
(5.4.8)

As an important remark, by looking naively at this equation, one could argue that, for v_F/v arbitrarily large, perturbative unitarity fails. In fact the ratio $v_F/v \sim 10^5$ is not chosen randomly, but it is the scale at which $M_1 \gtrsim M_Z$ and hence Γ_{n^1} changes its parametric dependence, resulting in similar ratios than the ones for n^2 and n^3 which are independent on v_F/v (and do not break perturbative unitarity).

If one considers n^2 with mass $M_2 < M_W$, we have that it decays with similar processes to n^1 , although the energy scale does not allow to work within the effective Fermi Theory. Nevertheless, we expect this particle to be short-lived (and hence non-interesting like n^1) since, by looking at (5.4.7), we expect that

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^2}}{\Gamma_{\mu}} \sim \left(\frac{v_F}{v}\right)^3 \left(\frac{m_c}{m_{\mu}}\right)^5 \gg 10^5.$$
(5.4.9)

5.5 Lepton Flavour Violation in $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$

Heavy neutral leptons are predicted by several BSM scenarios and they typically generate enhanced LFV processes with respect to the SM predictions. In the past decades there has been an outstanding experimental effort to detect LFV effects. However, no convincing evidences have emerged so far. One of the most prominent consequence of BSM heavy neutral leptons is a huge enhancement in the muon decay channel $\mu \to e\gamma$. In this Section we study this process in detail.

In the SM $\mu \to e\gamma$ is very suppressed thanks to the unitarity of the PMNS matrix and the very small neutrino masses. The current experimental bound is given by MEG II [19] and it reads as follows

$$\operatorname{Br}(\mu \to e\gamma) < 3.1 \cdot 10^{-13}$$
. (5.5.1)

This is well above the SM prediction which is around 10^{-50} . Hence, the emergence of this process would represent an unambiguous signal of NP. In our model NP exotic fermions break PMNS unitarity. Hence, we expect an enhanced branching ratio with respect to the SM predictions. However, we have to be sure that it lies below the current experimental bounds. This turns out to put some bounds on the UV parameters of the model. We have explicitly evaluated this branching ratio in Section B.6 in the Appendix. The result is given by

$$Br(\mu \to e\gamma) = \frac{3\alpha}{32\pi} |\delta_{\nu}|^2 \tag{5.5.2}$$

where

$$\delta_{\nu} = 2\sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} g\left(\frac{(m_{\nu}^{j})^{2}}{M_{W}^{2}}\right) + 2\sum_{k} V_{ek} V_{\mu k}^{*} g\left(\frac{M_{k}^{2}}{M_{W}^{2}}\right)$$
(5.5.3)

and

$$g(x) = \frac{2}{3} + \frac{11}{2(1-x)} - \frac{15}{2(1-x)^2} + \frac{3}{(1-x)^3} - \frac{3x^3}{(1-x)^4} \ln x.$$
 (5.5.4)

To better study this result, it is useful to consider the following limits of g(x)

$$g(x) = \frac{5}{3} - \frac{x}{2} + \mathcal{O}(x^2) \qquad \text{if} \qquad x \ll 1, \qquad (5.5.5)$$

$$g(x) = \frac{2}{3} + \frac{3\ln x}{x} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{x}\right) \qquad \text{if} \qquad x \gg 1.$$
(5.5.6)

Also it is important to observe that $g(x) = \mathcal{O}(1)$ for all the values x > 0 and in particular g(1) = 17/12. If we apply this result in the SM framework we have that

$$\delta_{\nu} \approx 2\sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} \left(\frac{5}{3} - \frac{(m_{\nu}^{j})^{2}}{2M_{W}^{2}}\right) = \frac{1}{M_{W}^{2}} \sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} (m_{\nu}^{j})^{2}$$
(5.5.7)

where U is the PMNS matrix and we use the fact that it is unitary to kill the leading contribution. Thus, if we assume $m_{\nu}^{j} \sim 0.1$ eV, we find that SM predicts

$$\operatorname{Br}(\mu \to e\gamma)_{\rm SM} \approx 10^{-52} \,. \tag{5.5.8}$$

In our model, instead, we have three further exotic neutrinos n^i contributing at the virtual level to this decay. Notice that, since g(x) is limited in all its domain, it is not important how massive n^i are. Also, by using (5.1.9), we have that

$$\sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^* + \sum_{k} V_{ek} V_{\mu k}^* = \left(L_E L_E^\dagger \right)_{e\mu} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^4}{v_F^4}\right) = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{v^4}{v_F^4}\right) \,. \tag{5.5.9}$$

Thus, since we expect m_{ν}^{j} , $M_{1} \ll M_{W}$ and $M_{3} \gg M_{W}$, we can write the loop factor as follows

$$\delta_{\nu} = 2 V_{e2} V_{\mu 2}^* \left[g \left(\frac{M_2^2}{M_W^2} \right) - \frac{5}{3} \right] + 2 V_{e3} V_{\mu 3}^* \left[\frac{2}{3} - \frac{5}{3} \right] + \mathcal{O} \left(\frac{v^4}{v_F^4} \right) \approx 4\kappa^2 \frac{v^2}{v_F^2} \,. \tag{5.5.10}$$

 κ is a numerical factor that quantifies the numerical values of $V_{\alpha i}$, once we have factorized out the suppression factor v/v_F . In fact, since they are components of a unitary matrix, we expect that $\kappa \approx 0.3 \div 0.7$. It is important to keep track of this small contribution since the final observable depends on an important power of κ . Hence, our model predicts the following branching ratio

$$Br(\mu \to e\gamma) \approx \frac{3\alpha}{2\pi} \kappa^4 \frac{v^4}{v_F^4} \,. \tag{5.5.11}$$

By comparing this with the experimental bound (5.5.1), we need that

$$\frac{v_F}{v} \gtrsim 300 \,\kappa \,. \tag{5.5.12}$$

Therefore this observable requires that²⁸ $v_F \gtrsim 8 \div 15$ TeV. This also means that, an improvement of the experimental upper bound on this process could lead to a possible BSM physics detection which could be explained by our model. In fact in the near future we expect to improve the experimental bounds on this decay channel. Namely MEG II [19] aims in 2026 to reach a sensitivity of $Br(\mu \to e\gamma) \approx 6 \cdot 10^{-14}$. This could lead to a possible detection of BSM physics.

5.6 Other Lepton-Flavour-Violating Observables

There are several LFV observables that are affected by some NP heavy neutral leptons, like the exotic neutrinos in our model. Those are usually less prominent than $\mu \to e\gamma$, but it is important to study them as well. All those kind of processes have been already computed and analyzed in the literature. As good references, one can look at [11, 13]. In particular [13] has a very nice Table with all the updated bounds on LFV observables and future prospects.

First process to consider is the decay rate of $Z \to \ell \overline{\ell}'$ where $\ell \neq \ell'$. In particular the most precised one is given by

$$\operatorname{Br}\left(Z \to \mu e\right) = \frac{G_F^3 M_W^4 M_Z^2}{12\sqrt{2}\pi^5} \frac{M_Z}{\Gamma_Z} |F_Z^{\mu e}|^2 \approx 2 \cdot 10^{-6} |F_Z^{\mu e}|^2 \tag{5.6.1}$$

where $\Gamma_Z \approx 2.49 \text{ GeV}$ is the Z-boson total decay width and $F_Z^{\mu e}$ is a loop form-factor explicitly evaluated in [11]. Since

$$F_Z^{\mu e} \sim \mathcal{O}(1) V_{\alpha j} V_{\beta k} \sim \frac{v^2}{v_F^2} \tag{5.6.2}$$

²⁸Notice that v_F/v is just an approximate scaling ratio. In fact the real ratio is given by $\sqrt{2}c_{s\eta}v_F/v$. Therefore if we keep $c_{s\eta} \approx 2$, we can tune v_F to not exceed 10 TeV without violating the experimental bounds.

and the current SM bounds given by ATLAS read

Br
$$(Z \to \mu e) < 4.2 \cdot 10^{-7}$$
, (5.6.3)

we can safely say that the effects of our exotic neutrinos are well below the current possibilities to detect something. With FCC-ee we expect to improve the bounds on this branching ratio at $\mathcal{O}(10^{-10})$. Even though at this level $Z \to \mu e$ would become an interesting channel to look for LFV, $\mu \to e\gamma$ will remain the best probe of our scenario with exotic neutrinos.

The next class of LFV processes is given by the NP contribution to the invisible decay widths of Z and h. Such decay rates have been evaluated explicitly in Section B.3 in the Appendix and they are given by (apart from minor corrections)

$$\Delta_{\rm NP} \Gamma \left(Z \to \text{inv} \right) \approx \frac{G_F M_Z^3}{6\sqrt{2}\pi} \sum_k (V^{\dagger} V)_{kk} \,, \tag{5.6.4a}$$

$$\Gamma(h \to \text{inv}) \approx \frac{M_h}{8\pi v^2} \sum_k M_k^2 (V^{\dagger} V)_{kk} \left(1 - \frac{M_k^2}{M_h^2}\right)^2.$$
 (5.6.4b)

The sums are taken over all the possible neutrino states that are kinematically allowed. In the case of the Z boson, BSM contributions provide just a small correction to the SM invisible decay rate. Instead, for the h boson case, BSM effects are by far dominant as the invisible decay rate of h in the SM is extremely suppressed by the tiny neutrino masses. Exploiting the numerical analysis of [13] (which entails also the 1-loop contributions), we find that the invisible decay width of the Z is well in agreement with the SM already with $v_F/v \gtrsim 30$, which is not so relevant. For h instead the situation is different. We have not been able yet to measure its total decay width. The SM predicts this quantity to be $\Gamma_h \approx 4$ MeV with a negligible invisible decay width since neutrino masses are negligible. Our model predicts instead the following contribution if $M_2 < M_h$

$$\Gamma(h \to \text{inv}) \approx 1.3 \,\text{GeV}(V^{\dagger}V)_{22} \frac{M_2^2}{M_h^2} \left(1 - \frac{M_2^2}{M_h^2}\right)^2 \sim \frac{M_2^2}{M_h^2} \frac{v^2}{v_F^2} \,\text{GeV}\,.$$
(5.6.5)

Therefore, even with $M_2 \leq M_h$ and $v_F/v \geq 70$, we have that $\Gamma(h \to \text{inv})/\Gamma_h \leq 10^{-2}$, implying that this observable is not able to unveil NP effects in the framework of our model.

Another very important LFV process that must be considered is given by the decay channel $\mu \rightarrow eee$. Currently, the experimental bound is given by SINDRUM [20]

Br
$$(\mu \to eee) < 1.0 \cdot 10^{-12}$$
. (5.6.6)

The theoretical prediction of the SM is well below the current bounds and it receives very important contributions from heavy neutral leptons which are given by

Br
$$(\mu \to eee) = \frac{G_F^2 M_W^4}{32\pi^4} \mathcal{F} \approx 2 \cdot 10^{-6} |\mathcal{F}|^2$$
 (5.6.7)

where \mathcal{F} is a loop form-factor which has been computed explicitly in [11]. Before providing a full numerical analysis, we like to analyse the general structure of \mathcal{F} which is given by

$$\mathcal{F} \sim V_{\alpha j}^2 + V_{\alpha j}^4 \frac{M_n^2}{M_Z^2} + V_{\alpha j}^2 \ln \frac{M_n^2}{M_Z^2} \,. \tag{5.6.8}$$

Since M_3 is the biggest mass and

$$\frac{M_3^2}{M_Z^2} \sim \frac{v_F^2}{v^2} \frac{m_t^2}{M_Z^2} = \mathcal{O}(1) \frac{v_F^2}{v^2} \,, \tag{5.6.9}$$

we have that at most the form-factor is expected to be

$$\mathcal{F} \sim \mathcal{O}(10) \kappa^2 \frac{v^2}{v_F^2} \,. \tag{5.6.10}$$

Therefore, by comparing the theoretical prediction with the experimental bounds (5.6.6), we find

$$\frac{v_F}{v} \gtrsim 100 \,\kappa \,, \tag{5.6.11}$$

which is weaker than the bound set by $\mu \to e\gamma$. Nevertheless, there are excellent future prospects to improve the current bound. In particular, Mu3e experiment [21] aims to reach a sensitivity of Br ($\mu \to eee$) = $\mathcal{O}(10^{-16})$, that is four orders of magnitude better than the current bound. At this level $\mu \to eee$ will become competitive with $\mu \to e\gamma$ to probe LFV effects.

5.7 Bounds on Light Neutral Leptons

The model assumes the existence of some light NP exotic neutrinos (at least one, but they could be also two). These small masses bring with them other important bounds. In particular, if some NP neutral leptons that mix with SM charged fermions are sufficiently light, they can be produced on-shell by some decay processes changing the kinematic spectrum of the process. The most stringent bounds are set by (semi)leptonic hadronic decays, but not only. The updated bounds on heavy neutral leptons from hadron physics are listed in [12]. In particular, the relevant bounds on the squared-mixing matrix between SM charged leptons and NP heavy neutral leptons depending on the mass of the the latter are listed in Table 2, together with the name of the experiments that set them. As one can appreciate, if those NP neutral leptons are very light, there are very stringent bounds set by *D*-meson decay processes (namely by CHARM and BEBC experiments). Otherwise there are other bounds set by experiments at high-energy colliders (namely by ATLAS, CMS and DELPHI).

| $ V ^2$ | M_n | Experiments |
|---------------------------------|--|--------------------|
| $\lesssim 2\cdot 10^{-8}$ | $M_n \lesssim 2{ m GeV}$ | CHARM, BEBC |
| $\lesssim 2\cdot 10^{-5}$ | $2{ m GeV} \lesssim M_n \lesssim 3{ m GeV}$ | DELPHI |
| $\lesssim 10^{-6} \div 10^{-7}$ | $3{ m GeV} \lesssim M_n \lesssim 10{ m GeV}$ | ATLAS, CMS |
| $\lesssim 2 \cdot 10^{-5}$ | $10 \mathrm{GeV} \lesssim M_n \lesssim 100 \mathrm{GeV}$ | ATLAS, CMS, DELPHI |

Table 2: Bounds on the mixing matrix V between SM charged leptons and NP heavy neutral leptons with mass M_n . The last column lists the experiments that have set those bounds.

In our model, the most stringent constraints are on the lightest exotic neutrino n^1 , but also partially on n^2 . Namely, if $M_1 \leq 2$ GeV, we need the require that $v_F/v \geq 10^4$, spoiling completely the *naturalness* of the model we have built²⁹. Nevertheless we can assume that the lightest eigenstate of Y^N is not of the order of $\mathcal{O}(1)y_u$, but rather $\mathcal{O}(10)y_u$. In this scenario, if $v_F/v \sim 100$, we have that

$$M_1 \sim 10 \, m_u \frac{v_F}{v} \sim 2 \,\text{GeV} \,, \qquad |V|^2 \sim \kappa^2 \frac{v^2}{v_F^2} \sim 10^{-5} \,.$$
 (5.7.1)

Thus we are really at the corner of the current bounds, but still in agreement³⁰. Furthermore, if this is really the case, there could be room for a possible detection of BSM physics. Notice also that in this scenario we really have stringent bounds on M_1 since, if $M_1 \gtrsim 3$ GeV, we are forced to push $v_F/v \gtrsim 10^3$.

²⁹In fact, since $M_1 \sim m_u v_F/v$, if $v_F/v \gtrsim 10^3$ the bounds are satisfied because we are in a regime where $|V|^2 \sim 10^{-6}$ and $M_1 \gtrsim 2$ GeV.

³⁰These bounds are very close to the ones set by $\mu \to e\gamma$ where we needed (5.5.12).

For n^2 , which is expected to have a mass $M_2 \sim 50$ GeV, there are some bounds but, as long as $v_F/v \sim 100$, we should be at the corner of them. This is very promising since a small improvement in the experimental resolution could lead to a possible detection of BSM physics. Nevertheless, even if the bounds are more stringent, we just need to increase by an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ factor the eigenvalue of Y^N to push $M_2 \gtrsim 100$ GeV without pushing v_F/v too high.

5.8 Summary of Bounds and Future Prospects

In this Chapter, we have studied in detail the most prominent phenomenological implications of such exotic neutrinos that are predicted by the model we have built. In this Section, we summarize all the relevant results.

The model predicts the existence of three exotic neutrinos with hierarchical masses. The model is mainly dependent on a single scale, which is given by v_F , and we want to keep this around the TeV. Current bounds from LFV processes imply the following constraint

$$v_F \gtrsim 8 \div 15 \,\text{TeV}$$
 (5.8.1)

where the bound is set from the measurement of the decay channel $\mu \to e\gamma$. D-meson decays put the most stringent bounds on the mass of the lightest exotic neutrino. In fact, if we require to keep $v_F \sim 10$ TeV, we need

$$2 \,\mathrm{GeV} \lesssim M_1 \lesssim 3 \,\mathrm{GeV} \,.$$
 (5.8.2)

Moreover this state could be long-lived as we discussed in Section 5.4. We observe that, if the mass of n^1 is within the above range, it is very comparable to the τ mass. Furthermore, this sterile state has decay channels very similar to the τ , the only difference is that they are suppressed by $(V^{\dagger}V)_{11}$. Therefore, assuming a value for v_F near the bounds set by $\mu \to e\gamma$, we could expect that

$$\frac{\Gamma_{n^1}}{\Gamma_{\mu}} = \frac{\Gamma_{n^1}}{\Gamma_{\tau}} \cdot \frac{\Gamma_{\tau}}{\Gamma_{\mu}} \sim \left(\kappa \frac{v}{v_F}\right)^2 \left(\frac{M_1}{m_\tau}\right)^5 \cdot 10^7 \sim 10^2 \,. \tag{5.8.3}$$

As a result, it is possible that n^1 has a mean lifetime of the order

$$\tau_1 \sim 10^{-8} \,\mathrm{s} \,.$$
 (5.8.4)

In addition, the model offers a lot of possible ways to detect BSM physics, if this model turns out to be correct. In fact, with $v_F \sim 10$ TeV, the theoretical predictions of the model are really at the corner of the current bounds in many of the interesting processes that could detect the existence of some heavy neutral leptons. A possibility is offered by looking at some neutral leptons weakly coupled with the SM in the mass range from GeV up to 100 GeV, improving by $\mathcal{O}(10)$ the current bounds. In this way, it could be possible to detect n^1 but also n^2 if $M_2 \leq 100$ GeV. Furthermore, n^1 could have a sufficiently long lifetime to be interesting in some experiments. Another possibility is to improve the current sensitivity on rare muon decay channels, in particular $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to eee$. This has been already taken into consideration by the experimental community and we expect to have a significant improvement in the next decade. If $v_F \sim 10$ TeV and the model is correct, we should likely detect some BSM signals in those experiments.

On the other side, if we are not going to see anything in rare muon decay channels once we reach the expected sensitivity, this would imply that

$$v_F \gtrsim 80 \div 150 \,\mathrm{TeV}$$
 (5.8.5)

Furthermore, if no neutral lepton will show up with mass around the GeV, depending on the new bounds we could need to increase v_F by a factor of 3 or even more. In any case such a big value for v_F would spoil partially the *naturalness* of the model we built. This is because Δ (the scalar boson whose VEV is v_F) breaks SU(4)^[3] and we hope that this happens at the TeV scale not to destabilize too much the Higgs boson mass.

Conclusion

In this work we have studied in detail a possible UV theory where the flavour universality among the SM fermions is broken already at the TeV scale by embedding the SM Gauge Group into a larger one that breaks the universality of the third generation of fermions with respect to the other two. In particular, we assumed that the flavour non-universality happens only in the $SU(3)_C \times U(1)_Y$ Gauge sector of the SM Gauge Group, while the $SU(2)_L$ sector is kept universal. Moreover, we have embedded the Gauge sector of the third generation in a Pati-Salam-like Gauge Group, namely $SU(4) \times SU(2)_R$. In this way the UV theory conserves classically the Baryon Number allowing to have the energy scale of the UV theory already at the TeV, unlike many other Grand-Unification theories where the bounds on proton decay push the energy scale around or above 10^{16} GeV. Once the UV theory has been fixed, we have studied several ways to break the UV Gauge Group down to the SM one by means of a SSB mechanism. To do so, we assumed that in the UV theory are present several scalar fields which eventually acquire a suitable VEV with energy scale around few TeV. One of the main consequences of SSB is that the broken generators of the UV theory recombine at low energies in several BSM massive vector bosons with masses in the range of few TeV.

In this framework we have assumed that the Higgs field, still considered an elementary particle, is charged only under the third-generation sector of the Gauge Group. This is well motivated by the fact that the Higgs field in the SM is mainly coupled to the fermions of the third generation. In other words, by looking at the hierarchical structure of the fermion masses, we observe that only the Yukawa couplings of the third generation are non-suppressed. In the SM such hierarchy is realized by choosing *ad hoc* the values of those couplings. Instead, our model has been able to provide a possible explanation to this. Using the scalar fields that acquire a VEV at low energies, we have been able to generate all the Yukawa matrices from an EFT approach. Therefore, the desired hierarchical structure is *naturally* given by construction since the suppressed Yukawa couplings are realized as higher-dimensional (hence suppressed) operators. Furthermore, we have provided a possible UV origin to those EFT operators. Namely, we have assumed the existence of just two heavy VLFs with masses of $\mathcal{O}(10)$ TeV which are coupled to SM fermions with $\mathcal{O}(1)$ couplings. This was enough to generate all the Yukawa matrices with their desired hierarchical structure, at least between the second and third generations.

The last, yet extremely non-trivial, ingredient left to be explained were the tiny and anarchic neutrino masses. The issue arises from the fact that Pati-Salam-like models predict naively very similar up-type quarks and neutral lepton masses. The most efficient way to provide an explanation to the latter is by means of a See-Saw mechanism. In addition, since the RH neutrinos are already present in the UV theory and charged under the UV Gauge Group (at least for the one of the third generation), the only meaningful possibility is offered by the Inverse See-Saw. Thus, we have assumed that in the UV theory are present also three generations of LH sterile fermions with a small Majorana mass-matrix. Without any further assumption, this Majorana mass-matrix turned out to be extremely hierarchical to compensate the hierarchical structure of the neutral lepton Yukawa matrix generated by our model: a rather *unnatural* (and apparently unexplained) feature.

As we have shown, it is possible to provide a solution to this latter problem. The key ingredient is the existence of a non-better-defined Symmetry under which are charged only the sterile fermions and a new scalar field. There is a large freedom on the nature of this Symmetry: it could be local or global, continues of discrete. We simply assume it is broken at an arbitrarily high scale and its breaking can be associated to Fermion Number violation. In this framework the hierarchical structure in the Yukawa matrices is compensated by a suitable hierarchical structure in the mass-mixing terms between sterile fermions and RH neutrinos. These latter terms can be generated similarly to the Yukawa matrices. Namely, we required that this further scalar field is charged under the third-generation sector of the UV Gauge Group and that it contributes to the breaking of it by acquiring a suitable VEV. Thus, the mass-mixing terms with the third-generation RH neutrino is generated by a renormalizable operator while the other terms are generated by means of some EFT operators and hence are suppressed. The leading energy scale is given by the VEV of this scalar field which we called v_F . By means of these ingredients we have been able to explain the anarchic neutrino masses without imposing any kind of hierarchical structure in the Majorana mass-matrix of the sterile fermions.

A consequence of the Inverse See-Saw mechanism is that it predicts the existence of three heavy (almost) Dirac-type fermions which are weakly coupled to the SM. This feature is present also in the model we have built. In addition, the peculiarity of those heavy states is that their masses are hierarchical with suppression factors very similar to the ones among the up-type quark masses. Namely, the heaviest one has a mass of the order of v_F while the others are suppressed by factors of order y_c/y_t and y_u/y_t . These states, which we called *exotic neutrinos*, offer a wide range of interesting phenomenological implications that we have studied in detail.

The model we have built is able to provide an explanation to several open questions in fundamental physics. It explains Charge quantization since the UV embedding of the SM Gauge Group is semisimple. More precisely, the UV Gauge Group (at least in the third-generation sector) is a combination of non-abelian groups and in particular the SM Hypercharge is realized as a linear combination of SU(N) generators. This implies that the Hypercharges of the SM particles are given by a linear combination of rational numbers. It solves the flavour puzzle since the hierarchical structure in the Yukawa matrices is *naturally* realized from an EFT description. It explains the observed small neutrino masses. Finally, it can provide a possible solution to the hierarchy problem since in this model there is no constraint that prevents assuming the UV energy scale already at the TeV. Therefore the quantum corrections to the Higgs mass are kept under control without any strong fine tuning.

In the literature there are a lot of UV models that solve all these problems. Nevertheless, compared to the others, this one is very *minimal* and *natural*. Minimal because there are not many new DOFs added to the UV theory and *natural* because the SM is reproduced without any source of fine tuning among the UV parameters. More precisely, there is no sizable hierarchy among the mass scale in the UV theory and all the dimensionless UV couplings are in the range $0.1 \div 2.0$. We recall that the only possible source of fine tuning is required to explain the observed top-bottom mass splitting, but it requires just an $\mathcal{O}(10)$ cancellation among the parameters.

Furthermore, there is a rich phenomenology coming out from this model that can be studied at colliders or precision experiments since the NP scale is around the TeV. We focused on the phenomenology of the exotic neutrinos since they are really the new peculiar feature of this model which is not yet present in the literature to our knowledge. They offer a wide range of processes that could provide possible detection of BSM physics in the near future. In particular, they predict branching ratios for the rare muon decay channels $\mu \to e\gamma$ and $\mu \to eee$ that lie just below the current experimental bounds and can be detected by the experiments MEG II and Mu3e, which are expected to run in the next few years. In addition, the lightest two exotic neutrinos have a concrete chance to be detected at LHC in the next decade.
Appendix

A Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking - Calculations

In this Chapter we do all the calculations to find the breaking spectrum of some SSB mechanisms from several possible Gauge Groups down to smaller ones. All of them have been used during this work. For simplicity, in the Section's titles every SU(N) Gauge Group is indicated with just its number N.

A.1 431 into 31 Model

We want to study the SSB pattern

$$SU(4) \times SU(3) \times U(1)_X \rightarrow SU(3) \times U(1)_{X'}$$
 (A.1.1)

and we define the Gauge couplings and fields associated to the UV and IR theories (with the SU(N) indices a = 1, ..., 15, b = 1, ..., 8)

$$(g_4, g_3, g_X)$$
, $(H^a, C^b, B) \rightarrow (g'_3, g'_X)$, (G^b, B') . (A.1.2)

The covariant derivative in the unbroken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_4 \hat{T}^a H^a - ig_3 T^b C^b - ig_X XB. \qquad (A.1.3)$$

We assume the following fields charged under the full Symmetry Group

$$\Omega_1 \sim (\overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{1}, -X_\Omega), \qquad \Omega_3 \sim (\overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{3}, X_\Omega/3).$$
 (A.1.4)

Notice that the Charges under U(1) have to be related one to the other to get a residual U(1) Symmetry after the SSB occurs. Their VEVs are chosen to be

$$\langle \Omega_1 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \omega_1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.1.5)

Now we need to find the residual Gauge Group. To leave the two VEVs invariant we need to satisfy

$$\theta^a \langle \Omega_1 \rangle \hat{T}^a + \beta X_\Omega \langle \Omega_1 \rangle = 0, \qquad \theta^a \langle \Omega_3 \rangle \hat{T}^a - \eta^b T^b \langle \Omega_3 \rangle - \beta \frac{1}{3} X_\Omega \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = 0.$$
 (A.1.6)

Thus we have that

$$\langle \Omega_3 \rangle \hat{T}^a = T^a \langle \Omega_3 \rangle$$
 and $\langle \Omega_1 \rangle \hat{T}^a = 0$ for $a = 1, ..., 8$; (A.1.7a)

$$\langle \Omega_3 \rangle \hat{T}^{15} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{6}} \langle \Omega_3 \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \Omega_1 \rangle \hat{T}^{15} = -\frac{3}{2\sqrt{6}} \langle \Omega_1 \rangle$$
 (A.1.7b)

which represents a Gauge transformation where we keep free η^a , β and we fix

$$\theta^a = \eta^a \quad \text{for} \quad a = 1, ..., 8; \qquad \theta^a = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad a = 9, ..., 14; \qquad \theta^{15} = \frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} X_\Omega \beta.$$
(A.1.8)

Therefore the residual Gauge Group is given by $SU(3) \times U(1)$ and the generator of U(1) is given by

$$X' = X + \frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} X_{\Omega} \hat{T}^{15} .$$
 (A.1.9)

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic terms of Ω_1 and Ω_3 evaluated on the VEVs. To do so we need their covariant derivatives which read as follows

$$D_{\mu}\langle\Omega_{1}\rangle = i\frac{\omega_{1}}{2}g_{4}\left(H^{9} + iH^{10}, H^{11} + iH^{12}, H^{13} + iH^{14}, -\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} + 2\frac{g_{X}}{g_{4}}X_{\Omega}B\right), \quad (A.1.10a)$$

$$D_{\mu}\langle\Omega_{3}\rangle = i\frac{\omega_{3}}{2}g_{4}\left(2\left(H^{a} - \frac{g_{3}}{g_{4}}C^{a}\right)T^{a} + \frac{1}{3}\left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} - 2\frac{g_{X}}{g_{4}}X_{\Omega}B\right)\mathbb{I}_{3\times3} \begin{vmatrix} H^{9} - iH^{10} \\ H^{11} - iH^{12} \\ H^{13} - iH^{14} \end{vmatrix}\right).$$

$$(A.1.10b)$$

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_M \equiv \mathrm{Tr}\Big[(D_\mu \langle \Omega_1 \rangle)^{\dagger} D_\mu \langle \Omega_1 \rangle \Big] + \mathrm{Tr}\Big[(D_\mu \langle \Omega_3 \rangle)^{\dagger} D_\mu \langle \Omega_3 \rangle \Big] \,. \tag{A.1.11}$$

Using that $\operatorname{Tr}[T^a T^b] = \delta^{ab}/2$, $\operatorname{Tr}[\mathbb{I}_{3\times 3}] = 3$ and $\operatorname{Tr}[T^a] = 0$ we find

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} = \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{2}\omega_{3}^{2}\sum_{a=1}^{8} \left(H^{a} - \frac{g_{3}}{g_{4}}C^{a}\right)^{2} + \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4}\left(\omega_{1}^{2} + \omega_{3}^{2}\right)\sum_{a=9}^{14} (H^{a})^{2} + \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4}\left(\omega_{1}^{2} + \frac{\omega_{3}^{2}}{3}\right)\left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} - 2\frac{g_{X}}{g_{4}}X_{\Omega}B\right)^{2}.$$
(A.1.12)

To see which is the mass-basis we need to diagonalize the X' operator. In particular we need to study the transformation properties of H^a . We know that

$$H \to H - i\theta^{15} H^a[\hat{T}^{15}, \hat{T}^a] \implies H^a \to H^a + \frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} X_\Omega f^{a \, b \, 15} H^b.$$
 (A.1.13)

Using this relation it turns out that under a $U(1)_{X'}$ transformation $H \to (\mathbb{I} - i\beta \mathbb{X}') H$ where

$$\mathbb{X}' = \operatorname{diag}\left(\mathbb{O}_{8\times8}, \mathbb{X}_r, \mathbb{X}_b, \mathbb{X}_g, 0\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{X}_r = \mathbb{X}_b = \mathbb{X}_g = \frac{4}{3} X_\Omega \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.1.14)

Hence after diagonalizing it we find that the Gauge boson basis reads (where a = 1, ..., 8)

$$G^a = s_{43}H^a + c_{43}C^a \qquad m_G^2 = 0,$$
 (A.1.15a)

$$G^{\prime a} = c_{43}H^a - s_{43}C^a \qquad m_{G^{\prime}}^2 = \omega_3^2 \left(g_3^2 + g_4^2\right), \qquad (A.1.15b)$$

$$U_r^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^9 \mp i H^{10} \right)$$

$$U_b^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{11} \mp i H^{12} \right) \qquad m_U^2 = \frac{g_4^2}{2} \left(\omega_1^2 + \omega_3^2 \right) , \qquad (A.1.15c)$$

$$U_{\pm}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(U_{\pm}^{13} \mp i U_{\pm}^{14} \right) \qquad (A.1.15c)$$

$$U_g^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{13} \mp i H^{14} \right)$$

$$B' = s_{4X} H^{15} + c_{4X} B \qquad m_{B'}^2 = 0, \qquad (A.1.15d)$$

$$Z' = c_{4X}H^{15} - s_{4X}B \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}\left(\omega_1^2 + \frac{\omega_3^2}{3}\right)\left(\hat{g}_4^2 + 4\,g_X^2 X_\Omega^2\right) \tag{A.1.15e}$$

where we have defined using $\hat{g}_4 = \sqrt{6}/2 g_4$

$$c_{43} = \frac{g_4}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}}, \quad s_{43} = \frac{g_3}{\sqrt{g_4^2 + g_3^2}}, \quad c_{4X} = \frac{\hat{g}_4}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + 4 g_X^2 X_\Omega^2}}, \quad s_{4X} = \frac{2 g_X X_\Omega}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + 4 g_X^2 X_\Omega^2}}$$
(A.1.16)

and (A.1.12) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_M = \frac{1}{2} m_{G'}^2 \sum_{a=1}^8 (G'^a)^2 + m_U^2 \sum_{c=r,b,g} U_c^+ U_c^- + \frac{1}{2} m_{Z'}^2 (Z')^2.$$
(A.1.17)

The massive boson fields have Charges $U_c^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{3}, \pm 4/3 X_{\Omega})$ (where c = r, b, g), $G'^a \sim (\mathbf{8}, 0)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, 0)$ under the residual Gauge Group.

By computing the covariant derivative in the broken phase we find the IR gauge couplings written in terms of UV couplings which are given by

$$g'_{3} = \frac{g_{4}g_{3}}{\sqrt{g_{4}^{2} + g_{3}^{2}}}, \qquad g'_{X} = \frac{2\,\hat{g}_{4}g_{X}X_{\Omega}}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_{4}^{2} + 4\,g_{X}^{2}X_{\Omega}^{2}}}.$$
(A.1.18)

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig'_{3}T^{a}G^{a} - ig'_{X}X'B' - ig_{4}\sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_{c}^{+}U_{c}^{+} + \hat{T}_{c}^{-}U_{c}^{-}\right) - i\frac{g_{4}}{2c_{43}}\left(c_{43}^{2} - s_{43}^{2}\right)T^{a}G'^{a} - i\frac{\hat{g}_{4}}{c_{4X}}\left[\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15} - s_{4X}^{2}X'\right]Z'$$
(A.1.19)

where we have defined

$$\hat{T}_{r}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{9} \pm i \hat{T}^{10} \right), \quad \hat{T}_{b}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{11} \pm i \hat{T}^{12} \right), \quad \hat{T}_{g}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{T}^{13} \pm i \hat{T}^{14} \right). \tag{A.1.20}$$

A.2 21 into 1 Model

We want to study the SSB pattern

$$\operatorname{SU}(2) \times \operatorname{U}(1)_X \to \operatorname{U}(1)_{X'}$$
 (A.2.1)

and we define the Gauge couplings and fields associated to the UV and IR theories (with the SU(2) indices i = 1, 2, 3)

$$(g_2, g_X), (W^i, B) \rightarrow g'_X, B'.$$
 (A.2.2)

The covariant derivative in the unbroken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_2 T^i W^i - ig_X X B \,. \tag{A.2.3}$$

We assume the following field charged under the full Symmetry Group

$$\Sigma \sim (\mathbf{2}, X_{\Sigma}).$$
 (A.2.4)

Its VEV is chosen to be

$$\langle \Sigma \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ v \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{A.2.5}$$

Now we need to find the residual Gauge Group. To leave the VEV invariant we need to satisfy

$$\left(\alpha^{i}T^{i} + \beta X_{\Sigma}\right)\left\langle\Sigma\right\rangle = 0.$$
(A.2.6)

Thus we need a Gauge transformation where we keep free β and we fix

$$\alpha^1 = \alpha^2 = 0; \qquad \alpha^3 = 2X_{\Sigma}\beta.$$
(A.2.7)

Therefore the residual Gauge Group is given by $U(1)_{X'}$ where the generator is given by

$$X' = X + 2X_{\Sigma} T^3.$$
 (A.2.8)

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic term of Σ evaluated on the VEV. To do so we need its covariant derivatives which reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} \langle \Sigma \rangle = -i \frac{v}{2} \begin{pmatrix} g_2 \left(W^1 - i W^2 \right) \\ 2g_X X_{\Sigma} B - g_2 W^3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.2.9)

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} \equiv \text{Tr}\Big[(D_{\mu} \langle \Sigma \rangle)^{\dagger} D_{\mu} \langle \Sigma \rangle \Big] = \frac{g_{2}^{2}}{4} v^{2} \left[(W^{1})^{2} + (W^{2})^{2} \right] + \frac{g_{2}^{2}}{4} v^{2} \left(W^{3} - 2\frac{g_{X}}{g_{2}} X_{\Sigma} B \right)^{2} .$$
(A.2.10)

To see which is the mass-basis we need to diagonalize the X' operator. It turns out that under a $U(1)_{X'}$ transformation $W \to (\mathbb{I} - i\beta \mathbb{X}')W$ where

$$\mathbb{X}' = \operatorname{diag}(\mathbb{X}_{12}, 0)$$
 and $\mathbb{X}_{12} = 2X_{\Sigma} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. (A.2.11)

Hence after diagonalizing it we find that the Gauge boson basis reads

$$W^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W^1 \mp i W^2 \right) \qquad m_W^2 = \frac{g_2^2}{2} v^2 \,, \tag{A.2.12a}$$

$$B' = c_{2X}B + s_{2X}W^3 \qquad m_{B'}^2 = 0, \qquad (A.2.12b)$$

$$Z' = -s_{2X}B + c_{2X}W^3 \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}v^2 \left(g_2^2 + 4g_X'^2 X_{\Sigma}^2\right)$$
(A.2.12c)

where we have defined

$$c_{2X} = \frac{g_2}{\sqrt{g_2^2 + 4g_X^2 X_{\Sigma}^2}}, \quad s_{2X} = \frac{2g_X X_{\Sigma}}{\sqrt{g_2^2 + 4g_X^2 X_{\Sigma}^2}}$$
(A.2.13)

and (A.2.10) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_M = m_W^2 W^+ W^- + \frac{1}{2} m_{Z'}^2 (Z')^2 \,. \tag{A.2.14}$$

The massive boson fields have Charges $W^{\pm} \sim \pm 2X_{\Sigma}$ and $Z' \sim 0$ under the residual Gauge Group.

By computing the covariant derivative in the broken phase we find the IR gauge coupling written in terms of UV couplings which is given by

$$g'_X = \frac{2 g_2 g_X X_{\Sigma}}{\sqrt{g_2^2 + 4 g_X^2 X_{\Sigma}^2}} \,. \tag{A.2.15}$$

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig'_X X'B' - ig_2 \left(T^+ W^+ + T^- W^-\right) - i\frac{g_2}{c_{2X}} \left[T^3 - s^2_{2X} X'\right] Z'$$
(A.2.16)

where we have defined

$$T^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(T^1 \pm i T^2 \right) \,. \tag{A.2.17}$$

A.3 42 into 31 Model

We want to study the SSB pattern

$$SU(4) \times SU(2) \rightarrow SU(3) \times U(1)_X$$
 (A.3.1)

and we define the Gauge couplings and fields associated to the UV and IR theories (with the SU(N) indices a = 1, ..., 15, b = 1, ..., 8, i = 1, 2, 3)

$$(g_4, g_2), (H^a, W^i) \rightarrow (g_3, g_X), (G^b, B).$$
 (A.3.2)

The covariant derivative in the unbroken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_4 \hat{T}^a H^a - ig_2 T^i W^i \,. \tag{A.3.3}$$

We assume the following field charged under the full Symmetry Group

$$\Delta \sim (\overline{\mathbf{4}}, \mathbf{2}) \,. \tag{A.3.4}$$

Its VEV is chosen to be

$$\langle \Delta \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{A.3.5}$$

Now we need to find the residual Gauge Group. To leave the VEV invariant we need to satisfy

$$\theta^a \langle \Delta \rangle \hat{T}^a - \alpha^i T^i \langle \Delta \rangle = 0.$$
 (A.3.6)

We have that

$$\langle \Delta \rangle \hat{T}^a = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad a = 1, ..., 8 \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \Delta \rangle = -\frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} \langle \Delta \rangle \hat{T}^{15} = -2 T^3 \langle \Delta \rangle .$$
 (A.3.7)

Thus it represents a Gauge transformation where we keep free α^3 and θ^a for a = 1, ..., 8 and we fix

$$\theta^{15} = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\alpha^3; \qquad \theta^a = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad a = 9, ..., 14; \qquad \alpha^1 = \alpha^2 = 0.$$
(A.3.8)

Therefore the residual Gauge Group is given by $SU(3) \times U(1)_X$ and the generator of U(1) is given by

$$X = T^3 + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\hat{T}^{15}. \tag{A.3.9}$$

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic term of Δ evaluated on the VEV. To do so we need its covariant derivative which reads as follows

$$D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle = i\frac{g_4}{2}v \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{g_2}{g_4}(W^1 - iW^2) \\ H^9 + iH^{10} & H^{11} + iH^{12} & H^{13} + iH^{14} & -\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} + \frac{g_2}{g_4}W^3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.3.10)

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

 $B = c_{42}W^3 + s_{42}H^2$

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left[(D_{\mu} \langle \Delta \rangle)^{\dagger} D_{\mu} \langle \Delta \rangle \right] = \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4} v^{2} \sum_{a=9}^{14} (H^{a})^{2} + \frac{g_{2}^{2}}{4} v^{2} \left[(W^{1})^{2} + (W^{2})^{2} \right] + \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4} v^{2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2} H^{15} - \frac{g_{2}}{g_{4}} W^{3} \right)^{2}.$$
(A.3.11)

In the same way as done in Sections A.1 and A.2, we need to diagonalize X to find the new Gauge boson basis.

After diagonalizing it we find that the Gauge boson basis reads (where a = 1, ..., 8)

$$G^{a} = H^{a} \qquad m_{G}^{2} = 0,$$
 (A.3.12a)

$$U_r^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^9 \mp i H^{10} \right)$$

$$U_b^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{11} \mp i H^{12} \right) \qquad m_U^2 = \frac{g_4^2}{2} v^2 , \qquad (A.3.12b)$$

$$U_g^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(H^{13} \mp i H^{14} \right)$$

$$V^2 = \sqrt{2}$$

 $W^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W^1 \mp i W^2 \right) \qquad m_W^2 = \frac{g_2^2}{2} v^2 \,,$ (A.3.12c)

$$m_B^2 = 0,$$
 (A.3.12d)

$$Z' = -s_{42}W^3 + c_{42}H^{15} \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}v^2\left(\hat{g}_4^2 + g_2^2\right)$$
(A.3.12e)

where we have defined using $\hat{g}_4 = \sqrt{6}/2 g_4$

$$c_{42} = \frac{\hat{g}_4}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_2^2}}, \quad s_{42} = \frac{g_2}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_2^2}} \tag{A.3.13}$$

and (A.3.11) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_M = m_U^2 \sum_{c=r,b,g} U_c^+ U_c^- + m_W^2 W^+ W^- + \frac{1}{2} m_{Z'}^2 (Z')^2.$$
(A.3.14)

The massive boson fields have Charges $U_c^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{3}, \pm 2/3)$ (where c = r, b, g), $W^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \pm 1)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, 0)$ under the residual Gauge Group.

By computing the covariant derivative in the broken phase we find the IR Gauge couplings written in terms of UV couplings which are given by

$$g_3 = g_4, \qquad g_X = \frac{\hat{g}_4 g_2}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + g_2^2}}.$$
 (A.3.15)

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_3 T^b G^b - ig_X X B - ig_2 \left(T^+ W^+ + T^- W^- \right) - ig_4 \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_c^+ U_c^+ + \hat{T}_c^- U_c^- \right) - i \frac{\hat{g}_4}{c_{42}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} \hat{T}^{15} - s_{42}^2 X \right] Z'.$$
(A.3.16)

A.4 41 into 31 Model

We want to study the SSB pattern

$$SU(4) \times U(1)_X \rightarrow SU(3) \times U(1)_{X'}$$
 (A.4.1)

and we define the Gauge couplings and fields associated to the UV and IR theories (with the SU(N) indices a = 1, ..., 15, b = 1, ..., 8)

$$(g_4, g_X)$$
, $(H^a, B) \rightarrow (g_3, g'_X)$, (G^b, B') . (A.4.2)

The covariant derivative in the unbroken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_4 \hat{T}^a H^a - ig_X X B \,. \tag{A.4.3}$$

We assume the following field charged under the full Symmetry Group

$$\Delta \sim (\overline{\mathbf{4}}, -X_{\Delta}) \,. \tag{A.4.4}$$

Its VEV is chosen to be

$$\langle \Delta \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & v \end{pmatrix} . \tag{A.4.5}$$

Now we need to find the residual Gauge Group. To leave the VEV invariant we need to satisfy

$$\theta^a \langle \Delta \rangle \hat{T}^a + \beta X_\Delta \langle \Delta \rangle = 0.$$
 (A.4.6)

We have that

$$\langle \Delta \rangle \hat{T}^a = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad a = 1, ..., 8 \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \Delta \rangle = -\frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} \langle \Delta \rangle \hat{T}^{15} \,.$$
 (A.4.7)

Thus it represents a Gauge transformation where we keep free β and θ^a for a = 1, ..., 8 and we fix

$$\theta^{15} = \frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} X_{\Delta} \beta; \qquad \theta^a = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad a = 9, ..., 14.$$
(A.4.8)

Therefore the residual Gauge Group is given by $SU(3) \times U(1)_X$ and the generator of U(1) is given by

$$X' = X + \frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} X_{\Delta} \hat{T}^{15} \,. \tag{A.4.9}$$

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic term of Δ evaluated on the VEV. To do so we need its covariant derivative which reads as follows

$$D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle = i\frac{g_4}{2}v\left(H^9 + iH^{10} \quad H^{11} + iH^{12} \quad H^{13} + iH^{14} \quad -\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} + 2X_{\Delta}\frac{g_X}{g_4}B\right).$$
(A.4.10)

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left[(D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)^{\dagger}D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle\right] = \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4}v^{2}\sum_{a=9}^{14}(H^{a})^{2} + \frac{g_{2}^{2}}{4}v^{2}\left[(W^{1})^{2} + (W^{2})^{2}\right] + \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4}v^{2}\left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} - 2X_{\Delta}\frac{g_{X}}{g_{4}}B\right)^{2}.$$
(A.4.11)

In the same way as done in Sections A.1 and A.2, we need to diagonalize X to find the new Gauge boson basis.

After diagonalizing it we find that the Gauge boson basis reads (where a = 1, ..., 8)

$$G^{a} = H^{a}$$
 $m_{G}^{2} = 0$, (A.4.12a)
 $U^{\pm} = -\frac{1}{(H^{9} \pm i H^{10})}$

$$U_r^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (H^0 + iH^{10})$$

$$U_b^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (H^{11} \mp iH^{12}) \qquad m_U^2 = \frac{g_4^2}{2} v^2 , \qquad (A.4.12b)$$

$$U_g^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (H^{13} \mp iH^{14})$$

$$W^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W^1 \mp i W^2 \right) \qquad m_W^2 = \frac{g_2^2}{2} v^2 \,, \tag{A.4.12c}$$

$$B = c_{42}W^3 + s_{42}H^{15} \qquad m_B^2 = 0, \qquad (A.4.12d)$$

$$Z' = -s_{42}W^3 + c_{42}H^{15} \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = \frac{1}{2}v^2\left(\hat{g}_4^2 + 4X_\Delta^2 g_X^2\right) \tag{A.4.12e}$$

where we have defined using $\hat{g}_4 = \sqrt{6}/2 g_4$

$$c_{42} = \frac{\hat{g}_4}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + 4X_\Delta^2 g_X^2}}, \quad s_{42} = \frac{2X_\Delta g_X}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + 4X_\Delta^2 g_X^2}}$$
(A.4.13)

and (A.4.11) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_M = m_U^2 \sum_{c=r,b,g} U_c^+ U_c^- + m_W^2 W^+ W^- + \frac{1}{2} m_{Z'}^2 (Z')^2.$$
(A.4.14)

The massive boson fields have Charges $U_c^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{3}, \pm 2/3)$ (where c = r, b, g), $W^{\pm} \sim (\mathbf{1}, \pm 1)$ and $Z' \sim (\mathbf{1}, 0)$ under the residual Gauge Group.

By computing the covariant derivative in the broken phase we find the IR Gauge couplings written in terms of UV couplings which are given by

$$g_3 = g_4, \qquad g'_X = \frac{2X_\Delta \hat{g}_4 g_X}{\sqrt{\hat{g}_4^2 + 4X_\Delta^2 g_X^2}}.$$
 (A.4.15)

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_3 T^b G^b - ig'_X X' B' - ig_4 \sum_{c=r,b,g} \left(\hat{T}_c^+ U_c^+ + \hat{T}_c^- U_c^- \right) - i \frac{\hat{g}_4}{c_{42}} \left[\frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} X_\Delta \hat{T}^{15} - s_{42}^2 X' \right] Z'.$$
(A.4.16)

A.5 3311 into 31 Model

We want to study the SSB pattern

$$\operatorname{SU}(3)_h \times \operatorname{SU}(3)_\ell \times \operatorname{U}(1)_{X_h} \times \operatorname{U}(1)_{X_\ell} \to \operatorname{SU}(3) \times \operatorname{U}(1)_X$$
(A.5.1)

and we define the Gauge couplings and fields associated to the UV and IR theories (with SU(3) indices a = 1, ..., 8)

$$(g_3^h, g_3^\ell, g_X^h, g_X^\ell)$$
, $(C_h^a, C_\ell^a, B_h, B_\ell) \to (g_3, g_X)$, (G^a, B) . (A.5.2)

The covariant derivative in the unbroken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_3^h T_h^a C_h^a - ig_3^\ell T_\ell^a C_\ell^a - ig_X^h X_h B_h - ig_X^\ell X_\ell B_\ell \,. \tag{A.5.3}$$

We assume the following fields charged under the full Symmetric Group³¹

$$\Omega_1 \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}, X_1, -\eta X_1), \qquad \Omega_3 \sim (\overline{\mathbf{3}}, \mathbf{3}, X_3, -\eta X_3).$$
(A.5.4)

Notice that the Charges under U(1) have to be related one to the other to get a residual U(1) Symmetry after the SSB occurs. Their VEVs are chosen to be

$$\langle \Omega_1 \rangle = \omega_1 , \qquad \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega_3 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(A.5.5)

Now we need to find the residual Gauge Group. To leave the two VEVs invariant we need to satisfy

$$-\beta_h X_1 \langle \Omega_1 \rangle + \beta_\ell \eta X_1 \langle \Omega_1 \rangle = 0, \qquad \eta_h^a \langle \Omega_3 \rangle T_h^a - \eta_\ell^b T_\ell^b \langle \Omega_3 \rangle - \beta_h X_3 \langle \Omega_3 \rangle + \beta_\ell \eta X_3 \langle \Omega_3 \rangle = 0.$$
 (A.5.6)

Thus we need a Gauge transformation where we keep free β_h and η_h^a for a = 1, ..., 8 and we fix

$$\eta_{\ell}^{a} = \eta_{h}^{a} \text{ for } a = 1, ..., 8; \qquad \beta_{\ell} = \beta_{h}/\eta.$$
 (A.5.7)

Therefore the residual Gauge Group is given by $SU(3) \times U(1)_X$ where the U(1) generator is given by

$$X = X_h + \frac{1}{\eta} X_\ell \,. \tag{A.5.8}$$

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic terms of Ω_1 and Ω_3 evaluated on the VEV. To do so we need their covariant derivatives which read as follows

$$D_{\mu} \langle \Omega_1 \rangle - i \omega_1 g_X^h X_1 \left(B_h - \eta \frac{g_X^\ell}{g_X^h} B_\ell \right) , \qquad (A.5.9a)$$

$$D_{\mu}\langle\Omega_{3}\rangle = i\omega_{3}g_{3}^{h}\left(C_{h}^{a} - \frac{g_{3}^{\ell}}{g_{3}^{h}}C_{\ell}^{a}\right)T^{a} - i\omega_{3}g_{X}^{h}X_{3}\left(B_{h} - \eta\frac{g_{X}^{\ell}}{g_{X}^{h}}B_{\ell}\right)\mathbb{I}_{3\times3}.$$
(A.5.9b)

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_M \equiv \mathrm{Tr}\Big[(D_\mu \langle \Omega_1 \rangle)^{\dagger} D_\mu \langle \Omega_1 \rangle \Big] + \mathrm{Tr}\Big[(D_\mu \langle \Omega_3 \rangle)^{\dagger} D_\mu \langle \Omega_3 \rangle \Big] \,. \tag{A.5.10}$$

Using that $\operatorname{Tr}\left[T^{a}T^{b}\right] = \delta^{ab}/2$, $\operatorname{Tr}[\mathbb{I}_{3\times 3}] = 3$ and $\operatorname{Tr}[T^{a}] = 0$ we find that

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} = \frac{(g_{3}^{h})^{2}}{2} \omega_{3}^{2} \sum_{a=1}^{8} \left(C_{h}^{a} - \frac{g_{3}^{\ell}}{g_{3}^{h}} C_{\ell}^{a} \right)^{2} + (g_{X}^{h})^{2} \left(\omega_{1}^{2} X_{1}^{2} + 3 \, \omega_{3}^{2} X_{3}^{2} \right) \left(B_{h} - \eta \frac{g_{X}^{\ell}}{g_{X}^{h}} B_{\ell} \right)^{2} \,. \tag{A.5.11}$$

³¹In principle it is enough just Ω_3 ; however we include also Ω_1 .

Hence after diagonalizing it we find that the new Gauge boson basis reads (where a = 1, ..., 8)

$$G^a = s_3 H^a + c_3 C^a \qquad m_G^2 = 0,$$
 (A.5.12a)

$$G^{\prime a} = c_3 H^a - s_3 C^a \qquad m_{G^{\prime}}^2 = \omega_3^2 \left[(g_3^h)^2 + (g_3^\ell)^2 \right], \qquad (A.5.12b)$$

$$B = s_X B_h + c_X B_\ell$$
 $m_B^2 = 0$, (A.5.12c)

$$Z' = c_X B_h - s_X B_\ell \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = 2 \left(\omega_1^2 X_1^2 + 3 \, \omega_3^2 X_3^2 \right) \left[(g_X^h)^2 + \eta^2 (g_X^\ell)^2 \right]$$
(A.5.12d)

where we have defined

$$c_{3} = \frac{g_{3}^{h}}{\sqrt{(g_{3}^{h})^{2} + (g_{3}^{\ell})^{2}}}, \quad s_{3} = \frac{g_{3}^{\ell}}{\sqrt{(g_{3}^{h})^{2} + (g_{3}^{\ell})^{2}}}, \quad c_{X} = \frac{g_{X}^{h}}{\sqrt{(g_{X}^{h})^{2} + \eta^{2}(g_{X}^{\ell})^{2}}}, \quad s_{X} = \frac{\eta g_{X}^{\ell}}{\sqrt{(g_{X}^{h})^{2} + \eta^{2}(g_{X}^{\ell})^{2}}}, \quad (A.5.13)$$

and (A.5.11) reads

$$\mathcal{L}_M = \frac{1}{2} m_{G'}^2 \sum_{a=1}^8 (G'^a)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m_{Z'}^2 (Z')^2 \,. \tag{A.5.14}$$

The massive boson fields have Charges $G^{\prime a} \sim (\mathbf{8}, 0)$ and $Z^{\prime} \sim (\mathbf{1}, 0)$ under the residual Gauge Group.

By computing the covariant derivative in the broken phase we find the IR Gauge couplings written in terms of UV couplings which are given by

$$g_3 = \frac{g_3^h g_3^\ell}{\sqrt{(g_3^h)^2 + (g_3^\ell)^2}}, \qquad g_X = \frac{\eta g_X^h g_X^\ell}{\sqrt{(g_X^h)^2 + \eta^2 (g_X^\ell)^2}}.$$
 (A.5.15)

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_3 T^a G^a - ig_X X B - i \frac{g_3^h}{2c_3} \left(c_3^2 - s_3^2 \right) T^a G'^a - i \frac{g_X^h}{c_X} \left[X_h - s_X^2 X \right] Z'.$$
(A.5.16)

A.6 2 into 1 Model

We want to study the SSB pattern

$$SU(2) \rightarrow U(1)_X$$
 (A.6.1)

and we define the Gauge couplings and fields associated to the UV and IR theories (with SU(2) indices i = 1, 2, 3)

$$g_2, \quad W^i \quad \to \quad g_X, \quad B.$$
 (A.6.2)

The covariant derivative in the unbroken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_2 T^i W^i \,. \tag{A.6.3}$$

We assume the following field charged under the full Symmetric Group

$$\Sigma \sim 3$$
. (A.6.4)

such that it transforms under the adjoint representation of the Group. Its VEV is chosen to be

$$\langle \Sigma \rangle = \frac{v}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = v T^3.$$
(A.6.5)

Since by construction the only vanishing commutator between the VEV and the generators is

$$[\langle \Sigma \rangle, T^3] = 0 \tag{A.6.6}$$

we have that the residual Gauge Group is given by U(1) with generator

$$X = T^3. (A.6.7)$$

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic term of Σ evaluated on the VEV. To do so we need its covariant derivative which reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} \langle \Sigma^i \rangle = -i v g_2 \varepsilon^{ij3} W^j \,. \tag{A.6.8}$$

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[(D_{\mu} \langle \Sigma^i \rangle)^{\dagger} (D_{\mu} \langle \Sigma^i \rangle) \right] = \frac{1}{2} v^2 g_2^2 \left[(W^1)^2 + (W^2)^2 \right].$$
(A.6.9)

To see which is the mass-basis we need to diagonalize the X operator. It turns out that under a U(1) transformation $W \to (\mathbb{I} - i\beta \mathbb{X})W$ where

$$\mathbb{X} = \operatorname{diag}(\mathbb{X}_{12}, 0) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{X}_{12} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.6.10)

Hence after diagonalizing it we find that the Gauge boson basis reads

$$W^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W^1 \mp i W^2 \right) \qquad m_W^2 = g_2^2 v^2 \,, \tag{A.6.11a}$$

$$B = W^3$$
 $m_B^2 = 0$ (A.6.11b)

and (A.6.9) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_M = m_W^2 W^+ W^- \,. \tag{A.6.12}$$

The massive boson fields have Charges $W^{\pm} \sim \pm 1$ under the residual Gauge Group.

By computing the covariant derivative in the broken phase we find the IR Gauge coupling written in terms of UV couplings which is given by

$$g_X = g_2 \,. \tag{A.6.13}$$

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_X X B - ig_2 \left(T^+ W^+ + T^- W^- \right) .$$
 (A.6.14)

A.7 11 into 1 Model

We want to study the SSB pattern

$$U(1)_X \times U(1)_Y \quad \to \quad U(1)_Z \tag{A.7.1}$$

and we define the Gauge couplings and fields associated to the UV and IR theories

$$(g_X, g_Y), (B_X, B_Y) \rightarrow g_Z, B_Z.$$
 (A.7.2)

The covariant derivative in the unbroken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_X X B_X - ig_Y Y B_Y \,. \tag{A.7.3}$$

We assume the following field charged under the full Symmetric Group

$$\Delta \sim (X_{\Delta}, -\eta X_{\Delta}) \,. \tag{A.7.4}$$

Its VEV is chosen to be

$$\langle \Delta \rangle = v \,. \tag{A.7.5}$$

Now we need to find the residual Gauge Group. To leave the VEV invariant we need to satisfy

$$-\alpha X_{\Delta} \langle \Delta \rangle + \beta \, \eta X_{\Delta} \langle \Delta \rangle = 0 \,. \tag{A.7.6}$$

Thus we need a Gauge transformation where we keep free α and we fix $\beta = \alpha/\eta$. Therefore the residual Gauge Group is given by U(1)_Z with generator

$$Z = X + \frac{1}{\eta}Y. \tag{A.7.7}$$

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic term of Δ evaluated on the VEV. To do so we need its covariant derivative which reads as follows

$$D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle = -iv\,g_X X_{\Delta} \left(B_X - \eta \frac{g_Y}{g_X} B_Y\right) \,. \tag{A.7.8}$$

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \text{Tr}\Big[(D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)^{\dagger}(D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)\Big] = v^2 g_X^2 X_{\Delta}^2 \left(B_X - \eta \frac{g_Y}{g_X} B_Y\right)^2.$$
(A.7.9)

Hence after diagonalizing it we find that the new Gauge boson basis reads

$$B_Z = s_{XY}B_X + c_{XY}B_Y \qquad m_{B_Z}^2 = 0, (A.7.10a)$$

$$Z' = c_{XY}B_X - s_{XY}B_Y \qquad m_{Z'}^2 = 2v^2 X_{\Delta}^2 \left(g_X^2 + \eta^2 g_Y^2\right)$$
(A.7.10b)

where we have defined

$$c_{XY} = \frac{g_X}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + \eta^2 g_Y^2}}, \quad s_{XY} = \frac{\eta \, g_Y}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + \eta^2 g_Y^2}} \tag{A.7.11}$$

and (A.7.9) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_M = \frac{1}{2} m_{Z'}^2 Z'^2 \,. \tag{A.7.12}$$

The massive boson field have Charge $Z' \sim 0$ under the residual Gauge Group.

By computing the covariant derivative in the broken phase we find the IR Gauge coupling written in terms of UV couplings which is given by

$$g_Z = \frac{\eta \, g_X g_Y}{\sqrt{g_X^2 + \eta^2 g_Y^2}} \,. \tag{A.7.13}$$

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_Z Z B_Z - i \frac{g_X}{c_{XY}} \left(X - s_{XY}^2 Z \right) Z'.$$
(A.7.14)

B Scattering - Calculations

In this Chapter we compute some of the relevant processes that we considered in Chapter 5 in the framework of the model we considered. Consistently to what has been done in that Chapter, for the notation we refer to Appendix F. In particular all the relevant Feynman rules are reported in Section F.4. We also recall that, to distinguish the CKM matrix from the mixing matrix between SM charged leptons and exotic neutrinos, the first will always care indices $V_{qq'}$ where q = u, c, t and q' = d, s, b while the second $V_{\alpha i}$ where $\alpha = e, \mu, \tau$ and i = 1, 2, 3.

B.1 Top-like Decay



Figure 1: Feynman diagrams corresponding to n^i (a), (b), (c) and t (d) decays.

We want to compute the decay rate $n^i(p) \to W^+(k)\ell^{\alpha}(q)$ assuming that it is kinematically allowed. The only Feynman diagram contributing to the process is pictured in Figure 1(a). The scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_a = \frac{ig}{2\sqrt{2}} V_{\alpha i} \overline{u}_\alpha(q) \gamma^\mu (1-\gamma^5) u_n(p) \varepsilon^*_\mu(k) \,. \tag{B.1.1}$$

Since n^i is a Dirac-type fermion, the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads in the limit where $m_{\alpha} \to 0$

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{a}|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_{a}|^{2} = 2\sqrt{2} G_{F} |V_{\alpha i}|^{2} \Big[M_{W}^{2}(p \cdot q) + 2(k \cdot q)(k \cdot p) \Big].$$
(B.1.2)

The decay rate reads from (G.3.5)

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2M_i} \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3 2E_k} \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3 2E_q} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (p-q-k) |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_a|^2 \,. \tag{B.1.3}$$

By using momentum conservation we find that

$$2k \cdot q = 2p \cdot q = M_i^2 - M_W^2, \qquad 2p \cdot k = M_i^2 + M_W^2.$$
(B.1.4)

Thus, as expected, the scattering amplitude factorizes out from the integration. Also the phase space of a decay process of type $A \rightarrow BC$ has been computed in Section E.3. Therefore we find that

$$\Gamma\left(n^{i} \to W\ell^{\alpha}\right) = \frac{G_{F}|V_{\alpha i}|^{2}M_{i}^{3}}{8\pi\sqrt{2}}\left(1 - \frac{M_{W}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right)^{2}\left(1 + 2\frac{M_{W}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right)$$
(B.1.5)

and recall that this holds in the limit where $m_{\alpha} \to 0$ and when $M_i > M_W$.

Thanks to the calculation done above, we observe that we got for free the decay rate of the process $n^i(p) \to Z(k)\nu^j(q)$, represented in Figure 1(b). In fact the scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_b = \frac{ig}{4c_W} (U^{\dagger}V)_{ji} \overline{u}_{\nu}(q) \gamma^{\mu} (1-\gamma^5) u_n(p) \varepsilon^*_{\mu}(k)$$
(B.1.6)

which is exactly \mathcal{M}_a but sending

$$V_{\alpha i} \rightarrow \frac{1}{\sqrt{2} c_W} (U^{\dagger} V)_{ji} .$$
 (B.1.7)

Hence we find that

$$\Gamma\left(n^{i} \to Z \nu^{j}\right) = \frac{G_{F}|(U^{\dagger}V)_{ji}|^{2}M_{i}^{3}}{16\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_{Z}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(1 + 2\frac{M_{Z}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right).$$
(B.1.8)

The same happens for the process $t(p) \to W^+(k)b(q)$, represented in Figure 1(d). This also is the dominating decay process for the top quark, hence we will be able to compute its total decay width. The scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_d = \frac{ig}{2\sqrt{2}} V_{tb}^* \overline{u}_b(q) \gamma^\mu (1 - \gamma^5) u_t(p) \varepsilon_\mu^*(k)$$
(B.1.9)

which is exactly \mathcal{M}_a but sending

$$V_{\alpha i} \rightarrow V_{tb}$$
. (B.1.10)

Hence we find that

$$\Gamma_t = \frac{G_F |V_{tb}|^2 m_t^3}{8\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_W^2}{m_t^2}\right)^2 \left(1 + 2\frac{M_W^2}{m_t^2}\right) \,. \tag{B.1.11}$$

A similar discussion can be done for the process $n^i(p) \to h(k)\nu^j(q)$, represented in Figure 1(c). The scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_c = -i\frac{M_i}{2v}(U^{\dagger}V)_{ji}\overline{u}_{\nu}(q)(1+\gamma^5)u_n(p).$$
(B.1.12)

Since n^i is a Dirac-type fermion, the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads as follows

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{c}|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_{c}|^{2} = \frac{M_{i}^{4}}{2v^{2}} |(U^{\dagger}V)_{ji}| \left(1 - \frac{M_{h}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right).$$
(B.1.13)

Since the phase space is similar to the ones computed before, we end up finding that

$$\Gamma\left(n^{i} \to h \nu^{j}\right) = \frac{G_{F}|(U^{\dagger}V)_{ji}|^{2}M_{i}^{3}}{16\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_{h}^{2}}{M_{i}^{2}}\right)^{2}.$$
(B.1.14)

B.2 Muon-like Decay



Figure 2: Feynman diagrams corresponding to n^1 (a) and μ (b) decays.

We want to compute the decay rate $n^1(k) \to \ell^{\alpha}(p)\overline{\ell}^{\beta}(q)\nu^i(r)$. The only Feynman diagram contributing to the process is pictured in Figure 2(a). The scattering amplitude reads as follows in the limit where $M_W \gg M_1$

$$i\mathcal{M}_a = -\frac{ig^2}{8M_W^2} V_{\alpha 1} U_{\beta i}^* \overline{u}_\alpha(p) \gamma_\mu (1-\gamma^5) u_n(k) \overline{u}_\nu(r) \gamma^\mu (1-\gamma^5) v_\beta(q) \,. \tag{B.2.1}$$

Since n^1 is a Dirac-type fermion, the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads as follows

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{a}|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_{a}|^{2} = 64 \, G_{F}^{2} |V_{\alpha 1} U_{\beta i}^{*}|^{2} \Big[(p \cdot q)(r \cdot k) - m_{\alpha} M_{1}(q \cdot r) \Big] \,. \tag{B.2.2}$$

The decay rate reads from (G.3.5)

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2M_1} \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 2E_p} \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3 2E_q} \frac{d^3r}{(2\pi)^3 2E_r} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (k-p-q-r) |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_a|^2.$$
(B.2.3)

By defining

$$x_1 \equiv \frac{2p \cdot k}{k^2}, \quad x_2 \equiv \frac{2q \cdot k}{k^2}, \qquad \varepsilon_1 \equiv \frac{m_\alpha^2}{M_1^2}, \quad \varepsilon_2 = \frac{m_\beta^2}{M_1^2}$$
(B.2.4)

and using momentum conservation, we find that

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_a|^2 = \frac{M_1^4}{4} f(x_1, x_2)$$
 (B.2.5)

where

$$f(x_1, x_2) = (x_1 + x_2 - 1 - \varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2) (2 - x_1 - x_2) + 2\sqrt{\varepsilon_1}(1 - x_1 + \varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2).$$
(B.2.6)

The phase space of a 3-body decay has been computed in Section E.4. Therefore we find that

$$\Gamma\left(n^1 \to \ell^{\alpha} \overline{\ell}^{\beta} \nu^i\right) = \frac{G_F^2 |V_{\alpha 1} U_{\beta i}^*|^2 M_1^5}{192\pi^3} \Phi \tag{B.2.7}$$

where

$$\Phi = 12 \int_{x_1^{min}}^{x_1^{max}} dx_1 \int_{x_2^{min}}^{x_2^{max}} dx_2 f(x_1, x_2)$$
(B.2.8)

and the extremes of integration are given by (E.4.16) and (E.4.18) with $\varepsilon_3 = 0$. We observe that in the limit where $\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_2 = 0$ we find that $\Phi = 1$.

Thanks to the calculation done above, we observe that we got for free the total decay width of the muon. This because the decay rate is completely dominated by the process $\mu^-(k) \to e^-(r)\nu_{\mu}(p)\overline{\nu}_e(q)$, represented in Figure 2(b). In fact the scattering amplitude reads as follows in the limit where $M_W \gg m_{\mu}$

$$i\mathcal{M}_{b} = -\frac{ig^{2}}{8M_{W}^{2}}\overline{u}_{\nu}(p)\gamma_{\mu}(1-\gamma^{5})u_{\mu}(k)\overline{u}_{e}(r)\gamma^{\mu}(1-\gamma^{5})v_{\nu}(q).$$
(B.2.9)

Hence, in the limit where $m_e \to 0$, we have that the unpolarized squared-amplitude is given by (B.2.2) when $m_{\alpha} = 0$. Hence we find that

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_b|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_b|^2 = 64 \, G_F^2(p \cdot q)(r \cdot k) \,. \tag{B.2.10}$$

Since the phase space integration is the same as before but with $m_{\alpha} = m_{\beta} = 0$ and by sending $M_1 \to m_{\mu}$, the total decay width of the muon reads as follows

$$\Gamma_{\mu} = \frac{G_F^2 m_{\mu}^5}{192\pi^3} \tag{B.2.11}$$

since in this massless limit $\Phi = 1$.



Figure 3: Feynman diagrams corresponding to Z (a) and h (b) invisible decays.

B.3 Invisible Z and Higgs Decay Widths

In this Section we compute the invisible decay widths of Z and h bosons predicted by our model. We want to compute the invisible decay rate of Z. In the SM this is given only by the process $Z \to \nu \overline{\nu}$. In the framework of the model we are considering, this gets a NP correction that we parameterize as follows

$$\Delta_{\rm NP}\Gamma(Z\to{\rm inv})\equiv\Gamma(Z\to{\rm inv})-\Gamma_{\rm SM}(Z\to{\rm inv})\,.\tag{B.3.1}$$

This correction gets two different contributions: one from the decay channel $Z \to \nu \overline{n} + \overline{\nu} n$ and one from the modification in the coupling constant between Z and ν since it gains the factor $U^{\dagger}U \neq \mathbb{I}$. Both are of the same order since from naive dimensional analysis

$$\frac{\Gamma(Z \to \nu \overline{n} + \overline{\nu}n)}{\Gamma(Z \to \nu \overline{\nu})} \sim \frac{v^2}{v_F^2}, \qquad \mathbb{I} - (U^{\dagger}U)^2 \sim \frac{v^2}{v_F^2}. \tag{B.3.2}$$

However, for the simple treatment we want to do, we will need just an order of magnitude of this NP contributions. Thus the second effect will contribute only for an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ factor of correction with respect to the first one and it will not modify the main results made in Section 5.6.

We want to compute the decay rate of the channel $Z(k) \to \nu^j(q)\overline{n}^k(p)$ assuming that it is kinematically allowed. The only Feynman diagram contributing to the process is pictured in Figure 3(a). The scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_a = \frac{ig}{4c_W} (U^{\dagger}V)_{jk} \overline{u}_{\nu}(q) \gamma^{\mu} (1-\gamma^5) v_n(p) \varepsilon^*_{\mu}(k) \,. \tag{B.3.3}$$

Since Z is a massive vector boson, the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads as follows

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{a}|^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_{a}|^{2} = \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3} G_{F} |(U^{\dagger}V)_{jk}|^{2} \Big[M_{Z}^{2}(p \cdot q) + 2(k \cdot q)(k \cdot p) \Big].$$
(B.3.4)

The decay rate reads from (G.3.5)

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2M_Z} \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 2E_p} \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3 2E_q} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4(p+q-k) |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_a|^2 \,. \tag{B.3.5}$$

By using momentum conservation we find that

$$2k \cdot q = 2p \cdot q = M_Z^2 - M_k^2, \qquad 2p \cdot k = M_Z^2 + M_k^2.$$
(B.3.6)

Thus, as expected, the scattering amplitude factorizes out from the integration. Also the phase space of a decay process of type $A \rightarrow BC$ has been computed in Section E.3. Therefore we find that

$$\Gamma\left(Z \to \nu^{j} \overline{n}^{k}\right) = \frac{G_{F} |(U^{\dagger} V)_{jk}|^{2} M_{Z}^{3}}{12\pi\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_{k}^{2}}{M_{Z}^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(1 + \frac{M_{k}^{2}}{2M_{Z}^{2}}\right)$$
(B.3.7)

and recall that this holds when $M_Z > M_k$. Moreover this decay rate is the same also for the process $Z \to \overline{\nu}^j n^k$.

Since $UU^{\dagger} \approx \mathbb{I}$, we can observe that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{3} |(U^{\dagger}V)_{jk}|^2 = \sum_{j,\alpha=1}^{3} |U_{\alpha j}|^2 |V_{\alpha k}|^2 = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{3} (UU^{\dagger})_{\alpha \alpha} |V_{\alpha k}|^2 \approx (V^{\dagger}V)_{kk}$$
(B.3.8)

Therefore we expect that (apart from minor corrections)

$$\Delta_{\rm NP}\Gamma(Z\to{\rm inv})\approx \frac{G_F M_Z^3}{6\sqrt{2}\pi}\sum_k (V^{\dagger}V)_{kk}$$
(B.3.9)

where the sum is taken over all possible kinematically allowed configurations.

We want to compute the invisible decay rate of h. In the SM this is given only by the process $h \to \nu \overline{\nu}$. However this is extremely suppressed by the small neutrino masses. Hence, in the framework of the model we are considering, we can say that the NP contribution is given by

$$\Delta_{\rm NP}\Gamma(h\to{\rm inv})\equiv\Gamma(h\to{\rm inv})-\Gamma_{\rm SM}(h\to{\rm inv})\approx\Gamma(h\to{\rm inv})\,.\tag{B.3.10}$$

Also in this model the invisible decay rate of h is dominated by the decay channel $h \to \nu \overline{n} + \overline{\nu} n$.

We want to compute the decay rate of the channel $h(k) \to \nu^j(q)\overline{n}^k(p)$ assuming that it is kinematically allowed. The only Feynman diagram contributing to the process is pictured in Figure 3(b). The scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_b = \frac{-iM_k}{2v} (U^{\dagger}V)_{jk} \overline{u}_{\nu}(q) (1+\gamma^5) v_n(p) \,. \tag{B.3.11}$$

Since h is a real scalar boson, the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads as follows

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_b|^2 = \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_b|^2 = \frac{2M_k^2}{v^2} |(U^{\dagger}V)_{jk}|^2 (p \cdot q).$$
(B.3.12)

The decay rate reads from (G.3.5)

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2M_h} \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 2E_p} \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3 2E_q} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4(p+q-k) |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_b|^2 \,. \tag{B.3.13}$$

By using momentum conservation we find that

$$2p \cdot q = M_h^2 - M_k^2. \tag{B.3.14}$$

Thus, as expected, the scattering amplitude factorizes out from the integration. Also the phase space of a decay process of type $A \rightarrow BC$ has been computed in Section E.3. Therefore we find that

$$\Gamma\left(h \to \nu^{j} \overline{n}^{k}\right) = \frac{|(U^{\dagger}V)_{jk}|^{2} M_{k}^{2} M_{h}}{16\pi v^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{M_{k}^{2}}{M_{h}^{2}}\right)^{2}$$
(B.3.15)

and recall that this holds when $M_h > M_k$. Moreover this decay rate is the same also for the process $h \to \overline{\nu}^j n^k$.

Therefore, using (B.3.8), we expect that (apart from minor corrections)

$$\Gamma\left(h \to \text{inv}\right) \approx \frac{M_h}{8\pi v^2} \sum_k M_k^2 (V^{\dagger} V)_{kk} \left(1 - \frac{M_k^2}{M_h^2}\right)^2 \tag{B.3.16}$$

where the sum is taken over all possible kinematically allowed configurations.

B.4 Charged Hadronic Decay

We want to compute the decay rate $n^1(k) \to \ell^{\alpha}(q)h_P^+$ where $h_P^+(p)$ is a positively-charged pseudoscalar meson (like π^+ or K^+). Since we have a hadron in the scattering process, we need to deal with it in the way described in Section E.2. Thus we have that the scattering amplitude reads as follows³²

$$i\mathcal{M}_a = -\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} f_h V_{\alpha 1} V_{ud} \,\overline{u}_\alpha(q) \not\!\!p (1-\gamma^5) u_n(k) \,. \tag{B.4.1}$$

Using momentum conservation and spinor properties we can further simplify the fermionic bilinear as follows

$$\overline{u}_{\alpha}(q) \not\!\!p (1-\gamma^5) u_n(k) = \overline{u}_{\alpha}(q) \left[M_1 - m_{\alpha} + \gamma^5 (M_1 + m_{\alpha}) \right] u_n(k) \,. \tag{B.4.2}$$

Since n^1 is a Dirac-type fermion, the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads as follows

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{a}|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_{a}|^{2} = G_{F}^{2} f_{h}^{2} |V_{ud}|^{2} |V_{\alpha 1}|^{2} M_{1}^{4} \left[\left(1 - \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \right)^{2} - \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \right) \right]$$
(B.4.3)

where we have used that

$$2k \cdot q = M_1^2 + m_\alpha^2 - m_h^2.$$
 (B.4.4)

The decay rate reads from (G.3.5)

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2M_1} \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3 2E_q} \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 2E_p} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (k-p-q) |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_a|^2 \,. \tag{B.4.5}$$

As expected, the scattering amplitude factorizes out from the integration. Also the phase space of a decay process of type $A \to BC$ has been computed Section E.3. Therefore we find that

$$\Gamma\left(n^{1} \to \ell^{\alpha} h_{P}^{+}\right) = \frac{G_{F}^{2}}{16\pi} f_{h}^{2} |V_{ud}|^{2} |V_{\alpha 1}|^{2} M_{1}^{3} \left[\left(1 - \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right)^{2} - \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right) \right] \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(1, \frac{m_{\alpha}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}, \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right)$$
(B.4.6)

where $\lambda(a, b, c)$ is the Källén function (E.3.11).

A similar discussion holds for the related process $h_P^-(p) \to n^1(k)\ell^{\alpha}(q)$. In fact the scattering amplitude reads formally the same

$$i\mathcal{M}_b = -\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} f_h V_{\alpha 1} V_{ud} \,\overline{u}_\alpha(q) \not p(1-\gamma^5) u_n(k) \,. \tag{B.4.7}$$

The only differences are that this time

$$\overline{u}_{\alpha}(q)\not\!\!p(1-\gamma^5)u_n(k) = \overline{u}_{\alpha}(q)\left[M_1 + m_{\alpha} + \gamma^5(M_1 - m_{\alpha})\right]u_n(k)$$
(B.4.8)

and

$$2k \cdot q = m_h^2 - M_1^2 - m_\alpha^2.$$
(B.4.9)

In the end we find that

$$\Gamma\left(h_P^- \to n^1 \ell^\alpha\right) = \frac{G_F^2}{8\pi} f_h^2 |V_{ud}|^2 |V_{\alpha 1}|^2 m_h \left[M_1^2 + m_\alpha^2 - \frac{1}{m_h^2} \left(M_1^2 - m_\alpha^2\right)^2\right] \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(1, \frac{m_\alpha^2}{m_h^2}, \frac{M_1^2}{m_h^2}\right). \quad (B.4.10)$$

The same is true for the process $\tau^{-}(q) \rightarrow \nu^{j}(k)\pi^{-}(p)$. The scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_{c} = -\frac{G_{F}}{\sqrt{2}} f_{\pi} U_{\tau j}^{*} V_{ud}^{*} \,\overline{u}_{\nu}(k) \not\!\!p (1 - \gamma^{5}) u_{\tau} \,. \tag{B.4.11}$$

³²Here and in the following processes the CKM component V_{ud} stands for generic quark flavours that depend on h_P^{\pm} .

This time we have that

$$\overline{u}_{\nu}(k)p(1-\gamma^5)u_{\tau}(q) = m_{\tau}\,\overline{u}_{\nu}(k)(1+\gamma^5)u_{\tau}(q)\,. \tag{B.4.12}$$

By using momentum conservation we find

$$2k \cdot q = m_{\tau}^2 - m_{\pi}^2. \tag{B.4.13}$$

Thus by proceeding as before we end up with

$$\Gamma\left(\tau^{-} \to \nu^{j} \pi^{-}\right) = \frac{G_{F}^{2}}{8\pi} |V_{ud}|^{2} |U_{\tau j}|^{2} f_{\pi}^{2} m_{\tau}^{3} \left(1 - \frac{m_{\pi}^{2}}{m_{\tau}^{2}}\right)^{2} . \tag{B.4.14}$$

B.5 Neutral Hadronic Decay

We want to compute the decay rate $n^1(k) \to \nu^j(q)h_P^0(p)$ where h_P^0 is a neutral pseudoscalar meson (like π^0 or K^0). Since we have a hadron in the scattering process, we need to deal with it in the way described in Section E.2. Thus we have that the scattering amplitude reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M}_{a} = \frac{G_{F}}{2} f_{h}(U^{\dagger}V)_{j1} \,\overline{u}_{\nu}(q) \not p(1-\gamma^{5}) u_{n}(k) \,. \tag{B.5.1}$$

Using momentum conservation and spinor properties we can further simplify the fermionic bilinear as follows

$$\overline{u}_{\alpha}(q) p(1-\gamma^5) u_n(k) = M_1 \overline{u}_{\alpha}(q)(1+\gamma^5) u_n(k) \,. \tag{B.5.2}$$

Since n^1 is a Dirac-type fermion, the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{a}|^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}_{a}|^{2} = \frac{1}{4} G_{F}^{2} f_{h}^{2} |(U^{\dagger}V)_{j1}|^{2} M_{1}^{4} \left(1 - \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right)$$
(B.5.3)

where we have used that

$$2k \cdot q = M_1^2 - m_h^2. \tag{B.5.4}$$

The decay rate reads from (G.3.5)

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2M_1} \int \frac{d^3q}{(2\pi)^3 2E_q} \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 2E_p} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (k-p-q) |\overline{\mathcal{M}}_a|^2 \,. \tag{B.5.5}$$

As expected, the scattering amplitude factorizes out from the integration. Also the phase space of a decay process of type $A \to BC$ has been computed in Section E.3. Therefore we find that

$$\Gamma\left(n^1 \to \nu^j h_P^0\right) = \frac{G_F^2}{64\pi} f_h^2 |(U^{\dagger}V)_{j1}|^2 M_1^3 \left(1 - \frac{m_h^2}{M_1^2}\right)^2.$$
(B.5.6)

Thanks to the calculation done above, we observe that we got for free the decay rate of the process $h_P^0(p) \rightarrow n^1(k)\nu^j(q)$. In fact the scattering amplitude reads exactly as before. The only difference is that this time

$$2k \cdot q = m_h^2 - M_1^2 \tag{B.5.7}$$

and the unpolarized squared-amplitude does not have the factor 1/2 to account for the spin. In the end we find that

$$\Gamma\left(h_P^0 \to n^1 \nu^j\right) = \frac{G_F^2}{32\pi} f_h^2 |(U^{\dagger}V)_{j1}|^2 M_1^2 m_h \left(1 - \frac{M_1^2}{m_h^2}\right)^2.$$
(B.5.8)

B.6 Decay Rate of $\mu \to e\gamma$

We want to compute the decay rate of the process $\mu(p) \to e(p')\gamma(q)$ under the assumptions of having a generic number of neutrino states ν_j with masses m_j which could be even very large in principle. A reference to this calculation can be found for instance in [17].

We observe that from Lorentz invariance the most general scattering amplitude takes the form (where A, ..., F are generic scalar coefficients)

$$i\mathcal{M} = \overline{u}_e(p') \left[(A + B\gamma^5)p^\mu + (C + D\gamma^5)\gamma^\mu + (E + F\gamma^5)p'^\mu \right] u_\mu(p) \,\varepsilon^*_\mu(q) \tag{B.6.1}$$

and in particular there is no q^{μ} coefficient thanks to momentum conservation p = p' + q. Now we can use the Gordon Identity (G.2.12) to rewrite the scattering amplitude in the following form (eventually after relabelling the scalar coefficients)

$$i\mathcal{M} = \overline{u}_e(p-q) \left[(A+B\gamma^5)i\sigma^{\mu\nu}q_\nu + (C+D\gamma^5)\gamma^\mu + (E+F\gamma^5)q^\mu \right] u_\mu(p)\,\varepsilon^*_\mu(q)\,. \tag{B.6.2}$$

By imposing Ward Identity and using the on-shellness conditions of the spinors (G.2.9) we find that

$$C(m_{\mu} - m_e) - D\gamma^5(m_{\mu} + m_e) + q^2(E + F\gamma^5) = 0.$$
(B.6.3)

Since the photon is on-shell $(q^2 = 0)$, we find that C = D = 0. Also the coefficients E and F are irrelevant because for physical polarizations we have that $q^{\mu}\varepsilon_{\mu}(q) = 0$. Thus we are left with

$$i\mathcal{M} = \overline{u}_e(p-q) \left[(A+B\gamma^5) i\sigma^{\mu\nu} q_\nu \right] u_\mu(p) \,\varepsilon^*_\mu(q) \,. \tag{B.6.4}$$

We are interested to study this process in the limit where $m_e \to 0$. Hence we have that the electron is purely LH (since the process is mediated by W exchange only). This means that we have $\overline{u}_e(p-q)(1+\gamma^5)$ at the beginning of the fermionic bilinear. This implies that A = B. Finally we can exploit the Gordon Identity once again to rewrite the $\sigma^{\mu\nu}q_{\nu}$ term as follows, leading to the final form of the scattering amplitude

$$i\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{A}\,\overline{u}_e(p-q)(1+\gamma^5) \Big[2\,p\cdot\varepsilon^*(q) - m_\mu \varepsilon^*(q) \Big] u_\mu(p) \tag{B.6.5}$$

and \mathcal{A} is a scalar form-factor which is momentum-independent. This is because, thanks to momentum conservation p = q + p' and the fact that all momenta are on-shell, the only independent scalar product between the momenta is

$$2p \cdot q = p^2 + q^2 - p'^2 = m_{\mu}^2 - m_e^2.$$
 (B.6.6)

The precise calculation of \mathcal{A} is done in the following Section.

Now we can evaluate the decay rate associated to the process considered. We have that the unpolarized squared-amplitude reads in the limit where $m_e \rightarrow 0$

$$|\overline{\mathcal{M}}|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{spin}} |\mathcal{M}|^2 = 8m_{\mu}^2 |\mathcal{A}|^2 \left(m_{\mu}^2 - p \cdot q\right) = 4 m_{\mu}^4 |\mathcal{A}|^2.$$
(B.6.7)

The decay rate reads from (G.3.5)

$$\Gamma = \frac{1}{2m_{\mu}} \int \frac{d^3 p'}{(2\pi)^3 2E_{p'}} \frac{d^3 q}{(2\pi)^3 2E_q} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (p - q - p') |\overline{\mathcal{M}}|^2 \,. \tag{B.6.8}$$

The phase space of a decay process of type $A \to BC$ has been computed in Section E.3. Therefore we find that

$$\Gamma\left(\mu \to e\gamma\right) = \frac{m_{\mu}^3}{4\pi} |\mathcal{A}|^2.$$
(B.6.9)

The 1-loop form-factor \mathcal{A} is given by (B.7.23) while the total decay rate of the muon is given by (B.2.11). Therefore we can compute explicitly the branching ratio associated to the decay channel $\mu \to e\gamma$. It is given by

$$Br(\mu \to e\gamma) \equiv \frac{\Gamma(\mu \to e\gamma)}{\Gamma(\mu \to e\nu\overline{\nu})} = \frac{3\alpha}{32\pi} |\delta_{\nu}|^2$$
(B.6.10)

where

$$\delta_{\nu} = 2 \sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} g\left(\frac{m_{j}^{2}}{M_{W}^{2}}\right)$$
(B.6.11)

and g(x) is given by (B.7.24).

B.7 1-Loop Form-Factor of $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$



Figure 4: Feynman diagrams corresponding to the process $\mu \to e\gamma$ at 1-loop.

We recall that in the previous Section we have shown that the scattering amplitude related to the process $\mu(p) \to e(p')\gamma(q)$ reads as follows

$$i\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{A}\,\overline{u}_e(p-q)(1+\gamma^5) \Big[2\,p\cdot\varepsilon^*(q) - m_\mu \not\epsilon^*(q) \Big] u_\mu(p) \tag{B.7.1}$$

and we still need to compute the scalar coefficient \mathcal{A} . We want to compute it at 1-loop level and we assume to work with a generic number of neutrino states ν_j with generic masses m_j . We call $U_{\alpha j}$ the generic mixing matrix between the charged lepton of flavour $\alpha = e, \mu, \tau$ and the *j*-th neutrino state. Also we expect that the final value will be finite since there are no counter-terms in the SM Lagrangian to possibly reabsorb any divergent behaviour.

The Feynman diagrams related to the process at 1-loop are listed in Figure 4. To find \mathcal{A} , we observe that we can focus only on the terms with the following Lorentz structure

$$\Gamma \equiv 2 p \cdot \varepsilon^*(q) \,\overline{u}_e(p-q)(1+\gamma^5) u_\mu(p) \,. \tag{B.7.2}$$

This means that we can avoid calculating all the e-type diagrams since they are in the form $\overline{u}_e \notin^* u_\mu$. Hence we can say that

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_a + \mathcal{A}_b + \mathcal{A}_c + \mathcal{A}_d \tag{B.7.3}$$

where we split the contribution coming from each of the diagrams in the first line of Figure 4. In the following we assign the internal momentum k running in the loop such that the virtual neutrino state ν_j brings momentum p + k. We also work in the 't Hooft Gauge $\xi = 1$. This is very helpful because in this Gauge the propagators of W^- do not have the $k^{\mu}k^{\nu}$ term in the numerator which is the only possible source of divergences in the loop integrals. Thus in this Gauge we can safely work since the beginning in d = 4 dimensions.

Diagram (a) gives the following scattering amplitude

$$i\mathcal{M}_{a} = \frac{g^{2}e}{4} \sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{N^{\mu\nu}V_{\nu\mu}}{D}$$
(B.7.4)

where (recall that $q^2 = 0$ and $q \cdot \varepsilon^*(q) = 0$)

$$N^{\mu\nu} = \overline{u}_e(p-q)(1+\gamma^5)\gamma^\mu \left(\not p + \not k\right)\gamma^\nu u_\mu(p), \qquad (B.7.5a)$$

$$V_{\alpha\beta} = (q-k)_{\beta}\varepsilon^*_{\alpha}(q) + 2g_{\alpha\beta}\,k\cdot\varepsilon^*(q) - (2q+k)_{\alpha}\varepsilon^*_{\beta}(q)\,, \tag{B.7.5b}$$

$$D = \left[(p+k)^2 - m_j^2 + i\varepsilon \right] \left[(q+k)^2 - M_W^2 + i\varepsilon \right] \left[k^2 - M_W^2 + i\varepsilon \right] \,. \tag{B.7.5c}$$

To solve the loop integral, one has to introduce new parameters x, y and z such that, after using (G.3.9) we can rewrite the product of propagators as follows

$$\frac{1}{D} = 2 \int_{[0,1]^3} dx dy dz \, \frac{\delta(x+y+z-1)}{\mathcal{D}^3} \tag{B.7.6}$$

where

$$\mathcal{D} = (k + x \, p + y \, q)^2 - \left[(1 - x) M_W^2 + x \, m_j^2 \right] \,. \tag{B.7.7}$$

Then we perform the shift $k \to k - x p - y q$ and we notice that the only terms proportional to (B.7.2) are given by

$$N^{\mu\nu}V_{\nu\mu} \rightarrow -m_{\mu}\Gamma\left[2(1-x)^2 + y(2x-1)\right].$$
 (B.7.8)

Thus, using the Master Integral (G.3.6)

$$\int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{[k^2 - C]^3} = \frac{i}{32\pi^2} \frac{1}{C}, \qquad (B.7.9)$$

we can perform the integration over k. Finally we can do the integrations over z and y finding that

$$\mathcal{A}_{a} = \frac{G_{F}e \, m_{\mu}}{16\sqrt{2} \, \pi^{2}} \sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} \int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{(1-x)^{2}(2x-3)}{1-x+x \, m_{j}^{2}/M_{W}^{2}} \,. \tag{B.7.10}$$

Diagram (b) gives the following scattering amplitude

$$i\mathcal{M}_b = \frac{g^2 e}{4} \sum_j U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^* \int \frac{d^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{N_b}{D}$$
(B.7.11)

where D is (B.7.5c) and

$$N_b = \overline{u}_e(p-q)(1+\gamma^5) \not \in^*(q) \left[m_j^2 - (\not k + m_\mu)m_\mu \right] u_\mu(p) \,. \tag{B.7.12}$$

Again we introduce parameters x, y and z and we do exactly the same steps done before. This time, after having shifted k, we have that

$$N_b \rightarrow y m_\mu \Gamma.$$
 (B.7.13)

Thus we find that

$$\mathcal{A}_{b} = \frac{G_{F}e \, m_{\mu}}{16\sqrt{2} \, \pi^{2}} \sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} \int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{(1-x)^{2}}{1-x+x \, m_{j}^{2}/M_{W}^{2}} \,. \tag{B.7.14}$$

Diagram (c) gives the following scattering amplitude

$$i\mathcal{M}_{c} = \frac{g^{2}e}{4} \sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} \int \frac{d^{4}k}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{N_{c}}{D}$$
(B.7.15)

where D is (B.7.5c) and

$$N_c = -m_j^2 \overline{u}_e(p-q)(1+\gamma^5) \not \in^*(q) u_\mu(p) \,. \tag{B.7.16}$$

This clearly does not produce any Lorentz structure in the form of (B.7.2) which means that

$$\mathcal{A}_c = 0. \tag{B.7.17}$$

Diagram (d) gives the following scattering amplitude

$$i\mathcal{M}_d = \frac{g^2 e}{4} \sum_j U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^* \int \frac{d^4 k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{N_d}{D}$$
(B.7.18)

where D is (B.7.5c) and

$$N_d = 2 k \cdot \varepsilon^*(q) \frac{m_j^2}{M_W^2} \overline{u}_e(p-q) (1+\gamma^5) \not k u_\mu(p) \,. \tag{B.7.19}$$

Thus, after having shifted k, we have that

$$N_d \rightarrow m_{\mu}\Gamma\left[x(x+y)\frac{m_j^2}{M_W^2}\right].$$
 (B.7.20)

Thus we find that

$$\mathcal{A}_{d} = \frac{G_{F}e \, m_{\mu}}{16\sqrt{2} \, \pi^{2}} \sum_{j} U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^{*} \int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{x(1-x)(1+x)m_{j}^{2}/M_{W}^{2}}{1-x+x \, m_{j}^{2}/M_{W}^{2}} \,. \tag{B.7.21}$$

Now we can sum all the contributions finding that the form-factor reads as follows

$$\mathcal{A} = -\frac{G_F e \, m_\mu}{16\sqrt{2} \, \pi^2} \sum_j U_{ej} U_{\mu j}^* \int_0^1 dx \frac{1-x}{1-x+x \, m_j^2/M_W^2} \left[2(1-x)(2-x) + x(1+x) \frac{m_j^2}{M_W^2} \right]. \tag{B.7.22}$$

If we do the integration over x we find that

$$\mathcal{A} = -\frac{G_F e \, m_\mu}{16\sqrt{2}\pi^2} \sum_j U_{ej} U^*_{\mu j} \, g\left(\frac{m_j^2}{M_W^2}\right) \tag{B.7.23}$$

where

$$g(x) = \frac{2}{3} + \frac{11}{2(1-x)} - \frac{15}{2(1-x)^2} + \frac{3}{(1-x)^3} - \frac{3x^3}{(1-x)^4} \ln x.$$
(B.7.24)

C Additional and Technical Analysis

In this Chapter we are going to discuss several insights that we have just mention in the main Chapters of this work. These insights could be either some technical computations, or even further model-building possibilities that turns out to be less appealing than the ones discussed, but still worth to be mentioned.

C.1 Yukawa Diagonalization

In this Section we want to diagonalize a general Yukawa matrix Y with a singular-valued decomposition. We assume for simplicity that it is a 2×2 matrix. In addition, we assume that parametrically it goes as follows where $\varepsilon \ll 1$

$$Y = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{22} & Y_{23} \\ Y_{32} & Y_{33} \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & \varepsilon \\ \varepsilon^2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.1.1)

This allows us to diagonalize Y perturbatively.

To do a singular-valued decomposition, we need to find two unitary matrices U_L and U_R such that

$$U_L^{\dagger} Y U_R = \hat{Y} = \begin{pmatrix} y_2 & 0\\ 0 & y_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.1.2)

Following Section D.2, we need to diagonalize the following matrices to find U_L and U_R

$$YY^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} |Y_{22}|^2 + |Y_{23}|^2 & Y_{22}Y_{32}^* + Y_{23}Y_{33}^* \\ Y_{32}Y_{22}^* + Y_{33}Y_{23}^* & |Y_{32}|^2 + |Y_{33}|^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad Y^{\dagger}Y = \begin{pmatrix} |Y_{22}|^2 + |Y_{32}|^2 & Y_{23}Y_{22}^* + Y_{33}Y_{32}^* \\ Y_{22}Y_{23}^* + Y_{32}Y_{33}^* & |Y_{23}|^2 + |Y_{33}|^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.1.3)

Explicitly we have that

$$\operatorname{Tr}[YY^{\dagger}] = \operatorname{Tr}[Y^{\dagger}Y] = |Y_{22}|^{2} + |Y_{23}|^{2} + |Y_{32}|^{2} + |Y_{33}|^{2}, \qquad (C.1.4a)$$

$$\det[YY^{\dagger}] = \det[Y^{\dagger}Y] = |Y_{22}|^2 |Y_{33}|^2 + |Y_{23}|^2 |Y_{32}|^2 - 2\operatorname{Re}[Y_{22}Y_{33}Y_{23}^*Y_{32}^*].$$
(C.1.4b)

Given the parametric dependence (C.1.1), we have that $\det[YY^{\dagger}] \ll \operatorname{Tr}^{2}[YY^{\dagger}]$. Thus we are in the case (D.7.1) shown in Section D.7. Thus we find that the eigenvalues of YY^{\dagger} and $Y^{\dagger}Y$ (which are equal) are given by

$$y_2^2 = |Y_{22}|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^4), \quad y_3^2 = |Y_{33}|^2 + |Y_{23}|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^4).$$
 (C.1.5)

 U_L is the matrix that diagonalizes YY^{\dagger} . Thus we find that

$$U_L = \frac{1}{|Y_{33}|^2} \begin{pmatrix} |Y_{33}|^2 - \frac{1}{2}|Y_{23}|^2 & Y_{23}Y_{33}^* \\ -Y_{33}Y_{23}^* & |Y_{33}|^2 - \frac{1}{2}|Y_{23}|^2 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3) \,. \tag{C.1.6}$$

Instead U_R is the matrix that diagonalizes $Y^{\dagger}Y$. Thus we find that

$$U_R = \frac{1}{|Y_{33}|^2} \begin{pmatrix} |Y_{33}|^2 & Y_{23}Y_{22}^* + Y_{32}Y_{33}^* \\ -Y_{22}Y_{23}^* - Y_{33}Y_{32}^* & |Y_{33}|^2 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3) \,. \tag{C.1.7}$$

Notice that parametrically we have that

$$y_2 \sim \varepsilon, \quad y_3 \sim 1, \qquad U_L \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \varepsilon \\ -\varepsilon & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad U_R \sim \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \varepsilon^2 \\ -\varepsilon^2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.1.8)

Thus y_2 is suppressed with respect to y_3 and also the right mixing is suppressed with respect to the left one.

From those results we can also find the expression of V_{cb} since the CKM matrix is defined as follows

$$V \equiv (U_L^{(u)})^{\dagger} U_L^{(d)}$$
 (C.1.9)

where the upper index u or d refers to the left mixing of the up- or down-type quarks respectively. After an easy computation we find that

$$V_{cb} = Y_{23}^{(d)} / Y_{33}^{(d)} - Y_{23}^{(u)} / Y_{33}^{(u)} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3) .$$
 (C.1.10)

C.2 Non-Equivalently Weighted Higgs Field

In this work we have assumed that the Higgs field in the UV theory is an $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ -doublet with two equally weighted components. Nevertheless nothing implies such a condition. In fact, to generate a mass splitting between top and bottom masses, it is possible to assume that the Higgs field in the UV theory is given by

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\xi^2}} \begin{pmatrix} H^c & \xi H \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.2.1)

where ξ is a generic real parameter and when $\xi = 1$ we get the Higgs field definition used in this work. The normalization is chosen such that in the broken phase the kinetic term of the Higgs field is well normalized. In fact we have that

$$D_{\mu}\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\xi^2}} \begin{pmatrix} D_{\mu}H^c & \xi D_{\mu}H \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.2.2)

where, by looking at the covariant derivative in the broken phase (1.9.10),

$$D_{\mu}H = \partial_{\mu}H - ig_{L}T_{L}^{i}W_{L}^{i}H - i\frac{g_{Y}}{2}BH + \frac{i}{\xi}g_{R}T^{+}W_{R}^{+}H^{c} + D_{\mu}^{Z}H, \qquad (C.2.3a)$$

$$D_{\mu}H^{c} = \partial_{\mu}H^{c} - ig_{L}T_{L}^{i}W_{L}^{i}H^{c} + i\frac{g_{Y}}{2}BH^{c} + i\xi g_{R}T^{-}W_{R}^{-}H + D_{\mu}^{Z}H^{c}.$$
 (C.2.3b)

Hence the kinetic term of \mathcal{H} reads as follows

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[(D_{\mu}\mathcal{H})^{\dagger}(D^{\mu}\mathcal{H})\right] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\xi^{2}}} \left[(D_{\mu}H^{c})^{\dagger}(D^{\mu}H^{c}) + \xi^{2}(D_{\mu}H)^{\dagger}(D^{\mu}H)\right].$$
(C.2.4)

Now we observe that using properties of Pauli matrices we have that

$$(D_{\mu}H^{c})^{*} = i\sigma_{L}^{2} \left[\partial_{\mu}H - ig_{L}T_{L}^{i}W_{L}^{i}H - i\frac{g_{Y}}{2}BH + i\xi g_{R}(i\sigma_{L}^{2}T^{-})W_{R}^{+}H^{c} + D_{\mu}^{Z}H \right].$$
(C.2.5)

Using this result we eventually find that, after some algebra,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[(D_{\mu}\mathcal{H})^{\dagger}(D^{\mu}\mathcal{H})\right] \supset (D_{\mu}^{\mathrm{SM}}H)^{\dagger}(D^{\mathrm{SM}\mu}H)$$
(C.2.6)

where

$$D^{\rm SM}_{\mu}H = \partial_{\mu}H - ig_L T^i_L W^i_L H - i\frac{g_Y}{2}B H \qquad (C.2.7)$$

is the covariant derivative of the Higgs field in the SM. Hence the normalization assumed is essential to guarantee that the kinetic term of the Higgs field is properly normalized. Then ξ -dependent terms arise from the interactions between H and W_R^{\pm} as one could expect.

With such a Higgs field in the UV theory, we have that the Yukawa matrices gets the following factors with respect to the ones derived in Sections 2.5 and 2.6

$$Y^{U}, Y^{N} \to \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\xi^{2}}} Y^{U}, Y^{N}; \qquad Y^{D}, Y^{E} \to \xi \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\xi^{2}}} Y^{D}, Y^{E}.$$
 (C.2.8)

Hence we have that $Y^D/Y^U \sim \xi$, leading to a *tb* mass splitting while keeping at same time the ratios Y_{23}^D/Y_{33}^D and Y_{23}^U/Y_{33}^U of the same order. Thus we avoid the need of any fine tuning among the parameters that generate the Yukawa matrices (for a better discussion, see Section 2.8). We do not even need anymore the scalar field Σ_3 . Nevertheless, notice that we still need some fine tuning because now

$$\frac{m_b}{m_t} \sim \xi \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \xi = \mathcal{O}(10^{-2}) \,.$$
 (C.2.9)

Thus we should explain why there are such different weights between the two components of the $SU(2)_R^{[3]}$ doublet, which is again a fine tuning problem. Furthermore, by looking at the Yukawa matrices in this framework, such mass splitting is *naturally* present also for the light generations, but the mass ratios of m_s/m_c and m_d/m_u are not as much suppressed as the one of the third generation. Hence we would need to introduce further fine tuning to explain the non-suppressed down mass with respect the up one. For all those reasons we prefer the fine tuning among the UV parameters rather than assuming a very little ξ .

Nevertheless there is also the possibility to use a mixture of the two, so $\xi = \mathcal{O}(10^{-1})$ and a less strong fine tuning among the UV parameters. In any case the hierarchical structure of the Yukawa matrices can be explained without requiring any strong fine tuning.

C.3 Mass Splitting via Fermion Mixing

To provide a UV origin to the Yukawa matrices we have introduced some heavy VLFs which share the same quantum numbers of the third-generation fermions. This allows a further way to address the issue of mass splittings among the third-generation fermions.

For instance consider the case of the VLF η (2.3.6) that shares the same quantum numbers of χ^3_R . We can assume that a source of SU(4)^[3]-breaking is induced by the following 5-dimensional operator³³

$$-\mathcal{L} \supset -\mathcal{L}_{\eta\Omega} = M_{\eta}\overline{\eta} \left(1 + \frac{c_{\Omega}^{3}}{\Lambda^{2}}\Omega_{3}^{\dagger}\Omega_{3} + \frac{c_{\Omega}^{1}}{\Lambda^{2}}\Omega_{1}^{\dagger}\Omega_{1} \right) \eta + \left(m\,\overline{\eta}\chi_{R}^{3} + h.c. \right) \,. \tag{C.3.1}$$

A possible UV origin can be easily achieved by considering a VLF with same quantum numbers of ρ (2.3.1), but much heavier than η to make sense of the EFT description. In fact in this model one must require that $\omega_{1(3)}, M_{\eta} \ll \Lambda$. When Ω_1 and Ω_3 acquire their VEVs, we have that the Lagrangian becomes where $\eta = (q, \ell)^T$

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\eta\Omega} \to M_{\eta}\overline{q}_{L} \left[\left(1 + c_{\Omega}^{3} \frac{\omega_{3}^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}} \right) q_{R} + \frac{m}{M_{\eta}} Q_{R}^{3} \right] + M_{\eta}\overline{\ell}_{L} \left[\left(1 + c_{\Omega}^{1} \frac{\omega_{1}^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}} \right) \ell_{R} + \frac{m}{M_{\eta}} L_{R}^{3} \right] + h.c. \quad (C.3.2)$$

The mass-matrices for the quark- and lepton-type fermions are of the type (with a and b real numbers)

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} . \tag{C.3.3}$$

Using case (D.7.1) in Section D.7, we have the following eigen-spectrum³⁴

$$\lambda_1 = 0, \quad v_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a^2 + b^2}} \begin{pmatrix} b \\ -a \end{pmatrix}; \qquad \lambda_2 = a, \quad v_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.3.4)

³³Notice that the last term entails for a mass-mixing term between η and χ_R^3 and it is present since they share the same quantum numbers.

 $^{^{34}}$ In principle one should diagonalize M with a singular-valued decomposition, but for the sake of this analysis this simplification works as well.

Thus we have that the true right-handed third-generation massless fermions are given by

$$Q_R^{'3} = -\frac{m}{\sqrt{M_\eta^2 (1 + c_\Omega^3 \omega_3^2 / \Lambda^2)^2 + m^2}} q + \frac{M_\eta (1 + c_\Omega^3 \omega_3^2 / \Lambda^2)}{\sqrt{M_\eta^2 (1 + c_\Omega^3 \omega_3^2 / \Lambda^2)^2 + m^2}} Q_R^3,$$
(C.3.5a)

$$L_{R}^{'3} = -\frac{m}{\sqrt{M_{\eta}^{2}(1+c_{\Omega}^{1}\omega_{1}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})^{2}+m^{2}}}\ell + \frac{M_{\eta}(1+c_{\Omega}^{1}\omega_{1}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}{\sqrt{M_{\eta}^{2}(1+c_{\Omega}^{1}\omega_{1}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})^{2}+m^{2}}}L_{R}^{3}.$$
 (C.3.5b)

The Yukawa coupling of the third generation (2.2.1) gets split as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{Y,33} \supset c_{33} \frac{\sqrt{M_{\eta}^2 (1 + c_{\Omega}^3 \omega_3^2 / \Lambda^2)^2 + m^2}}{M_{\eta} (1 + c_{\Omega}^3 \omega_3^2 / \Lambda^2)} \overline{Q}_L^3 \mathcal{H} Q_R^{'3} + c_{33} \frac{\sqrt{M_{\eta}^2 (1 + c_{\Omega}^1 \omega_1^2 / \Lambda^2)^2 + m^2}}{M_{\eta} (1 + c_{\Omega}^1 \omega_1^2 / \Lambda^2)} \overline{L}_L^3 \mathcal{H} L_R^{'3} + h.c.$$
(C.3.6)

Therefore such SU(4)^[3]-breaking operator brings a splitting in the bottom and tau Yukawa couplings. Explicitly we have that, working in the limit where $\omega_{1(3)} \ll \Lambda$,

$$\frac{y_b}{y_\tau} = \frac{m_b}{m_\tau} \approx 1 + \frac{m^2}{m^2 + M_\eta^2} \frac{c_\Omega^1 \omega_1^2 - c_\Omega^3 \omega_3^2}{\Lambda^2}, \qquad (C.3.7)$$

A similar mechanism could be exploited to explain a top-bottom mass splitting using an $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]}$ breaking operator. In particular, if we allow the presence of the VLF λ (2.3.4), this could be done by mixing this latter VLF with χ_L^3 . Nevertheless these mechanisms are not very efficient since they generate only small splittings among the Yukawa couplings of the third-generation fermions. This because the EFT description implies that Λ is a higher scale compared to the other scales present in the model. Since we need to generate mass splittings of $\mathcal{O}(1)$ (if not more), this possibility has been not considered during this work.

C.4 Single-Flavour Inverse See-Saw

In this Section we compute the mass-eigenstates that come out from a single-flavour ISS mechanism. This calculation is very standard and a possible review can be found in [9]. The mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{N}_L M N_L^c + h.c. \tag{C.4.1}$$

where $N_L = (\nu_L, \nu_R^c, s_L)^T$ represents the three neutrino states in the flavour-basis and the mass-matrix reads as follows

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D & 0 \\ D & m & N \\ 0 & N & \mu \end{pmatrix} .$$
(C.4.2)

To go into the mass-basis we need to diagonalize $M^{\dagger}M$ by means of a unitary matrix U as shown in Section D.3. In addition we assume the hierarchy $m, \mu \ll D, N$ typical of the ISS. Thus M can be seen as made of a leading part plus a small perturbation, allowing us to perform the diagonalization perturbatively. Explicitly we have that $M^{\dagger}M$ reads as follows

$$M^{\dagger}M = M_0^2 + \Delta_I M^2 + \Delta_{II} M^2$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} |D|^2 & 0 & D^*N \\ 0 & |D|^2 + |N|^2 & 0 \\ N^*D & 0 & |N|^2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D^*m & 0 \\ m^*D & 0 & m^*N + \mu N^* \\ 0 & N^*m + \mu^*N & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & |m|^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & |\mu|^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.4.3)

Notice that $\Delta_I M^2$ is at first order in perturbation theory, while $\Delta_{II} M^2$ is already at second order.

The diagonalization of a matrix in perturbation theory has been discussed in Section D.1. At zero-th order we need to diagonalize M_0^2 . We find as eigenvalues

$$(m_0^2)^{(0)} = 0, \qquad (m_1^2)^{(0)} = |D|^2 + |N|^2, \qquad (m_2^2)^{(0)} = |D|^2 + |N|^2$$
 (C.4.4)

with corresponding eigenvectors

$$v_0^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|^2 + |N|^2}} \begin{pmatrix} N\\0\\-D \end{pmatrix}, \qquad v_1^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|^2 + |N|^2}} \begin{pmatrix} D^*\\0\\N^* \end{pmatrix}, \qquad v_2^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.4.5)

The last two eigenvalues are very large and we do not need to evaluate their perturbative corrections since they will be negligible. Instead we need to find the correction to the first one which is vanishing at zero-th order. Using (D.1.14a), the correction at first order in perturbative expansion is given by

$$\Delta_I m_0^2 = \langle v_0^{(0)} | \Delta_I M^2 | v_0^{(0)} \rangle = 0.$$
 (C.4.6)

Hence we need to go at second order and we find

$$\Delta_{II}m_0^2 = \langle v_0^{(0)} | \Delta_{II}M^2 | v_0^{(0)} \rangle - \frac{1}{(m_1^2)^{(0)}} \left| \langle v_1^{(0)} | \Delta_I M^2 | v_0^{(0)} \rangle \right|^2 - \frac{1}{(m_2^2)^{(0)}} \left| \langle v_2^{(0)} | \Delta_I M^2 | v_0^{(0)} \rangle \right|^2 .$$
(C.4.7)

After some computation we find that

$$(m_0^2)^{(2)} = \frac{|\mu|^2 |D|^4}{(|D|^2 + |N|^2)^2}.$$
 (C.4.8)

Using (D.1.14b), the correction to the eigenvector associated to the null eigenvalue at first order in perturbative expansion is given by

$$\Delta_I v_0 = -\frac{\langle v_1^{(0)} | \Delta_I M^2 | v_0^{(0)} \rangle}{(m_1^2)^{(0)}} v_1^{(0)} - \frac{\langle v_2^{(0)} | \Delta_I M^2 | v_0^{(0)} \rangle}{(m_2^2)^{(0)}} v_2^{(0)}.$$
(C.4.9)

After some computation we find that

$$v_0^{(1)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|^2 + |N|^2}} \begin{pmatrix} N \\ \mu \frac{N^* D}{|D|^2 + |N|^2} \\ -D \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.4.10)

Notice that this implies a non-negligible mixing between ν_L and s_L in case N and D are comparable. Also there is in any case almost no mixing with ν_R^c (as long as $\mu \ll N, D$).

To do this computation we could use also the block-diagonalization method shown in Section D.4 if we assumed the additional hierarchy $D \ll N$. In this case the light mass-matrix reads as follows

$$M_{\ell} \approx - \begin{pmatrix} D & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} m & N \\ N & \mu \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} D \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \approx \mu \frac{D^2}{N^2}$$
(C.4.11)

and it is in agreement with the expression of the almost vanishing eigenvalue found before. However to do so we needed to require a further approximation that it is not necessary in principle. The mixing matrix between ν_L and the other states is given by

$$B^{\dagger} \approx \begin{pmatrix} m & N \\ N & \mu \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} D \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \approx \frac{1}{N^2} \begin{pmatrix} -\mu D \\ DN \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.4.12)

and again it is in agreement with the one found before since $-B^{\dagger}$ corresponds to the last two entries of (C.4.10).

C.5 Heavy States in Single-Flavour Inverse See-Saw

Consider again the single-flavour ISS discussed in Section C.4, but with the further assumption that m = 0 (this has the only purpose to simplify the calculations). In this Section we focus on the heavy mass-eigenstates.

From the results of Section C.4, the two heavy mass-eigenstates at zero-th order in perturbative expansion are degenerate. This corresponds to the limit where $\mu \to 0$ and in this regime we cannot remove this degeneracy. Thus we have that, after using the unitary matrix U (whose columns are given by the mass-eigenvectors (C.4.5)) to diagonalize the mass-matrix M (C.4.2) (with m = 0) in the limit where $\mu \to 0$, we find that

$$U^{T}MU = \hat{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{|D|^{2} + |N|^{2}}\\ 0 & \sqrt{|D|^{2} + |N|^{2}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.5.1)

Thus in the mass-basis with states $N'_L \equiv (\nu'_L, \nu'_R s'_L)^T$, the mass-Lagrangian reads as follows

$$-\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{|D|^2 + |N|^2} \,\overline{s}'_L \nu'^c_R + h.c.$$
(C.5.2)

This corresponds to one heavy fermionic state ψ with a Dirac-type mass and whose chiral components are given by

$$\psi = \psi_L + \psi_R$$
 with $\psi_L \equiv s'_L$, $\psi_R \equiv \nu'_R$. (C.5.3)

When $\mu \neq 0$, the two chiral components split and become two Weyl fermions with Majorana masses. Also, since the two heavy states at zero-th order are degenerate, to remove this degeneracy we need to go at first order in degenerate perturbation theory. To do so, by looking at (D.1.15), we need to diagonalize the following matrix in the $\{v_1^{(0)}, v_2^{(0)}\}$ space

$$W = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|D|^2 + |N|^2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mu^* N^2 \\ \mu(N^*)^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.5.4)

Thus we are in the case (D.7.7) shown in Section D.7. Thus we find that the new zero-th order eigenvectors read as follows

$$\tilde{v}_{1}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-i\theta} \frac{D^{*}N^{*}}{N\sqrt{|D|^{2} + |N|^{2}}} \\ -1 \\ e^{-i\theta} \frac{N}{\sqrt{|D|^{2} + |N|^{2}}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{v}_{2}^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-i\theta} \frac{D^{*}N^{*}}{N\sqrt{|D|^{2} + |N|^{2}}} \\ 1 \\ e^{-i\theta} \frac{N}{\sqrt{|D|^{2} + |N|^{2}}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.5.5)

with corresponding eigenvalues at first order in perturbative expansion

$$(m_1^2)^{(1)} = |D|^2 + |N|^2 - \frac{|\mu||N|^2}{\sqrt{|D|^2 + |N|^2}}, \qquad (m_2^2)^{(1)} = |D|^2 + |N|^2 + \frac{|\mu||N|^2}{\sqrt{|D|^2 + |N|^2}}.$$
(C.5.6)

Hence we have been able to remove the degeneracy among the two heavy mass-eigenstates.

To do this computation we could use the other method shown in Section D.4 if we assumed the additional hierarchy $D \ll N$. In this case the heavy mass-matrix reads as follows (again we set m = 0)

$$M_h \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0 & N \\ N & \mu \end{pmatrix} . \tag{C.5.7}$$

In the limit where $\mu \to 0$ we find that this corresponds to a Dirac-type mass-term. Hence we get the same results gotten before.

If we keep $\mu \neq 0$, we have to unitary diagonalize M_h as shown in Section D.3. Also we perform this calculation in perturbation theory. Namely we want to diagonalize

$$M_h^{\dagger} M_h = \begin{pmatrix} |N|^2 & 0\\ 0 & |N|^2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mu N^*\\ \mu^* N & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(|\mu|^2) \,. \tag{C.5.8}$$

This is exactly the same diagonalization problem we solved before, but with the additional assumption that $D \ll N$. Hence we find as expected the same results.

C.6 Mixing Matrices of the Heavy-Neutrino States

In Section 4.3 we considered the mass-Lagrangian of the heavy mass-eigenstates that comes out from the ISS mechanism applied to the models we considered. In this Section we diagonalize the mass-matrix m_R with a singular-valued decomposition. In particular we want to find two unitary matrices V_S and V_R such that

$$V_S^{\dagger} m_R V_R = \hat{M} = \text{diag}(M_1, M_2, M_3)$$
 (C.6.1)

where M_1 , M_2 and M_3 are positive real numbers. As showed in Section D.2, to find V_S and V_R we need to diagonalize $m_R m_R^{\dagger}$ and $m_R^{\dagger} m_R$ respectively. Since we are going to do this perturbatively, to keep easily track of the order of the corrections that we are making we use the short notation $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^n)$ where each power of ε corresponds to neglecting corrections of order

$$\varepsilon \sim \frac{m_R^2}{m_R^3} \sim \frac{m_R^1}{m_R^2}$$
 (C.6.2)

where m_R^j (where j = 1, 2, 3) represents the *j*-th eigenvalue of the mass-matrix m_R in increasing order from the smallest one. Also it is understood that, whenever the expressions have a mass-dimension, one has to put in front of ε^n the correct power of m_R^3 .

We start from the 2-flavour case since it is computationally easier. Explicitly we have that

$$m_R^{\dagger} m_R = \begin{pmatrix} |m_R^{22}|^2 + |m_R^{32}|^2 & m_R^{23}(m_R^{22})^* + m_R^{33}(m_R^{32})^* \\ m_R^{22}(m_R^{23})^* + m_R^{32}(m_R^{33})^* & |m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(C.6.3a)

$$m_R m_R^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} |m_R^{22}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2 & m_R^{22}(m_R^{32})^* + m_R^{23}(m_R^{33})^* \\ m_R^{32}(m_R^{22})^* + m_R^{33}(m_R^{23})^* & |m_R^{32}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.6.3b)

We notice that both matrices are in the case (D.7.1) shown in Section D.7 with the condition that $det[m_R^{\dagger}m_R] \ll Tr^2[m_R^{\dagger}m_R]$. Also they share the same eigenvalues. Thus we find that the eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_3 = |m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2), \qquad \lambda_2 = \frac{|m_R^{23}m_R^{32} - m_R^{33}m_R^{22}|^2}{|m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^4)$$
(C.6.4)

with corresponding eigenvectors

$$v_3^R = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) , \qquad v_3^S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|m_R^{33}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2}} \begin{pmatrix} m_R^{23}\\m_R^{33} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) , \qquad (C.6.5a)$$

$$v_2^R = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) , \qquad v_2^S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|m_R^{33}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2}} \begin{pmatrix} (m_R^{33})^*\\ -(m_R^{23})^* \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) . \tag{C.6.5b}$$

The 3-flavour case is more complicated, but only computationally. The result will be a straightforward generalization of the 2-flavour case. We start from observing that parametrically $m_R^{\dagger}m_R$ has the same hierarchical structure of the matrix that has been perturbatively diagonalized in Section D.8. Thus we find that the eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_3 = |m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2), \qquad (C.6.6a)$$

$$\lambda_{2} = |m_{R}^{12}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{22}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{32}|^{2} - \frac{|m_{R}^{13}(m_{R}^{12})^{*} + m_{R}^{23}(m_{R}^{22})^{*} + m_{R}^{33}(m_{R}^{32})^{*}|^{2}}{|m_{R}^{13}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{23}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{33}|^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{4}), \qquad (C.6.6b)$$

$$\lambda_1 = \frac{|\det[m_R]|^2}{\lambda_2 \lambda_3} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^6) \tag{C.6.6c}$$

with corresponding eigenvectors

$$v_3^R = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \qquad v_2^R = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \qquad v_1^R = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon). \tag{C.6.7}$$

Instead diagonalizing $m_R m_R^{\dagger}$ is very difficult since it does not show any hierarchy inside. Nevertheless we can split the different hierarchical orders as follows

$$m_{R}m_{R}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} |m_{R}^{13}|^{2} & m_{R}^{13}(m_{R}^{23})^{*} & m_{R}^{13}(m_{R}^{33})^{*} \\ m_{R}^{23}(m_{R}^{33})^{*} & |m_{R}^{23}|^{2} & m_{R}^{23}(m_{R}^{33})^{*} \\ m_{R}^{33}(m_{R}^{13})^{*} & m_{R}^{33}(m_{R}^{23})^{*} & |m_{R}^{33}|^{2} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} |m_{R}^{12}|^{2} & m_{R}^{12}(m_{R}^{22})^{*} & m_{R}^{12}(m_{R}^{32})^{*} \\ m_{R}^{22}(m_{R}^{12})^{*} & |m_{R}^{22}|^{2} & m_{R}^{22}(m_{R}^{32})^{*} \\ m_{R}^{32}(m_{R}^{12})^{*} & m_{R}^{32}(m_{R}^{22})^{*} & |m_{R}^{32}|^{2} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{4}) \,.$$
(C.6.8)

The first leading contribution has a 1-dimensional eigen-subspace with eigenvalue given by λ_3 in (C.6.6a) with corresponding eigenvector

$$v_3^{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2}} \begin{pmatrix} m_R^{13} \\ m_R^{23} \\ m_R^{33} \\ m_R^{33} \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.6.9)

and a 2-dimensional eigen-subspace with null eigenvalue. Since the latter sub-space must be orthogonal to the first, it is easy to find a basis for this subspace. A choice (already orthonormalized) is given by

$$v_1^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} -s_{12}^* \\ c_{12}^* \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad v_2^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} -s_3^* c_{12} \\ -s_3^* s_{12} \\ c_3^* \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.6.10)

where we have defined

$$c_{12} \equiv \frac{m_R^{13}}{\sqrt{|m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2}}, \qquad s_{12} \equiv \frac{m_R^{23}}{\sqrt{|m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2}}, \qquad (C.6.11a)$$

$$c_3 \equiv \frac{\sqrt{|m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2}}{\sqrt{|m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2}}, \qquad s_3 \equiv \frac{m_R^{33}}{\sqrt{|m_R^{13}|^2 + |m_R^{23}|^2 + |m_R^{33}|^2}}.$$
 (C.6.11b)

As discussed in Section D.1, to remove the degeneracy in the null eigen-subspace we need to go at $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$ in (C.6.8) and in the $\{v_1^{(0)}, v_2^{(0)}\}$ basis we have to diagonalize the matrix

$$W = \begin{pmatrix} |a|^2 & a^*b\\ ab^* & |b|^2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.6.12)

where

$$a^{*} = \frac{m_{R}^{13}m_{R}^{22} - m_{R}^{23}m_{R}^{12}}{\sqrt{|m_{R}^{13}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{23}|^{2}}}, \qquad b^{*} = \frac{c_{12}^{*}\left(m_{R}^{13}m_{R}^{32} - m_{R}^{33}m_{R}^{12}\right) + s_{12}^{*}\left(m_{R}^{23}m_{R}^{32} - m_{R}^{33}m_{R}^{22}\right)}{\sqrt{|m_{R}^{13}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{23}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{33}|^{2}}}.$$
 (C.6.13)

This matrix is in the case (D.7.4) shown in Section D.7. Thus we can diagonalize it and remove the degeneracy. To this purpose it is useful to define the following quantities

$$c \equiv \frac{a}{\sqrt{|a|^2 + |b|^2}}, \qquad s \equiv \frac{b}{\sqrt{|a|^2 + |b|^2}}.$$
 (C.6.14)

Also notice that one eigenvalue becomes positive and can be explicitly checked that it is given by (C.6.6b) as expected. In the end we have that $m_R m_R^{\dagger}$ is diagonalized with eigenvalues (C.6.6) and corresponding eigenvectors

$$v_{3}^{S} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|m_{R}^{13}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{23}|^{2} + |m_{R}^{33}|^{2}}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{R}^{13} \\ m_{R}^{23} \\ m_{R}^{33} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) ,$$

$$v_{2}^{S} = \begin{pmatrix} c s_{12}^{*} + s s_{3}^{*} c_{12} \\ -c c_{12}^{*} + s s_{3}^{*} s_{12} \\ -s c_{3}^{*} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) , \qquad v_{1}^{S} = \begin{pmatrix} -s^{*} s_{12}^{*} + c^{*} s_{3}^{*} c_{12} \\ s^{*} c_{12}^{*} + c^{*} s_{3}^{*} s_{12} \\ -c^{*} c_{3}^{*} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) .$$
(C.6.15)

C.7 Majorana Mass for the Charged RH Neutrino

In the DSS scenario, to explain the observed active-neutrino masses, we need to provide an extremely heavy Majorana mass for the third-generation neutrino ν_R^3 . A possible way to do so is to introduce a new scalar field which eventually acquires a VEV. However, we would like to specify since the beginning that this option revealed to be not physically relevant. Nevertheless it was a good exercise on SSB and Group Theory.

As discussed in Section 3.6, since the two-fermion operator

$$(\chi_R^3)_{\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{\alpha\beta}(\chi_R^3)_{\beta} \tag{C.7.1}$$

has mass-dimension +3, the only way to get a renormalizable operator that produces a Majorana mass-term consists in assuming the existence of a scalar field

$$X \sim (\overline{\mathbf{10}}_S, \overline{\mathbf{3}}_S) \in \mathrm{SU}(4)^{[3]} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R^{[3]} \tag{C.7.2}$$

which eventually acquires a suitable VEV. We represent its Gauge indices as $X_{mn,ij}$ where m, n = 1, 2, 3, 4 and i, j = 1, 2 and we require its VEV to be given by

$$\langle X_{mn,ij} \rangle = v_X \delta_{m4} \delta_{n4} \delta_{i1} \delta_{j1} \,. \tag{C.7.3}$$

Also by construction we have that

$$X_{mn,ij} = X_{nm,ij}, \qquad X_{mn,ij} = X_{mn,ji}.$$
 (C.7.4)

We recall that the importance of having a renormalizable operator is due to the fact that we need a very heavy Majorana mass-term for the third-generation RH neutrino. Thanks to this we can write the following renormalizable operator

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2} c_{\nu} X_{mn,ij} (\chi_R^3)_{m,i}^T \mathcal{C} (\chi_R^3)_{n,j} + h.c.$$
(C.7.5)

which in the broken phase it reduces to

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2} c_{\nu} v_X (\nu_R^3)^T \mathcal{C} \, \nu_R^3 + h.c. \equiv -\frac{1}{2} (\mu_R)_{33} (\nu_R^3)^T \mathcal{C} \, \nu_R^3 + h.c.$$
(C.7.6)

Thus we can safely explain the observed active-neutrino masses through a DSS mechanism by fixing v_X sufficiently large.

Now we want to compute the broken Gauge spectrum of the SSB mechanisms induced by the scalar field X. Under a Gauge transformation we have that (up to first order in the Gauge parameters)

$$X_{mn,ij} \to X_{mn,ij} + i\theta^a X_{rn,ij} \hat{T}^a_{rm} + i\theta^a X_{mr,ij} \hat{T}^a_{rn} + i\alpha^a X_{mn,\ell j} T^a_{R\ell i} + i\alpha^a X_{mn,i\ell} T^a_{R\ell j} \,. \tag{C.7.7}$$

In particular its VEV transforms as follows under an $SU(4)^{[3]}$ Gauge transformation

$$\langle X_{mn,ij} \rangle \to \langle X_{mn,ij} \rangle$$
 if $m, n \neq 4$, (C.7.8a)

$$\langle X_{m4,ij} \rangle \to \langle X_{m4,ij} \rangle + i \langle X_{44,ij} \rangle \theta^a \hat{T}^a_{4m} \quad \text{if} \quad m \neq 4 \,,$$
 (C.7.8b)

$$\langle X_{44,ij} \rangle \to \langle X_{44,ij} \rangle \left(1 - \frac{3i}{\sqrt{6}} \theta^{15} \right) .$$
 (C.7.8c)

Instead under an $\mathrm{SU}(2)^{[3]}_R$ Gauge transformation we find that

$$\langle X_{mn,22} \rangle \to \langle X_{mn,22} \rangle,$$
 (C.7.9a)

$$\langle X_{mn,12} \rangle \to \langle X_{mn,12} \rangle + \frac{i}{2} \langle X_{mn,11} \rangle \left(\alpha_1 - i \alpha_2 \right) ,$$
 (C.7.9b)

$$\langle X_{mn,11} \rangle \to \langle X_{mn,11} \rangle \left(1 + i\alpha^3 \right)$$
 (C.7.9c)

Thus, to leave the VEV invariant, we keep free α^3 and we fix

$$\theta^a = 0$$
 for $a = 9, ..., 14;$ $\alpha^1 = \alpha^2 = 0;$ $\theta^{15} = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\alpha^3.$ (C.7.10)

Therefore the residual Gauge Group is the same left unbroken by Δ_3 in Model C with same generators and Gauge boson basis, listed in Section 1.5. The only difference is that this modifies the masses of the broken Gauge fields.

To compute the mass-spectrum we need the covariant derivative of X. It reads as follows

$$D_{\mu}X_{mn,ij} = \partial_{\mu}X_{mn,ij} + ig_{4}H^{a}X_{rn,ij}\hat{T}_{rm}^{a} + ig_{4}H^{a}X_{mr,ij}\hat{T}_{rn}^{a} + ig_{R}W_{R}^{a}X_{mn,\ell j}T_{R\ell i}^{a} + ig_{R}W_{R}^{a}X_{mn,i\ell}T_{R\ell j}^{a}.$$
(C.7.11)

In matrix notation we have that on the VEV it reduces to

$$D_{\mu}\langle X\rangle = v_X \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{O}_{3\times3} & U & \mathbb{O}_{3\times3} & \overline{0} \\ U^T & D & \overline{0}^T & W \\ \mathbb{O}_{3\times3} & \overline{0} & \\ \overline{0}^T & W & \mathbb{O}_{4\times4} \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.7.12)

where we have defined

$$U = i\frac{g_4}{2} \begin{pmatrix} H^9 - iH^{10} \\ H^{11} - iH^{12} \\ H^{13} - iH^{14} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad W = i\frac{g_R}{2} (W_R^1 + iW_R^2), \qquad D = i \left(g_R W_R^3 - \frac{\sqrt{6}}{2} g_4 H^{15} \right). \quad (C.7.13)$$

Therefore the mass-matrix of the broken Gauge fields gets the following contributions

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} \supset \operatorname{Tr}\left[(D_{\mu}X)^{\dagger}D^{\mu}X\right] = \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{2}v_{X}^{2}\sum_{a=9}^{14}(H^{a})^{2} + \frac{g_{R}^{2}}{4}v_{X}^{2}\left[(W_{R}^{1})^{2} + (W_{R}^{2})^{2}\right] + \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4}v_{X}^{2}\left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} - \frac{g_{R}}{g_{4}}W_{R}^{3}\right)^{2}.$$
(C.7.14)

In particular a very large VEV v_X would imply very heavy leptoquarks, W-type and one neutral Z-type vector bosons.

C.8 Gauge Spectrum induced by Δ

In Section 4.4 we have introduced a new Symmetry and an additional scalar field charged under the UV Gauge Group (1.1.3). We also require that this field eventually acquires a VEV. Thus it modifies the mass-spectrum of the broken Gauge bosons. In this Section we compute how the mass-spectrum gets modified.

The new scalar field introduced reads as follows with corresponding Charges under the UV Gauge Group $(1.1.3)^{35}$

$$\Delta \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{4}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, 0).$$
 (C.8.1)

In particular it is charged only under $SU(4)^{[3]} \times SU(2)^{[3]}_R$ and we represent its Gauge indices as $\Delta_{a,j}$ where a = 1, 2, 3, 4 and j = 1, 2. Its VEV is given by

$$\langle \Delta_{aj} \rangle = v_F \,\delta_{a4} \delta_{j1} \,. \tag{C.8.2}$$

Notice that this scalar field is closely related to Δ_3 , the scalar field that acquires a VEV in the framework of Model C. In fact we expect to find very similar results compared to the ones found after the first SSB step in Section 1.5.

To compute the broken mass-spectrum of the SSB mechanism induced by Δ , we need to find the residual Gauge Group. To leave its VEV invariant we need to satisfy

$$\theta^a \hat{T}^a \langle \Delta \rangle + \alpha^i T^i \langle \Delta \rangle = 0.$$
 (C.8.3)

We have that

$$\hat{T}^a \langle \Delta \rangle = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad a = 1, ..., 8 \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \Delta \rangle = -\frac{2\sqrt{6}}{3} \hat{T}^{15} \langle \Delta \rangle = 2 T^3 \langle \Delta \rangle \,.$$
 (C.8.4)

This represents a Gauge transformation where we keep free α^3 and θ^a for a = 1, ..., 8 and we fix

$$\theta^{15} = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\alpha^3; \qquad \theta^a = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad a = 9, ..., 14; \qquad \alpha^1 = \alpha^2 = 0.$$
(C.8.5)

Therefore the residual Gauge Group is given by $SU(3)^{[3]} \times U(1)^{[3]}_X$. Hence its VEV does not spoil the SSB mechanisms induced by our models since all the generators that we must preserve remain unbroken.

To find the new Gauge boson basis and their masses we need to write down the kinetic term of Δ evaluated on the VEV. To do so we need its covariant derivative which reads as follows

$$D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle = -i\frac{g_4}{2}v_F \left((D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_1 \quad (D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_2 \quad (D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_3 \quad (D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_4 \right)^T \tag{C.8.6}$$

where

$$(D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} H^{9} - iH^{10} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} H^{11} - iH^{12} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, (D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} H^{13} - iH^{14} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} + \frac{g_{R}}{g_{4}}W_{R}^{3} \\ \frac{g_{R}}{g_{4}}(W_{R}^{1} + iW_{R}^{2}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.8.7)

Now we need to compute the mass-Lagrangian which is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{M} \equiv \text{Tr}\Big[(D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle)^{\dagger}D_{\mu}\langle\Delta\rangle\Big] = \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4}v_{F}^{2}\sum_{a=9}^{14}(H^{a})^{2} + \frac{g_{R}^{2}}{4}v^{2}\left[(W_{R}^{1})^{2} + (W_{R}^{2})^{2}\right] + \frac{g_{4}^{2}}{4}v_{F}^{2}\left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{2}H^{15} - \frac{g_{R}}{g_{4}}W_{R}^{3}\right)^{2}.$$
(C.8.8)

³⁵Recall that it also must be charged under the unknown new Symmetry that could be discrete or not, but this is not going to affect our analysis.

This is exactly the same mass-Lagrangian found in Section 1.5 after the first step, and it produces the same broken vector-boson mass-basis.

As discussed in Chapter 4, the introduction of a new Symmetry to explain *naturally* the observed active-neutrino masses makes sense only in framework of Model I. Thus we can restrict the analysis considering only Models A, B, D and F. From the mass-Lagrangian (C.8.8), we have that the masses of the leptoquarks U_c^{\pm} and W-type bosons W_R^{\pm} get modified as follows

$$\Delta m_U^2 = \frac{g_4^2}{2} v_F^2, \qquad \Delta m_{W_R}^2 = \frac{g_R^2}{2} v_F^2. \tag{C.8.9}$$

Instead the mass-Lagrangian of the neutral vector bosons becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_M \supset \frac{\Omega^2}{4} \left(\hat{g}_4 H^{15} - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 + \frac{v_R^2}{4} \left(g_R W_R^3 - g_X B_{12} \right)^2 + \frac{v_F^2}{4} \left(\hat{g}_4 H^{15} - g_R W_R^3 \right)^2 \,. \tag{C.8.10}$$

This changes consistently the mixing matrices for the neutral vector bosons and hence the masses and interactions with Z' and Z''. However, since the expressions are rather long and complicated, here we just state that the null mass-eigenstate which generates the Gauge boson B associated to $U(1)_Y$ is the same found before as expected, while the masses of the two neutral vector bosons are given by (if we assume that $v_F \gtrsim \Omega, v_R$)

$$m_{Z'}^2 \approx \frac{v_F^2}{2} \rho_{4R}^{-2} \left[1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{v_F^2} \hat{g}_4^4 \rho_{4R}^4 + \frac{v_R^2}{v_F^2} g_R^4 \rho_{4R}^4 \right], \qquad m_{Z''}^2 \approx \frac{1}{2} \left(\Omega^2 + v_R^2 \right) \sigma^2 \rho_{4R}^2 \tag{C.8.11}$$

where the notation is the same used in Section 1.9. Notice that they are very similar to the ones found in Models C and F since Δ and Δ_3 are very similar.

The interactions with the fermions and the neutral massive vector bosons in the covariant derivative are rather long and complicated and we will not write them here. Nevertheless, given the mass-Lagrangian (C.8.10), this derivation is straightforward.

D Matrix Diagonalization in Perturbation Theory

In this Chapter we are going to derive and provide several results that we exploited in this work when we needed to diagonalize a matrix under certain conditions.

D.1 Perturbative Diagonalization

Suppose to have an hermitian matrix in the form

$$M = M_0 + \Delta M \tag{D.1.1}$$

where $\Delta M = \varepsilon \hat{M}$ is a little perturbation of M_0 , namely $\Delta M \ll M_0$ or³⁶ $\varepsilon \ll 1$. Suppose that M_0 is diagonalizable and the spectrum is given by a set of eigenvalues with the corresponding normalized eigenvectors $\{\lambda_a^{(0)}, v_a^{(0)}\}$. We want to know the spectrum of the full matrix M $\{\lambda_a, v_a\}$ at a given perturbative order. In this Section we define the scalar products between two vectors v, w and the scalar product between two vectors and a matrix A as follows

$$\langle v|w\rangle \equiv v^{\dagger}w, \qquad \langle v|A|w\rangle \equiv v^{\dagger}Aw.$$
 (D.1.2)

We make a Taylor expansion in the small parameter ε as follows

$$\lambda_a = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon^n \lambda_a^{(n)}, \qquad v_a = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon^n v_a^{(n)}$$
(D.1.3)

and we assume that the vectors are well normalized, namely we require that $\forall N \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\langle v_a | v_a \rangle = \sum_{n+m < N} \varepsilon^{n+m} \langle v_a^{(n)} | v_a^{(m)} \rangle = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^N) \,. \tag{D.1.4}$$

We also require (without loss of generality) that $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\langle v_a^{(n)} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(D.1.5)

Notice that, directly from (D.1.4) and (D.1.5), it follows that

$$\langle v_a^{(0)} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle = 1, \quad \langle v_a^{(1)} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle = 0, \quad \langle v_a^{(2)} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle = \langle v_a^{(0)} | v_a^{(2)} \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \langle v_a^{(1)} | v_a^{(1)} \rangle. \tag{D.1.6}$$

We write the equation that defines the spectrum of M as follows

$$\left(M_0 + \varepsilon \hat{M}\right) \sum_n \varepsilon^n v_a^{(n)} = \sum_m \varepsilon^m \lambda_a^{(m)} \sum_n \varepsilon^n v_a^{(n)} \,. \tag{D.1.7}$$

By expanding up to $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$ we find the following relations

$$\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^0): \quad \left(M_0 - \lambda_a^{(0)}\right) v_a^{(0)} = 0, \qquad (D.1.8a)$$

$$\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1}): \quad \left(M_{0} - \lambda_{a}^{(0)}\right) v_{a}^{(1)} + \left(\hat{M} - \lambda_{a}^{(1)}\right) v_{a}^{(0)} = 0, \qquad (D.1.8b)$$

$$\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2): \quad \left(M_0 - \lambda_a^{(0)}\right) v_a^{(2)} + \left(\hat{M} - \lambda_a^{(1)}\right) v_a^{(1)} - \lambda_a^{(2)} v_a^{(0)} = 0.$$
(D.1.8c)

We notice that (D.1.8a) is the defining equation of the spectrum of M_0 which can be explicitly solved to find $\lambda_a^{(0)}$ and $v_a^{(0)}$.

³⁶In this treatment ε is an additional parameter which could be dropped at the end, but it is useful to keep during the intermediate steps.

Now assume that the eigen-subspace of $\lambda_a^{(0)}$ is non-degenerate. Then, by projecting (D.1.8b) onto $(v_a^{(0)})^{\dagger}$ and using (D.1.6) we find that

$$\lambda_a^{(1)} = \langle v_a^{(0)} | \hat{M} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle \,. \tag{D.1.9}$$

By projecting (D.1.8b) onto $(v_b^{(0)})^{\dagger}$ with $b \neq a$ and using the fact that eigen-subspaces of different eigenvalues are orthogonal between each others we find that

$$\left[\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}\right] \langle v_b^{(0)} | v_a^{(1)} \rangle = \langle v_b^{(0)} | \hat{M} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle.$$
 (D.1.10)

Thus, by using the completeness relation

$$v_a^{(1)} = \sum_b \langle v_b^{(0)} | v_a^{(1)} \rangle v_b^{(0)} = \sum_{b \neq a} \langle v_b^{(0)} | v_a^{(1)} \rangle v_b^{(0)}$$
(D.1.11)

we find that

$$v_a^{(1)} = \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{\langle v_b^{(0)} | \hat{M} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} v_b^{(0)} .$$
(D.1.12)

By projecting (D.1.8c) onto $(v_a^{(0)})^{\dagger}$ and using (D.1.6) and (D.1.12) we find that

$$\lambda_a^{(2)} = \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{1}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} \left| \langle v_b^{(0)} | \hat{M} | v_a^{(0)} \rangle \right|^2 \,. \tag{D.1.13}$$

Therefore we have found that for non-degenerate eigen-subspace

$$\lambda_a = \lambda_a^{(0)} + \langle v_a^{(0)} | \Delta M | v_a^{(0)} \rangle + \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{1}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} \left| \langle v_b^{(0)} | \Delta M | v_a^{(0)} \rangle \right|^2 + \mathcal{O}(3),$$
(D.1.14a)

$$v_a = v_a^{(0)} + \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{\langle v_b^{(0)} | \Delta M | v_a^{(0)} \rangle}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} v_b^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(2) \,. \tag{D.1.14b}$$

Instead now assume that the eigen-subspace of $\lambda_a^{(0)}$ is degenerate with a multiplicity of m. Then we need to project (D.1.8b) onto a base of the subspace of $\lambda_a^{(0)}$ which we denote by $v_{a,r}^{(0)}$ with r = 1, ..., m finding

$$\lambda_{a,r}^{(1)}w_r = W_{rs}w_s \tag{D.1.15}$$

where we have defined

$$W_{rs} \equiv \langle v_{a,r}^{(0)} | \hat{M} | v_{a,s}^{(0)} \rangle \tag{D.1.16}$$

and w is an *m*-dimensional vector whose coordinates w_r represent the weights in the basis of the eigen-subspace considered. Namely a vector in the eigen-subspace is represented by

$$v_a^{(0)} = \sum_{r=1}^m w_r v_{a,r}^{(0)} \,. \tag{D.1.17}$$

To find the splitting among the eigenvectors at zero-th order with the corresponding eigenvalues at first order we need to diagonalize W, namely we need to solve (D.1.15). Then, once we have found m eigenvectors $w^{(r)}$ (with hopefully m different eigenvalues $\lambda_{a,r}^{(1)}$), we have that we replace the zero-th order eigenvectors $v_{a,r}^{(0)}$ with

$$v_{a,r}^{(0)} \to \tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(0)} \equiv \sum_{s=1}^{m} w_s^{(r)} v_{a,s}^{(0)} \quad \text{with} \quad r = 1, ..., m.$$
 (D.1.18)
To find the correction to the eigenvectors at first order we proceed as we did in the non-degenerate case and we find that

$$\tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(1)} = \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{\langle v_b^{(0)} | \hat{M} | \tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(0)} \rangle}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} v_b^{(0)} .$$
(D.1.19)

To find the second order correction to the eigenvalues we proceed as before. Thus, by projecting (D.1.8c) onto $(\tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(0)})^{\dagger}$ we find that

$$\lambda_{a,r}^{(2)} = \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{1}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} \left| \langle v_b^{(0)} | \hat{M} | \tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(0)} \rangle \right|^2 \,. \tag{D.1.20}$$

Therefore we have found that for degenerate eigen-subspace

$$\lambda_{a,r} = \lambda_a^{(0)} + \varepsilon \lambda_{a,r}^{(1)} + \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{1}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} \left| \langle v_b^{(0)} | \Delta M | \tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(0)} \rangle \right|^2 + \mathcal{O}(3), \qquad (D.1.21a)$$

$$v_{a,r} = \tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(0)} + \sum_{b \neq a} \frac{\langle v_b^{(0)} | \Delta M | \tilde{v}_{a,r}^{(0)} \rangle}{\lambda_a^{(0)} - \lambda_b^{(0)}} v_b^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(2)$$
(D.1.21b)

where $\lambda_{a,r}^{(1)}$ and $\tilde{v}_{a,r}$ are obtained by solving (D.1.15).

D.2 Singular-Valued Decomposition

Given a matrix M, we want to find two unitary matrices U, V such that

$$U^{\dagger}MV = \hat{M} \tag{D.2.1}$$

where \hat{M} is a diagonal matrix with non-negative eigenvalues.

To do so we look at the matrix MM^{\dagger} . It is hermitian, hence it is unitary diagonalizable with non-negative eigenvalues. Therefore we can find a unitary matrix U such that

$$U^{\dagger}(MM^{\dagger})U = D^2 \tag{D.2.2}$$

where D^2 is positive-definite diagonal matrix (and so will be D). Now let us define the matrix

$$K \equiv M^{\dagger} U D^{-1} \,. \tag{D.2.3}$$

It is unitary since

$$K^{\dagger}K = (D^{-1\dagger}U^{\dagger}M)(M^{\dagger}UD^{-1}) = D^{-1}D^{2}D^{-1} = \mathbb{I}.$$
 (D.2.4)

Also we can check that

$$U^{\dagger}MK = U^{\dagger}M(M^{\dagger}UD^{-1}) = D.$$
 (D.2.5)

So we have that we can set V = K and $\hat{M} = D$ and we are done.

To find V it is actually more useful to try to unitary diagonalize the matrix $M^{\dagger}M$. In fact we can define V such that

$$V^{\dagger}(M^{\dagger}M)V = D^2 \tag{D.2.6}$$

and notice that the diagonal matrix must be the same of before since the characteristic polynomials associated to MM^{\dagger} and $M^{\dagger}M$ are the same, namely

$$\det\left[MM^{\dagger} - \lambda \mathbb{I}\right] = \det\left[M(M^{\dagger} - \lambda M^{-1})\right] = \det\left[(M^{\dagger} - \lambda M^{-1})M\right] = \det\left[M^{\dagger}M - \lambda \mathbb{I}\right].$$
(D.2.7)

Now if we do a similarity transformation to $M^{\dagger}M$ using K we find that

$$K^{\dagger}(M^{\dagger}M)K = (D^{-1\dagger}U^{\dagger}M)(M^{\dagger}M)(M^{\dagger}UD^{-1}) = D^{-1}D^{2}D^{2}D^{-1} = D^{2}.$$
 (D.2.8)

Therefore K = V since the diagonalization matrix is unique.

Thus to find U we need to diagonalize MM^{\dagger} , to find V we need to diagonalize $M^{\dagger}M$ and to find \hat{M} we need to take the squared-root of the diagonal matrix that one finds after diagonalizing MM^{\dagger} .

D.3 Diagonalization of a Symmetric Mass-Matrix

In this work we needed several times to diagonalize a neutrino mass-matrix which is a complex symmetric $(n_{\ell} + n_h) \times (n_{\ell} + n_h)$ matrix of the following block-form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} L & D \\ D^T & R \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.3.1)

where n_{ℓ} and n_h are the number of the would-be light and heavy neutrino species respectively. L, D and R are $n_{\ell} \times n_{\ell}$, $n_{\ell} \times n_h$ and $n_h \times n_h$ complex symmetric matrices respectively. To diagonalize it we need to find a unitary matrix U such that

$$U^{T}MU = \operatorname{diag}\left(m_{\ell}^{(1)}, ..., m_{\ell}^{(n_{\ell})}, M_{h}^{(1)}, ..., M_{h}^{(n_{h})}\right)$$
(D.3.2)

where $m_{\ell}^{(\ell)}$ and $M_h^{(h)}$ are all positive real numbers and are associated to the masses of the masseigenstates.

The condition $M = M^T$ is necessary to ensure that such a unitary matrix always exists. In general, given a generic matrix, we can diagonalize it with a singular-valued decomposition as shown in Section D.2. Thus we have that there always exist two unitary matrices V and U such that

$$V^{\dagger}MU = \hat{M} \tag{D.3.3}$$

where \hat{M} is diagonal and positive-definite. To find V and U we need to diagonalize MM^{\dagger} and $M^{\dagger}M$ respectively. Nevertheless, since $M = M^{T}$, the two equations can be simplified as follows

$$V^{\dagger}MM^*V = \hat{M}^2, \qquad U^{\dagger}M^*MU = \hat{M}^2.$$
 (D.3.4)

Thus, upon taking the complex conjugation on the first equation, we see that $V^* = U$. Therefore we can make use of the same unitary matrix to diagonalize a symmetric matrix as done in (D.3.2).

As we have shown above, to find U we diagonalize the hermitian matrix $M^{\dagger}M$ and we know that

$$U^{\dagger}(M^{\dagger}M)U = \operatorname{diag}\left((m_{\ell}^{(1)})^2, ..., (m_{\ell}^{(n_{\ell})})^2, (M_h^{(1)})^2, ..., (M_h^{(n_h)})^2\right).$$
(D.3.5)

Thus we can find the eigenvalues with corresponding eigenstates of a neutrino mass-matrix by doing this procedure. Moreover, when the calculation seems too hard analytically, we can diagonalize $M^{\dagger}M$ perturbatively if there is a clear hierarchy in the mass-matrix. In fact we usually have that $L, D \ll R$. In the following Section we are going to study this case in detail.

D.4 Block-Diagonalization of a Symmetric Mass-Matrix

When we want to diagonalize a symmetric mass-matrix in the form of (D.3.1), sometimes it is useful to disentangle the light and heavy states and then diagonalize each sub-matrix independently. This is because, most of the times, if more than one generation is involved (namely $n_{\ell}, n_h > 1$), we should use degenerate perturbation theory to diagonalize the mass-matrix. Thus what we could do is to exploit a unitary matrix W such that

$$W^T M W = \begin{pmatrix} M_\ell & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & M_h \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.4.1)

where M_{ℓ} and M_h are $n_{\ell} \times n_{\ell}$ and $n_h \times n_h$ complex symmetric matrices respectively. Then one can easily diagonalize independently M_{ℓ} and M_h using the same method used for M but with reduced matrices. A reference of the calculation we are about to make can be found in [22]. To find M_{ℓ} and M_{h} we can parameterize W as follows

$$W = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{1 - BB^{\dagger}} & B \\ -B^{\dagger} & \sqrt{1 - B^{\dagger}B} \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.4.2)

where B is a generic $n_{\ell} \times n_h$ matrix and it is understood that the squared-root should be treated as a power series, namely

$$\sqrt{1 - BB^{\dagger}} \equiv 1 - \frac{1}{2}BB^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{8}(BB^{\dagger})^2 + \dots$$
 (D.4.3)

Notice that this parameterization is the generalization of an orthogonal 2×2 matrix which can be always written in the following form

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{1 - \sin^2 \theta} & \sin \theta \\ -\sin \theta & \sqrt{1 - \sin^2 \theta} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.4.4)

Also it is clear from this that B represents the mixing angle between light and heavy eigenstates. Moreover we want this quantity to be little.

After making explicit the parameterization of W in (D.4.1), we find that

$$M_{\ell} = \sqrt{1 - B^* B^T} L \sqrt{1 - BB^{\dagger}} - B^* D^T \sqrt{1 - BB^{\dagger}} - \sqrt{1 - B^* B^T} DB^{\dagger} + B^* RB^{\dagger}, \qquad (D.4.5a)$$

$$M_{h} = BLB + \sqrt{1 - B^{T}B^{*}D^{T}B} + BD\sqrt{1 - B^{\dagger}B} + \sqrt{1 - B^{T}B^{*}R}\sqrt{1 - B^{\dagger}B}, \qquad (D.4.5b)$$

$$\mathbb{O} = BL\sqrt{1 - BB^{\dagger}} + \sqrt{1 - B^T B^*} D^T \sqrt{1 - BB^{\dagger}} - BDB^{\dagger} - \sqrt{1 - B^T B^*} RB^{\dagger}.$$
 (D.4.5c)

In particular we can solve the last equation to find B. We proceed perturbatively in powers of DR^{-1} under the assumption that $L, D \ll R$. In addition, we expect that

$$B \sim DR^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(D^2 R^{-2})$$
 (D.4.6)

since B is supposed to be little. We find that (D.4.5c) reads as follows

$$\mathbb{O} = D^T - RB^{\dagger} + \mathcal{O}(DR^{-1}) \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad B^{\dagger} = R^{-1}D^T + \mathcal{O}(D^2R^{-2}). \tag{D.4.7}$$

By substituting this condition inside the other equations we find that at lowest order

$$M_{\ell} \approx L - DR^{-1}D^T$$
, $M_h \approx R$, $B \approx D^*(R^{-1})^{\dagger}$. (D.4.8)

D.5 Block-Diagonalization of a Hierarchical Mass-Matrix

The method discussed above can be used also to diagonalize with a singular-valued decomposition a generic matrix that has a suitable hierarchical structure. In particular we can extend the method above to diagonalize perturbatively the mass-matrices of some fermionic fields. A reference of the calculation we are about to make can be found in [22].

Assume to have a mass-Lagrangian in the following form

$$\mathcal{L} = - \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\psi}_L & \overline{\chi}_L \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{M} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_R \\ \chi_R \end{pmatrix} + h.c.$$
(D.5.1)

where ψ and χ are *n*- and *n'*-dimensional vectors that contain the light and heavy fermionic DOFs respectively. The mass-matrix is a $(n + n') \times (n + n')$ general complex matrix and we assume that it has the following form

$$\mathbb{M} = \begin{pmatrix} m \\ M \end{pmatrix} \tag{D.5.2}$$

where m is $n \times (n + n')$ while M is $n' \times (n + n')$. We also assume the hierarchy $m \ll M$. To go from the flavour- to mass-basis we need to do diagonalize M with a singular-valued decomposition as shown in Section D.2. In particular to find the LH mixing matrix and the light and heavy mass-eigenstates we need to unitary diagonalize

$$\mathbb{MM}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} mm^{\dagger} & mM^{\dagger} \\ Mm^{\dagger} & MM^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.5.3)

As we did for the neutrino mass-matrix in Section D.4, we can block-diagonalize this matrix such that

$$U^{\dagger} \mathbb{M} \mathbb{M}^{\dagger} U = \begin{pmatrix} M_{\ell}^2 & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & M_h^2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.5.4)

where M_{ℓ}^2 and M_h^2 are $n \times n$ and $n' \times n'$ hermitian, positive-definite matrices and we can assume that the unitary matrix U is in the following form

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}} & F\\ -F^{\dagger} & \sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F} \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.5.5)

where F is a generic $n \times n'$ matrix and it is understood that the squared-root should be treated as a power series. In analogy with before, we have that F represents the mixing angle between the light and heavy DOFs and we assume this quantity to be little.

After making explicit the parameterization of W in (D.5.4), we find that

$$\begin{split} M_{\ell}^{2} &= \sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}}(mm^{\dagger})\sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}} - F(Mm^{\dagger})\sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}} - \sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}}(mM^{\dagger})F^{\dagger} + F(MM^{\dagger})F^{\dagger}, \\ (D.5.6a) \\ M_{h}^{2} &= F(mm^{\dagger})F + \sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F}(Mm^{\dagger})F + F(mM^{\dagger})\sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F} + \sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F}(MM^{\dagger})\sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F}, \\ (D.5.6b) \\ \mathbb{O} &= F(mm^{\dagger})\sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}} + \sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F}(Mm^{\dagger})\sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}} - F(mM^{\dagger})F^{\dagger} - \sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F}(MM^{\dagger})F^{\dagger} \end{split}$$

$$\mathbb{O} = F(mm^{\dagger})\sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}} + \sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F(Mm^{\dagger})}\sqrt{1 - FF^{\dagger}} - F(mM^{\dagger})F^{\dagger} - \sqrt{1 - F^{\dagger}F(MM^{\dagger})F^{\dagger}}.$$
(D.5.6c)

In particular we can solve the last equation to find F. We proceed perturbatively in powers of $(MM^{\dagger})^{-1}$. In addition we expect that³⁷

$$F \sim (MM^{\dagger})^{-1} + \mathcal{O}((MM^{\dagger})^{-2})$$
 (D.5.7)

We find that (D.5.6c) reads as follows

$$\mathbb{O} = Mm^{\dagger} - (MM^{\dagger})F^{\dagger} + \mathcal{O}((MM^{\dagger})^{-1}) \implies F^{\dagger} = (MM^{\dagger})^{-1}Mm^{\dagger} + \mathcal{O}((MM^{\dagger})^{-2}).$$
(D.5.8)

By substituting this condition inside the other equations we find that at lowest order

$$M_{\ell}^2 \approx m \left[\mathbb{I} - M^{\dagger} (MM^{\dagger})^{-1} M \right] m^{\dagger}, \qquad M_h^2 \approx MM^{\dagger}, \qquad F \approx m M^{\dagger} (MM^{\dagger})^{-1}.$$
 (D.5.9)

In this way we have disentangled the light and heavy DOFs and we can further diagonalize M_{ℓ}^2 to find the masses of the light mass-eigenstates with the corresponding LH mass-eigenstates.

Unfortunately this method cannot be used to find the RH mixing matrix since we have that

$$\mathbb{M}^{\dagger}\mathbb{M} = m^{\dagger}m + M^{\dagger}M.$$
 (D.5.10)

Sometimes this is not even required. Nevertheless it can be obtained by exploiting the proof done in Section D.2. In particular we want to find two unitary matrices \mathbb{U} and \mathbb{V} such that

$$\mathbb{U}^{\dagger}\mathbb{M}\mathbb{V} = \hat{\mathbb{M}} \tag{D.5.11}$$

 $^{^{37}\}mathrm{It}$ is left understood that F is a dimensional.

where $\hat{\mathbb{M}}$ is diagonal. As shown above, to find \mathbb{U} and $\hat{\mathbb{M}}$ we need to block-diagonalize \mathbb{MM}^{\dagger} as in (D.5.4) and then diagonalize M_{ℓ}^2 and M_h^2 . To do so we need to find two unitary matrices U_{ℓ} and U_h such that

$$U_{\ell}^{\dagger} M_{\ell}^2 U_{\ell} = \hat{M}_{\ell}^2, \qquad U_h^{\dagger} M_h^2 U_h = \hat{M}_h^2$$
 (D.5.12)

where \hat{M}_{ℓ}^2 and \hat{M}_{h}^2 are two positive-definite diagonal matrices. For \mathbb{V} instead we know that it holds the following relation

$$\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{M}^{\dagger} \mathbb{U} \hat{\mathbb{M}}^{-1} \,. \tag{D.5.13}$$

We can verify that

$$\mathbb{U} = U \begin{pmatrix} U_{\ell} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & U_{h} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \hat{\mathbb{M}} = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{M}_{\ell} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & \hat{M}_{h} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbb{V} = \begin{pmatrix} m^{\dagger} & M^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} U \begin{pmatrix} U_{\ell} \hat{M}_{\ell}^{-1} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & U_{h} \hat{M}_{h}^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(D.5.14)

Therefore at lowest order we find that

$$\mathbb{V} \approx \left(\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{I} - M^{\dagger} (MM^{\dagger})^{-1} M \end{bmatrix} m^{\dagger} U_{\ell} \hat{M}_{\ell}^{-1} \quad M^{\dagger} U_{h} \hat{M}_{h}^{-1} \right) \,. \tag{D.5.15}$$

D.6 Inverse of a Block-Matrix

Consider a generic 2×2 matrix

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} . \tag{D.6.1}$$

Its inverse is easy to find and it reads as follows

$$M^{-1} = \frac{1}{ad - bc} \begin{pmatrix} d & -b \\ -c & a \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.6.2)

Now consider a 2×2 block-matrix. It can be written in the following form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \tag{D.6.3}$$

where A, B, C and D are generic matrices of dimensions $p \times p$, $p \times q$, $q \times p$ and $q \times q$ respectively. If D and $A - BD^{-1}C$ are invertible, then we have that

$$M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} (A - BD^{-1}C)^{-1} & -(A - BD^{-1}C)^{-1}BD^{-1} \\ -D^{-1}C(A - BD^{-1}C)^{-1} & D^{-1} + D^{-1}C(A - BD^{-1}C)^{-1}BD^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.6.4)

In the subcase where p = q, $A = \mathbb{O}$ and B, C and D are invertible, the latter result simplifies to

$$M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} C^{-1}DB^{-1} & C^{-1} \\ B^{-1} & \mathbb{O} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.6.5)

Now consider the case where both A and D are vanishing. We are left with a matrix in the form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{O} & B \\ C & \mathbb{O} \end{pmatrix} . \tag{D.6.6}$$

In this case the inverse is given by

$$M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{O} & C^{-1} \\ B^{-1} & \mathbb{O} \end{pmatrix} . \tag{D.6.7}$$

D.7 Diagonalization of a 2×2 Matrix

Consider a generic 2×2 complex matrix

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} . \tag{D.7.1}$$

Its eigenvalues and corresponding eigenvectors (to be normalized) are given by

$$\lambda_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(T \pm \sqrt{T^2 - 4D} \right) ,$$
 (D.7.2a)

$$v_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} d - a + \sqrt{T^2 - 4D} \\ -2c \end{pmatrix}, \quad v_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} 2b \\ d - a + \sqrt{T^2 - 4D} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (D.7.2b)

where $T \equiv \text{Tr}[M]$ and $D \equiv \det[M]$. In the limit where $D \ll T^2$ they simplify to

$$\lambda_{-} = \frac{D}{T} \left[1 + \mathcal{O} \left(\frac{D}{T^2} \right) \right], \qquad \lambda_{+} = T \left[1 - \frac{D}{T^2} + \mathcal{O} \left(\frac{D^2}{T^4} \right) \right], \qquad (D.7.3a)$$

$$v_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} d - D/T \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(D/T^2)\right] \\ -2c \end{pmatrix}, \qquad v_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} 2b \\ d - D/T \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(D/T^2)\right] \end{pmatrix}.$$
(D.7.3b)

Consider the subcase where M is in the following form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} |a|^2 & a^*b\\ ab^* & |b|^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.7.4)

The eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_{-} = 0, \qquad \lambda_{+} = |a|^{2} + |b|^{2}$$
 (D.7.5)

with corresponding eigenvectors (already normalized)

$$v_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|a|^{2} + |b|^{2}}} \begin{pmatrix} -b\\ a \end{pmatrix}, \qquad v_{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|a|^{2} + |b|^{2}}} \begin{pmatrix} a^{*}\\ b^{*} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.7.6)

Consider the subcase where M is in the following form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a^* \\ a & 0 \end{pmatrix} . \tag{D.7.7}$$

The eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_{\pm} = \pm |a| \tag{D.7.8}$$

with corresponding eigenvectors (already normalized)

$$v_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}|a|} \begin{pmatrix} \pm |a| \\ a \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \pm 1 \\ e^{i\theta} \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.7.9)

where we have defined

$$e^{i\theta} \equiv \frac{a}{|a|} \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \theta = \arg[a].$$
 (D.7.10)

D.8 Diagonalization of a 3×3 Matrix

Consider a generic 3×3 hermitian matrix

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} a & b & c \\ b^* & d & e \\ c^* & e^* & f \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (D.8.1)

We assume that holds the following hierarchy among the entries where ε is a small real parameter that we assume to be $\varepsilon \ll 1$

$$a \sim \varepsilon^4$$
, $b \sim \varepsilon^3$ $c, d \sim \varepsilon^2$, $e \sim \varepsilon$, $f \sim \varepsilon^0$. (D.8.2)

We want to diagonalize M perturbatively. To this purpose we represent the order in perturbative expansion of all the parameters adding explicitly the ε -dependence as follows

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon^4 a & \varepsilon^3 b & \varepsilon^2 c \\ \varepsilon^3 b^* & \varepsilon^2 d & \varepsilon e \\ \varepsilon^2 c^* & \varepsilon e & f \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.8.3)

In this way it will be very easy to diagonalize it perturbatively.

To find the eigenvalues we need to derive the characteristic polynomial associated to M. Explicitly it is given by

$$\det[M - \lambda \mathbb{I}] = -\lambda^3 + \lambda^2 \left(a + d + f\right) + \lambda \left(|e|^2 + |c|^2 + |b|^2 - ad - af - df\right) + \det[M]$$
(D.8.4)

where

$$det[M] = adf + bc^*e + b^*ce^* - a|e|^2 - d|c|^2 - f|b|^2.$$
(D.8.5)

We want to find the roots of this polynomial in perturbation theory in powers of ε . To this purpose we write the roots as follows

$$\lambda = \lambda_0 + \varepsilon^2 \lambda_1 + \varepsilon^4 \lambda_2 + \varepsilon^6 \lambda_3 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^8)$$
 (D.8.6)

where we used that fact that all the odd powers in ε vanish because the characteristic polynomial is a power series in ε^2 . By making explicit the dependence in ε , we find that (D.8.4) reads as follows

$$det[M - \lambda \mathbb{I}] = -\lambda_0^3 + f\lambda_0^2 + \varepsilon^2 \left(d\lambda_0^2 - df\lambda_0 + 2f\lambda_0\lambda_1 - 3\lambda_0^2\lambda_1 + |e|^2\lambda_0 \right) + \varepsilon^4 \left(-af\lambda_0 + a\lambda_0^2 - df\lambda_1 + 2d\lambda_0\lambda_1 + f\lambda_1^2 - 3\lambda_0\lambda_1^2 + 2f\lambda_0\lambda_2 - 3\lambda_0^2\lambda_2 + |c|^2\lambda_0 + |e|\lambda_1 \right) + \varepsilon^6 \left(det[M] - ad\lambda_0 - af\lambda_1 + 2a\lambda_0\lambda_1 + d\lambda_1^2 - \lambda_1^3 - df\lambda_2 + 2d\lambda_0\lambda_2 + 2f\lambda_0\lambda_3 - 3\lambda_0^2\lambda_3 \right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^8) .$$
(D.8.7)

We can now solve it for each power of ε^2 and find the following eigenvalues

$$\Lambda_3 = f + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2), \qquad \Lambda_2 = d - \frac{|e|^2}{f} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^4), \qquad \Lambda_1 = \frac{\det[M]}{df - |e|^2} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^6). \tag{D.8.8}$$

The corresponding eigenvectors can be found by solving the equation

$$(M - \Lambda_i \mathbb{I}) v_i = \overline{0}. \tag{D.8.9}$$

We find that the three corresponding eigenvectors (to be normalized) are given by

$$v_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) , \quad v_{2} = \frac{1}{f} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\f\\-e^{*} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2}) , \quad v_{1} = \frac{1}{df - |e|^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} df - |e|^{2}\\-fb^{*} - ec^{*}\\dc^{*} - b^{*}e^{*} \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{3}) . \quad (D.8.10)$$

E Scattering Tools

In this Chapter we are going to study in detail some important tools that we have used in this work.

E.1 Majorana Field

In this Section we study in detail how is described a fermionic field with a Majorana mass. A reference can be found for instance in [5].

Given a fermion ψ with Right- or Left-chirality, we define its Charge-Conjugate as follows

$$\psi^c \equiv \mathcal{C} \,\overline{\psi}^T = -i\gamma^2 \psi^* \tag{E.1.1}$$

where

$$\mathcal{C} \equiv i\gamma^0\gamma^2 = \begin{pmatrix} -i\sigma^2 & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & i\sigma^2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(E.1.2)

is the Charge-Conjugation operator and it is a 4×4 matrix in spinor space. It satisfies the following properties

$$\mathcal{C}^{-1} = \mathcal{C}^{\dagger} = \mathcal{C}^{T} = -\mathcal{C}, \qquad (E.1.3a)$$

$$\mathcal{C}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}\mathcal{C}^{-1} = -\gamma^{\mu}, \qquad \mathcal{C}\gamma^{5}\mathcal{C}^{-1} = \gamma^{5}.$$
 (E.1.3b)

Using the equations above it is possible to show that

$$\overline{\psi}^c = \psi^T \mathcal{C} \,. \tag{E.1.4}$$

A Majorana fermion is described by a self-conjugate field, hence

$$\psi^c = \psi \,. \tag{E.1.5}$$

This condition implies that it has half of the DOFs of a Dirac spinor since it must be in the following form (compared to the one described in Section G.2)

$$\psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_L \\ i\sigma^2 \psi_L^* \end{pmatrix} . \tag{E.1.6}$$

A Majorana mass m for this field can be provided only by the following term in the Lagrangian (remember that ψ has a precise fixed chirality)

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2}m\,\overline{\psi}^{c}\psi + h.c. = -\frac{1}{2}m\,\psi^{T}\mathcal{C}\,\psi + h.c.$$
(E.1.7)

One of the main features of this mass-term is that it breaks explicitly some Symmetries that instead are present in a Dirac-type mass-term. To see this, consider a unitary transformation on ψ which in general reads as follows

$$\psi \rightarrow U\psi$$
. (E.1.8)

We have that the Charge-Conjugate field transforms as follows

$$\psi^c \rightarrow U^* \psi^c.$$
(E.1.9)

Therefore the Majorana-type mass-term in the Lagrangian breaks explicitly any U(1) transformation of ψ . This means that a Majorana fermion implies Fermion Number violation.

When we deal with Majorana fermions, the Feynman rule of the propagator is slightly different than the Dirac-type one due to the explicit Fermion Number violation. To compute the 2-point function, we consider the free Lagrangian which reads as follows

$$\mathcal{L} = \overline{\psi} i \partial \!\!\!/ \psi - \frac{1}{2} m \, \psi^T \mathcal{C} \, \psi - \frac{1}{2} m \, \overline{\psi} \, \mathcal{C} \, \overline{\psi}^T \equiv \frac{1}{2} \overline{\Psi} M \Psi \tag{E.1.10}$$

where

$$\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi \\ \overline{\psi}^T \end{pmatrix}, \qquad M = \begin{pmatrix} i\partial & -m\mathcal{C} \\ -m\mathcal{C} & i\mathcal{C}^{-1}\partial \mathcal{C} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(E.1.11)

Using the Feynman prescription to find the propagator, we need to invert M. Going to momentum space $\partial_{\mu} \rightarrow -ip_{\mu}$ we find that

$$M^{-1} = \frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{C}^{-1} \not p \mathcal{C} & m \mathcal{C} \\ m \mathcal{C} & \not p \end{pmatrix} .$$
(E.1.12)

This implies that we have two possible 2-point functions. One that preserves the fermionic current and one that breaks it by two units. They explicitly read as follows with the corresponding Feynman diagrams

$$iS(p) \equiv \langle \psi \overline{\psi} \rangle = \frac{i \not\!\!\!/}{p^2 - m^2} \qquad \underbrace{\stackrel{p}{\longrightarrow}}_{\psi} \qquad (E.1.13a)$$

$$iS'(p) \equiv \langle \psi \psi^T \rangle = \frac{im \mathcal{C}}{p^2 - m^2}$$
 \xrightarrow{p}_{ψ} (E.1.13b)

Also notice that to get the antiparticle propagators one needs to invert the arrows in the Feynman diagrams, but this is equivalent to work with the propagators of the particles with opposite momentum, hence iS(-p) and iS'(-p).

E.2 Hadronic Scattering

Hadrons are bound states of quarks and gluons. They are the manifestation of QCD confinement. Since they are not elementary particles, we have to know how to deal with them when we want to compute scattering processes where hadrons are involved. This is what we study in this Section. A reference can be found for instance in [23].

We know that processes involving leptons and quarks are mediated by Weak Interactions (WI). Since when we deal with hadrons we can assume to be at low energy, we can use Fermi theory. The Fermi Lagrangian reads as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_F = \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \left(J_{\mu}^+ J^{-\mu} + J_{\mu}^0 J^{0\,\mu} \right)$$
(E.2.1)

where we have defined the Charged and Neutral Currents (CC and NC)

$$J_{\mu}^{+} = \sum_{u,d} \overline{d} \gamma_{\mu} (1 - \gamma^{5}) V_{ud}^{*} u + \sum_{j,\ell} \overline{\ell} \gamma_{\mu} (1 - \gamma^{5}) U_{\ell j} \nu_{j} , \qquad (E.2.2a)$$

$$J^{0}_{\mu} = \sum_{f=u,d,\ell,\nu} \overline{f} \gamma^{\mu} \left(g^{f}_{V} - g^{f}_{A} \gamma^{5} \right) f \,. \tag{E.2.2b}$$

V and U are the CKM and PMNS matrices respectively, $J_{\mu}^{-}=(J_{\mu}^{+})^{\dagger}$ and

$$g_V^f = T_f^3 - 2s_W \left(T_f^3 + Y_f\right), \qquad g_A^f = T_f^3$$
 (E.2.3)

where T^3 and Y are the third generator of $SU(2)_L$ and the generator of $U(1)_Y$ respectively.

Hadrons are specific combinations of quarks. For instance pions are given by

$$|\pi^+\rangle = |u\overline{d}\rangle, \qquad |\pi^-\rangle = |d\overline{u}\rangle, \qquad |\pi^0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|u\overline{u} - d\overline{d}\rangle$$
(E.2.4)

while kaons are

$$|K^+\rangle = |u\bar{s}\rangle, \qquad |K^-\rangle = |s\bar{u}\rangle, \qquad |K^0\rangle = |d\bar{s}\rangle, \qquad |\overline{K}^0\rangle = |s\bar{d}\rangle.$$
 (E.2.5)

Then there are many others, like D mesons which are like pions and kaons but with quark c instead of u. To compute scattering amplitudes where hadrons are involved, one has to take the matrix element of the Lagrangian on initial and final states. The lepton part factorizes as usual. Instead the hadronic part is unknown. For instance, in case of an incoming pseudoscalar meson h_P in a process mediated by CC, we need to compute the following matrix element

$$\langle 0|J_{\mu}^{+}|h_{P}^{-}\rangle. \tag{E.2.6}$$

By dimensional analysis we observe that it has mass-dimension +2. Also the only Lorentz tensors on which it can depend on are the metric tensor $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the momentum of $h_P p_{\mu}$. Hence we can write that matrix element as follows

$$\langle 0|J_{\mu}^{+}|h_{P}^{-}\rangle \equiv if_{h}p_{\mu} \tag{E.2.7}$$

where f_h is a constant with mass-dimension $[f_h] = +1$. It contains all what we do not know from nonperturbative effects that are responsible for the formation of the quark bound state. From Symmetry considerations we can prove that matrix elements with hadrons and CC or NC are related. In particular we have that in the Isospin-preserving limit

$$\langle 0|J^0_{\mu}|h^0_P\rangle \equiv -\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}f_h p_{\mu} \,. \tag{E.2.8}$$

An explanation on why this is true can be found in [23]. The unknown constants f_h are extracted from measurements and, in our notation, their values are listed in [23].

E.3 Phase Space of a $1 \rightarrow 2$ Decay Process

In this Section we compute the phase space of a decay process of type $A \to BC$. In full generality from (G.3.1) we have that the phase space integral reads as follows

$$\int d\Phi = \int \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_B}{(2\pi)^3 2E_B} \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_C}{(2\pi)^3 2E_C} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (p_A - p_B - p_C) \,. \tag{E.3.1}$$

Using momentum conservation we find that in this process the only independent scalar product among the momenta is given by

$$2 p_A \cdot p_B = m_A^2 + m_B^2 - m_C^2 \,. \tag{E.3.2}$$

Therefore the squared-amplitude is momentum independent and it factorizes out of the integration when we consider the decay rate of the process. This allow us to perform all the integrations over the momenta finding in the end just an expression to multiply to the rest to find the total decay rate.

At first we perform the integration over $d^3 \vec{p}_C$ using the δ -function finding

$$\int d\Phi = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \int \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_B}{E_B E_C} \delta(E_A - E_B - E_C) \,. \tag{E.3.3}$$

Since the expression is Lorentz invariant, we can choose to work is any reference frame we want. We choose to work in the rest frame of A. This implies that explicitly

$$E_A^2 = m_A^2, \qquad E_B^2 = m_B^2 + |\vec{p}_B|^2, \qquad E_C^2 = m_C^2 + |\vec{p}_B|^2.$$
 (E.3.4)

For the integration over $d^3 \vec{p}_B$, we go into spherical coordinates

$$d^{3}\vec{p}_{B} = |\vec{p}_{B}|^{2}d|\vec{p}_{B}|d\Omega_{B} = 4\pi |\vec{p}_{B}|^{2}d|\vec{p}_{B}|.$$
(E.3.5)

Calling $p \equiv |\vec{p}_B|$, we have that the phase space reads as follows

$$\int d\Phi = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int dp \, \frac{p^2}{\sqrt{m_B^2 + p^2} \sqrt{m_C^2 + p^2}} \delta\left(m_A - \sqrt{m_B^2 + p^2} - \sqrt{m_C^2 + p^2}\right) \,. \tag{E.3.6}$$

We still have to perform the integration over p. To do so we use the last δ -function. We observe that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial p} \left(\sqrt{m_B^2 + p^2} + \sqrt{m_C^2 + p^2} - m_A \right) = p \frac{\sqrt{m_B^2 + p^2} + \sqrt{m_C^2 + p^2}}{\sqrt{m_B^2 + p^2} \sqrt{m_C^2 + p^2}} \,. \tag{E.3.7}$$

Thus, after performing the last integration, we find that

$$\int d\Phi = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\hat{p}}{\sqrt{m_B^2 + \hat{p}^2} + \sqrt{m_C^2 + \hat{p}^2}}$$
(E.3.8)

where \hat{p} is defined such that it satisfies

$$m_A - \sqrt{m_B^2 + \hat{p}^2} - \sqrt{m_C^2 + \hat{p}^2} = 0.$$
 (E.3.9)

By solving this equation we find that

$$\hat{p}^2 = \frac{1}{4m_A^2} \lambda(m_A^2, m_B^2, m_C^2)$$
(E.3.10)

where we have defined the Källén function

$$\lambda(a, b, c) \equiv a^2 + b^2 + c^2 - 2ab - 2ac - 2bc$$
 (E.3.11)

Therefore the phase space of a $A \to BC$ process reads as follows

$$\Phi = \frac{1}{8\pi} \frac{1}{m_A^2} \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}}(m_A^2, m_B^2, m_C^2) \,. \tag{E.3.12}$$

E.4 3-Body Phase Space

In this Section we compute the phase space of a generic process with three particles in the final state. We define the momenta of the particles in the final state as follows (where i = 1, 2, 3)

$$p_i = (E_i, \vec{p_i}) \tag{E.4.1}$$

and they all satisfy their on-shellness conditions $p_i^2 = m_i^2$. We define also the transferred momentum

$$q = p_1 + p_2 + p_3. (E.4.2)$$

In full generality from (G.3.1) we have that the phase space integral reads as follows

$$\int d\Phi = \int \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_1}{(2\pi)^3 \, 2E_1} \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_2}{(2\pi)^3 \, 2E_2} \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_3}{(2\pi)^3 \, 2E_3} (2\pi)^4 \, \delta^4 \left(q - p_1 - p_2 - p_3\right) \,. \tag{E.4.3}$$

Since the expression is Lorentz invariant, we can work in any reference frame that we want. We choose to work in the Centre of Mass (CoM) frame. This implies that

$$q = (\sqrt{s}, \vec{0}) \tag{E.4.4}$$

where $s = q^2$ is the first Mandelstam variable. We also define the so-called Bjorken dimensionless variables as follows

$$x_i \equiv \frac{2p_i \cdot q}{q^2} = \frac{2E_i}{\sqrt{s}}, \qquad \varepsilon_i \equiv \frac{m_i^2}{s}$$
(E.4.5)

and we observe that from momentum conservation (E.4.2) they satisfy the following condition

$$x_1 + x_2 + x_3 = 2. (E.4.6)$$

We want to simplify the integration over the momenta as far as possible. At first we perform the integration over $d^3\vec{p}_3$ using the δ -function finding

$$\int d\Phi = \frac{1}{8(2\pi)^5} \int \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_1 \, d^3 \vec{p}_2}{E_1 E_2 E_3} \,\delta(\sqrt{s} - E_1 - E_2 - E_3) \,. \tag{E.4.7}$$

Now we can go into spherical coordinates and we find that the remained integration measure can be cast in the following way

$$d^{3}\vec{p_{1}} d^{3}\vec{p_{2}} = |\vec{p_{1}}|^{2}|\vec{p_{2}}|^{2}d|\vec{p_{1}}|d|\vec{p_{2}}| d\Omega_{1}d\Omega_{12} = 8\pi^{2} |\vec{p_{1}}|^{2}|\vec{p_{2}}|^{2}d|\vec{p_{1}}|d|\vec{p_{2}}| d\cos\theta_{12}$$
(E.4.8)

where $d\Omega_1$ is the spherical integral measure associated to the solid angle of $\vec{p_1}$ while $d\Omega_{12}$ is associated to the solid angle between $\vec{p_1}$ and $\vec{p_2}$. Moreover $d\Omega_1$ is trivial and it is integrated out to leave a factor of 4π , while $d\Omega_{12}$ is trivial in its azimuthal part and it leaves a factor of 2π and a non-trivial integration over $d\cos\theta_{12}$. We can see that only E_3 shows an explicit dependence on $\cos\theta_{12}$ since

$$E_3 = \sqrt{m_3^2 + |\vec{p_1} + \vec{p_2}|^2} = \sqrt{m_3^2 + |\vec{p_1}|^2 + |\vec{p_2}|^2 + 2|\vec{p_1}||\vec{p_2}|\cos\theta_{12}}.$$
 (E.4.9)

Thus we can get rid of the integration over this last angle using the last δ -function, leading to the following expression

$$\int d\cos\theta_{12}\,\delta(\sqrt{s} - E_1 - E_2 - E_3) = \left|\frac{\partial E_3}{\partial\cos\theta_{12}}\right|^{-1} = \frac{E_3}{|\vec{p}_1||\vec{p}_2|}\,.$$
(E.4.10)

Therefore, using the following change of integration variables

$$|\vec{p}_i|d|\vec{p}_i| = E_i dE_i, \qquad dE_i = \frac{\sqrt{s}}{2} dx_i$$
 (E.4.11)

and grouping all the expressions together, we find that

$$\int d\Phi = \frac{1}{32\pi^3} \int dE_1 dE_2 = \frac{q^2}{128\pi^3} \int_{x_1^{min}}^{x_1^{max}} dx_1 \int_{x_2^{min}}^{x_2^{max}} dx_2 \,. \tag{E.4.12}$$

What is left is to find are the integration bounds. We start from looking at the bounds on x_1 . Its minimum is trivially when $E_1 = m_1$, while for its maximum we need to find when E_1 reaches its maximum, which is equivalent to find the minimum of $E_2 + E_3$. Furthermore the configuration in which E_1 is maximal is for sure when $\vec{p_1}$ is antiparallel to $\vec{p_2}$ and $\vec{p_3}$, which means that we need to minimize with respect to $|\vec{p_2}|$

$$E_2 + E_3 = \sqrt{m_2^2 + |\vec{p}_2|^2} + \sqrt{m_3^2 + (|\vec{p}_2| - |\vec{p}_1|)^2}.$$
 (E.4.13)

This happens when

$$|\vec{p}_2| = \frac{m_2}{m_2 + m_3} |\vec{p}_1|.$$
 (E.4.14)

By inserting this condition inside the energy conservation equation

$$\sqrt{s} = E_1 + E_2 + E_3 \,, \tag{E.4.15}$$

we find the maximum of x_1 . In the end we have that

$$x_1^{max} = 1 + \varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2 - \varepsilon_3 - 2\sqrt{\varepsilon_2}\sqrt{\varepsilon_3}, \qquad (E.4.16a)$$

$$x_1^{\min} = 2\sqrt{\varepsilon_1} \,. \tag{E.4.16b}$$

At fixed x_1 now we need to find the bounds on x_2 . To do so we need to exploit the condition that fixes $\cos \theta_{12}$. From energy conservation (E.4.15) we find the following relation written in terms of Bjorken variables

$$x_1 x_2 - 2x_1 - 2x_2 + 2 + 2\varepsilon_1 + 2\varepsilon_2 - 2\varepsilon_3 = \sqrt{x_1^2 - 4\varepsilon_1} \sqrt{x_2^2 - 4\varepsilon_2} \cos \theta_{12}.$$
 (E.4.17)

Since $-1 \le \cos \theta_{12} \le 1$, we can find the integration bounds on x_2 written in terms of x_1 by solving for x_2 the equation above when $\cos \theta_{12} = \pm 1$. We find that

$$\begin{aligned} x_2^{max} &= \frac{1}{2(1+\varepsilon_1-x_1)} \left[(2-x_1)(1+\varepsilon_1+\varepsilon_2-\varepsilon_3-x_1) \\ &+ \sqrt{x_1^2 - 4\varepsilon_1} \sqrt{(\varepsilon_1-\varepsilon_2)^2 + 2(1-x_1)(\varepsilon_1-\varepsilon_2) + (1-\varepsilon_3-x_1)^2 - 2\varepsilon_3(\varepsilon_1+\varepsilon_2)} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(E.4.18a)
$$x_2^{min} &= \frac{1}{2(1+\varepsilon_1-x_1)} \left[(2-x_1)(1+\varepsilon_1+\varepsilon_2-\varepsilon_3-x_1) \\ &- \sqrt{x_1^2 - 4\varepsilon_1} \sqrt{(\varepsilon_1-\varepsilon_2)^2 + 2(1-x_1)(\varepsilon_1-\varepsilon_2) + (1-\varepsilon_3-x_1)^2 - 2\varepsilon_3(\varepsilon_1+\varepsilon_2)} \right]. \end{aligned}$$
(E.4.18b)

Also it is easy to check that, in the range of x_1 , all the values of x_2 in the range above are well-defined.

In the end we found an integration measure that is still Lorentz invariant and depends only on two of the Bjorken variables. It is also possible to show that any squared-amplitude associated to a process with three particles in the final state depends on only two of the Bjorken variables. This is due to the fact that, from Lorentz invariance, this quantity depends only on scalar products between initialand final-state momenta. Moreover, since the initial-state momenta are all related and they depend only on q, the only independent scalar products are between q, p_1 , p_2 and p_3 . Now we can show that all these combinations can be written in terms of x_1, x_2, s and the masses of the particles. We start from replacing all p_3 with the other three momenta exploiting momentum conservation. Then $q \cdot p_1$ and $q \cdot p_2$ are easily related to x_1 and x_2 . The only non-trivial scalar product is $p_1 \cdot p_2$, but exploiting momentum conservation and in particular (E.4.6) we can show that

$$2 p_1 \cdot p_2 = m_3^2 - m_1^2 - m_2^2 + s(x_1 + x_2 - 1).$$
(E.4.19)

By following these prescriptions one can always write any possible integrand of the 3-body phase space as function of x_1 and x_2 only (plus s and all the masses involved).

F Standard Model Lagrangian

In this Chapter we are going to write down explicitly the whole SM Lagrangian, both in the unbroken and broken EW phases. This is done to fix all the possible conventions related. Then we are going to provide the relevant Feynman rules that we have used to perform all the calculations done in this work. The conventions used are the ones in [24] with $\eta, \eta', \eta_s, \eta_e = -1$ and $\eta_Y, \eta_Z, \eta_\theta = 1$.

F.1 Unbroken Electro-Weak Phase

We consider the SM Gauge Group in the unbroken EW phase

$$SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y \tag{F.1.1}$$

and the Gauge couplings and fields associated³⁸ are (with the SU(3) and SU(2) indices a = 1, ..., 8, i = 1, 2, 3 respectively)

$$(g_s, g, g')$$
, $(G^a_\mu, W^i_\mu, B_\mu)$. (F.1.2)

The field-strength tensors are given by

$$G^a_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu G^a_\nu - \partial_\nu G^a_\mu + g_s f^{abc} G^b_\mu G^c_\nu, \qquad (F.1.3a)$$

$$W^i_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu W^i_\nu - \partial_\nu W^i_\mu + g \,\varepsilon^{ijk} W^j_\mu W^k_\nu \,, \tag{F.1.3b}$$

$$B_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}B_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}B_{\mu} \tag{F.1.3c}$$

where f^{abc} and ε^{ijk} are the structure constants of SU(3) and SU(2) respectively and they are listed in Section G.4 together with the corresponding generators that we call \hat{T}^a and T^i respectively. The fermionic particle content is listed in Table 3 and they are all Weyl massless fermions. Finally we have the Higgs field $H \sim (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, 1/2)$.

| ψ | SU(3) _C | $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ | $\mathrm{U}(1)_Y$ |
|-----------|--------------------|--------------------|-------------------|
| Q_L^i | 3 | 2 | 1/6 |
| L_L^i | 1 | 2 | -1/2 |
| u_R^i | 3 | 1 | 2/3 |
| d_R^i | 3 | 1 | -1/3 |
| e_R^i | 1 | 1 | -1 |
| ν_R^i | 1 | 1 | 0 |

Table 3: SM fermionic particle content in the unbroken EW phase. i = 1, 2, 3 represent the flavour index.

In the unbroken phase the SM Lagrangian reads as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm SM} = -\frac{1}{4} G^a_{\mu\nu} G^{a\,\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} W^i_{\mu\nu} W^{i\,\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu} + \sum_{\psi} \overline{\psi} i \not\!\!D \psi + (D_{\mu}H)^{\dagger} (D^{\mu}H) - \left(Q^i_L H Y^D_{ij} d^j_R + Q^i_L H^c Y^U_{ij} u^j_R + L^i_L H Y^E_{ij} e^j_R + L^i_L H^c Y^N_{ij} \nu^j_R + h.c. \right) - \mu^2 H^{\dagger} H - \lambda (H^{\dagger}H)^2$$
(F.1.4)

where Y^U , Y^D , Y^N and Y^E are the Yukawa matrices, $H^c \equiv i\sigma^2 H^*$ is the Charge-Conjugate of the Higgs field and the covariant derivative reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_{s}\hat{T}^{a}G_{\mu}^{a} - igT^{i}W_{\mu}^{i} - ig'YB_{\mu}.$$
(F.1.5)

 $^{^{38}}$ Notice that in this Section (as well as in Chapter 5) we are using different notation for Gauge fields and couplings with respect to Chapter 1.

F.2 Broken Electro-Weak Phase

When the Higgs acquires a VEV, the SM Gauge Group reduces to

$$\operatorname{SU}(3)_C \times \operatorname{SU}(2)_L \times \operatorname{U}(1)_Y \to \operatorname{SU}(3)_C \times \operatorname{U}(1)_Q.$$
 (F.2.1)

This happens because the squared-mass of the Higgs doublet μ^2 becomes negative and the Higgs potential develops a new global minimum in

$$\langle H \rangle = \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \quad \text{where} \quad v^2 = -\frac{\mu^2}{\lambda} \,.$$
 (F.2.2)

The Higgs doublet gets split as follows (as well as its Charge-Conjugate)

$$H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2} \phi^+ \\ v + h + i\phi^0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad H^c = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} v + h - i\phi^0 \\ -\sqrt{2} \phi^- \end{pmatrix}$$
(F.2.3)

where h is the Higgs field in the broken EW phase with mass

$$M_h^2 = 2\lambda v^2 \tag{F.2.4}$$

while ϕ^{\pm} and ϕ^{0} are the massless Goldstone bosons (GBs) associated to the broken generators of $SU(2)_{L}$.

From the kinetic term of the Higgs doublet we get the mass-spectrum of the vector fields. We find that the mass-basis is given by

$$W^{\pm}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(W^{1}_{\mu} \mp i W^{2}_{\mu} \right) \qquad M^{2}_{W} = \frac{1}{4} g^{2} v^{2} \,, \tag{F.2.5a}$$

$$Z_{\mu} = c_W W_{\mu}^3 - s_W B_{\mu} \qquad \qquad M_Z^2 = \frac{1}{4} \left(g^2 + g'^2 \right) v^2 \,, \tag{F.2.5b}$$

$$A_{\mu} = s_W W_{\mu}^3 + c_W B_{\mu} \qquad \qquad M_A^2 = 0 \tag{F.2.5c}$$

where we have defined

$$c_W = \frac{g}{\sqrt{g^2 + g'^2}}, \qquad s_W = \frac{g'}{\sqrt{g^2 + g'^2}}.$$
 (F.2.6)

We have that h, ϕ^0 and Z_{μ} are singlets under the residual Gauge Group while $\phi^{\pm}, W^{\pm}_{\mu} \sim \pm 1 \in U(1)_Q$. A_{μ} is the Gauge field of the residual $U(1)_Q$ Symmetry and the Charge associated is given by

$$Q = Y + T^3 \tag{F.2.7}$$

with coupling

$$e = \frac{gg'}{\sqrt{g^2 + g'^2}}$$
. (F.2.8)

The covariant derivative in the broken phase reads as follows

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - ig_{s}\hat{T}^{a}A^{a}_{\mu} - ig\left(T^{+}W^{+}_{\mu} + T^{-}W^{-}_{\mu}\right) - ieQA_{\mu} - i\frac{g}{c_{W}}\left(T^{3} - s^{2}_{W}Q\right)Z_{\mu}$$
(F.2.9)

where we have defined

$$T^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(T^1 \pm i T^2 \right) \,. \tag{F.2.10}$$

From the Yukawa interactions with the Higgs doublet in the unbroken phase are generated the fermion masses. The fermionic particle content in the broken phase is listed in Table 4 and are all Dirac fermions.

This time the SM Lagrangian is very long and we are not going to write it explicitly in this work, but it can be found in [24]. Also it is worth to define the fine structure constant and the Fermi constant

$$\alpha \equiv \frac{e^2}{4\pi}, \qquad G_F \equiv \sqrt{2} \frac{g^2}{8 M_W^2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2} v^2}.$$
 (F.2.11)

| ψ | SU(3) _C | $\mathrm{U}(1)_Q$ |
|---------|--------------------|-------------------|
| u^i | 3 | 2/3 |
| d^i | 3 | -1/3 |
| e^i | 1 | -1 |
| ν^i | 1 | 0 |

Table 4: SM fermionic particle content in the broken EW phase. i = 1, 2, 3 represent the flavour index.

F.3 Gauge Fixing

Since SM is a non-abelian Gauge theory, we have some redundancy in the definition of the Gauge bosons. This is a problem because, to find the propagator of a field φ , one has to consider the free (hence quadratic) part of the Lagrangian in momentum space

$$\mathcal{L}_{\varphi} = \varphi^{\dagger} M \varphi \tag{F.3.1}$$

and invert the bilinear tensor M. However, if we have some redundant DOFs as it happens for the Gauge bosons, this is not invertible. Thus we need to add a Gauge-fixing term to fix the Gauge and remove this redundancy.

In the SM case in the broken phase we add the following Gauge-fixing terms³⁹

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm GF} = -\frac{1}{2\xi} \left(F_G^2 + F_A^2 + F_Z^2 + 2F_+ F_- \right)$$
(F.3.2)

where

$$F_G^a = \partial^\mu G_\mu^a, \tag{F.3.3a}$$

$$F_A = \partial^{\mu} A_{\mu} \,, \tag{F.3.3b}$$

$$F_Z = \partial^\mu Z_\mu - \xi M_Z \phi^0 \,, \tag{F.3.3c}$$

$$F_{\pm} = \partial^{\mu} W^{\pm}_{\mu} \mp i \xi M_W \phi^{\pm} \,. \tag{F.3.3d}$$

This Gauge-fixing condition is called R_{ξ} Gauge. The parameter ξ is just a Lagrangian multiplier and it is physically irrelevant. Any observable must be ξ -independent. It can be left free during the computation of fixed to simplify it. Also it is possible to introduce different ξ -parameters for each of the Gauge-fixing terms. The Gauge-fixing terms for the massive vector bosons contain a dependence on the GBs to remove an unwanted mixing term in the free Lagrangian. In fact, when we consider the free part of SM Lagrangian in the broken EW phase, we find that

$$(D_{\mu}H)^{\dagger}(D^{\mu}H) \supset \frac{1}{2}M_{Z}^{2}Z_{\mu}Z^{\mu} + M_{W}^{2}W_{\mu}^{+}W^{-\mu} + M_{Z}Z_{\mu}(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{0}) + iM_{W}\left[W_{\mu}^{-}(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{+}) - W_{\mu}^{+}(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{-})\right]$$
(F.3.4)

and the last two (unwanted) terms are removed perfectly (up to a total derivative) since explicitly

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm GF} = -\frac{1}{2\xi} \left[(\partial^{\mu} G^{a}_{\mu}) (\partial^{\nu} G^{a}_{\nu}) + (\partial^{\mu} A_{\mu})^{2} + (\partial^{\mu} Z_{\mu})^{2} + 2(\partial^{\mu} W^{+}_{\mu}) (\partial^{\nu} W^{-}_{\nu}) \right] - \frac{1}{2} \xi M_{Z}^{2} (\phi^{0})^{2} - \xi M_{W}^{2} \phi^{+} \phi^{-} + M_{Z} (\partial^{\mu} Z_{\mu}) \phi^{0} + i M_{W} \left[(\partial^{\mu} W^{-}_{\mu}) \phi^{+} \right) - (\partial^{\mu} W^{+}_{\mu}) \phi^{-} \right].$$
(F.3.5)

Observe that, due to this Gauge-fixing terms, the GBs acquire a squared-mass which is given by ξ times the squared-mass of the massive vector boson associated.

³⁹In principle those terms are added in the unbroken phase, but it is possible to show that, under a suitable choice of Gauge-fixing terms in the unbroken phase, one reproduces those Gauge-fixing conditions in the broken phase.

There are several possible Gauge-fixing choices for ξ . When $\xi \to \infty$ we are in the Unitary Gauge where no GBs are present in the theory. When $\xi = 0$ we are in the Landau Gauge. When $\xi = 1$ we are in the 't Hooft Gauge and it is particularly useful while dealing with loop calculations since the vector boson propagators do not show the term $k^{\mu}k^{\nu}$ in the numerator (for a better discussion see for instance [24]) which brings further divergent contributions in the loop integrals.

To conclude, let us mention that in the case of non-abelian Gauge Group it is important to add also to the Lagrangian the contributions of the ghost fields. However, since in this work we have not considered any process where they are involved, we are not going to discuss them here, but we only cite as a good reference [24] for a complete treatment.

F.4 Feynman Rules

In this Section we list all the relevant Feynman rules in R_{ξ} Gauge that we needed to use to compute the processes considered in this work. They are derived from the SM Lagrangian in the notation presented above. For all the cases recall that $W_{\mu}^{-} = (W_{\mu}^{+})^{\dagger}$ as well as $\phi^{-} = (\phi^{+})^{\dagger}$. Hence by crossing symmetry one can exchange the two particles such that there is Charge conservation in the vertex. Also conventionally we do not put the arrows in the legs related to W_{μ}^{\pm} and ϕ^{\pm} , but strictly speaking they should be drawn.

Relevant propagators. ψ is a generic fermion field with generic Gauge indices a, b.

$$\mu \xrightarrow{k} \nu \qquad \frac{-i}{k^2 + i\varepsilon} \left[g^{\mu\nu} - (1-\xi) \frac{k^{\mu}k^{\nu}}{k^2} \right]$$

$$\mu \xrightarrow{k} \nu \qquad \frac{-i}{k^2 - M_Z^2 + i\varepsilon} \left[g^{\mu\nu} - (1-\xi) \frac{k^{\mu}k^{\nu}}{k^2 - \xi M_Z^2} \right]$$

$$\mu \xrightarrow{k} \nu \qquad \frac{-i}{k^2 - M_Z^2 + i\varepsilon} \left[g^{\mu\nu} - (1-\xi) \frac{k^{\mu}k^{\nu}}{k^2 - \xi M_W^2} \right]$$

$$\frac{p}{1-\frac{1}{2}} \qquad \frac{i}{p^2 - m_h^2 + i\varepsilon} \qquad a \xrightarrow{p} \qquad \frac{i}{\psi} \qquad b \qquad \frac{i(\not p + m_\psi)}{p^2 - m_\psi^2 + i\varepsilon} \delta^{ab}$$

$$\frac{p}{-\frac{1}{2}} \qquad \frac{i}{p^2 - \xi M_Z^2 + i\varepsilon} \qquad -\frac{p}{-\frac{1}{2}} \qquad \frac{i}{p^2 - \xi M_W^2 + i\varepsilon}$$

Relevant interaction vertices among vector bosons, GBs and fermions. The fermions are represented as ψ_{α} and ψ_{β} where α and β are some flavour indices that are contracted by a general matrix $V_{\alpha\beta}$ in the operator.

$$W_{\mu}^{\pm} \sim \psi_{\alpha} \qquad i \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \gamma^{\mu} P_{L} V_{\alpha\beta} \qquad \phi^{\pm} \sim \psi_{\alpha} \qquad \pm i \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m_{\alpha}}{M_{W}} P_{L} - \frac{m_{\beta}}{M_{W}} P_{R} \right) V_{\alpha\beta}$$

$$Z_{\mu} \sim \psi_{\alpha} \qquad i \frac{g}{2c_{W}} \gamma^{\mu} \left[\left(T_{\alpha}^{3} - 2s_{W}^{2} Q_{\alpha} \right) - T_{\alpha}^{3} \gamma^{5} \right] \qquad \phi^{0} \sim \psi_{\alpha} \qquad -g T_{\alpha}^{3} \frac{m_{\alpha}}{M_{W}} \gamma^{5}$$

Relevant interaction vertices among vector bosons and GBs.



G Notation and Conventions

In this Chapter we are going to list all the notation and conventions that we used in this work. A reference that explains and derive most of the results listed here can be found for instance in [5].

G.1 Mathematical Notation and Conventions

In this Section we list all the notation and conventions used for mathematical quantities.

We represent the sets of natural, integer, rational, real and complex numbers as follows: \mathbb{N} , \mathbb{Z} , \mathbb{Q} , \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{C} . Also we assume that $0 \in \mathbb{N}$.

Given a complex number $z \in \mathbb{C}$, its complex conjugate is indicated as z^* . Its argument is defined in the following two equivalent ways

$$\arg[z] \equiv \operatorname{Im}[\ln[z]], \qquad e^{i \arg[z]} \equiv \frac{z}{|z|}.$$
 (G.1.1)

Given a generic $n \times n$ matrix A, we call its determinant and the trace as det[A] and Tr[A] respectively. Given two generic matrices A and B, with the notation $A \ll B$ we mean that the eigenvalues of Bare much bigger than all the entries of A. This is useful to make explicit the hierarchies between two matrices of even different dimensions. A diagonal matrix is indicated as follows

$$\operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \lambda_n \end{pmatrix} . \tag{G.1.2}$$

The identity matrix is indicated as follows

$$\mathbb{I} \equiv \operatorname{diag}(1, ..., 1) \tag{G.1.3}$$

and it is left understood its dimension. The null matrix is indicated as \mathbb{O} and it is a generic $n \times m$ matrix with all null entries. The null vector is indicated as $\overline{0}$ and it is a generic *n*-dimensional vector with all null entries.

The Euler δ -function is indicated as $\delta(x)$ with $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and it is defined by the following two properties

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \,\delta(x) = 1 \,, \qquad \delta(x) = 0 \quad \forall x \neq 0 \,. \tag{G.1.4}$$

To represent multi-dimensional δ -functions we use the notation

$$\delta^n(x) \equiv \prod_{i=1}^n \delta(x_i) \tag{G.1.5}$$

where the argument $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)$ is an *n*-dimensional vector.

The Euler Γ -function is defined as follows with complex argument $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$

$$\Gamma(z) \equiv \int_0^\infty dt \, t^{z-1} e^{-t} \,. \tag{G.1.6}$$

It satisfies the following property

$$\Gamma(z+1) = z \,\Gamma(z) \tag{G.1.7}$$

and it has the following series expansion around z = 1

$$\Gamma(1+\varepsilon) = 1 - \gamma_E \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2) \tag{G.1.8}$$

where $\gamma_E \approx 0.577$ is the Euler-Mascheroni constant.

The metric tensor has mostly-negative signature and it is given by

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, -1).$$
 (G.1.9)

The Levi-Civita tensor is given by $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ and it is completely antisymmetric with $\varepsilon_{0123} = +1$. The scalar product between two Lorentz vectors p_{μ} and q_{μ} is indicated as follows

$$p \cdot q \equiv p_{\mu}q^{\mu} = g_{\mu\nu}p^{\mu}q^{\nu}$$
. (G.1.10)

In particular the scalar product with γ -matrices (G.2.3) is indicated as follows

$$p \equiv p_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu} \,. \tag{G.1.11}$$

The Pauli matrices are three 2×2 complex matrices and explicitly they read as follows

$$\sigma^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(G.1.12)

G.2 Dirac Algebra

In this Section we list all the relevant features when dealing with fermionic fields. We work in the Weyl representation.

The Lie algebra of the Lorentz Group is represented as follows

$$\mathfrak{so}(1,3) = \mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2). \tag{G.2.1}$$

Under this group a spinor of Left-chirality ψ_L transforms as (1/2, 0) while one of Right-chirality ψ_R as (0, 1/2). In our notation $\psi_{L/R}$ are 2-dimensional vectors in the spinor space. We can define the following 4-vectors of 2×2 matrices where σ^i are the Pauli matrices (G.1.12)

$$\sigma^{\mu} \equiv (\mathbb{I}, \vec{\sigma}), \qquad \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} \equiv (\mathbb{I}, -\vec{\sigma}).$$
 (G.2.2)

The γ -matrices in the Weyl representation are defined as follows

$$\gamma^{\mu} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{O} & \sigma^{\mu} \\ \overline{\sigma}^{\mu} & \mathbb{O} \end{pmatrix} . \tag{G.2.3}$$

They are 4×4 matrices in the spinor space. Then we can define the last of the γ -matrices as follows

$$\gamma^{5} \equiv i\gamma^{0}\gamma^{1}\gamma^{2}\gamma^{3} = \frac{i}{4!}\varepsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\rho}\gamma^{\sigma} = \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbb{I} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{I} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (G.2.4)

They satisfy the following properties (where i = 1, 2, 3)

$$(\gamma^0)^2 = (\gamma^5)^2 = \mathbb{I}, \qquad (\gamma^i)^2 = -\mathbb{I},$$
 (G.2.5a)

$$(\gamma^{\mu})^{\dagger} = \gamma^{0} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^{0}, \qquad (\gamma^{5})^{\dagger} = \gamma^{5},$$
 (G.2.5b)

$$\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = 2 g^{\mu\nu}, \qquad \{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{5}\} = 0.$$
 (G.2.5c)

A Dirac spinor is defined as follows

$$\psi \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \psi_L \\ \chi_R \end{pmatrix} \tag{G.2.6}$$

and it is a 4-vector in the spinor space. We can also define the adjoint spinor

$$\overline{\psi} \equiv \psi^{\dagger} \gamma^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_{R}^{\dagger} & \psi_{L}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (G.2.7)

To project it onto its Left- and Right-chirality components we use the following Left- and Rightprojectors

$$P_L \equiv \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I} - \gamma^5 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{O} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad P_R \equiv \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I} + \gamma^5 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & \mathbb{I} \end{pmatrix}$$
(G.2.8)

and they satisfy the usual properties of projector operators.

When we go from coordinate to momentum space, the spinor is expanded in plane waves and the spinor polarizations are denoted by $u_s(p)$ and $v_s(p)$ for the particle and antiparticle respectively. p is the momentum of the spinor while s = 1, 2 accounts for the helicity state. When a spinor is on-shell, the polarizations satisfy the following equations (where m is the mass of the spinor)

$$(\not p - m)u_s(p) = 0, \qquad (\not p + m)v_s(p) = 0$$
 (G.2.9)

and they are normalized as follows

$$\overline{u}_{s}(p)u_{s'}(p) = 2m\,\delta_{ss'}\,,\qquad \overline{v}_{s}(p)v_{s'}(p) = -2m\,\delta_{ss'}\,.$$
 (G.2.10)

Also they satisfy the following completeness relations

$$\sum_{s} u_s(p)\overline{u}_s(p) = \not p + m , \qquad \sum_{s} v_s(p)\overline{v}_s(p) = \not p - m .$$
 (G.2.11)

Some of the most important identities that hold for on-shell spinors are given by the so-called Gordon Identities. They read as follows (where m and m' are the masses of the two spinor polarizations)

$$\overline{u}(p')\left(p+p'\right)^{\mu}u(p) = \overline{u}(p')\Big[(m'+m)\gamma^{\mu} + i\sigma^{\mu\nu}(p-p')_{\nu}\Big]u(p), \qquad (G.2.12a)$$

$$\overline{u}(p')(p+p')^{\mu}\gamma^{5}u(p) = \overline{u}(p')\Big[(m'-m)\gamma^{\mu} + i\sigma^{\mu\nu}(p-p')_{\nu}\Big]\gamma^{5}u(p).$$
(G.2.12b)

G.3 Scattering Quantities

In this Section we list many relevant quantities that are useful while computing scattering processes. Consider a scattering process with N_f particles in the final state with momenta $p_f = (E_f, \vec{p}_f)$. The infinitesimal phase-space is defined as follows

$$d\Phi \equiv (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 \left(\sum_{f=1}^{N_f} p_f - q\right) S \prod_{f=1}^{N_f} \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_f}{(2\pi)^3 2E_f}$$
(G.3.1)

where q is the total transferred momentum of the initial state and S is a Symmetry factor that accounts for the presence of identical particles. Namely, if there are N_p species of identical particles with multiplicity n_p , we have that

$$S = \prod_{p=1}^{N_p} \frac{1}{n_p!} \,. \tag{G.3.2}$$

Also it is possible to prove that this quantity is invariant under proper Lorentz transformations.

Calling $|\overline{\mathcal{M}}|^2$ the unpolarized squared-amplitude of a given process, the cross-section of a $2 \to N_f$ process reads as follows

$$\sigma\left(2 \to N_f\right) = \int \prod_{f=1}^{N_f} \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_f}{(2\pi)^3 2E_f} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 \left(\sum_{f=1}^{N_f} p_f - q_1 - q_2\right) \frac{S}{4E_{q_1} E_{q_2} v_r} |\overline{\mathcal{M}}|^2 \tag{G.3.3}$$

where q_1 and q_2 are the momenta of the initial-state particles with corresponding energies E_{q_1} and E_{q_2} while v_r is the relative velocity between them. Namely

$$v_r \equiv |\vec{v}_1 - \vec{v}_2| = \frac{1}{E_{q_1} E_{q_2}} \sqrt{(q_1 \cdot q_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2} \,. \tag{G.3.4}$$

The decay rate of a particle into N_f particles, namely a $1 \rightarrow N_f$ process, reads as follows

$$\Gamma(1 \to N_f) = \int \prod_{f=1}^{N_f} \frac{d^3 \vec{p}_f}{(2\pi)^3 2E_f} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 \left(\sum_{f=1}^{N_f} p_f - q\right) \frac{S}{2E_q} |\overline{\mathcal{M}}|^2 \tag{G.3.5}$$

where q is the momentum of the particle that decays.

In the framework of loop integrals, it is important to define a basis of integrals, called Master Integrals. They read as follows in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ dimensions

$$I_{r,m} \equiv \int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{(k^2)^r}{[k^2 - C + i\varepsilon]^m} = \frac{i(-1)^{r+m}}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{4\pi}{C}\right)^{\varepsilon/2} C^{2+r-m} \frac{\Gamma\left(2+r-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(m-r-2+\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(2-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)\Gamma(m)} \tag{G.3.6}$$

where $r, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $C \neq 0$ is a constant with respect to the integration variable. We also provide the following identities, easy to prove

$$\int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{k^{\mu}}{[k^2 - C + i\varepsilon]^m} = 0, \qquad (G.3.7a)$$

$$\int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{k^{\mu} k^{\nu}}{[k^2 - C + i\varepsilon]^m} = \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d} I_{1,m} \,. \tag{G.3.7b}$$

In generic d dimensions Dirac Algebra takes the name of Clifford Algebra and in this framework the metric tensor is a $d \times d$ diagonal matrix with mostly-minus signature. It is possible to prove the following properties of the extended γ -matrices (from the first identity all the others follow)

$$\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = 2g^{\mu\nu},$$
 (G.3.8a)

$$\gamma_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu} = d\,,\tag{G.3.8b}$$

$$\gamma_{\mu}\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma^{\mu} = -(d-2)\gamma^{\alpha}, \qquad (G.3.8c)$$

$$\gamma_{\mu}\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma^{\beta}\gamma^{\mu} = (d-4)\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma^{\beta} + 4g^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (G.3.8d)$$

$$\gamma_{\mu}\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma^{\beta}\gamma^{\gamma}\gamma^{\mu} = 2\gamma^{\beta}\gamma^{\gamma}\gamma^{\alpha} - 2\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma^{\gamma}\gamma^{\beta} - (d-2)\gamma^{\alpha}\gamma^{\beta}\gamma^{\gamma}, \qquad (G.3.8e)$$
$$Tr[\mathbb{I}] = d \qquad (G.3.8f)$$

$$\mathrm{Tr}[\mathbb{I}] = d\,,\tag{G.3.8f}$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}] = dg^{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{G.3.8g}$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\rho}\gamma^{\sigma}] = d\left(g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\sigma} - g^{\mu\rho}g^{\nu\sigma} + g^{\mu\sigma}g^{\nu\rho}\right), \qquad (G.3.8h)$$

$$Tr[\gamma^{\mu_1}...\gamma^{\mu_{2k+1}}] = 0. (G.3.8i)$$

Another important identity to utilize while computing loop integrals is the following

$$\frac{1}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}^{\alpha_{i}}} = \frac{\Gamma\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}\right)}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(\alpha_{i})} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \int du_{i} \,\delta\left(1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}\right) \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}^{\alpha_{i}-1}}{(\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}A_{i})^{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}}}.$$
(G.3.9)

G.4 SU(N) Group

In this Section we list the most relevant features of SU(N) groups. In general the group has dimension $N^2 - 1$ and it corresponds to the numbers of generators T^a with $a = 1, ..., N^2 - 1$. They are normalized such that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[T^{a}T^{b}\right] = \frac{1}{2}\delta^{ab} \tag{G.4.1}$$

and satisfy the commutator relation (in matrix notation)

$$[T^{a}, T^{b}] \equiv T^{a}T^{b} - T^{b}T^{a} = if^{abc}T^{c}.$$
(G.4.2)

 f^{abc} are the structure constants and are completely antisymmetric under any permutation of their indices. An element of the group can be represented as follows

$$U = \exp\left\{-i\,\alpha^a T^a\right\} \in \mathrm{SU}(N)\,.\tag{G.4.3}$$

For SU(2) a possible representation of the generators is given by (where a = 1, 2, 3)

$$T^a = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^a \tag{G.4.4}$$

where σ^a are the Pauli matrices (G.1.12). There is only one independent non-vanishing structure constant and it is given by

$$f^{123} = 1. (G.4.5)$$

For SU(3) a possible representation of the generators is given by (where a = 1, ..., 8)

$$T^a = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^a \tag{G.4.6}$$

where λ^a are the Gellmann matrices and they read as follows

$$\lambda^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda^{4} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\lambda^{5} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda^{6} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda^{7} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda^{8} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(G.4.7)

The independent non-vanishing structure constants are given by

$$f^{1\,2\,3} = 1\,, \qquad f^{1\,4\,7} = f^{2\,4\,6} = f^{2\,5\,7} = f^{3\,4\,5} = \frac{1}{2}\,, \qquad f^{1\,5\,6} = f^{3\,6\,7} = -\frac{1}{2}\,, \qquad f^{4\,5\,8} = f^{6\,7\,8} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\,. \tag{G.4.8}$$

For SU(4) a possible representation of the generators is given by (where a = 1, ..., 15)

$$T^a = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^a \tag{G.4.9}$$

where λ^a read as follows

The independent non-vanishing structure constants are given by

$$\begin{aligned} f^{1\,2\,3} &= 1 \,, \qquad f^{1\,4\,7} = f^{2\,4\,6} = f^{2\,5\,7} = f^{3\,4\,5} = \frac{1}{2} \,, \qquad f^{1\,5\,6} = f^{3\,6\,7} = -\frac{1}{2} \,, \qquad f^{4\,5\,8} = f^{6\,7\,8} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \,, \\ f^{1\,9\,12} &= f^{2\,9\,11} = f^{2\,10\,12} = f^{3\,9\,10} = f^{4\,9\,14} = f^{5\,9\,13} = f^{5\,10\,14} = f^{6\,11\,14} = f^{7\,11\,13} = f^{7\,12\,14} = \frac{1}{2} \,, \\ f^{1\,10\,11} &= f^{3\,11\,12} = f^{4\,10\,13} = f^{6\,12\,13} = -\frac{1}{2} \,, \qquad f^{8\,9\,10} = f^{8\,11\,12} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} \,, \qquad f^{8\,13\,14} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \,, \\ f^{9\,10\,15} &= f^{11\,12\,15} = f^{13\,14\,15} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} \,. \end{aligned}$$
(G.4.11)

References

- M. Bordone, C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martin, and G. Isidori, A three-site gauge model for flavor hierarchies and flavor anomalies, Phys. Lett. B 779 (2018) 317-323, arXiv:1712.01368 [hep-ph].
- [2] A. Greljo and B. A. Stefanek, Third family quark-lepton unification at the TeV scale, Phys. Lett. B 782 (2018) 131-138, arXiv:1802.04274 [hep-ph].
- [3] R. Barbieri, G. Isidori, J. Jones-Perez, P. Lodone, and D. M. Straub, U(2) and Minimal Flavour Violation in Supersymmetry, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1725, arXiv:1105.2296 [hep-ph].
- [4] G. Isidori and D. M. Straub, Minimal Flavour Violation and Beyond, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2103, arXiv:1202.0464 [hep-ph].
- [5] M. D. Schwartz, Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model. Cambridge University Press, 3, 2014.
- [6] H. Georgi and S. L. Glashow, Unity of All Elementary Particle Forces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 32 (1974) 438–441.
- [7] J. C. Pati and A. Salam, Lepton Number as the Fourth Color, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 275–289.
 [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 11, 703–703 (1975)].
- [8] J. Davighi and G. Isidori, Non-universal gauge interactions addressing the inescapable link between Higgs and flavour, JHEP 07 (2023) 147, arXiv:2303.01520 [hep-ph].
- [9] A. Abada and M. Lucente, Looking for the minimal inverse seesaw realisation, Nuclear Physics B 885 (2014) 651–678.
- [10] J. Fuentes-Martin, G. Isidori, J. Pagès, and B. A. Stefanek, Flavor non-universal Pati-Salam unification and neutrino masses, Phys. Lett. B 820 (2021) 136484, arXiv:2012.10492 [hep-ph].
- [11] A. Ilakovac and A. Pilaftsis, Flavor violating charged lepton decays in seesaw-type models, Nucl. Phys. B 437 (1995) 491, arXiv:hep-ph/9403398.
- [12] E. Fernández-Martínez, M. González-López, J. Hernández-García, M. Hostert, and J. López-Pavón, *Effective portals to heavy neutral leptons*, JHEP **09** (2023) 001, arXiv:2304.06772 [hep-ph].
- [13] A. Abada, J. Kriewald, E. Pinsard, S. Rosauro-Alcaraz, and A. M. Teixeira, *Heavy neutral lepton corrections to SM boson decays: lepton flavour universality violation in low-scale seesaw realisations*, Eur. Phys. J. C 84 (2024) no. 2, 149, arXiv:2307.02558 [hep-ph].
- [14] Z.-z. Xing, H. Zhang, and S. Zhou, Updated Values of Running Quark and Lepton Masses, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 113016, arXiv:0712.1419 [hep-ph].
- [15] J. Fuentes-Martín, M. König, J. Pagès, A. E. Thomsen, and F. Wilsch, A proof of concept for matchete: an automated tool for matching effective theories, Eur. Phys. J. C 83 (2023) no. 7, 662, arXiv:2212.04510 [hep-ph].
- [16] S. Antusch and O. Fischer, Non-unitarity of the leptonic mixing matrix: Present bounds and future sensitivities, JHEP 10 (2014) 094, arXiv:1407.6607 [hep-ph].
- [17] T.-P. Cheng and L.-F. Li, Gauge Theory of Elementary Particle Physics. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 1984.

- [18] M. S. Chanowitz, M. A. Furman, and I. Hinchliffe, Weak Interactions of Ultraheavy Fermions. 2., Nucl. Phys. B 153 (1979) 402–430.
- [19] **MEG II** Collaboration, K. Afanaciev *et al.*, A search for $\mu^+ \to e^+\gamma$ with the first dataset of the *MEG II experiment*, Eur. Phys. J. C 84 (2024) no. 3, 216, arXiv:2310.12614 [hep-ex].
- [20] **SINDRUM** Collaboration, U. Bellgardt *et al.*, Search for the Decay $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+e^+e^-$, Nucl. Phys. B **299** (1988) 1–6.
- [21] Mu3e Collaboration, G. Hesketh, S. Hughes, A.-K. Perrevoort, and N. Rompotis, *The Mu3e Experiment*, in *Snowmass 2021*. 4, 2022. arXiv:2204.00001 [hep-ex].
- [22] W. Grimus and L. Lavoura, The Seesaw mechanism at arbitrary order: Disentangling the small scale from the large scale, JHEP 11 (2000) 042, arXiv:hep-ph/0008179.
- [23] K. Bondarenko, A. Boyarsky, D. Gorbunov, and O. Ruchayskiy, *Phenomenology of GeV-scale Heavy Neutral Leptons*, JHEP **11** (2018) 032, arXiv:1805.08567 [hep-ph].
- [24] J. C. Romao and J. P. Silva, A resource for signs and Feynman diagrams of the Standard Model, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 27 (2012) 1230025, arXiv:1209.6213 [hep-ph].